Aging in multiple sclerosis: From childhood to old age, in women and men

Edited by

Alessandra Lugaresi, Kristen Marie Krysko and Vilija Jokubaitis

Published in

Frontiers in Neurology Frontiers in Public Health Frontiers in Immunology





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not

be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-4339-9 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-4339-9

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Aging in multiple sclerosis: From childhood to old age, in women and men

Topic editors

Alessandra Lugaresi — University of Bologna, Italy Kristen Marie Krysko — St Michael's Hospital, Canada Vilija Jokubaitis — Monash University, Australia

Citation

Lugaresi, A., Krysko, K. M., Jokubaitis, V., eds. (2024). *Aging in multiple sclerosis: From childhood to old age, in women and men.* Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-4339-9



Table of contents

05 Editorial: Aging in multiple sclerosis: from childhood to old age, in women and men

Alessandra Lugaresi, Vilija G. Jokubaitis and Kristen M. Krysko

08 Determinants of early working impairments in multiple sclerosis

Marcello Moccia, Luca Fontana, Raffaele Palladino, Fabrizia Falco, Ferdinando Finiello, Mauro Fedele, Roberta Lanzillo, Liberata Reppuccia, Maria Triassi, Vincenzo Brescia Morra and Ivo Iavicoli

16 Risk of cervical pre-cancer and cancer in women with multiple sclerosis exposed to high efficacy disease modifying therapies

Francesca Bridge, Julia M. L. Brotherton, Yi Foong, Helmut Butzkueven, Vilija G. Jokubaitis and Anneke Van der Walt

29 Global, regional, and national burden of multiple sclerosis from 1990 to 2019: Findings of global burden of disease study 2019

Zhen Qian, Yuancun Li, Zhiqiang Guan, Pi Guo, Ke Zheng, Yali Du, Shengjie Yin, Binyao Chen, Hongxi Wang, Jiao Jiang, Kunliang Qiu and Mingzhi Zhang

46 Central vein sign and diffusion MRI differentiate microstructural features within white matter lesions of multiple sclerosis patients with comorbidities Caterina Lapucci, Francesco Tazza, Silvia Rebella, Giacomo Boffa, Elvira Sbragia, Nicolò Bruschi, Elisabetta Mancuso, Nicola Mavilio

Elvira Sbragia, Nicolò Bruschi, Elisabetta Mancuso, Nicola Mavilio, Alessio Signori, Luca Roccatagliata, Maria Cellerino, Simona Schiavi and Matilde Inglese

- 58 Neurophysiological and clinical biomarkers of secondary progressive multiple sclerosis: A cross-sectional study Matteo Tartaglia, Marco Canevelli, Leonardo Malimpensa, Daniele Belvisi, Viola Baione, Gina Ferrazzano, Giorgio Leodori, Alfredo Berardelli and Antonella Conte
- 63 Aging in multiple sclerosis: from childhood to old age, etiopathogenesis, and unmet needs: a narrative review Nicola Capasso, Eleonora Virgilio, Antonio Covelli, Beatrice Giovannini, Matteo Foschi, Federico Montini, Martina Nasello, Annacarmen Nilo, Elio Prestipino, Giuseppe Schirò, Silvia Sperandei, Marinella Clerico and Roberta Lanzillo
- 74 Socioeconomic status of the elderly MS population compared to the general population: a nationwide Danish matched cross-sectional study

Malthe Faurschou Wandall-Holm, Rolf Pringler Holm, Luigi Pontieri, Finn Sellebjerg and Melinda Magyari

85 How does the brain age in individuals with multiple sclerosis? A systematic review

Nataliya Tokarska, Isabelle Tottenham, Charbel Baaklini and Jodie R. Gawryluk

99 Impact of aging on treatment considerations for multiple sclerosis patients

Gabrielle Macaron, Catherine Larochelle, Nathalie Arbour, Manon Galmard, Jean Marc Girard, Alexandre Prat and Pierre Duquette

116 Menopausal transition in multiple sclerosis: relationship with disease activity and brain volume measurements

Lorena Lorefice, Giuseppe Fenu, Marzia Fronza, Federica Murgia, Jessica Frau, Giancarlo Coghe, Maria Antonietta Barracciu, Luigi Atzori, Stefano Angioni and Eleonora Cocco

122 Optimizing the "Time to pregnancy" in women with multiple sclerosis: the OPTIMUS Delphi survey Luigi Carbone, Doriana Landi, Raffaella Di Girolamo, Paola Anserini,

Luigi Carbone, Doriana Landi, Raffaella Di Girolamo, Paola Anserini, Diego Centonze, Girolama Alessandra Marfia, Carlo Alviggi and the Interdisciplinary Group for Fertility in Multiple Sclerosis (IGFMS)

138 Male and female are not the same: a multicenter study of static and dynamic functional connectivity in relapse-remitting multiple sclerosis in China Yao Wang, Yunyun Duan, Yuling Wu, Zhizheng Zhuo, Ningnannan Zhang, Xuemei Han, Chun Zeng, Xiaoya Chen, Muhua Huang, Yanyan Zhu, Haiqing Li, Guanmei Cao, Jie Sun, Yongmei Li, Fuqing Zhou and Yuxin Li Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Robert Weissert, University of Regensburg, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Alessandra Lugaresi ⊠ alessandra.lugaresi2@unibo.it

RECEIVED 10 January 2024 ACCEPTED 15 January 2024 PUBLISHED 07 February 2024

CITATION

Lugaresi A, Jokubaitis VG and Krysko KM (2024) Editorial: Aging in multiple sclerosis: from childhood to old age, in women and men. *Front. Neurol.* 15:1368420. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2024.1368420

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Lugaresi, Jokubaitis and Krysko. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Aging in multiple sclerosis: from childhood to old age, in women and men

Alessandra Lugaresi^{1,2*}, Vilija G. Jokubaitis^{3,4} and Kristen M. Krysko^{5,6}

¹IRCCS Istituto delle Scienze Neurologiche di Bologna, Bologna, Italy, ²Dipartimento di Scienze Biomediche e Neuromotorie, Università di Bologna, Bologna, Italy, ³Department of Neuroscience, School of Translational Medicine, Monash University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ⁴Department of Neurology, Alfred Health, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ⁵Division of Neurology, Department of Medicine, BARLO MS Centre, St. Michael's Hospital, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, ⁶Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute, Toronto, ON, Canada

KEYWORDS

multiple sclerosis, work, sex, pediatric, treatment, MRI, cancer

Editorial on the Research Topic

Aging in multiple sclerosis: from childhood to old age, in women and men

This Research Topic is dedicated to our dear friend Prof Yara Fragoso, the fourth member of our editorial team who passed away unexpectedly during the compilation of this work. Yara was a well-respected researcher and physician who specialized both in Migraine and Multiple Sclerosis. She was the president of the Brazilian Congress of Headache and Orofacial Pain at the time of her passing. She was a leader in women's health research in multiple sclerosis, and an active contributor to the international MSBase Registry, where she helped to develop a pregnancy, neonatal outcomes and women's health registry (1). We miss her deeply.

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is the most common inflammatory disease of the central nervous system and the main cause of non-traumatic disability in young adults, affecting more than 2.8 million people worldwide (2). Although it is typically diagnosed in people aged between 20–40 years, MS onset can be earlier (pediatric onset MS, POMS) or after the age of 55 (late onset MS, LOMS).

The Research Topic "Aging in multiple sclerosis: from childhood to old age, in women and men" consists of 12 articles providing insight into several of these aspects of MS, including aging, menopause, reproductive issues, and providing considerations on treatment, working impairment, socio-economic burden, and frailty. Assessment of the role of aging, sex hormones, diet, and infections, has enhanced our understanding in many research areas, from immunology to imaging techniques to psychology; topics further explored in the context of multiple sclerosis in this issue.

In their extension of the 2019 reviews on neurological disorders (3) and MS (4) global, regional and national burden, Qian et al. address the issue of changes reported in the incidence, mortality, disability-adjusted life years (DALYs), in people with MS all of which have increased. Whereas, age-standardized rates, calculated from the available GBD 2019 data have decreased.

With improvement of diagnostic and treatment algorithms and consequently of outcomes, the epidemiology of MS has shifted to an older than previously described population, with a peak prevalence in the 55–65 years age group. Around 50-years of age there is a consistent peak of disability accrual. Macaron et al. provide thoughtful aging related treatment considerations, taking into account confounders linked to

aging, comorbidities and consequent frailty. They suggest, in the setting of aging, to monitor concomitant symptomatic treatment and to switch to safer DMTs or to de-escalate treatment through administration interval extension, depending on individual characteristics.

The impact of MS on working ability and productivity have been studied by <u>Moccia et al.</u> through a cross-sectional study. They have found that in MS working ability is decreased compared to matched controls, with an impact of fatigue and cognitive dysfunction, leading to lower quality of life.

The socio-economic consequences of physical and mental disability later in life have been extensively studied in Denmark, where elderly persons with MS (PwMS) face unemployment, reduced income, and increased dependence on social care (Wandall-Holm et al.).

In their narrative review Capasso et al. highlight the importance of a timely diagnosis both in POMS and LOMS, to overcome challenges encountered along the whole course of MS, including improving communication and active involvement of PwMS and caregivers.

As both mental and physical disability progress steadily in the secondary progressive phase of MS, the timely identification of patients at risk might positively impact further disease course. Tartaglia et al. suggest use of the frailty index, which correlates with the neurophysiological index and neurodegenerative rather than inflammatory processes, to predict conversion to progression.

Along this line the systematic review by Tokarska et al. highlights the use of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) in investigating the neurobiological aging process, including physical and cognitive deterioration in PwMS, addressing questions such as (1) how does brain structure (e.g., volume, white matter microstructure) differ or change with age in PwMS? Studies show an accelerated whole brain and gray matter atrophy in PwMS; (2) Are there specific structural MRI findings in older PwMS compared to younger PwMS? This issue is still controversial, due to the lack of sufficient data available, but there is some evidence that aging may have differential effects on brain atrophy in PwMS across the lifespan as compared to normal aging; (3) Are there structural differences in the brain as a function of sex in aging PwMS? Despite the insufficient number of studies investigating this issue, the evidence to date suggests that males have greater brain atrophy than females with age, corresponding to more rapid disability accumulation and cognitive decline in males than in females; it has also been suggested that menopause may affect brain atrophy patterns in aging females with MS.

Further, the multicenter retrospective study conducted in China on 208 PwMS investigated the sex-related differences in connectivity strength and time variability within large-scale networks in relapsing remitting (RR) MS, showing alterations in connectivity strength only in male PwMS and time variability in female PwMS, suggesting that sex-related mechanisms may play an important role in the functional impairment and reorganization of cerebral activity in RRMS (Wang et al.).

With aging many PwMS present with co-morbidities which might decrease the performance of the central vein sign (CVS) in the diagnosis of MS. Lapucci et al. investigated this issue in 5,303 lesions selected for the CVS assessment in 120 MS patients stratified into 4 age groups. They found that age and migraine have a relevant impact in reducing the percentage of perivenular

lesions, particularly in the deep/subcortical WM. They suggest use of the Spherical Mean Technique (SMT) diffusion model, as a helpful tool to differentiate perivenular lesions, characterized by higher inflammation, demyelination and fiber disruption, from non-perivenular lesions secondary to a different pathophysiology, especially in the deep/subcortical white matter of older patients (Lapucci et al.).

Regarding women with MS (WwMS), strategies to manage pregnancy planning have significantly changed in the last 30 years. A Delphi survey conducted in Italy led to the formulation of 21 statements in relation to optimizing "time to pregnancy". Statements dealt with fertility considerations, treatment strategies to be adopted in case of assisted reproductive technologies and consideration for oocyte cryopreservation in women with reduced ovarian reserve, who require unpredictable time to complete diagnostic workup and achieve control of their MS (Carbone et al.).

Lorefice et al. investigated the possible role of menopause in influencing MS from clinical and neuroradiological perspectives, with special attention on brain atrophy. They found that menopause may facilitate cortical GM atrophy, probably due to a decline in the neuroprotective effects of estrogen.

The incidence of cancer in MS and the effects of treatment have not been thoroughly investigated and available results are conflicting. More specifically, there are limited data on the effect of DMTs on cervical cancer risk in WwMS. In their review Bridge et al. report the different risks associated with low, moderate and high efficacy drugs, according to different modes of action. They also take into account the possible positive effects of cervical screening programs and HPV vaccination against the barriers which preclude preventative health assessments in more advanced cases.

We hope to have provided readers with new insight in the complexities of aging with MS.

Topics still needing consideration include the impact of diagnosis on personal and sexual relationships; the role of prepuberty and puberty in pediatric onset MS; the role of sex hormones during childbearing age (in particular hormone therapy and changes in pregnancy and postpartum); the interplay between menopause and aging; MRI techniques to investigate sexual dysfunction in male and female patients; cognition across different age groups in POMS, adult-onset MS and LOMS; immunesenescence in MS, amongst others.

Author contributions

AL: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. VJ: Writing – review & editing. KK: Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Jokubaitis VG, Skibina O, Alroughani R, Altintas A, Butzkueven H, Eichau S, et al. The MS base pregnancy, neonatal outcomes, and women's health registry. *Ther Adv Neurol Disor.* (2021) 14:1–8. doi: 10.1177/17562864211009104

2. Mult Scler J. Multiple sclerosis under the spotlight. Lancet Neurol. (2021) 20:497. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(21)00170-8

3. Feigin VL, Nichols E, Alam T, Bannick MS, Beghi E, Blake N, et al. Global, regional, and national burden of neurological disorders,

1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *Lancet Neurol.* (2019) 18:459–480. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30 499-X

4. Wallin MT, Culpepper WJ, Nichols E, Bhutta ZA, Gebrehiwot TT, Hay SI, et al. Global, regional, and national burden of multiple sclerosis 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *Lancet Neurol.* (2019) 18:269–285. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30443-5

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Alessandra Lugaresi, University of Bologna, Italy

REVIEWED BY Bahia Hakiki, IRCCS Don Carlo Gnocchi Firenze, Italy Giampaolo Brichetto, Associazione Italiana Sclerosi Multipla, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Marcello Moccia marcello.moccia@unina.it

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

RECEIVED 06 October 2022 ACCEPTED 24 November 2022 PUBLISHED 09 December 2022

CITATION

Moccia M, Fontana L, Palladino R, Falco F, Finiello F, Fedele M, Lanzillo R, Reppuccia L, Triassi M, Brescia Morra V and lavicoli I (2022) Determinants of early working impairments in multiple sclerosis. *Front. Neurol.* 13:1062847. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.1062847

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Moccia, Fontana, Palladino, Falco, Finiello, Fedele, Lanzillo, Reppuccia, Triassi, Brescia Morra and lavicoli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the **Creative Commons Attribution License** (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Determinants of early working impairments in multiple sclerosis

Marcello Moccia^{1,2*}, Luca Fontana³, Raffaele Palladino^{4,5}, Fabrizia Falco⁶, Ferdinando Finiello³, Mauro Fedele³, Roberta Lanzillo^{2,6}, Liberata Reppuccia³, Maria Triassi⁴, Vincenzo Brescia Morra^{2,6} and Ivo Iavicoli³

¹Department of Molecular Medicine and Medical Biotechnology, Federico II University of Naples, Naples, Italy, ²Multiple Sclerosis Clinical Unit, Federico II University Hospital, Naples, Italy, ³Occupational Health Unit, Department of Public Health, Federico II University of Naples, Naples, Italy, ⁴Department of Public Health, Federico II University of Naples, Naples, Italy, ⁵Department of Primary Care and Public Health, Imperial College, London, United Kingdom, ⁶Department of Neuroscience, Reproductive Science and Odontostomatology, Federico II University of Naples, Naples, Italy

Introduction: Unemployment can directly affect social status and identity. Assessing and adjusting determinants of early working impairments in a chronic disease can thus reduce its long-term burden. Hereby, we aim to evaluate differences in occupational history and early working impairments between people with multiple sclerosis (MS) and healthy workers.

Methods: This is a cross-sectional study comparing 71 workers with MS [age 41.7 \pm 9.4 years; females 59.1%; EDSS 2.0 (1.0–6.0)] and 71 controls (age 42.6 \pm 11.9 years; females 33.8%). All participants filled in Work Ability Index (WAI), Work Productivity and Activity Impairment (WPAI), European Questionnaire for Quality of Life (EuroQoL), Beck Depression Inventory II (BDI-II), and Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI). In MS, we further collected expanded disability status scale (EDSS), MS Questionnaire for Job difficulties (MSQ-Job), Fatigue severity scale (FSS), and the Brief International Cognitive Assessment for MS (BICAMS).

Results: Workers with MS were more working disabled (p < 0.01), less exposed to workplace risks (p < 0.01), and more limited in fitness to work (p = 0.01), compared with controls. On linear regression models adjusted by age, sex, education, and type of contract, people with MS had worse WAI (Coeff = -5.47; 95% CI = -7.41, -3.53; p < 0.01), EuroQoL (Coeff = -4.24; 95% CI = -17.85, -6.50; p < 0.01), BDI-II (Coeff = 3.99; 95% CI = 2.37, 7.01; p < 0.01), and PSQI (Coeff = 4.74; 95% CI = 3.13, 7.61; p < 0.01), compared with controls, but no differences in WPAI (p = 0.60). EuroQoL, BDI-II, and PSQI were equally associated with both WAI and WPAI in MS and controls (all p < 0.01). In MS, worse MSQJob was associated with higher EDSS (Coeff = 5.22; 95% CI = 2.24, 7.95; p < 0.01), progressive disease (Coeff = 14.62; 95% CI = 5.56, 23.69; p < 0.01), EuroQoL (Coeff = 4.63; 95% CI = 2.92, 6.35; p < 0.01), FSS (Coeff = 0.55; 95% CI = 0.38, 0.72; p < 0.01), and cognitive impairment (Coeff = 4.42; 95% CI = 0.67, 8.22; p = 0.02).

Discussion: Early factors associated with working difficulties in MS include disability, fatigue, depression, and cognitive dysfunction. Early

identification of clinical features potentially causing working difficulties should be considered to enhance job retention, along with targeted prevention and protection measures.

KEYWORDS

multiple sclerosis, working, job, disability, fatigue, mood, cognitive

Introduction

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic and potentially highly-disabling disease of the central nervous system, which can lead to physical and cognitive impairment, including walking difficulties, fatigue, poor balance, bladder and bowel dysfunction, reduced visual acuity, mood changes, and impaired cognition, (1). Symptoms can present in the form of relapses, followed by a recovery period [relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS)], or as gradual progression of disability, either preceded by relapses [secondary progressive MS (SPMS)] or not [primary progressive MS (PPMS)] (2). The MS natural history has changed thanks to the use of disease modifying treatments (DMTs), which primarily target relapses, but also affect disability outcomes in the long term (3).

MS holds significant psychological, physical, financial and social burden on patients, their caregivers, and healthcare services (4-6). The heavy financial burden of MS is related to young age at onset (usually around 30 years of age), variety of chronic symptoms, and subsequently high unemployment rates (7). Indeed, about 50% of workers with MS suffer from reduced working abilities from disease onset (e.g., scaling down from full-time to part-time work), and will eventually lose (or quit) their job (8-11). Exclusion from the workplace is responsible for worsening social status and finances, thus affecting health outcomes in MS (12). The main factors potentially associated with unemployment are progressive disease course, motor disability, fatigue, mood changes, and cognitive impairments (9, 11, 13–17). Nevertheless, data on work ability and occupational difficulties related to MS are rather limited. Also, most studies compared demographic and clinical variables between employed and unemployed people with MS, with potential bias coming from largely different populations (e.g., disease duration, disability) (12). As such, in the present study, we specifically focused on workers with MS to evaluate differences in occupational history and early working impairments (e.g., ability, productivity and activity), when compared with healthy workers as controls, and to define clinical correlates of MSrelated perceived working difficulties. Identifying determinants of early working impairments in employed people with MS can direct work retention strategies, ultimately reducing the long-term burden of this chronic disease.

Methods

Study design

This is a cross-sectional study comparing workers with MS and healthy workers as controls. The study was conducted at the MS Unit and at the Occupational Health Unit, of the Federico II University Hospital, Naples, Italy. The study was approved by Ethics Committee, at Federico II University Hospital, Naples, Italy (355/19), and all recruited subjects signed informed consent authorizing the use of anonymized data, in line with data protection regulation (GDPR EU2016/679). The study was performed in accordance with good clinical practice and Declaration of Helsinki.

Study setting and participants

We included people with MS, consecutively recruited from Feb 2021 (until the reaching of the recruitment target, as from power calculation), according to the following inclusion criteria: (1) diagnosis of MS (18); (2) employment age (18–65 years); (3) employment in the previous 6 months; and exclusion criteria: (1) any concomitant condition, disease or treatment potentially affecting employment; (2) relapses in the previous 3 months.

We also recruited consecutively a group of healthy controls within the same age range (with a case:control matching ratio of 1:1), from Feb 2021 (until the reaching of the recruitment target, as from power calculation), while attending the same hospital within the same period for their scheduled visit at the Occupational Health Unit, in accordance with Italian legislation (Legislative Decree n. 81/2008) on the protection of health and safety in the workplace. The Occupational Health Unit regularly sees healthy workers from a number of public and private institutions, thus providing heterogeneous case mix.

Data collection was conducted by MS specialists with the support of Occupational Health specialists and neuropsychologists, as appropriate.

Main variables of interest

To measure work ability and work productivity and activity impairment, people with MS and controls were required to fill in the following questionnaires:

- Work Ability Index questionnaire (WAI) (19), with higher scores indicating better work ability;
- Work Productivity and Activity Impairment Questionnaire: General Health questionnaire (WPAI) (20), with higher scores indicating better work productivity and activity.

To measure MS-related perceived difficulties in workrelated tasks, people with MS were required to fill in the following questionnaire:

- MS Questionnaire for Job difficulties (MSQ-Job) (7), with higher percent scores indicating worse perception of difficulties in work-related tasks;

Endpoints in people with MS and controls

We collected demographics (age, sex), education (highest educational attainment), and occupational history, using a structured questionnaire, as from the clinical practice at the Occupational Health Unit, in people with MS and controls. In detail, occupational history included the following variables: formal acknowledgment of working disability status, percent of disability status (with higher scores indicating higher disability), type of contract (e.g., permanent, temporary, selfemployed), occupational risk factors (e.g., physical, ergonomic, biological, chemical, etc.), and formal limitations in the fitness to work (depending on both working disability status and exposure to specific occupational risk factors). We also classified working activity using the Italian Institute of Statistics classification (ISTAT - Nomenclatura e classificazione delle Unità Professionali), which includes: (1) law makers, businessmen, and managers; (2) intellectual, scientific and highspecialization work; (3) technical work; (4) office executive work; (5) qualified work in commercial activities and services; (6) craftsmen, skilled workers, and farmers; (7) System operators, workers of fixed and mobile machinery, and vehicle drivers; (8) Unqualified work; (9) armed forces.

Also, people with MS and controls were required to fill in the following questionnaires:

 European Questionnaire for Quality of Life – 5 Domains (EuroQoL) (21), for evaluating impairments in daily activities and percent rating of quality of life (we collected only the latter in controls, who would have had no significant impairments);

- Beck Depression Inventory II (BDI-II) (22), with higher scores indicating worse depression;
- Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) (23), with higher scores indicating worse sleep quality.

MS specialists, MS nurses, and Occupational Health specialists were available to people with MS and controls while filling in the questionnaires, as needed.

Endpoints in people with MS

In people with MS, we collected disease duration (time from reported disease onset to baseline assessment), expanded disability status scale (EDSS), clinical subtype (RRMS, SPMS and PPMS; for statistical purposes SPMS and PPMS were grouped), and DMTs (grouped into first and second line DMTs). EDSS was categorized into <3.5 and >4.0 to identify people with MS without and with walking impairment. Moreover, workers with MS were also administered the following questionnaire and neuropsychological tests:

- Fatigue severity scale (FSS) (24), with higher scores indicating worse fatigue;
- Brief International Cognitive Assessment for MS(BICAMS) neuropsychological battery, which includes the following tests: the Symbol Digit Modalities Test (SDMT), evaluating attention and information processing speed; the California Verbal Learning Test-II (CVLT-II), evaluating memory and verbal learning; and the Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised (BVMTR), evaluating visuo-spatial learning (25). Results were corrected for age, sex, and education, according to the Italian normative values. We then calculated the corresponding cerebral functional system (FS) score (0 corresponds to normal BICAMS tests, ≥1 corresponds to at least one impaired BICAMS test), as from previous studies (26).

Study size and power analysis

Considering a normal distribution of variables to be analyzed in regression model (including one dependent variable and four covariates), given a 10% minimum detectable effect size, a two-sided tail and a 5% α error, a sample of 142 individuals (71 cases and 71 controls) would be able to achieve 98% power.

Statistical methods

Results are presented as mean (standard deviation), median (range), or number (percent), as appropriate. Differences in demographics and occupational history in people with MS and controls were evaluated using *t*-test, chi-square test and Fisher's exact test, as appropriate.

Differences between MS cases and controls were evaluated using linear regression models including each scale (WAI, WPAI, EuroQoL, BDI-II, PSQI), in turn, as dependent variable, and disease status as independent variable (people with MS vs. controls). Then, correlates of working ability (WAI), productivity and activity impairment (WPAI) were evaluated using linear regression models including each of these scales (WAI, WPAI), in turn, as dependent variable, and potential correlates (EuroQoL, BDI-II, PSQI), in turn, as independent variable; we also included an interaction term between disease status (people with MS vs. controls) and potential correlates (EuroQoL, BDI-II, PSQI), in turn, to evaluate changes in these associations between people with MS and controls.

Correlates of MS-related perceived difficulties in workrelated tasks were evaluated using linear regression models including MSQJob as dependent variable, and each additional clinical variable (disease duration, EDSS, walking impairment on EDSS, clinical subtype, DMT, EuroQoL, FSS, SDMT, CVLT, BVMRT, cerebral functional system), in turn, as independent variable.

Univariate linear regression models were preliminarily run to evaluate associations between main variables of interests and study endpoints, in turn. We selected age, sex, education, and type of contract as covariates, that were included in all statistical models.

Distribution of variables and residuals was checked using both graphical and statistical methods. Results are reported as coefficients (Coeff), 95% confidence intervals (95% CI), and *p*values, as appropriate. Statistical analyses were performed using Stata 17.0.

Result

We included 71 people with MS and 71 controls. Demographics and occupational history in subjects with MS

TABLE 1 Demographics and occupational history in people with MS and controls.

		People with MS	Controls	<i>p</i> -value
		(n = 71)	(n = 71)	
Age, mean \pm SD		41.7 ± 9.4	42.6 ± 11.9	0.61
Sex, females (%)		42 (59.1%)	24 (33.8%)	< 0.01
Education	Degree	36 (50.7%)	53 (74.6%)	0.01
	High school	33 (46.5%)	16 (22.6%)	
	Primary school	2 (2.8%)	2 (2.8%)	
Working disability status, n		68 (95.7%)	1 (1.4%)	< 0.01
Working disability, percent		$43.7\pm35.1\%$	$1.0\pm8.4\%$	< 0.01
Contract	Permanent	48 (67.6%)	40 (56.3%)	0.08
	Temporary	11 (15.5%)	22 (31.0%)	
	Self employed	12 (16.9%)	9 (12.7%)	
Work classification*	Law makers, businessmen, and managers	13 (18.3%)	10 (14.1%)	0.69
	Intellectual, scientific and high-specialization work	9 (12.7%)	7 (9.9%)	
	Technical work	9 (12.7%)	5 (7.0%)	
	Office executive work	3 (4.2%)	3 (4.2%)	
	Qualified work in commercial activities and services	18 (25.3%)	19 (26.8%)	
	Craftsmen, skilled workers, and farmers	15 (22.6%)	24 (33.8%)	
	System operators, workers of fixed and mobile	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	
	machinery, and vehicle drivers			
	Unqualified work	3 (4.2%)	3 (4.2%)	
	Armed forces	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	
Occupational risks	Physical	15 (21.2%)	9 (12.7%)	< 0.01
	Ergonomic	17 (23.9%)	23 (32.4%)	
	Biological/Chemical	3 (4.2%)	30 (42.2%)	
	None	36 (50.7%)	9 (12.7%)	
Limitations in fitness for work		11 (15.5%)	2 (2.8%)	0.01

P-values are shown from t-test, chi-square test and Fisher's exact test, as appropriate. MS, multiple sclerosis; SD, standard deviation.

*Work classification refers to the Italian Institute of Statistics (ISTAT – Nomenclatura e classificazione delle Unità Professionali).

	People with MS $(n = 71)$	Controls	Coeff.	95%	95% CI		
		(n = 71)		Lower	Upper		
WAI	37.5 ± 6.4	43.7 ± 4.7	-5.47	-7.41	-3.53	< 0.01	
WPAI	4.6 ± 12.6	3.9 ± 14.0	-1.62	-7.82	4.57	0.60	
EuroQoL, percent	73.5 ± 16.9	85.5 ± 14.2	-4.24	-17.85	-6.50	< 0.01	
Association with WAI			0.15	0.10	0.21	< 0.01	
Interaction term WAI			0.15	0.04	0.25	< 0.01	
Association with WPAI			-0.32	-0.49	-0.14	< 0.01	
Interaction term WPAI			-0.99	-0.53	0.18	0.32	
BDI-II	8.3 ± 7.5	3.1 ± 5.0	3.99	2.37	7.01	< 0.01	
Association with WAI			-0.47	-0.6 0	-0.35	< 0.01	
Interaction term WAI			-0.18	-0.28	0.23	0.85	
Association with WPAI			0.75	0.30	1.20	< 0.01	
Interaction term WPAI			-0.80	-1.31	0.55	0.42	
PSQI	9.5 ± 6.5	4.7 ± 5.7	4.74	3.13	7.61	< 0.01	
Association with WAI			-0.48	-0.61	-0.35	< 0.01	
Interaction term WAI			-0.10	0.41	-0.35	0.14	
Association with WPAI			1.09	0.65	1.54	< 0.01	
Interaction term WPAI			-0.05	-0.92	0.87	0.95	

TABLE 2 Working impairment in people with MS and controls, and their associations with clinical features.

Coefficients (Coeff), 95% confidence intervals (95% CI), and p-values are shown from linear regression models adjusted by age, sex, education, and type of contract. First, we evaluated differences between people with MS and controls; then associations between WAI/WPAI and EuroQoL/BDI-II/PSQI; and, finally, changes in these associations between people with MS and controls on an interaction term. BDI-II, Beck Depression Inventory II; EuroQoL, European Questionnaire for Quality of Life; MS, multiple sclerosis; PSQI, Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index; WAI, Work Ability Index questionnaire; WPAI, Work Productivity and Activity Impairment Questionnaire.

and controls are reported in Table 1. MS workers had similar age, when compared with controls (p = 0.61), but were more frequently females (p < 0.01), less educated (p = 0.01), more working disabled (p < 0.01), less exposed to occupational risk factors (p < 0.01), and more limited in fitness to work (p = 0.01) (Table 1).

Working impairment (e.g., ability, productivity and activity) of people with MS and controls, and their associations with clinical features (e.g., quality of life, depression, quality of sleep) are reported in Table 2. People with MS had worse WAI (Coeff = -5.47; 95% CI = -7.41, -3.53; p < 0.01), EuroQoL (Coeff = -4.24; 95% CI = -17.85, -6.50; p < 0.01), BDI-II (Coeff = 3.99; 95% CI = 2.37, 7.01; p < 0.01), and PSQI (Coeff = 4.74; 95% CI = 3.13, 7.61; p < 0.01), compared with controls, while no difference in WPAI was found (Coeff = -1.62; 95% CI = -7.82, 4.57; p = 0.60). EuroQoL, BDI-II, and PSQI were associated with both WAI and WPAI (all p < 0.01); however, when evaluating differences between people with MS and controls in these associations using interaction terms, only the association between EuroQoL and WAI was less strong in people with MS, when compared with controls (p < 0.01) (Table 2).

Clinical features of workers with MS, and their associations with perceived work-related difficulties (MSQJob) are reported in Table 3. Worse MSQJob was associated with higher EDSS (Coeff = 5.22; 95% CI = 2.24, 7.95; p < 0.01), walking

impairment (EDSS > 4.0) (Coeff = 5.59; 95% CI = 7.20, 23.97; p < 0.01), progressive disease subtype (Coeff = 14.62; 95% CI = 5.56, 23.69; p < 0.01), EuroQoL (Coeff = 4.63; 95% CI = 2.92, 6.35; p < 0.01), FSS (Coeff = 0.55; 95% CI = 0.38, 0.72; p < 0.01), CVLT (Coeff = -0.31; 95% CI = -0.52, -0.09; p < 0.01), and MS-related cerebral functional system involvement (Coeff = 4.42; 95% CI = 0.67, 8.22; p = 0.02) (Table 3).

Discussion

In the present study, we showed that, working ability, productivity and activity impairment are associated with quality of life, depressive symptoms, and sleep quality in both MS and age-matched controls, though overall working ability is lower in people with MS. In particular, determinants of perceived workrelated difficulties in MS are disability, walking impairment, progressive symptoms, lower quality of life, fatigue and cognitive dysfunction. Of note, we specifically focused on employed people with MS, rather than on unemployment, and, thus, our work aims at increasing awareness on determinants of early working impairments, and at considering medications, rehabilitation, and specific working adaptations to tackle employability in clinical practice (16). The baseline level of work productivity is associated with work productivity trajectories

		People with MS ($n = 71$)	Coeff.	95% CI		<i>p</i> -value
				Lower	Upper	
MSQJob, percent		17.0 ± 12.6	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
Disease duration, years		10.5 ± 7.4	0.01	-0.59	0.68	0.98
EDSS, median (range)		2.0 (1.0-6.0)	5.22	2.24	7.95	< 0.01
<3.5		59 (83.1%)	15.59	7.20	23.97	< 0.01
>4.0		12 (16.9%)				
Clinical subtype	RRMS	61 (85.9%)	Ref.			
	Progressive (SPMS and PPMS)	10 (14.1%)	14.62	5.56	23.69	< 0.01
DMT						
1st line	Dimethyl fumarate	10 (14.2%)	Ref.			
	Glatiramer acetate/Interferon	6 (8.4%)				
	Teriflunomide	1 (1.4%)				
2nd line	Alemtuzumab	8 (11.3%)	3.55	-3.71	10.83	0.33
	Fingolimod	11 (15.5%)				
	Natalizumab	28 (39.4%)				
	Ocrelizumab	7 (9.8%)				
EuroQoL, score		2.0 ± 1.6	4.63	2.92	6.35	< 0.01
FSS		29.6 ± 14.5	0.55	0.38	0.72	< 0.01
SDMT, adjusted score		50.0 ± 12.5	-0.15	-0.42	0.11	0.25
CVLT, adjusted score		48.6 ± 14.5	-0.31	-0.52	-0.09	< 0.01
BVMRT, adjusted score		52.1 ± 13.5	-0.09	-0.33	0.15	0.45
Cerebral FS	0	57 (80.3%)				
	≥ 1	14 (19.7%)	4.42	0.67	8.22	0.02

TABLE 3 Clinical features of people with MS and associations with MSQJob.

Coefficients (Coeff), 95% confidence intervals (95% CI), and p-values are shown from linear regression models adjusted by age, sex, education, and type of contract. BVMRT, Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised; CVLT, California Verbal Learning Test; DMT, disease modifying treatment; EDSS, expanded disability status scale; EuroQoL, European Questionnaire for Quality of Life; FS, functional system; MS, multiple sclerosis; MSQJob, multiple sclerosis questionnaire for job difficulties; PPMS, primary progressive MS; RRMS, relapsing remitting MS; SDMT, symbol digit modalities test; SPMS, secondary progressive multiple sclerosis.

over time (11), and, thus, variables associated with working difficulties should be identified and targeted as soon as possible during the course of the disease.

We showed that employed people with MS have lower working ability, when compared with controls, but are able to keep up with requested working productivity and activity, possibly thanks to the acknowledgment of working disability and subsequent arrangements (e.g., reduced or modified exposure to selected occupational risk factors). In previous studies, there was poor awareness on the tools to assist people with MS in retaining employment (27), while this does not seem the case in our population. Over the disease course, there is a progressive reduction of occupational activities, with up to 50% patients with MS being unemployed within 10 years from disease onset (8, 9, 27-29). As such, the employability of workers with MS should be preserved by adaptation and prevention of working conditions (e.g., ergonomic and technical aspects of the workplace) based on the individual clinical manifestations of the disease (11). In a recent survey, Italian occupational physicians reported on difficulties in rating fitness to work in people with MS (30), and, thus, we hope that our study will raise awareness on the opportunity to design and implement special and reasonable accommodations for MS workers in order to meet their individual needs, according to their clinical features.

Among the novelties of our study, we included both people with MS and controls, and showed that quality of life, depressive symptoms and quality of sleep were worse in people with MS, when compared with controls, but were equally associated with working activity and capacity (productivity and ability). These results suggest that, though quantitatively different, people with MS and controls share qualitatively similar correlates of working impairment. As such, early identification and clinical management of worsening quality of life, depression and sleep, along with subsequent working adaptations, may contribute to improve productivity and to retain employment in individuals with MS, as well as in otherwise healthy workers (10, 11).

Looking at MS-specific factors, in our study, self-perceived difficulties in work-related tasks were associated with higher disability (especially walking impairment), progressive disease subtype, fatigue and cognitive dysfunction, especially in relation to verbal learning and memory. These results are in line with previous studies showing associations between unemployment and mood changes (11, 13), fatigue (8, 13, 28), motor disability (8, 13, 28, 31, 32), and cognitive dysfunction (32). Intriguingly, we specifically focused on workers with MS, and decided to evaluate determinants of perceived working difficulties, which were ultimately not different from actual correlates of unemployment. In keep with this, previous studies showed associations between work difficulties and mood changes (14, 33, 34), fatigue (11, 14, 34), motor disability (11, 14, 33), and cognitive dysfunction (11, 14, 35). In a previous study also using the BICAMS, attention and processing speed (SDMT) was associated with working ability (35), while we found an association for verbal learning and memory (CVLT). While we acknowledge that the SDMT is a marker of overall cognitive function in MS (36), in our study, we computed the cerebral FS score based on overall BICAMS results, which also reflects cognitive impairment (26), and was associated with working difficulties. Not least, working difficulties can be associated with a variety of cognitive deficits based on the actual tasks. We cannot exclude a similar association in controls as well, but unfortunately did not have availability of cognitive variables.

Our study is limited by the single-center design and the relatively small sample size, though sufficiently powered to show consistently significant associations. Controls were recruited based on the age range, which is a main determinant of employability; however, cases and controls were not balanced in sex and education, which were included as covariates in the statistical models. As such, notwithstanding statistical adjustments, we have to acknowledge the risk of bias coming from sex and education differences. Also, our cross-sectional design does not allow causal inference, nor the evaluation of longitudinal changes in working difficulties, also in relation to treatments (20). Generalizability of our results is definitely limited to countries with similar working retention policies and universal healthcare coverage (e.g., Europe, Canada) (17, 37).

In conclusion, our study encourages the early identification and management of clinical features potentially causing an impairment of working ability in people with MS, along with the implementation of individually targeted prevention and protection measures on the workplace. Based on our results, MS specialists should primarily consider disability, fatigue, depression, and cognitive impairment, and liaise with occupational physicians to identify the most suitable arrangements, counseling programs and strategies to support workers with MS. In the future, multidisciplinary patient/worker management teams, including MS specialists, occupational physicians and other healthcare professionals (38, 39), should

References

30481-1

Multiple sclerosis. Lancet. (2018) 391:1622-36. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)

be considered to protect the health and the employment of vulnerable people with MS.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Federico II University Ethics Committee. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

MM and LF contributed to data collection, data analysis and interpretation, manuscript preparation, and revision. VB and II contributed to data interpretation, manuscript revision, and coordination. RP and MT contributed to data analysis and interpretation and manuscript revision. FFa, FFi, MF, RL, and LR contributed to data collection, database preparation, and manuscript revision.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor declared a past co-authorship with the authors VB and MM.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

^{2.} Lublin FD, Reingold SC, Cohen JA, Cutter GR, Sørensen PS, Thompson AJ, et al. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis : the 2013 revisions. *Neurology.* (2014) 83:278–86. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000560

3. De Angelis F, John NA, Brownlee WJ. Disease-modifying therapies for multiple sclerosis. *BMJ.* (2018) 363:1-10. doi: 10.1136/bmj.k4674

4. Gustavsson A, Svensson M, Jacobi F, Allgulander C, Alonso J, Beghi E, et al. Cost of disorders of the brain in Europe 2010. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2011) 21:718–79. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2011.08.008

5. Moccia M, Palladino R, Lanzillo R, Triassi M, Brescia Morra V. Predictors of the 10-year direct costs for treating multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (2017) 135:522–8. doi: 10.1111/ane.12630

6. Kobelt G, Thompson A, Berg J, Gannedahl M, Eriksson J. New insights into the burden and costs of multiple sclerosis in Europe. *Mult Scler.* (2017) 23:1123–36. doi: 10.1177/1352458517694432

7. Raggi A, Giovannetti A, Schiavolin S, Confalonieri P, Brambilla L, Brenna G, et al. Development and validation of the multiple sclerosis questionnaire for the evaluation of job difficulties (MSQ-Job). *Acta Neurol Scand.* (2015) 132:226–34. doi: 10.1111/ane.12387

8. Lunde HMB, Telstad W, Grytten N, Kyte L, Aarseth J, Myhr K-M, et al. Employment among patients with multiple sclerosis-a population study. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e103317. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0103317

9. Findling O, Baltisberger M, Jung S, Kamm CP, Mattle HP, Sellner J. Variables related to working capability among swiss patients with multiple sclerosis — a cohort study. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0121856. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0121856

10. Glanz BI, Dégano IR, Rintell DJ, Chitnis T, Weiner HL, Healy BC. Work productivity in relapsing multiple sclerosis: associations with disability, depression, fatigue, anxiety, cognition, and health-related quality of life. *Value Heal.* (2012) 15:1029–35. doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2012.07.010

11. Bessing B, Hussain MA, Claflin SB, Chen J, Blizzard L, Van DP, et al. Work productivity trajectories of Australians living with multiple sclerosis : a group-based modelling approach. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2021) 54:103131. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.103131

12. Dobson R, Rice DR, Marie D, Horne R, Learmonth Y, Mateen FJ. Social determinants of health in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2022) 18:723–34. doi: 10.1038/s41582-022-00735-5

13. Contentti EC, Lopez PA, Pettinicchi JP, Tkachuk V, Balbuena ME, Caride A. Employment status in people with relapsing multiple sclerosis from Argentina : impact of disability and neuropsychological factors. *Work.* (2021) 68:1171–7. doi: 10.3233/WOR-213446

14. Bakirtzis C, Artemiadis A, Nteli E, Boziki MK, Karakasi M, Honan C, et al. A Greek validation study of the multiple sclerosis work difficulties questionnaire-23. *Healthcare*. (2021) 9:897. doi: 10.3390/healthcare9070897

15. Alberto R, Giovannetti AM, Schiavolin S, Brambilla L, Brenna G, Confalonieri PA, et al. Older age, higher perceived disability and depressive symptoms predict the amount and severity of work-related difficulties in persons with multiple sclerosis. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2019) 41:2255–63. doi: 10.1080/09638288.2018.1461937

16. Raggi A, Covelli V, Schiavolin S, Scaratti C, Leonardi M, Willems M. Work-related problems in multiple sclerosis: a literature review on its associates and determinants. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2016) 38:936–44. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2015.1070295

17. Ellenberger D, Parciak T, Brola W, Hillert J, Middleton R, Stahmann A, et al. Comparison of employment among people with multiple sclerosis across Europe. *Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin.* (2022) 8:20552173221090653. doi:10.1177/20552173221090653

18. Thompson AJ, Banwell BL, Barkhof F, Carroll WM, Coetzee T, Comi G, et al. Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria. *Lancet Neurol.* (2018) 17:162–73. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(17) 30470-2

19. Guidi S, Bagnara S, Fichera GP. The HSE indicator tool, psychological distress and work ability. *Occup Med.* (2012) 62:203–9. doi: 10.1093/occmed/kqs021

20. Capra R, Morra VB, Mirabella M, Gasperini C, Scandellari C, Totaro R, et al. Natalizumab is associated with early improvement of working ability in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis patients: WANT observational study results. *Neurol Sci.* (2021) 42:2837–45. doi: 10.1007/s10072-020-04838-z

21. Battaglia M, Kobelt G, Ponzio M, Berg J, Capsa D, Dalén J. New insights into the burden and costs of multiple sclerosis in Europe: results for Italy. *Mult Scler J.* (2017) 23:104–16. doi: 10.1177/1352458517708176

22. Solaro C, Trabucco E, Signori A, Martinelli V, Radaelli M, Centonze D, et al. Depressive symptoms correlate with disability and disease course in multiple sclerosis patients: an Italian multi-center study using the beck depression inventory. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:1–9. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0160261

23. Curcio G, Tempesta D, Scarlata S, Marzano C, Moroni F, Rossini PM, et al. Validity of the italian version of the pittsburgh sleep quality index (PSQI). *Neurol Sci.* (2013) 34:511–9. doi: 10.1007/s10072-012-1085-y

24. Ottonello M, Pellicciari L, Giordano A, Foti C. Rasch analysis of the fatigue severity scale in Italian subjects with multiple sclerosis. *J Rehabil Med.* (2016) 48:597–603. doi: 10.2340/16501977-2116

25. Goretti B, Niccolai C, Hakiki B, Sturchio A, Falautano M, Minacapelli E, et al. The brief international cognitive assessment for multiple sclerosis (BICAMS): normative values with gender, age and education corrections in the Italian population. *BMC Neurol.* (2014) 14:171. doi: 10.1186/s12883-014-0171-6

26. Saccà F, Costabile T, Carotenuto A, Lanzillo R, Moccia M, Pane C, et al. The EDSS integration with the brief international cognitive assessment for multiple sclerosis and orientation tests. *Mult Scler.* (2017) 23:1289–96. doi: 10.1177/1352458516677592

27. Fantoni-Quinton S, Kwiatkowski A, Vermersch P, Roux B, Hautecoeur P, Leroyer A. Impact of multiple sclerosis on employment and use of jobretention strategies: the situation in France in 2015. *J Rehabil Med.* (2016) 48:535– 40. doi: 10.2340/16501977-2093

28. Llorian ER, Zhang W, Khakban A, Patten S, Traboulsee A, Oh J, et al. Productivity loss among people with early multiple sclerosis: A Canadian study. *Mult Scler.* (2022) 28:1414–23.

29. Vanotti S, Eizaguirre M, Ciufia N, Yastremiz C, Roman M, Martinez Canyazo C, et al. Employment status monitoring in an Argentinian population of patients with multiple sclerosis : particularities of a developing country. *Work.* (2021) 68:1121–31. doi: 10.3233/WOR-213442

30. Persechino B, Fontana L, Buresti G, Fortuna G, Valenti A, Iavicoli S. Improving the job-retention strategies in multiple sclerosis workers : the role of occupational physicians. *Ind Health.* (2019) 57:52-69. doi: 10.2486/indhealth.2017-0214

31. Ford HL, Wicks CR, Stroud A, Tennant A. Psychological determinants of job retention in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2019) 25:419–26. doi: 10.1177/1352458518754362

32. Srpova B, Sobisek L, Novotna K, Uher T, Friedova L, Vaneckova M, et al. The clinical and paraclinical correlates of employment status in multiple sclerosis. *Neurol Sci.* (2022) 43:1911–20. doi: 10.1007/s10072-021-05553-z

33. Vlahiotis A, Sedjo R, Cox ER, Burroughs TE, Rauchway A, Lich R. Gender differences in self-reported symptom awareness and perceived ability to manage therapy with disease-modifying medication among commercially insured multiple sclerosis patients. *J Manag Care Pharm.* (2010) 16:206–16. doi: 10.18553/jmcp.2010.16.3.206

34. van der Hiele K, van Gorp DAM, van Egmond EEA, Jongen PJ, Reneman MF, van der Klink JJL, et al. Self-reported occupational functioning in persons with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: does personality matter? *J Neurol Sci.* (2021) 427:117561. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2021.117561

35. Schreiber M, Ullrich J, Penner M. The brief international cognitive assessment in multiple sclerosis (BICAMS): results from the German validation study. *J Neurol.* (2018) 265:2587–93. doi: 10.1007/s00415-018-9034-1

36. Moccia M, Lanzillo R, Palladino R, Chang KC-M, Costabile T, Russo C, et al. Cognitive impairment at diagnosis predicts 10-year multiple sclerosis progression. *Mult Scler.* (2016) 22:659–67. doi: 10.1177/1352458515599075

37. Palladino R, Lee JT, Hone T, Filippidis FT, Millett C. The great recession and increased cost sharing in European health systems. *Health Aff.* (2016) 35:1204–13. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2015.1170

38. Iavicoli I, Gambelunghe A, Magrini A, Mosconi G, Soleo L, Vigna L, et al. Diabetes and work: the need of a close collaboration between diabetologist and occupational physician. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2019) 29:220–7. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2018.10.012

39. Persechino B, Fontana L, Buresti G, Rondinone BM, Laurano P, Fortuna G, et al. Collaboration of occupational physicians with national health system and general practitioners in Italy. *Ind Health*. (2017) 55:180-91. doi: 10.2486/indhealth.2016-0101

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Zsolt Illes, University of Southern Denmark, Denmark

REVIEWED BY Cecilia Rajda, University Szeged, Hungary Luanne Metz, University of Calgary, Canada

*CORRESPONDENCE Francesca Bridge ⊠ Francesca.bridge@monash.edu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

RECEIVED 09 December 2022 ACCEPTED 24 January 2023 PUBLISHED 10 February 2023

CITATION

Bridge F, Brotherton JML, Foong Y, Butzkueven H, Jokubaitis VG and Van der Walt A (2023) Risk of cervical pre-cancer and cancer in women with multiple sclerosis exposed to high efficacy disease modifying therapies. *Front. Neurol.* 14:1119660. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1119660

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Bridge, Brotherton, Foong, Butzkueven, Jokubaitis and Van der Walt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Risk of cervical pre-cancer and cancer in women with multiple sclerosis exposed to high efficacy disease modifying therapies

Francesca Bridge^{1,2*}, Julia M. L. Brotherton^{3,4}, Yi Foong^{1,2,5}, Helmut Butzkueven^{1,2}, Vilija G. Jokubaitis^{1,2†} and Anneke Van der Walt^{1,2†}

¹Department of Neuroscience, Central Clinical School, Monash University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ²Department of Neurology, Alfred Health, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ³Australian Centre for the Prevention of Cervical Cancer (Formerly Victorian Cytology Service), Carlton South, VIC, Australia, ⁴Centre for Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Melbourne School of Population and Global Health, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ⁵Department of Neurosciences, Eastern Health, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

There is a growing need to better understand the risk of malignancy in the multiple sclerosis (MS) population, particularly given the relatively recent and widespread introduction of immunomodulating disease modifying therapies (DMTs). Multiple sclerosis disproportionately affects women, and the risk of gynecological malignancies, specifically cervical pre-cancer and cancer, are of particular concern. The causal relationship between persistent human papillomavirus (HPV) infection and cervical cancer has been definitively established. To date, there is limited data on the effect of MS DMTs on the risk of persistent HPV infection and subsequent progression to cervical pre-cancer and cancer. This review evaluates the risk of cervical pre-cancer and cancer in women with MS, including the risk conferred by DMTs. We examine additional factors, specific to the MS population, that alter the risk of developing cervical cancer including participation in HPV vaccination and cervical screening programs.

KEYWORDS

cervical cancer, disease modifying therapy (DMT), autoimmune disease (AID), multiple sclerosis (MS), human papilloma virus (HPV)

1. Introduction

There is growing need to better understand the risk of cancer in the multiple sclerosis (MS) population, particularly with the recent and widespread introduction of highly effective immunomodulatory or immunosuppressive disease modifying therapies (DMTs) (1, 2). MS is a chronic inflammatory autoimmune disease of the central nervous system that is three times more prevalent in women and usually diagnosed between the ages of 20–40 years (3). Treatment with DMTs is usually commenced at diagnosis and continued life-long, leading to significant long-term exposure (4).

A recent scoping review highlighted gynecological cancer risk, including cervical cancer, as an important knowledge gap in the MS literature (1). The risk of cervical cancer may be altered in women with MS (wwMS). It remains unclear whether this is the result of the autoimmune condition or secondary to the DMTs used in the treatment of MS. Additionally, wwMS may be underrepresented in primary and secondary prevention programs (5–9), further contributing to the risk of cancer in this vulnerable patient population.

10.3389/fneur.2023.1119660

Almost all cervical cancer is due to an underlying persistent infection with oncogenic types of human papillomavirus (HPV) (10, 11), a very common double stranded DNA virus, that is transmitted via sexual contact (12-14). HPV is usually cleared by the immune system without symptoms within 1-2 years. Persistent infection with one of the 13 oncogenic HPV types (including the most oncogenic types, HPV 16 and HPV 18, which are associated with 70% of cervical cancers globally) increases the risk of developing cervical pre-cancerous abnormalities. Cervical pre-cancerous abnormalities are classified as cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN) grade 2 or 3 (CIN3 is synonymous with carcinoma in situ), or adenocarcinoma in situ (AIS). These abnormalities also referred to as High-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions (HSIL). Pre-cancerous lesions are at risk of progression to cancer of the cervix (see Figure 1) (12, 13). Co-factors for the development of cervical cancer in the presence of persistent oncogenic HPV include smoking, high parity, oral contraceptive use, and immunocompromise. An intact immune system is necessary for adequate clearance of HPV. HPV clearance is impaired in patients who are severely immunocompromised, including patients with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) or acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS), solid-organ transplant recipients and some autoimmune conditions (4, 15-17). The immunocompromised population are at risk of infection with multiple HPV types along with a greater diversity of HPV types (18-20).

Here we review the literature relating to the risk of cervical cancer in people with a cervix, hereby referred to as women with MS. We consider the role that immunotherapies play in altering this risk. Furthermore, we explore other factors, specific to the MS population, that may impede access to HPV vaccination and cervical screening programs and further increase patients' risk of developing cervical cancer.

2. Methodology

2.1. Literature search

We searched the PubMed database for peer-reviewed articles published in English from 1990 through October 2022 on multiple sclerosis and cervical cancer risk, using the following search strategy:

((((("multiple sclerosis"[MeSH Terms] OR ("multiple"[All Fields] AND "sclerosis"[All Fields]) OR "multiple sclerosis"[All Fields]) AND ("uterine cervical neoplasms"[MeSH Terms] OR ("uterine"[All Fields] AND "cervical"[All Fields] AND "neoplasms"[All Fields]) OR "uterine cervical neoplasms"[All Fields] OR ("cervical"[All Fields] AND "cancer"[All Fields]) OR "cervical cancer"[All Fields])) AND (fft[Filter])) OR ((("neoplasms"[MeSH Major Topic]) OR "uterine cervical neoplasms"[MeSH Major Topic]) AND "multiple sclerosis"[MeSH Major Topic]) AND ((fft[Filter])) OR ((viral)) AND (cancer)) AND (multiple sclerosis)) AND (1990:2022[pdat]))))

In addition, we hand-searched reference lists from the articles identified by the search and key review articles. We also reviewed the pivotal pharmaceutical trials for each DMT.

2.2. Selection criteria

We reviewed titles, abstracts to identify studies examining the risk of cervical abnormalities in wwMS, including the risk conferred by DMTs.

3. Risk of cervical cancer in wwMS

There is limited literature on the risk of cervical abnormalities and cancer in wwMS (see Table 1). The reported incidence of cervical cancer in wwMS ranges from 0.1–1.1 per 1,000 person years (21, 23, 24, 27, 28, 36). The heterogeneity in incidence estimates is likely due to the differences in the way the MS population was identified, study sample sizes, methods for reporting cancers, observation periods, and variation in DMT use across these studies (36, 37).

Two retrospective observational studies, one Finnish and the other Australian, evaluated the risk of cervical abnormalities in wwMS (4, 31). Women with MS were found not to be at increased risk of cervical cancer or high-grade histological and cytological abnormalities, respectively. However, it is important to consider important limitations of both studies which could impact their generalizability. Firstly, the cohorts were identified through hospital administration data (4, 31). Hospitalization is atypical for the MS population, and could represent patients with more severe disease, or significant medical comorbidities. Secondly, neither study examined the impact of DMT use, either due to lack of information, or insufficient power (4, 31).

The finding that cervical cancer risk in the MS population is not increased was supported by population-based registry studies. Again, the impact of DMTs, particularly high-efficacy therapies was not accounted for in many of these studies.

In contrast, a Norwegian nationwide cohort study found that, although the risk of female genital organ cancer was not different between wwMS and population-based controls between the years 1953–1995, the risk increased significantly from 1996–2017 (4, 21–35). They hypothesized that this may reflect the introduction of highly effective DMTs over this period (34). Again, the study did not directly explore this hypothesis.

Population-wide cohort studies have shown an increased risk of cervical abnormalities in females with autoimmune conditions including inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), systematic lupus erythematosus (SLE), and rheumatoid arthritis (RA), especially if treated with immunomodulatory therapy (4, 38). However, these conditions are not directly comparable with MS, as the diseases have different risk profiles for cervical cancer and most commonly are treated with different DMTs. While most studies in the MS population have found the incidence of cervical cancer to be equal to or less than the general population (4, 21–33, 35), there is growing concern that long-term exposure to DMTs may increase risk.

4. Risk of persistent HPV infection and cervical cancer attributable to disease modifying therapies in wwMS

The treatment of multiple sclerosis has been revolutionized over the past two decades with the introduction of highly effective DMTs (2). These therapies have transformed MS disease trajectories



Persistent infection with oncogenic HPV can result in cervical pre-cancerous lesions [CIN 2 (moderate dysplasia), CIN3 (severe dysplasia) or carcinoma *in situ*/HSIL)] which can progress over time to invasive cancer. Progression is not inevitable, with regression possible at any stage. *sometimes acute infections with lower risk HPV types can produce an appearance that is identified as moderate disease (CIN2). CIN2 is a heterogeneous entity likely comprising "severe CIN1 cases" and "mild CIN2" cases rather than a single disease state with a uniform prognosis. HPV, human papillomavirus; CIN, cervical intraepithelial neoplasia; LSIL, low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions; HSIL, high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions. Created with BioRender.com.

by significantly reducing disease activity, relapse rates and disability progression (37). Natalizumab was the first highly effective DMT to receive US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval in 2004, and since then there has been successive introductions of new agents, all of which target the immune system in varying ways.

While the benefit of these therapies should be emphasized, they are not without risk. High-efficacy DMTs have been found to increase the risk of opportunistic infections and, theoretically, can reduce immune surveillance and increase cancer risk (2, 39). There is potential for the impact of DMTs to be significant, given that these medications are often commenced at a young age and continued indefinitely (40).

4.1. DMTs and the risk of HPV infection

DMTs increase the risk of opportunistic infections within the MS population (39). However, there is currently insufficient data to draw conclusions on the risk of HPV infection (41).

HPV enters the basal keratinocytes of the cervical epithelium through micro-abrasions (42). As keratinocytes migrate to the upper epidermis there is increasing viral replication (14, 43). New infectious HPV is released from the surface of the epithelium. As HPV is essentially an intracellular pathogen, there is minimal HPV viraemia or lymphatic infection. This results in minimal exposure of HPV to the circulating immune system (14). However, in most cases, activation of the innate and adaptive immune systems does occur, leading to viral clearance in the majority of women (12–14, 44).

DMTs alter the immune response *via* several mechanisms which may limit immune surveillance and clearance of the virus (Figure 2). During persistent infections oncogenic types may integrate into the host DNA, disrupting expression of the E6 and E7 viral oncogenes, which may inactivate critical cell cycle checkpoints and increase genetic instability in the host, which over time may lead to cervical cancer (45).

Few studies have investigated the risk of DMTs on HPV infection. Fingolimod has been identified in a small number of case report series as being associated with a risk of HPV infection (39, 46–48). However, this finding has not been validated by higher quality evidence.

4.2. Disease modifying therapies and risk of cervical cancer

There is limited data on the effect of DMTs on cervical cancer risk in the MS population (see Supplementary Table 1). At present, studies are limited by sample size, duration of follow-up, difficulty capturing representative population-based samples and complete and accurate data. Additionally, there is likely underreporting of this outcome in part due to under-participation in screening programs in the MS population (6–8, 49). Importantly cervical cancer outcomes may not be captured in the pharmaceutical safety trials, as these trials are often conducted over a shorter duration (1–2 years), and oncogenesis secondary to HPV is known to occur over decades.

Studies to date have found conflicting results regarding the risk of overall cancer associated with DMTs. Most studies have reported

TABLE 1 Summary of studies that evaluate cervical cancer risk in patients with multiple sclerosis.

Authors	Type of study	Country	MS sample size	Index period	Data source for MS patients	Results risk of cervical cancer		Interpretation
						N (%)	SIR/HR/AHR	
Studies which f	ound decreased	risk cervical abn	ormalities					
Moller et al. (21)	Cohort study	Denmark	5,359 MS patients 3,165 women	1977-1987	Registry data linkage: Danish hospital discharge register, Danish cancer register	Cervical cancer MS 5	RR 0.9, $p \le 0.05$	Risk of cervical cancer reduced in wwMS
Moisset et al. (22)	Case-control study	France	1,107 MS patients 1,568 controls	2014-2015	"MS patients' network in Auvergne" association members	Gynecological cancers MS 13 (1.17%) Controls 28 (2.93%)	NR	Risk of cervical cancer not increased in wwMS
Studies which f	ound cervical ab	normality risk sa	me as general population	on				
Nielsen et al. (23)	Cohort study	Denmark	11,817 MS patients 7,188 women	1968–1997	Registry data linkage (Danish MS register, Danish cancer register)	Cervical cancer 40	SIR 1.11 (0.81–1.51)	No difference in cervical cancer incidence in wwMS
Bahmanyar et al. (24)	Cohort study	Sweden	20,276 MS (13,218 wwMS) 203,951 non-MS controls (132,638 women)	1958–2005	Data linkage registry data: Swedish MS register and national inpatient register), patients with MS matched to age, sex, area controls	Cervical cancer 63	HR 0.83 (95% CI 0.64-1.07)	No difference in cervical cancer risk in wwMS compared with controls
Fois et al. (25)	Observational study	United Kingdom	4,250 MS patients 2,812 women	1963-1999	Oxford record linkage study (ORLS)	Cervical cancer 6	Adjusted rate ratio 1.3 (95% CI 0.5–2.8, <i>p</i> = 0.75)	No increased risk of cervical cancer in wwMS
Lebrun et al. (26)	Descriptive study	France	20,993 MS patients 15,220 women	1995–2009	Registry data: European database for MS, French national cancer registry	Gynecological (ovarian, cervix, uterine) cancer 28	SIR 1.2 (0.8–1.9)	No difference in cervical cancer incidence in wwMS
Kingwell et al. (27)	Retrospective cohort study	Canada	6,820 MS patients 4,998 women	1980-2004	Registry data linkage: British Columbia MS database, British Columbia cancer registry, British Columbia ministry of health's registration and premium billing files, British Columbia vital statistics death database	Cervical cancer 8	SIR 0.84 (0.36–1.65)	No difference in cervical cancer incidence in wwMS compared with controls
Hemminki et al. (28)	Observational study	Sweden	185,014 wwMS	1964 (some regions) 1986–2008	Linkage of national datasets: Swedish hospital discharge register, Swedish cancer registry	Cervical cancer 18 Cervical cancer deaths 8	Cervical cancer SIR 0.92 (95%CI 0.54–1.45) Cervical cancer deaths HR 1.81 (95% CI 0.91–3.62)	Incidence of cervical cancer and cervical cancer deaths in wwMS the same as the gener population
Dugué et al. (29)	Cohort study	Denmark	14,403 wwMS	1977-2010	Registry data linkage: Danish national patient register, Danish national prescription registry, Danish cancer register	Cervical cancer 1977–2010: 46 1995–2010: 28	1977–2010: SIR 1.2 (0.9–1.6) 1995–2010: SIR 1.2 (0.8-1.8)	No difference in cervical cancer incidence in wwMS

(Continued)

10.3389/fneur.2023.1119660

TABLE 1 (Continued)

Authors	Type of study	Country	MS sample size	Index period	Data source for MS patients	Results risk of	cervical cancer	Interpretation
						N (%)	SIR/HR/AHR	
Ajdacic-Gross et al. (30)	Case-control study	Switzerland	5,489 MS patients number of women NR	1969–2007	Data linkage from medical records and hospital coding	Cervical cancer 20	SMR 1.11 (chi2 lCI-uCI 1.03–1.46, <i>p</i> > 0.1)	Cervical cancer mortality not increased in the MS population
Hongell et al. (31)	Case-control study	Finland	1,974 MS patients 10,740 controls	2004-2012	Hospital administrative data	Cervical cancer MS 1 (0.1%) Controls 5 (0.0%)	OR 2.0 (95% CI 0.2–16.4, <i>p</i> = 0.519)	No increased risk of cervical cancer in MS population
Grytten et al. (32)	Prospective cohort study	Norway	6,883 MS patients (4597 wwMS) 27,919 population controls (25,265 women)	1952–2016	Registry data linkage: Norwegian MS registry, cancer registry of Norway	Female genital organ cancer MS 94 (12.1%) Controls 459 (11.4%)	HR 1.18 (0.94–1.47)	No increased risk of female genital organ cancer in wwMS compared to controls
Foster et al. (4)	Retrospective cohort study	Australia	1,426 wwMS 985,383 non-MS controls	2000-2013	Data linkage: Victorian emergency minimum dataset, victorian cervical cytology register	High grade histology 40 High grade cytology 77 Low grade cytology 251	High-grade histological abnormalities: 3.07 vs. 3.76 per 1,000 person-years, AHR = 0.78 , $p = 0.124$ High-grade cytological abnormalities (5.98) vs. 6.26 per 1,000 person-years, AHR = 0.98 , $p = 0.836$ Low-grade histological abnormalities: 20.45 vs. 19.99 per 1,000 person-years, AHR = 1.10 , p = 0.139	No difference in risk of cervical abnormalities (high or low-grade) in wwMS compared with controls
Johnson et al. (33)	Observational study	North America	7,277 MS patients 7,277 controls	1997-NR	Health record database used to identify cases of MS and age, race, and gender matched controls	Anal/vaginal/cervical cancer MS 11 (0.2%) Controls 13 (0.2%)	NR	No difference in cervical cancer incidence in wwMS
Grytten et al. (34)	Cohort study	Norway	6,949 MS patients (4,638 wwMS) 37,922 controls (2,513 women)	1953–2017	Registry data linkage	Female genital organ cancer 1953–1995: 6 1996–2017: 68	Female genital organ cancer: 1953–1995: IRR 0.78 (95% CI 0.48–1.27) 1996–2017: IRR 1.40 (95% CI 1.09–1.80, <i>p</i> < 0.05)	1953–1995 no difference in cervical cancer frequency in MS patients 1996–2017 increased frequency of female genital organ cancer in wwMS
Marrie et al. (35)	Retrospective matched cohort study	Canada	53,983 MS cases 269,915 controls	1998–2017	Population-based administrative databases: manitoba population research data repository, institute for clinical evaluative sciences (ICES)	NR	Cervical cancer crude IRR 1998–2007 0.85 (95% CI 0.5–1.45) 2008–2017 0.85 (95% CI 0.55–1.31) Age-standardized IRR 1998–2007 0.92 (0.52–1.63) 2008–2017 0.84 (0.53–1.33)	Cervical cancer incidence not increased in the MS population

(Continued)

taion			1953–1995 no difference in zervical cancer frequency in MS patients 1996–2017 increased frequency of female genital organ cancer in MS patients	ndardized mortali
Interpretation			1953–1995 no difference cervical cancer frequenc MS patients 1996–2017 Increased frequency of 1 genital organ cancer in MS patients	ce ratio; SMR, sta
Results risk of cervical cancer	SIR/HR/AHR		Female genital organ cancer: 1953–1995: IRR 0.78 (95% CI 0.48–1.27) 1996–2017: IRR 1.40 (95% CI 1.09–1.80, <i>p</i> < 0.05)	pse rate; SIR, standardized inciden
Results risk of	N (%)		Female genital organ cancer 953–1995: 6, 1996–2017: 68	ot reported; OR, odds ratio; RR, rela
Data source for MS patients			Registry data linkage: Norwegian MS registry, cancer registry of Norway	AHR, adjusted hazard ratio; CI, confidence interval; DMT, disease modifying therapy; HR, hazard ratio; IRR, incidence rate ratio; MS, multiple sclerosis; NR, not reported; OR, odds ratio; RR, relapse rate; SIR, standardized incidence ratio; SMR, standardized mortality
Index period			1953-2017	; IRR, incidence ra
MS sample size		ormalities	6,949 MS patients (4,638 wwMS) 37,922 controls (2,513 women)	odifying therapy; HR, hazard ratio;
Country		isk cervical abn	Norway	erval; DMT, disease m
Type of study		und increased r	Cohort study	tio; CI, confidence inte
Authors		Studies which found increased risk cervical abnormalities	Grytten et al. (34) Cohort study	AHR, adjusted hazard ratio; C

10.3389/fneur.2023.1119660

no increased risk of cancer (22, 50–55), while others have found an increased cancer risk (22, 50–56). Individual classes of DMTs have also been associated with an increased (26, 57), or a reduced risk of cancer (58). The discrepancy is likely in part explained by study design, with many observational studies grouping therapies, for example as immunomodulating vs. immunosuppressing, in order to improve statistical power. However, many of these therapies have different mechanisms of action and thus different risk profiles. Across studies there is also a lack of uniformity as to which therapies are included. Several studies have included therapies such as azathioprine and cyclophosphamide in the analysis for immunosuppressive therapies (22, 26, 50, 51, 53, 55, 56). These therapies have been widely reported to increase the risk of cancer (59, 60), and are seldom used in the modern-day treatment of MS, thereby likely skewing results.

A further challenge is that patients with MS often switch DMTs throughout their life. This makes quantifying the risk attributable to individual DMTs difficult. Additionally, it poses challenges for calculating the risk for an individual who may have been exposed to several different therapies. The cumulative risk is likely the product of the combination of therapies used, along with the duration of exposure to each therapy (26, 50, 51).

Age at exposure to DMT also likely impacts risk. Similar to the general population, cancer risk in patients with MS increases with advancing age, likely in part due to weakening of the immune system (50, 61). Evidence suggests an additive effect from DMT exposure with several DMTs including cladribine, anti-CD20, alemtuzumab and sphingosine-1-phosphate modulators increasing the risk of malignancy with age (61). However, while aging increases cancer risk more broadly, cervical cancer incidence is highest in younger populations (25–50 years) (62). The impact of aging on cervical cancer risk in the MS population remains unclear but may have implications for long-term malignancy surveillance, and DMT counseling.

Despite the lack of definitive evidence to confirm the role of DMTs in the development of cancer, DMTs including cladribine, fingolimod, natalizumab, alemtuzumab, and ocrelizumab all carry a warning for potential cancer risk (34, 63). It is a requirement that all patients treated with these medications undergo cancer surveillance (40).

The cancer incidence among patients treated in the modern-DMT era was examined in a French study that identified 9,269 patients with MS who had been exposed to DMTs from two population-based disease registers and these were linked to patient records in the French National Cancer Register (26). DMTs were categorized into two groups: immunomodulatory drugs and immunosuppressive drugs. Interferons and glatiramer acetate were considered immunomodulatory therapies, whereas azathioprine, mitoxantrone, mycophenolate mofetil, natalizumab, methotrexate, fingolimod, cladribine and teriflunomide were classified as immunosuppressive therapies. For this analysis, all gynecological cancers, including ovarian, cervical, and uterine were grouped together. WwMS treated with DMTs had a nonsignificantly increased risk of gynecological cancers (SIR 1.2; CI 0.8-1.9). The risk of "all cancer" was increased if the patient had been exposed to more than three types of immunosuppressive drugs, or more than two types of immunomodulatory drugs. The risk of cancer was increased with increased duration of exposure to DMTs (P < 0.001). The mean duration of treatment with

[TABLE 1 (Continued)



immunosuppressive drugs was 4.9 +/- 4.5 years for patients with MS and cancer and 3.6 +/- 4.5 years for patients with MS and no cancer. This observation period is arguably too short to see long-term implications from DMT exposure. Individual DMT analyses, identified only azathioprine and cyclophosphamide as increasing the risk of cancer (RR 1.9, CI 1.7–3.4, p = 0.4; RR = 1.9, CI 1.3–2.6, p = 0.5, respectively) (26).

5. Individual disease modifying therapies and risk of cervical abnormalities

5.1. Low efficacy DMTs

5.1.1. Interferons and glatiramer acetate

Glatiramer acetate and the interferon-beta preparations were the first available MS DMTs and were introduced in the 1990's. These therapies are now considered low-efficacy, relative to newer treatments. Interferons exert their effect on the immune system by shifting cytokine profiles toward an anti-inflammatory state and inhibition of leucocyte migration across the blood-brain barrier (64). The mechanism of action of glatiramer acetate is not fully understood, however, it is thought to inhibit T cell responses to several myelin antigens and cause a shift toward Th2 immunity (65, 66).

To date, these therapies have not been associated with an increased cervical cancer incidence in wwMS (67–73).

5.2. Moderate to high efficacy DMTs

5.2.1. Dimethyl fumarate

Dimethyl fumarate has been used in the treatment of MS since 2013 due to its proposed anti-inflammatory, immunomodulatory and oxidant properties. While the mechanism by which it exerts its effect is not fully understood, it is thought to suppress the transcription of nuclear factor-kappa B and activate the transcription of the nuclear (erythroid-derived2)-related factor (Nrf2) (74).

DEFINE, a phase three randomized control study found no increased risk of malignancy associated with the use of dimethyl fumarate, one case of cervical cancer was reported in the treatment arm, with no cases reported in the placebo arm (75). This finding was supported by a prospective observational study conducted in Spain over a 5 year period. Again they found no increased risk of malignancy, and only one case of cervical LSIL was reported (76).

5.2.2. Inhibition of lymphocyte migration: Natalizumab and sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor antagonists 5.2.2.1. Natalizumab

Natalizumab was one of the first high-efficacy DMTs and was approved by the FDA in 2004. It is a monoclonal antibody that inhibits alpha4beta1-integrin, thereby preventing T-cells from egressing from the circulation across the blood-brain barrier and into the central nervous system (77). Alpha4beta1 integrins are also located on the surface of the cervix (78) and it is postulated that alpha4beta1 inhibition prevents T-cells from being able to enter the

genital mucosa resulting in impaired antimicrobial clearance (79, 80). A possible association between natalizumab and cervical abnormalities has been described in case reports (79, 81, 82). One case series described four patients treated with natalizumab for 9–45 months who developed high-grade cervical pre-cancer. Three were diagnosed with CIN 2 and one was diagnosed with CIN 3. All four women were positive for HPV (81).

Larger studies have not supported a possible association between natalizumab and cervical cancer (83-86). A Swedish populationbased registry study identified no significant risk of pre-cancer (CIN 3+) or cancer in patients treated with natalizumab compared with the general population. However, average duration of follow-up for women treated with natalizumab in this study was 3.94 years. This short duration of surveillance may not have been sufficient to capture cervical cancer outcomes (87).

AFFIRM, a stage 3 randomized, placebo-controlled trial evaluated the safety and efficacy of 627 MS patients treated with natalizumab over a 2-year period. This study identified one case of cervical carcinoma *in situ* in the natalizumab treatment arm (88).

5.2.2.2. Sphingosine 1-P receptor modulators: Fingolimod and siponimod

Fingolimod is a sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor modulator that blocks lymphocyte egress from lymph nodes, limiting the number of circulating T-cells in the peripheral circulation (89). Reductions in the number of circulating T-cells may have implications for immune surveillance, which is a possible mechanism for cancer development (2).

Small case series have found an increase in HPV associated lesions in patients treated with fingolimod (46, 47, 90). A case series of 16 MS patients without a previous history of HPV found that 11 women and 5 men developed HPV lesions following fingolimod initiation (46). The lesions were identified on average 4 years after commencement of fingolimod. Of the nine women who developed cervical abnormalities, five had LSIL and four had HSIL. Oncogenic HPV-16 was identified in three patients. An important limitation of this series was that most patients had been exposed to other immunomodulating therapies prior to the commencement of fingolimod (46).

A Swedish population registry-based cohort study found a borderline significant increased risk of invasive cancer in patients treated with fingolimod compared to the general population (HR 1.53, 95% CI 0.98–2.38) (87). Notably, however, they found no difference in the rates of high-grade cervical pre-cancer (CIN 3) in the fingolimod treated population compared with healthy controls. It is important to note that the average follow-up period was 3.96 years, which may not have been long enough to see an effect on cancers with a long oncogenic lag, such as HPV associated cervical cancer (87).

LONGTERMS, a phase IIIb open-label extension trial, of patients treated with fingolimod for up to 14 years identified seven cases of cervical pre-cancer (0.2%, IR 0.04) (91).

5.2.2.3. Siponimod

Similar to fingolimod, Siponimod is a sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor modulator, which prohibits the egress of immune cells from the lymph nodes into the peripheral circulation (92). It is also thought to exert anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective effects in secondary progressive MS patients (SPMS) (92). It has been FDA approved for both RRMS and SPMS (2).

The stage III randomized, placebo controlled EXPAND trial did not find a difference between the frequency of malignancies in the Siponimod cohort compared to the placebo cohort. There were 11 cases of basal cell carcinoma associated with treatment, however, this did not significantly differ from the placebo arm (93).

5.2.3. Inhibitors of DNA synthesis: Teriflunomide and cladribine

5.2.3.1. Teriflunomide

Teriflunomide inhibits the mitochondrial enzyme dihydroorotate dehydrogenase which is necessary for the synthesis of pyrimidines. This causes inhibition of DNA and RNA synthesis and affects actively dividing cells including immune T and B cells, resulting in less circulating lymphocytes (2). This may reduce immune surveillance, allowing tumorigenesis to go unchecked.

The frequency of malignancy, including cervical cancer, has not been found to be significantly increased in patients treated with teriflunomide (94–96). 9-year follow-up from the TEMSO trial, which evaluated safety and efficacy of teriflunomide, identified one case of cervical carcinoma *in situ* in the teriflunomide treatment arm (97).

5.2.3.2. Cladribine

Cladribine has been newly licensed for the treatment of RRMS and SPMS. It was approved by the FDA in 2019. Cladribine is a nucleoside analog that inhibits DNA synthesis and repair. This results in sustained reduction of circulating B and T lymphocytes (98).

The pharmaceutical safety trials for Cladribine identified one case of cervical carcinoma *in situ* (99, 100). Of note, HPV 16 was identified 3 years prior and the patient was prescribed the higher strength dose of 5.25 mg/kg (101). However, the combined safety data from three previously reported Phase III studies (CLARITY, CLARITY extension and ORACLE-MS), as well as the prospective observational PREMIERE registry for patients prescribed 3.5 mg/kg dose of cladribine, did not identify any cases of cervical pre-cancer or cancer in the cladribine cohort. Two cases of cervical carcinoma *in situ* were identified in the placebo group (102).

5.2.4. Monoclonal antibodies: Rituximab, ocrelizumab, ofatumumab, and alemtuzumab 5.2.4.1. Anti-CD20: Rituximab, ocrelizumab, and ofatumumab

Anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody therapies, including Rituximab, Ocrelizumab, and Ofatumumab, target CD 20 on B cells causing B cell depletion (103). B cells have an important role in the regulatory immunological response to cancer. Tumor metabolites can attract B cells to tumor sites, resulting in detection and lysis of proliferating tumor cells (104). In the absence of B cells, cancer growth may proceed unchecked (2).

Anti-CD20 therapies have not been associated with an increased incidence of invasive cancer (105–109). Class III evidence to support the safety profile of ocrelizumab was obtained by an analysis of pooled safety data from 11 clinical trials including controlled treatment, open-label extension periods of the phase II and III trials and the phase IIIb trials of ocrelizumab in patients with RRMS and SPMS. This data included 5680 patients with MS who received ocrelizumab in clinical trials. There were 18, 218 patient-years of exposure. The rate of malignancy was calculated to be 0.46 (0.37–0.57) per 100 patient-years, which is consistent with the ranges reported in epidemiologic data (110). One case of stage II cervical carcinoma was identified (110).

5.2.4.2. Alemtuzumab

Alemtuzumab is a humanized monoclonal anti-CD-52 antibody which targets B and T lymphocytes, resulting in peripheral lymphocyte depletion, along with a reduction of natural killer cells, dendritic cells, granulocytes and monocytes (111). Pharmaceutical safety trials have not found a statistically significant increased rate of malignancy compared to controls (108, 112–116). One case of cervical cancer has been reported in association with Alemtuzumab (117).

6. Other factors that may increase cervical cancer risk in wwMS

6.1. HPV vaccination

The development of HPV vaccinations and the introduction of population-wide vaccination programs have become the fundamental pillar of the WHO Global Strategy to accelerate the elimination of cervical cancer as a public health problem (118). There is emerging evidence for cancer prevention in higher Development Index countries with organized population-based vaccination programs (119–123). However, globally rates have yet to fall as the greatest disease burden remains in low-and middle-income countries with the highest populations, where vaccination programs are yet to be implemented (124–126).

HPV vaccines [including the bivalent (HPV 16, 18), quadrivalent (HPV 6, 11, 16, 18), and nonavalent (HPV 6, 11, 16, 18, 31, 33, 45, 52, 58)] are inactive and therefore safe and immunogenic for the immunocompromised population (43, 127-129). Immunocompromised women will likely benefit from vaccination, even if they have already been exposed to the virus, as vaccine induced antibodies can prevent any new infection, reinfection with previously cleared types or spread of infection throughout the genital tract in cases of reactivation of a previously controlled HPV infection. The vaccines will not, however, clear any existing HPV infection, and do not reduce the need for screening (130, 131). The relatively recent introduction of the HPV vaccination program and age criteria (in Australia, women aged younger than 27 in 2007), has meant that many women have not had access to vaccination and would likely benefit from a "catch-up" vaccine. This would preferably be administered prior to the introduction of immunomodulating therapy (46). However, in Australia this is not routinely funded, and is cost-prohibitive for many.

Current Australian guidelines recommend a two-dose schedule of the nonavalent vaccine for immunocompetent people aged 11– 14 years (WHO recommends a global primary target age range for HPV vaccination of 9–14 years) (132). Three doses are advised for those who are severely immunocompromised at the time of vaccination and those aged 15 years or older at the time of the first dose (133). To our knowledge, there is no data specifically examining the MS populations response to HPV vaccination. On the basis of extrapolation from other immunocompromised patient populations, the current recommendation is that wwMS on DMTs should be treated as immunocompromised and offered a three-dose schedule (134).

6.2. Cervical screening programs

Cervical screening programs remain fundamental for cervical cancer prevention, regardless of HPV vaccination status (128, 135). Screening programs ensure early detection of pre-cancerous cervical abnormalities so that intervention can occur before progression to cervical cancer (42). The current recommendations for the Australian general population is for 5-yearly cervical screening tests (CST) for women aged 25–74 years. A CST comprises a HPV test followed by a liquid based cytology (LBC) test if oncogenic HPV is detected (133).

Many countries with organized population-based screening programs, including Australia, Canada, Sweden and North America, recommend more frequent screening for immunocompromised women compared to the general population (136–141). However, whether wwMS exposed to immunomodulating therapy are included in this recommendation is often unclear. The Cancer Council Australia's Cervical Cancer Screening guideline lists women treated with immunosuppression for autoimmune diseases as a "group that require special consideration." They state that this group of women could be considered for screening on a 3-yearly interval, but there is no definitive recommendation for wwMS (142). No studies have specifically addressed this question.

WwMS may have reduced participation in preventative health assessments including cervical cancer screening (5–9). The risk of non-participation increases with increasing physical disability (5, 141, 143). Additionally, MS has the potential to impact cognition and mood which may negatively affect a patient's ability to access preventative health care (7).

Other barriers include physical and environmental barriers such as inaccessible medical offices, lack of transportation and difficulty with patient positioning and discomfort; time limitations as procedures such as CSTs may take longer in patients with physical limitations; and attitudinal barriers for both patients and clinicians. Physicians may hold misconceptions about the value of preventative health care due to an incorrect beliefs that physical disability precludes sexual activity, or that wwMS have a reduced life expectancy and therefore preventative screening is not required. WwMS bring their own attitudes about participation in cervical screening programs. Women may have had previous negative experiences with health care visits leading to reluctance to participate.

It is important that clinicians maintain awareness of current guidelines for immunocompromised patients and cervical screening and of new opportunities. For example, Australia's screening program now offers all people with a cervix the option of self-collection (a low-mid vaginal sample is collected by the patient or their clinician to screen for HPV, replacing the need for cervical specimen collection. This test is as accurate for the detection of CIN2+ as a clinician collected sample) (144).

It is likely that any reduced participation in screening will negatively impact on cervical cancer outcomes. A Canadian retrospective cohort study of 6,820 patients with MS found that, although the incidence of cancer was lower in the MS population, patients had a larger tumor size at diagnosis (27). They argued that increased tumor size may reflect a later cancer stage at diagnosis, possibly as a result of reduced engagement with preventative health care.

7. Conclusion

There is insufficient data regarding the risk of HPV infection and progression to cervical pre-cancer and cancer in wwMS treated with DMTs. This is particularly evident for women treated with high-efficacy DMTs. Many studies are underpowered to detect cervical pre-cancer and cancer, particularly due to insufficient follow up time to capture this serious outcome. This represents an important knowledge gap in the MS literature and understanding the risk is imperative for the health and safety of wwMS.

Establishing whether DMTs increase the risk of cervical abnormalities will allow individualized counseling for patients regarding their risk profile. It will also guide international primary and secondary prevention strategies including HPV vaccination and cervical screening programs.

More research is needed to identify and address the barriers to participation in vaccination and screening programs for wwMS. Patients and clinicians need to be aware that wwMS are vulnerable to poor participation in these programs so they can better utilize strategies to optimize engagement.

Addressing these factors will significantly impact the rates of cervical abnormalities in the MS population and will help to advance the target of eliminating cervical cancer as a public health problem globally.

Author contributions

FB: conceptualization, methodology, writing original draft, reviewing and editing, and visualization. JB and YF:

References

1. Ross L, Ng HS, O'Mahony J, Amato MP, Cohen JA, Harnegie MP, et al. Women's health in multiple sclerosis: a scoping review. *Front Neurol.* (2022) 12:12417. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.812147

2. Melamed E, Lee MW. Multiple sclerosis and cancer: the ying-yang effect of disease modifying therapies. *Front Immunol.* (2020) 10:2954. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02954

3. Wallin MT, Culpepper WJ, Coffman P, Pulaski S, Maloni H, Mahan CM, et al. The Gulf War era multiple sclerosis cohort: age and incidence rates by race, sex and service. *Brain*. (2012) 135(Pt 6):1778-85. doi: 10.1093/brain/aws099

4. Foster E, Malloy MJ, Jokubaitis VG, Wrede CDH, Butzkueven H, Sasadeusz J, et al. Increased risk of cervical dysplasia in females with autoimmune conditions—Results from an Australia database linkage study. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0234813. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0234813

writing—reviewing and editing. HB: writing—reviewing and editing and supervision. VJ and AV: conceptualization, writing—reviewing and editing, and supervision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

FB has received travel support from Biogen and a travel grant from the European Committee for Treatment and Research in Multiple Sclerosis. YF has received travel support from Biogen and receives grant support from MS Research Australia, National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia, Australia and New Zealand Association of Neurologists, and Avant Foundation. HB served on scientific advisory boards for Biogen, Novartis and Sanofi-Aventis and received conference travel support from Novartis, Biogen and Sanofi Aventis, and serves on steering committees for trials conducted by Biogen and Novartis received research support from Merck, Novartis, and Biogen. VJ receives research grant support from MS Research Australia and the National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia (NHMRC 1156519). AV has received travel support and served on advisory boards for Novartis, Biogen, Merck Serono, Roche and Teva, and receives grant support from the National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fneur.2023. 1119660/full#supplementary-material

5. Cheng E, Myers L, Wolf S, Shatin D, Cui XP, Ellison G, et al. Mobility impairments and use of preventive services in women with multiple sclerosis: observational study. *BMJ*. (2001) 323:968–9. doi: 10.1136/bmj.323.7319.968

6. Nosek MA, Howland CA. Breast and cervical cancer screening among women with physical disabilities. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (1997) 78(12 Supplement 5):S39-44. doi: 10.1016/S0003-9993(97)90220-3

7. Dobos K, Healy B, Houtchens M. Access to preventive health care in severely disabled women with multiple sclerosis. *Int J MS Care.* (2015) 17:200–5. doi: 10.7224/1537-2073.2013-046

8. Marrie RA, Walld R, Bolton JM, Sareen J, Patten SB, Singer A, et al. Effect of comorbid mood and anxiety disorders on breast and cervical cancer screening in immune-mediated inflammatory disease. *PLoS ONE.* (2021) 16:e0249809. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0249809

9. Groome PA, Webber C, Maxwell CJ, McClintock C, Seitz D, Mahar A, et al. Multiple sclerosis and the cancer diagnosis: diagnostic route, cancer stage, and the diagnostic interval in breast and colorectal cancer. *Neurology*. (2022) 98:e1798–809. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000200163

10. International Agency for Research on Cancer. IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans. A Review of Human Carcinogens Part B: Biological Agents. Vol. 100B. Lyon: IARC (2012).

11. International Agency for Research on Cancer. *IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans: Human Papillomaviruses*. Vol. 90. Lyon: IARC (2007). Available from: https://publications.iarc.fr/Book-And-Report-Series/Iarc-Monographs-On-The-Identification-Of-Carcinogenic-Hazards-To-Humans/Human-Papillomaviruses-2007 (cited October 3, 2022).

12. Tommasino M. The human papillomavirus family and its role in carcinogenesis. Semin Cancer Biol. (2014) 26:13–21. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2013.11.002

13. Wang R, Pan W, Jin L, Huang W, Li Y, Wu D, et al. Human papillomavirus vaccine against cervical cancer: opportunity and challenge. *Cancer Lett.* (2020) 471:88–102. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2019.11.039

14. Stanley MA. Epithelial cell responses to infection with human papillomavirus. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* (2012) 25:215–22. doi: 10.1128/CMR.05028-11

15. Jamieson DJ, Duerr A, Burk R, Klein RS, Paramsothy P, Schuman P, et al. Characterization of genital human papillomavirus infection in women who have or who are at risk of having HIV infection. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2002) 186:21-7. doi: 10.1067/mob.2002.119776

16. Kane S, Khatibi B, Reddy D. Higher incidence of abnormal pap smears in women with inflammatory bowel disease. *Off J Am Coll Gastroenterol.* (2008) 103:631–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2007.01582.x

17. Adami J, Gäbel H, Lindelöf B, Ekström K, Rydh B, Glimelius B, et al. Cancer risk following organ transplantation: a nationwide cohort study in Sweden. *Br J Cancer*. (2003) 89:1221–7. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6601219

18. Duerr A, Kieke B, Warren D, Shah K, Burk R, Peipert JF, et al. Human papillomavirus-associated cervical cytologic abnormalities among women with or at risk of infection with human immunodeficiency virus. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2001) 184:584–90. doi: 10.1067/mob.2001.111791

19. Shrestha S, Sudenga SL, Smith JS, Bachmann LH, Wilson CM, Kempf MC. The impact of highly active antiretroviral therapy on prevalence and incidence of cervical human papillomavirus infections in HIV-positive adolescents. *BMC Infect Dis.* (2010) 10:295. doi: 10.1186/1471-2334-10-295

20. Heard I, Tassie JM, Schmitz V, Mandelbrot L, Kazatchkine MD, Orth G. Increased risk of cervical disease among human immunodeficiency virus–infected women with severe immunosuppression and high human papillomavirus load. *Obst Gynecol.* (2000) 96:403–9. doi: 10.1097/00006250-200009000-00016

21. Møller H, Kneller RW, Boice JD, Olsen JH. Cancer incidence following hospitalization for multiple sclerosis in Denmark. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (1991) 84:214–20. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.1991.tb04941.x

22. Moisset X, Perié M, Pereira B, Dumont E, Lebrun-Frenay C, Lesage FX, et al. Decreased prevalence of cancer in patients with multiple sclerosis: a case-control study. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0188120. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0188120

23. Nielsen NM, Rostgaard K, Rasmussen S, Koch-Henriksen N, Storm HH, Melbye M, et al. Cancer risk among patients with multiple sclerosis: a population-based register study. *Int J Cancer*. (2006) 118:979–84. doi: 10.1002/ijc.21437

24. Bahmanyar S, Montgomery SM, Hillert J, Ekbom A, Olsson T. Cancer risk among patients with multiple sclerosis and their parents. *Neurology*. (2009) 72:1170–7. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000345366.10455.62

25. Fois AF, Wotton CJ, Yeates D, Turner MR, Goldacre MJ. Cancer in patients with motor neuron disease, multiple sclerosis and Parkinson's disease: record linkage studies. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2010) 81:215. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2009.175463

26. Lebrun C, Vermersch P, Brassat D, Defer G, Rumbach L, Clavelou P, et al. Cancer and multiple sclerosis in the era of disease-modifying treatments. *J Neurol.* (2011) 258:1304–11. doi: 10.1007/s00415-011-5929-9

27. Kingwell E, Bajdik C, Phillips N, Zhu F, Oger J, Hashimoto S, et al. Cancer risk in multiple sclerosis: findings from British Columbia, Canada. *Brain*. (2012) 135:2973– 9. doi: 10.1093/brain/aws148

28. Hemminki K, Liu X, Ji J, Försti A, Sundquist J, Sundquist K. Effect of autoimmune diseases on risk and survival in female cancers. *Gynecol Oncol.* (2012) 127:180–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2012.07.100

29. Dugué PA, Rebolj M, Hallas J, Garred P, Lynge E. Risk of cervical cancer in women with autoimmune diseases, in relation with their use of immunosuppressants and screening: population-based cohort study. *Int J Cancer.* (2015) 136:E711–719. doi: 10.1002/ijc.29209

30. Ajdacic-Gross V, Rodgers S, Aleksandrowicz A, Mutsch M, Steinemann N, von Wyl V, et al. Cancer co-occurrence patterns in Parkinson's disease and multiple sclerosis—Do they mirror immune system imbalances? *Cancer Epidemiol.* (2016) 44:167–73. doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2016.08.018

31. Hongell K, Kurki S, Sumelahti ML, Soilu-Hänninen M. Risk of cancer among Finnish multiple sclerosis patients. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2019) 35:221–7. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2019.08.005

32. Grytten N, Myhr KM, Celius EG, Benjaminsen E, Kampman M, Midgard R, et al. Risk of cancer among multiple sclerosis patients, siblings, and population controls: A prospective cohort study. *Mult Scler.* (2020) 26:1569–80. doi: 10.1177/13524585198 77244

33. Johnson DK, Reynolds KM, Poole BD, Montierth MD, Todd VM, Barnado A, et al. Contribution of viral infection to risk for cancer in systemic lupus erythematosus and multiple sclerosis. *PLoS One.* (2021) 16:e0243150. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.02 43150

34. Grytten N, Myhr KM, Celius EG, Benjaminsen E, Kampman MT, Midgard R, et al. Incidence of cancer in multiple sclerosis before and after the treatment era- a registry- based cohort study. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2021) 55:103209. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.103209

35. Marrie RA, Maxwell C, Mahar A, Ekuma O, McClintock C, Seitz D, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality rates in multiple sclerosis: a matched cohort study. *Neurology*. (2021) 96:e501–12. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000011219

36. Marrie RA, Reider N, Cohen J, Stuve O, Trojano M, Sorensen PS, et al. A systematic review of the incidence and prevalence of cancer in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2015) 21:294–304. doi: 10.1177/1352458514564489

37. Beiki O, Frumento P, Bottai M, Manouchehrinia A, Hillert J. Changes in the risk of reaching multiple sclerosis disability milestones in recent decades: a nationwide population-based cohort study in Sweden. *JAMA Neurol.* (2019) 76:665–71. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.0330

38. Kim SC, Glynn RJ, Giovannucci E, Hernández-Díaz S, Liu J, Feldman S, et al. Risk of high-grade cervical dysplasia and cervical cancer in women with systemic inflammatory diseases: a population-based cohort study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2015) 74:1360–7. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204993

39. Papeix C, Donze C, Lebrun-Frénay C, Papeix C, Donzé C, Lebrun-Frénay C, et al. Infections and multiple sclerosis: recommendations from the French Multiple Sclerosis Society. *Rev Neurol.* (2021) 177:980–94. doi: 10.1016/j.neurol.2021.04.011

40. Rae-Grant A, Day GS, Marrie RA, Rabinstein A, Cree BAC, Gronseth GS, et al. Practice guideline recommendations summary: disease-modifying therapies for adults with multiple sclerosis: report of the guideline development, dissemination, and implementation subcommittee of the american academy of neurology. *Neurology*. (2018) 90:777–88. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000005347

41. Moiola L, Barcella V, Benatti S, Capobianco M, Capra R, Cinque P, et al. The risk of infection in patients with multiple sclerosis treated with disease-modifying therapies: a Delphi consensus statement. *Mult Scler.* (2021) 27:331–46. doi: 10.1177/1352458520952311

42. Frazer IH. Prevention of cervical cancer through papillomavirus vaccination. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2004) 4:46–54. doi: 10.1038/nri1260

43. Reusser NM, Downing C, Guidry J, Tyring SK, HPV. Carcinomas in immunocompromised patients. *J Clin Med.* (2015) 4:260–81. doi: 10.3390/jcm4020260

44. Moscicki AB, Shiboski S, Hills NK, Powell KJ, Jay N, Hanson EN, et al. Regression of low-grade squamous intra-epithelial lesions in young women. *Lancet.* (2004) 364:1678–83. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17354-6

45. McBride AA, Warburton A. The role of integration in oncogenic progression of HPV-associated cancers. *PLoS Pathog.* (2017) 13:e1006211. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006211

46. Mhanna E, Nouchi A, Louapre C, De Paz R, Heinzlef O, Bodini B, et al. Human papillomavirus lesions in 16 MS patients treated with fingolimod: outcomes and vaccination. *Mult Scler.* (2021) 27:1794–8. doi: 10.1177/1352458521991433

47. Triplett J, Kermode AG, Corbett A, Reddel SW. Warts and all: Fingolimod and unusual HPV-associated lesions. *Mult Scler.* (2019) 25:1547–50. doi: 10.1177/1352458518807088

48. Macaron G, Ontaneda D. Clinical commentary on "Warts and all: Fingolimod and unusual HPV associated lesions". *Mult Scler.* (2019) 25:1550–2. doi: 10.1177/1352458518813109

49. Huang KH, Tsai WC, Kung PT. The use of Pap smear and its influencing factors among women with disabilities in Taiwan. *Res Dev Disabil.* (2012) 33:307–14. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2011.09.016

50. D'Amico E, Chisari CG, Arena S, Zanghì A, Toscano S, Lo Fermo S, et al. Cancer risk and multiple sclerosis: evidence from a large Italian cohort. *Front Neurol.* (2019) 10:337. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00337

51. Lebrun C, Debouverie M, Vermersch P, Clavelou P, Rumbach L, de Seze J, et al. Cancer risk and impact of disease-modifying treatments in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scl Clin Lab Res.* (2008) 14:399–405. doi: 10.1177/1352458507083625

52. Achiron A, Barak Y, Mitchell G, Mandel M, Pee D, Ayyagari R, et al. Cancer incidence in multiple sclerosis and effects of immunomodulatory treatments. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* (2005) 89:265–70. doi: 10.1007/s10549-004-2229-4

53. Mariottini A, Forci B, Gualdani E, Romoli M, Repice AM, Barilaro A, et al. Incidence of malignant neoplasms and mortality in people affected by multiple sclerosis in the epoch of disease-modifying treatments: a population-based study on Tuscan residents. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2022) 60:103679. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2022.103679

54. Stamatellos VP, Siafis S, Papazisis G. Disease-modifying agents for multiple sclerosis and the risk for reporting cancer: a disproportionality analysis using the us food and drug administration adverse event reporting system database. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* (2021) 87:4769–79. doi: 10.1111/bcp.14916

55. Gaindh D, Kavak KS, Teter B, Vaughn CB, Cookfair D, Hahn T, et al. Decreased risk of cancer in multiple sclerosis patients and analysis of the effect of disease modifying therapies on cancer risk. *J Neurol Sci.* (2016) 370:13–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2016.09.005

56. Ragonese P, Aridon P, Vazzoler G, Mazzola MA, Lo Re V, Lo Re M, et al. Association between multiple sclerosis, cancer risk, and immunosuppressant treatment: a cohort study. *BMC Neurol.* (2017) 17:155. doi: 10.1186/s12883-017-0932-0

57. Dolladille C, Chrétien B, Peyro-Saint-Paul L, Alexandre J, Dejardin O, Fedrizzi S, et al. Association between disease-modifying therapies prescribed to persons with multiple sclerosis and cancer: a WHO pharmacovigilance database analysis. *Neurotherapeutics.* (2021) 18:1657–64. doi: 10.1007/s13311-021-01073-y

58. Gil-Bernal R, González-Caballero JL, Espinosa-Rosso R, Gómez-Gómez C. Potential risk of disease modifying therapies on neoplasm development and coadjutant factors in multiple sclerosis outpatients. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:12533. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-91912-x

59. Travis LB, Curtis RE, Glimelius B, Holowaty EJ, Van Leeuwen FE, Lynch CF, et al. Bladder and kidney cancer following cyclophosphamide therapy for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. J Natl Cancer Inst. (1995) 87:524–30. doi: 10.1093/jnci/87.7.524

60. Pasternak B, Svanström H, Schmiegelow K, Jess T, Hviid A. Use of azathioprine and the risk of cancer in inflammatory bowel disease. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2013) 177:1296–305. doi: 10.1093/aje/kws375

61. Graves JS, Krysko KM, Hua LH, Absinta M, Franklin RJM, Segal BM. Ageing and multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2022) 3:S1474442222001843. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(22)00184-3

62. Cervical cancer incidence statistics. Cancer Research UK. (2015). Available online at: https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancer-statistics/statistics-by-cancer-type/cervical-cancer/incidence (accessed Jan 17, 2023).

63. Lebrun C, Rocher F. Cancer risk in patients with multiple sclerosis: potential impact of disease-modifying drugs. *CNS Drugs.* (2018) 32:939–49. doi: 10.1007/s40263-018-0564-y

64. Kasper LH, Reder AT. Immunomodulatory activity of interferon-beta. Ann Clin Transl Neurol. (2014) 1:622–31. doi: 10.1002/acn3.84

65. Prod'homme T, Zamvil SS. The evolving mechanisms of action of glatiramer acetate. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med.* (2019) 9:a029249. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a029249

66. Schrempf W, Ziemssen T. Glatiramer acetate: mechanisms of action in multiple sclerosis. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2007) 6:469–75. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2007.02.003

67. Doosti R, Togha M, Moghadasi AN, Aghsaie A, Azimi AR, Khorramnia S, et al. Evaluation of the risk of cervical cancer in patients with Multiple Sclerosis treated with cytotoxic agents: a cohort study. *Iran J Neurol.* (2018) 17:64–70.

68. Bloomgren G, Sperling B, Cushing K, Wenten M. Assessment of malignancy risk in patients with multiple sclerosis treated with intramuscular interferon beta-1a: retrospective evaluation using a health insurance claims database and post-marketing surveillance data. *Ther Clin Risk Manag.* (2012) 8:313–21. doi: 10.2147/TCRM.S31347

69. Kappos L, Freedman MS, Polman CH, Edan G, Hartung HP, Miller DH, et al. Longterm effect of early treatment with interferon beta-1b after a first clinical event suggestive of multiple sclerosis: 5-year active treatment extension of the phase 3 BENEFIT trial. *Lancet Neurol.* (2009) 8:987–97. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70237-6

70. O'Connor P, Filippi M, Arnason B, Comi G, Cook S, Goodin D, et al. 250 or 500 μ g interferon beta-1b vs. 20 mg glatiramer acetate in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a prospective, randomised, multicentre study. *Lancet Neurol.* (2009) 8:889–97. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70226-1

71. Reder AT, Ebers GC, Traboulsee A, Li D, Langdon D, Goodin DS, et al. Crosssectional study assessing long-term safety of interferon--1b for relapsing-remitting MS. *Neurology.* (2010) 74:1877-85. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181e240d0

72. Wolinsky JS, Borresen TE, Dietrich DW, Wynn D, Sidi Y, Steinerman JR, et al. GLACIER: An open-label, randomized, multicenter study to assess the safety and tolerability of glatiramer acetate 40 mg three-times weekly versus 20 mg daily in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2015) 4:370–6. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2015.06.005

73. Kappos L, Polman CH, Freedman MS, Edan G, Hartung HP, Miller DH, et al. Treatment with interferon beta-1b delays conversion to clinically definite and McDonald MS in patients with clinically isolated syndromes. *Neurology*. (2006) 67:1242–9. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000237641.33768.8d

74. Loewe R, Holnthoner W, Gröger M, Pillinger M, Gruber F, Mechtcheriakova D, et al. Dimethylfumarate inhibits TNF-induced nuclear entry of NF-kappa B/p65 in human endothelial cells. *J Immunol.* (2002) 168:4781–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168.9.4781

75. Gold R, Kappos L, Arnold DL, Bar-Or A, Giovannoni G, Selmaj K, et al. Placebocontrolled phase 3 study of oral BG-12 for relapsing multiple sclerosis. *N Eng J Med.* (2012) 367:1098–107. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1114287

76. Gómez-Moreno M, Sánchez-Seco VG, Moreno-García S, Cámara PS, Sabin-Muñoz J, Ayuso-Peralta L, et al. Cancer diagnosis in a Spanish cohort of multiple sclerosis patients under dimethylfumarate treatment. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2021) 49:102747. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.102747

77. Steinman L. Blocking adhesion molecules as therapy for multiple sclerosis: natalizumab. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. (2005) 4:510–8. doi: 10.1038/nrd1752

78. Perciani CT, Jaoko W, Farah B, Ostrowski MA, Anzala O, MacDonald KS. $\alpha E\beta7,~\alpha 4\beta7$ and $\alpha 4\beta1$ integrin contributions to T cell distribution in blood, cervix,

and rectal tissues: potential implications for HIV transmission. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0192482. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0192482

79. Durrieu G, Dardonville Q, Clanet M, Montastruc JL. Cervical dysplasia in a patient with multiple sclerosis treated with natalizumab. *Fundam Clin Pharmacol.* (2019) 33:125–6. doi: 10.1111/fcp.12394

80. Davila SJ, Olive AJ, Starnbach MN. Integrin $\alpha 4\beta 1$ is necessary for CD4+ T cell-mediated protection against genital C. trachomatis infection. J Immunol. (2014) 192:4284–93. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1303238

81. Rolfes L, Lokhorst B, Samijn J, van Puijenbroek E. Cervical dysplasia associated with the use of natalizumab. *Neth J Med.* (2013) 71:494–5.

82. Wan KM, Oehler MK. Rapid progression of low-grade cervical dysplasia into invasive cancer during natalizumab treatment for relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis. *Case Rep Oncol.* (2019) 12:59–62. doi: 10.1159/000496198

83. Kappos L, Radue EW, O'Connor P, Polman C, Hohlfeld R, Calabresi P, et al. A placebo-controlled trial of oral fingolimod in relapsing multiple sclerosis. *N Eng J Med.* (2010) 362:387–401. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0909494

84. Cohen JA, Barkhof F, Comi G, Hartung HP, Khatri BO, Montalban X, et al. Oral fingolimod or intramuscular interferon for relapsing multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med.* (2010) 362:402–15. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0907839

85. Calabresi PA, Radue EW, Goodin D, Jeffery D, Rammohan KW, Reder AT, et al. Safety and efficacy of fingolimod in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis (FREEDOMS II): a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Neurol.* (2014) 13:545–56. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70049-3

86. Lublin F, Miller DH, Freedman MS, Cree BAC, Wolinsky JS, Weiner H, et al. Oral fingolimod in primary progressive multiple sclerosis (INFORMS): a phase 3, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet.* (2016) 387:1075-84. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01314-8

87. Alping P, Askling J, Burman J, Fink K, Fogdell-Hahn A, Gunnarsson M, et al. Cancer risk for fingolimod, natalizumab, and rituximab in multiple sclerosis patients. *Ann Neurol.* (2020) 87:688–99. doi: 10.1002/ana.25701

88. Polman CH, O'Connor PW, Havrdova E, Hutchinson M, Kappos L, Miller DH, et al. A randomized, placebo-controlled trial of natalizumab for relapsing multiple sclerosis. *N Eng J Med.* (2006) 354:899–910. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa044397

89. Yanagawa M. Chiba. FTY720, a novel immunosuppressant, induces sequestration of circulating mature lymphocytes by acceleration of lymphocyte homing in rats, III Increase in frequency of CD62L-positive T cells in Peyer's patches by FTY720-induced lymphocyte homing. *Immunology*. (1998) 95:591–4. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2567.1998.00639.x

90. Jaafar N, Zeineddine M, Massouh J, Yamout B. Skin warts during fingolimod treatment in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2018) 26:263–4. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2018.10.101

91. Cohen JA, Tenenbaum N, Bhatt A, Zhang Y, Kappos L. Extended treatment with fingolimod for relapsing multiple sclerosis: the 14-year LONGTERMS study results. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord*. (2019) 12:1756286419878324. doi: 10.1177/1756286419878324

92. Behrangi N. Link to external site this link will open in a new window, Fischbach F, Kipp M, Link to external site this link will open in a new window. Mechanism of siponimod: anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective mode of action. *Cells.* (2019) 8:24. doi: 10.3390/cells8010024

93. Kappos L, Bar-Or A, Cree BAC, Fox RJ, Giovannoni G, Gold R, et al. Siponimod versus placebo in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis (EXPAND): a double-blind, randomised, phase 3 study. *Lancet.* (2018) 391:1263-73. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30475-6

94. Comi G, Freedman MS, Kappos L, Olsson TP, Miller AE, Wolinsky JS, et al. Pooled safety and tolerability data from four placebo-controlled teriflunomide studies and extensions. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2016) 5:97–104. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2015.11.006

95. Confavreux C, O'Connor P, Comi G, Freedman MS, Miller AE, Olsson TP, et al. Oral teriflunomide for patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis (TOWER): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Neurol.* (2014) 13:247-56. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70308-9

96. Miller AE, Wolinsky JS, Kappos L, Comi G, Freedman MS, Olsson TP, et al. Oral teriflunomide for patients with a first clinical episode suggestive of multiple sclerosis (TOPIC): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Neurol.* (2014) 13:977–86. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70191-7

97. O'Connor P, Comi G, Freedman MS, Miller AE, Kappos L, Bouchard JP, et al. Longterm safety and efficacy of teriflunomide: 9-year follow-up of the randomized TEMSO study. *Neurology.* (2016) 86:920–30. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000002441

98. Leist TP, Weissert R. Cladribine: Mode of action and implications for treatment of multiple sclerosis. *Clin Neuropharmacol.* (2011) 34:28– 35. doi: 10.1097/WNF.0b013e318204cd90

99. Leist TP, Comi G, Cree BAC, Coyle PK, Freedman MS, Hartung HP, et al. Effect of oral cladribine on time to conversion to clinically definite multiple sclerosis in patients with a first demyelinating event (ORACLE MS): a phase 3 randomised trial. *Lancet Neurol.* (2014) 13:257–67. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70005-5

100. Giovannoni G, Soelberg Sorensen P, Cook S, Rammohan K, Rieckmann P, Comi G, et al. Safety and efficacy of cladribine tablets in patients with relapsing–remitting multiple sclerosis: results from the randomized extension trial of the CLARITY study. *Mult Scler.* (2018) 24:1594–604. doi: 10.1177/1352458517727603

101. Giovannoni G, Comi G, Cook S, Rammohan K, Rieckmann P, Sørensen PS, et al. A placebo-controlled trial of oral cladribine for relapsing multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med.* (2010) 362:416–26. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0902533

102. Leist T, Cook S, Comi G, Montalban X, Giovannoni G, Nolting A, et al. Long-term safety data from the cladribine tablets clinical development program in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2020) 46:102572. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2020.102572

103. Clark EA, Ledbetter JA. How does B cell depletion therapy work, and how can it be improved? Ann Rheum Dis. (2005) 64:iv77-80. doi: 10.1136/ard.2005.042507

104. Schwartz M, Zhang Y, Rosenblatt JD, B. cell regulation of the antitumor response and role in carcinogenesis. *J Immunother Cancer.* (2016) 4:40. doi: 10.1186/s40425-016-0145-x

105. Montalban X, Hauser SL, Kappos L, Arnold DL, Bar-Or A, Comi G, et al. Ocrelizumab vs. placebo in primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *N Eng J Med.* (2017) 376:209–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1606468

106. Hauser SL, Bar-Or A, Comi G, Giovannoni G, Hartung HP, Hemmer B, et al. Ocrelizumab vs. interferon beta-1a in relapsing multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med.* (2017) 376:221–34. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1601277

107. Wolinsky JS, Arnold DL, Brochet B, Hartung HP, Montalban X, Naismith RT, et al. Long-term follow-up from the ORATORIO trial of ocrelizumab for primary progressive multiple sclerosis: a post-hoc analysis from the ongoing open-label extension of the randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Neurol.* (2020) 19:998–1009. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(20)30342-2

108. Cohen JA, Coles AJ, Arnold DL, Confavreux C, Fox EJ, Hartung HP, et al. Alemtuzumab versus interferon beta 1a as first-line treatment for patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a randomised controlled phase 3 trial. *Lancet.* (2012) 380:1819–28. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61769-3

109. Hauser SL, Bar-Or A, Cohen JA, Comi G, Correale J, Coyle PK, et al. Ofatumumab vs. teriflunomide in multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 383:546–57. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1917246

110. Hauser SL, Kappos L, Montalban X, Craveiro L, Chognot C, Hughes R, et al. Safety of ocrelizumab in patients with relapsing and primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Neurology.* (2021) 97:e1546–59. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000 12700

111. Rao SP, Sancho J, Campos-Rivera J, Boutin PM, Severy PB, Weeden T, et al. Human peripheral blood mononuclear cells exhibit heterogeneous CD52 expression levels and show differential sensitivity to alemtuzumab mediated cytolysis. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e39416. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0039416

112. Havrdova E, Horakova D, Kovarova I. Alemtuzumab in the treatment of multiple sclerosis: key clinical trial results and considerations for use. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord.* (2015) 8:31–45. doi: 10.1177/1756285614563522

113. Steingo B, Al Malik Y, Bass AD, Berkovich R, Carraro M, Fernández Ó, et al. Longterm efficacy and safety of alemtuzumab in patients with RRMS: 12-year follow-up of CAMMS223. J Neurol. (2020) 267:3343–53. doi: 10.1007/s00415-020-09983-1

114. Coles AJ, Twyman CL, Arnold DL, Cohen JA, Confavreux C, Fox EJ, et al. Alemtuzumab for patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis after disease-modifying therapy: a randomised controlled phase 3 trial. *Lancet.* (2012) 380:1829-39. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61768-1

115. Guarnera C, Bramanti P, Mazzon E. Alemtuzumab: a review of efficacy and risks in the treatment of relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis. *Ther Clin Risk Manag.* (2017) 13:871–9. doi: 10.2147/TCRM.S134398

116. Coles AJ, Cohen JA, Fox EJ, Giovannoni G, Hartung HP, Havrdova E, et al. Alemtuzumab CARE-MS II 5-year follow-up: efficacy and safety findings. *Neurology*. (2017) 89:1117–26. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000004354

117. Compston DAS, Selmaj KW, Lake SL, Moran S, et al. Alemtuzumab vs. interferon beta-1a in early multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. (2008) 359:1786–801. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0802670

118. Surveillace NC for IR. Impact Evaluation of Australian National Human Papillomavirus Vaccination Program. National Centre for Immunisation and Research Surveillance, Australia (2021).

119. Lei J, Ploner A, Elfström KM, Wang J, Roth A, Fang F, et al. HPV Vaccination and the risk of invasive cervical cancer. *N Eng J Med.* (2020) 383:1340–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1917338

120. Kjaer SK, Dehlendorff C, Belmonte F, Baandrup L. Real-world effectiveness of human papillomavirus vaccination against cervical cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* (2021) 113:1329–35. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djab080

121. Falcaro M, Castañon A, Ndlela B, Checchi M, Soldan K, Lopez-Bernal J, et al. The effects of the national HPV vaccination programme in England, UK, on cervical cancer and grade 3 cervical intraepithelial neoplasia incidence: a registerbased observational study. *Lancet.* (2021) 398:2084–92. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21) 02178-4

122. Lehtinen M, Lagheden C, Luostarinen T, Eriksson T, Apter D, Bly A, et al. Human papillomavirus vaccine efficacy against invasive, HPV-positive cancers: Population-based follow-up of a cluster-randomised trial. BMJ Open. (2021) 11:12. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-050669

123. Mix JM, Van Dyne EA, Saraiya M, Hallowell BD, Thomas CC. Assessing impact of HPV vaccination on cervical cancer incidence among women aged 15–29 years in the United States, 1999–2017: an ecologic study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2021) 30:30–7. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-20-0846

124. Global strategy to accelerate the elimination of cervical cancer as a public health problem. Available online at: https://www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/ 9789240014107. (accessed October 5, 2022).

125. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin.* (2018) 68:394–424. doi: 10.3322/caac.21492

126. Ferlay J, Ervik M, Lam F, Colombet M, Mery L, Piñeros M, et al. *Global Cancer Observatory: Cancer Today.* Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer (2020). Available online at: https://gco.iarc.fr/today (accessed October 5, 2022).

127. Reyes S, Ramsay M, Ladhani S, Amirthalingam G, Singh N, Cores C, et al. Protecting people with multiple sclerosis through vaccination. *Pract Neurol.* (2020) 20:2527. doi: 10.1136/practneurol-2020-002527

128. Garland SM, Brotherton JML, Skinner SR, Pitts M, Saville M, Mola G, et al. Human papillomavirus and cervical cancer in Australasia and Oceania: risk-factors, epidemiology and prevention. *Vaccine*. (2008) 26 Suppl 12:M80–88. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.05.041

129. WHO. Meeting of the Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on immunization, April 2014 – conclusions and recommendations. *Wkly Epidemiol Rec.* (2014) 89:221–36.

130. Clifford GM, Gonçalves MAG, Franceschi S. HPV and HIV Study group. Human papillomavirus types among women infected with HIV: a meta-analysis. *AIDS*. (2006) 20:2337–44. doi: 10.1097/01.aids.0000253361.63578.14

131. Garland SM, Brotherton JML, Moscicki AB, Kaufmann AM, Stanley M, Bhatla N, et al. HPV vaccination of immunocompromised hosts. *Papillomavirus Res.* (2017) 4:35–8. doi: 10.1016/j.pvr.2017.06.002

132. World Health Organization. Human papillomavirus vaccines: WHO position paper, May 2017–Recommendations. *Vaccine.* (2017) 35:5753–5. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.05.069

133. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Cervical Screening in Australia 2012-2013. Cancer series no. 93. Cat. no. CAN 91. Canberra, ACT: AIHW (2015).

134. Nesbitt C, Rath L, Zhong M, Cheng AC, Butzkueven H, Wesselingh R, et al. Vaccinations in patients with multiple sclerosis: review and recommendations. *Med J Aus.* (2021) 214:350. doi: 10.5694/mja2.51012

135. Hall MT, Simms KT, Lew JB, Smith MA, Brotherton JM, Saville M, et al. The projected timeframe until cervical cancer elimination in Australia: a modelling study. *Lancet Public Health.* (2019 J) 4:e19–27. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(18)30183-X

136. Jeronimo J, Castle PE, Temin S, Denny L, Gupta V, Kim JJ, et al. Secondary prevention of cervical cancer: ASCO resource-stratified clinical practice guideline. *J Glob Oncol.* (2017) 3:635–57. doi: 10.1200/JGO.2016.006577

137. Arbyn M, Anttila A, Jordan J, Ronco G, Schenck U, Segnan N, et al. European guidelines for quality assurance in cervical cancer screening. *Summ Doc Ann Oncol.* (2010) 21:448–58. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdp471

138. World Health Organization. WHO Guidelines for Screening and Treatment of Precancerous Lesions for Cervical Cancer Prevention. Geneva: World Health Organization (2013). Available online at: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/94830

139. Fontham ETH, Wolf AMD, Church TR, Etzioni R, Flowers CR, Herzig A, et al. Cervical cancer screening for individuals at average risk: 2020 guideline update from the American cancer society. *CA Cancer J Clin.* (2020) 70:321–46. doi: 10.3322/caac.21628

140. Regionala cancercentrum. Cervixcancer- prevention. Regionala Cancercentrum I Samverkan. (2021). Available online at: https://kunskapsbanken.cancercentrum.se/globalassets/vara-uppdrag/prevention-tidig-upptackt/gynekologisk-cellprovskontroll/vardprogram/nationellt-vardprogram-cervixcancerprevention.pdf (accessed November 15, 2022).

141. Smeltzer SC. Preventive health screening for breast and cervical cancer and osteoporosis in women with physical disabilities. *Family Commun Health.* (2006) 29(1S):35S-43S. doi: 10.1097/00003727-200601001-00007

142. Cancer Council Australia. National Cervical Screening Program: Guidelines for the Management of Screen-Detected Abnormalities, Screening in Specific Populations and Investigation of Abnormal Vaginal Bleeding. (2021). Available online at: http://wiki.cancer. org.au/australiawiki/images/a/ad/National_Cervical_Screening_Program_guidelines_ long-form_PDF.pdf

143. Becker H, Stuifbergen A, Tinkle M. Reproductive health care experiences of women with physical disabilities: a qualitative study. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (1997) 78:S26–33. doi: 10.1016/S0003-9993(97)90218-5

144. Arbyn M, Smith SB, Temin S, Sultana F, Castle P. Detecting cervical pre-cancer and reaching underscreened women by using HPV testing on self samples: updated meta-analyses. *BMJ*. (2018) 363:k4823. doi: 10.1136/bmj.k4823

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Alessandra Lugaresi, University of Bologna, Italy

REVIEWED BY Bruno Colombo, University of Milan, Italy Francesco Patti, University of Catania, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Kunliang Qiu ⊠ qkl@jsiec.org Mingzhi Zhang ⊠ zmz@jsiec.org

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Aging and Public Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 18 October 2022 ACCEPTED 16 January 2023 PUBLISHED 17 February 2023

CITATION

Qian Z, Li Y, Guan Z, Guo P, Zheng K, Du Y, Yin S, Chen B, Wang H, Jiang J, Qiu K and Zhang M (2023) Global, regional, and national burden of multiple sclerosis from 1990 to 2019: Findings of global burden of disease study 2019. *Front. Public Health* 11:1073278. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1073278

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Qian, Li, Guan, Guo, Zheng, Du, Yin, Chen, Wang, Jiang, Qiu and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Global, regional, and national burden of multiple sclerosis from 1990 to 2019: Findings of global burden of disease study 2019

Zhen Qian^{1†}, Yuancun Li^{1†}, Zhiqiang Guan^{1†}, Pi Guo², Ke Zheng¹, Yali Du¹, Shengjie Yin¹, Binyao Chen¹, Hongxi Wang¹, Jiao Jiang¹, Kunliang Qiu ^{1*†} and Mingzhi Zhang ^{1*†}

¹Department of Ophthalmology, Joint Shantou International Eye Center of Shantou University and The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Shantou University Medical College, Shantou, China, ²Department of Preventive Medicine, Shantou University Medical College, Shantou, Guangdong, China

Background: The global rising prevalence and incidence of multiple sclerosis (MS) has been reported during the past decades. However, details regarding the evolution of MS burden have not been fully studied. This study aimed to investigate the global, regional, and national burden and temporal trends in MS incidence, deaths, and disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) from 1990 to 2019 using the age-period-cohort analysis.

Methods: We performed a secondary comprehensive analysis of incidence, deaths, and DALYs of MS by calculating the estimated annual percentage change from 1990 to 2019 obtained from the Global Burden of Disease (GBD) 2019 study. The independent age, period, and birth cohort effects were evaluated by an age-period-cohort model.

Results: In 2019, there were 59,345 incident MS cases and 22,439 MS deaths worldwide. The global number of incidences, deaths, and DALYs of MS followed an upward trend, whereas the age-standardized rates (ASR) slightly declined from 1990 to 2019. High socio-demographic index (SDI) regions had the highest ASR of incidences, deaths, and DALYs in 2019, while the rate of deaths and DALYs in medium SDI regions are the lowest. Six regions which include high-income North America, Western Europe, Australasia, Central Europe, and Eastern Europe had higher ASR of incidences, deaths, and DALYs than other regions in 2019. The age effect showed that the relative risks (RRs) of incidence and DALYs reached the peak at ages 30–39 and 50–59, respectively. The period effect showed that the RRs of deaths and DALYs increased with the period. The cohort effect showed that the later cohort has lower RRs of deaths and DALYs than the early cohort.

Conclusion: The global cases of incidence, deaths, and DALYs of MS have all increased, whereas ASR has declined, with different trends in different regions. High SDI regions such as European countries have a substantial burden of MS. There are significant age effects for incidence, deaths, and DALYs of MS globally, and period effects and cohort effects for deaths and DALYs.

KEYWORDS

multiple sclerosis, burden, global, regional, national, age-period-cohort effects

Key messages

- What is already known on this topic:

We searched PubMed for articles published until September 2022 focusing on the incidence, deaths, and overall burden of multiple sclerosis (MS), using the terms "global burden," "incidence," "deaths," "disability-adjusted life years," "epidemiology," "multiple sclerosis," and "age-period-cohort analysis". A previous study reported the global burden of MS, and its time range is from 1990 to 2016. However, an assessment of the global MS disease burden, trends, and age-period-cohort effects based on the new estimates from GBD 2019 has not been done.

- What this study adds:

This study provided a comprehensive assessment of the burden of MS at the global, regional, and country-specific levels, which included incidence, deaths, and DALYs, by age, sex, and SDI from 1990 to 2019. There are significant age effects for incidence, deaths, and DALYs of MS globally, and period effects and cohort effects for deaths and DALYs.

- How this study might affect research, practice, or policy:

High SDI regions such as European countries have a substantial burden of MS, indicating that health policymakers should take appropriate measures to reduce the MS burden. The age-periodcohort analysis contributes to interpreting temporal changes in epidemiological rates and to further analyzing the risk factors of MS.

Introduction

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic inflammatory demyelinating disease of the central nervous system that may cause neurological dysfunction in young adults (1-3). It has been reported that MS ranked the 10th leading cause of disease burden (4). Previous studies have shown that MS has a genetic susceptibility and is also associated with several environmental risk factors including Epstein-Barr virus infection, vitamin D insufficiency, smoking, and childhood obesity (5-8). However, the exact etiology of the disease is still not fully understood.

The distribution of MS varies substantially among regions. Studies have shown that Western Europe and North America have the highest prevalence, followed by Central and Eastern Europe, the Balkans, Australia, and New Zealand, while Asia, Africa, and the Middle East have the lowest prevalence (9, 10). During the past decades, previous studies have reported the increasing incidence and prevalence of MS globally (9–13). More importantly, the significantly increasing trend of MS incidence and prevalence was observed in regions considered low-prevalence areas such as India (14), Latin America (15, 16), Iran (10, 17), Japan (18), the Greater Hobart cohort of Tasmania, and Australia (19).

Over recent decades, there have been changes in the risk factors of MS contributing to the increase in MS incidence and prevalence. Previously, significant period and cohort effects have been reported for the increasing female incidence in Danish and Swiss populations (20, 21). However, evidence regarding the interactions between the effects of age, period, and cohort in MS globally is limited. Ageperiod-cohort (APC) analysis is an important model to investigate how and why disease trends change over time. It is a tool for interpreting temporal variables in epidemiological rates (22). The age effect represents the variations in different age groups. Period effects reflect changes over the period that affect people of all age groups simultaneously. Cohort effects are the discriminations between early and later birth cohort groups that experience the same initial exposure environment (23).

Previously, by using the 2016 GBD data, the global and regional MS burden has been reported (23). However, an assessment of the global MS disease burden, trends, and age-period-cohort effects based on the new estimates from GBD 2019 has not been done. In the current study, we aimed to demonstrate the global and regional temporal trends in MS incidence, deaths, and disability-adjusted life years from 1990 to 2019. We further investigated the effects of age, period, and cohort by using the age-period-cohort analysis.

Method

Study population and data resource

Annual estimates of global, regional, and national incidence, deaths, and DALYs data of MS from 1990 to 2019 were extracted from the database of the 2019 Global Burden of Diseases, Injuries, and Risk Factors (GBD) study (http://ghdx.healthdata.org/gbd-results-tool) (3). For the 2019 GBD, there are 195 countries and territories that can be categorized into five regions based on SDI quintiles from 0 (less developed) to 1 (most developed) (24): high SDI, high-middle SDI, middle SDI, low-middle SDI, and low SDI, and 21 GBD regions in terms of birth status, education, income, etc. To analyze the effect of age on incidence, death, and DALYs rate, we extracted the data of the 10 different age groups from 1 to 99 years. To compare the disease burden of MS with the other neurological disorders, we also collected data on Parkinson's disease, headache disorders, Alzheimer's disease, idiopathic epilepsy, and motor neuron disease from 2019 GBD.

Age-standardized rates (ASR) and estimated annual percentage change (EAPC)

Age-standardized rate of incidence (ASIR), death (ASDR), and DALYs in MS were available in 2019 GBD and can be used to calculate EAPC, which can identify temporal trends of ASR relative changes of MS from 1990 to 2019 (25). We first constructed a regression linear model about ASR, i.e., $ln (ASR) = \alpha + \beta x + \varepsilon$, where α represents intercept, β represents the slope of the fitted line, x refers to calendar year, and ε is the error term. Then we calculated EAPC as $100 \times (e^{\beta} - 1)$ (26). ASR is considered an increasing trend if both EAPC and its lower limit of 95% confidence interval > 0; conversely, ASR is considered a decreasing trend if both EAPC and its upper limit of 95% confidence interval < 0; ASR is considered to be stable along with year otherwise (27). R software (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria, version 4.1.0) was used to perform the EAPC calculation. A *p*-value of <0.05 was considered to be statistically significant.

1990-2019 ASR per 100,000 No. ASR per 100,000 No. Incidence number No. Incidence number No. (95 UI%) EAPC No. ×100% (95 CI%) (95 UI%) (95 UI%) (95 UI%) Global 41,854 0.8 59,345.4 0.7 -0.19(36, 306, 1 - 47, 444, 9)(0.7 - 0.9)(51,817.8-66,942.6)(0.6 - 0.8)(-0.24 to -0.13)Sex Male 15,614.5 0.6 22,329.6 0.6 -0.23(13,454.4-17,819) (0.5 - 0.7)(19,289.5-25,332.6) (0.5 - 0.6)(-0.27 to -0.2)-0.16Female 26.239.5 37.015.8 0.9 1 (22,894.8-29,645.2) (0.9 - 1.1)(32,431.3-41,581.9) (0.8 - 1)(-0.22 to -0.09) SDI region High SDI 20,100.6 2.3 24,240.3 2.5 0.4(17,823.9-22,507.9) (2 - 2.6)(21,899.9-26,506.6) (2.3 - 2.8)(0.37 - 0.43)High-middle SDI 10.581.3 09 12.329.8 0.8 -0.27(9,261.5-11,867.5) (0.8-1)(10,846.4-13,773.1) (0.7 - 0.9)(-0.31 to -0.22) Middle SDI 0.4 11,344 0.4 0.76 5,964.6 (4,919.8-7,066.4)(0.3 - 0.4)(9,469.3-13,171)(0.4 - 0.5)(0.71 - 0.81)Low-middle SDI 3,647.3 0.4 7,448.4 0.4 0.43 (2,952.3-4,399) (6,087.8-8,850.2) (0.39-0.46) (0.3 - 0.4)(0.3 - 0.5)Low SDI 1,542 0.4 3,951.4 0.4 0.32 (1,237.4-1,874.4) (0.3 - 0.4)(3,191.7-4,744.9) (0.3 - 0.5)(0.26 - 0.37)GBD region 1.7 Central Europe 2,246.8 1.8 1,840.6 -0.12(1,986.3-2,482.2)(1,648.3-2,036.3) (-0.17 to -0.06)(1.6-2)(1.5 - 1.9)Eastern Europe 2,920.4 1.3 2,151.7 1.1 -0.52(2,483.8-3,329.9)(1.1 - 1.4)(1,832.3-2,468.4)(0.9 - 1.2)(-0.58 to -0.47)Western Europe 10,253.6 2.6 12,497.3 3.2 0.7 (9,116-11,453.9) (2.3 - 2.9)(11,105.6-13,902.6) (2.8 - 3.6)(0.68 - 0.72)93.3 243.5 0.2 Central 0.2 0.11 Sub-Saharan Africa (72.7–116.1) (0.2 - 0.3)(188.5 - 301.8)(0.2 - 0.3)(0.07 - 0.16)370.3 0.3 876.2 0.3 0 Eastern (-0.08 - 0.08)Sub-Saharan Africa (288.7 - 459.1)(0.2 - 0.3)(680.7 - 1, 087.4)(0.2 - 0.3)554.4 0.4 1,549.4 0.4 0.4 Western Sub-Saharan Africa (445.7 - 668.9)(0.3 - 0.4)(1,264.5-1,846.1)(0.3 - 0.5)(0.39 - 0.42)Southern 174.2 0.4 302.2 0.4 0.08 (138.5-212.5) (0.3 - 0.4)(239.9-365.3) (0.3-0.5) (-0.02 - 0.18)Sub-Saharan Africa North Africa and 4,189.5 13 9,217,9 14 03 Middle East (3, 598.1 - 4, 785.4)(1.1 - 1.5)(7,878.6-10,525.5) (1.2 - 1.6)(0.25 - 0.35)East Asia 2,100 0.2 3,119.5 0.2 -0.14(1,695.6-2,542.2)(0.1 - 0.2)(-0.23 to -0.04) (0.2 - 0.2)(2,554.9 - 3,722.3)High-income Asia 655 0.3 727.1 0.4 0.12 Pacific (528 - 787.4)(0.3 - 0.4)(596.5 - 872.5)(0.3 - 0.4)(0.09 - 0.16)South Asia 3,559.5 0.4 7,446.5 0.4 0.33 (2,839.2-4,324) (0.3 - 0.4)(5,987.3-8,964.7) (0.3-0.5) (0.29-0.37) Southeast Asia 724 9 0.2 1.251.5 0.2 -0.05(571.4-890.6) (0.1 - 0.2)(1,010.3 - 1,503.5)(0.1 - 0.2)(−0.06 to −0.04) Central Asia 887.5 1.5 1,351.6 1.4 -0.36(778.6-999.1) (1.4 - 1.7)(1, 176.2 - 1, 536.5)(1.2 - 1.6)(-0.39 to -0.32) Australasia 336.1 1.5 592.8 2.1 1.21 (300.6 - 373.9)(519.8 - 664.4)(0.91 - 1.5)(1.4 - 1.7)(1.8 - 2.3)Oceania 7.5 0.1 15.8 0.1 -0.15(5.8 - 9.2)(0.1 - 0.2)(12.3 - 19.2)(0.1 - 0.2)(-0.16 to -0.14)

TABLE 1 Incidence number and ASR of multiple sclerosis in 1990 and 2019, and EAPC of ASR from 1990 to 2019.

(Continued)

TABLE 1	(Continued)
---------	-------------

	199	0	201	.9	1990–2019
	Incidence number	ASR per 100,000	Incidence number	ASR per 100,000	EAPC
	No.	No.	No.	No.	No. ×100%
	(95 UI%)	(95 UI%)	(95 UI%)	(95 UI%)	(95 CI%)
Caribbean	147.7	0.4	230.3	0.5	0.26
	(118.9–176.4)	(0.4–0.5)	(188.7–270.6)	(0.4–0.6)	(0.22–0.29)
Andean Latin	85.5	0.3	206.4	0.3	0.63
America	(67.6–104.2)	(0.2–0.3)	(164.8–243.6)	(0.3–0.4)	(0.57–0.7)
Central Latin	454	0.3	1,041.9	0.4	0.72
America	(361.2–548.4)	(0.3–0.4)	(855.9–1,222.1)	(0.3–0.5)	(0.62–0.82)
Southern Latin	445.5	0.9	657	0.9	0.12
America	(370.4–519.2)	(0.8–1.1)	(550.2–760)	(0.8–1.1)	(0.12–0.13)
Tropical Latin	1,040.6	0.7	1,968.4	0.8	0.25
America	(857.5–1,222.7)	(0.6–0.9)	(1,637.5–2,320.2)	(0.7–0.9)	(0.16–0.33)
High-income North	10,607.8	3.5	12,057.8	3.6	0.24
America	(9,353.4–11,936.2)	(3.1–3.9)	(11,089.5–12,990.1)	(3.3–3.8)	(0.18–0.29)

ASR, age-standardized rates; EAPC, estimated annual percentage change; UI, uncertainty interval; CI, confidence interval.

Age-period-cohort model

The APC model was used to analyze the impact of three types of time-related variations—age, period, and cohort—on global incidence, death, and DALYs rate of MS. To construct the APC model, we first used the number of cases as the dependent variable and assumed that the number follows a Poisson distribution. For the incidence rate, we can construct a log-linear regression form as follows:

$$Log(E_{ij}) = log(P_{ij}) + \mu + \alpha_i + \beta_j + \gamma_k, \qquad (1)$$

where E_{ij} represents the expected incidence number in the cell (i, j) of MS; P_{ij} is the total exposed population for the same period; μ is the intercept or adjusted average incidence rate; α_i represents the coefficient of i_{th} age group; β_j represents the coefficient of the j_{th} period group; and γ_k represents the coefficient of the k_{th} cohort group (28).

Since there is multicollinearity between the age, period, and cohort, i.e., a linear correlation between any two variables, we used the intrinsic estimator (IE) method to calculate the relative coefficient. Then, the relative risks (RRs) are obtained in the exponential form of the coefficient to analyze the incidence, death, and DALYs rate of each age, period, and cohort group to the total groups (29). We used the Akaike information criterion (AIC) and the Bayesian information criterion (BIC) to evaluate the goodness of model fit, with lower AIC-value and BIC-value indicating less information loss and better goodness of fit (30, 31).

As the 95% confidence interval (CI) of parameters was unreasonably small due to the large sample size (global population) according to GBD 2019 study, to obtain a reasonable 95% confidence interval, normal distribution was used instead of Poisson distribution. The model used "rate" as the dependent variable, which was obtained by simply dividing the number of a specific group of patients by the number of exposure of the corresponding group, and presumed to follow a normal distribution with a log link function. The "apc_ie" command in STATA version 16.0 software (Stata Corp., College Station, TX, USA) was used to perform the APC analysis.

Results

The global incidence, deaths, and DALYs of MS and other neurological disorders

At the global level, the incidence, deaths, and DALYs number increased 41.8 [from 41,854 (95% uncertainty interval [UI] 36,306.1-47,444.9) to 59,345.4 (51,817.8-66,942.6)], 68.0 [from 13,356 (11,903.5-17,571.1) to 22,439 (20,226-27,791.5)], and 59.7% [from 726,065.6 (621,892.3-867,796) to 1,159,831.8 (1,001,179.9-1,381,870.2)] from 1990 to 2019, respectively (Tables 1-3, Figures 1A-C). The incidence rate showed a relatively stable trend from 1990 to 2019, while mortality and DALYs rates presented an upward trend slightly in the same period (Figures 1D-F). However, the ASIR, ASDR, and age-standardized DALYs rates all have decreased trends in the same period, with EAPC being -0.19 (95% CI, -0.24 to -0.13), -0.62 (-0.67 to -0.56) and -0.56 (-0.6 to -0.52) (Tables 1-3, Figures 1G-I), respectively. With regard to other neurological disorders, a consistent increase both for counts and age-standardized DALYs rates was observed for Parkinson's disease [EAPC = 0.1 (95% CI, 0.04–0.16)], headache disorders [EAPC = 0.04 (0.03-0.05)], Alzheimer's disease, and other dementias [EAPC = 0.15] (0.13-0.16)] from 1990 to 2019, whereas a decrease both for counts and age-standardized DALYs rate was observed for idiopathic epilepsy [EAPC = -0.78 (-0.82 to -0.73)] and motor neuron disease [EAPC = -0.24 (-0.28 to -0.19)] (Supplementary Table 2, Supplementary Figure 1A). Overall, DALYs of MS contributed to 1.30% of all neurological disorders (Supplementary Figure 1B). Women have higher global morbidity, mortality, and, DALYs than men (Figure 2). We found that female to male ratio with MS in 2019 was greatest in the 25-29 age group and then decreased gradually for both incidence number and rate. The incidence rate peaked at the 25-29 age group in 2019 ahead of peaking at 30-34 in 1990 (Figures 2A, B).

TABLE 2 Deaths number and ASR of multiple sclerosis in 1990 and 2019, and EAPC of ASR from 1990 to 2019.

	199	90	20)19	1990–2019
	Death number	ASR per 100,000	Death number	ASR per 100,000	EAPC
	No.	No.	No.	No.	No. ×100%
	(95 UI%)	(95 UI%)	(95 UI%)	(95 UI%)	(95 CI%)
Global	13,356	0.3	22,439	0.3	-0.62
	(11,903.5–17,571.1)	(0.3–0.4)	(20,226–27,791.5)	(0.2–0.3)	(-0.67 to -0.56)
Sex					
Male	5,454.3	0.3	9,116.9	0.2	-0.66
	(4,452.4–7,679.8)	(0.2–0.4)	(7,670.8–12,350.5)	(0.2–0.3)	(-0.71 to -0.61)
Female	7,901.8	0.4	13,322.1	0.3	-0.59
	(6,898–11,139.9)	(0.3–0.5)	(10,675–16,760.9)	(0.2–0.4)	(-0.65 to -0.53)
SDI region					
High SDI	5,854.7	0.6	9,866.9	0.6	0.06
	(5,226.9–8,068.1)	(0.5–0.8)	(6,992.5–11,411.2)	(0.4–0.7)	(0-0.12)
High-middle SDI	4,088.2	0.4	4,854.6	0.2	-1.72
	(3,665.6–5,644.1)	(0.3–0.5)	(3,918.9–7,676.4)	(0.2–0.4)	(-1.85 to -1.59)
Middle SDI	1,791.8	0.1	3,839.6	0.1	-0.06
	(1,544.4–2,281)	(0.1-0.2)	(3,288.8-4,967.9)	(0.1–0.2)	(-0.1 to -0.03)
Low-middle SDI	1,160.4	0.2	2,755.8	0.2	0.32
	(806.4–1,666.7)	(0.1-0.2)	(2,319.1–3,359.2)	(0.2–0.2)	(0.27–0.38)
Low SDI	454.6	0.2	1,110.2	0.2	0.26
	(267.8–713.3)	(0.1-0.3)	(829–1,461.3)	(0.1–0.2)	(0.24–0.27)
GBD region		·			
Central Europe	1,249.8	0.9	1,147.8	0.6	-1.27
	(1,052–1,548.1)	(0.7–1.1)	(872.5–1,844.8)	(0.5-1.1)	(-1.35 to -1.2)
Eastern Europe	1,522.1	0.6	1,421.2	0.5	-1.31
	(1,299.8–2,260.3)	(0.5–0.9)	(941.8–2,847.5)	(0.3–1)	(-1.58 to -1.04)
Western Europe	3,721.6	0.7	5,235.4	0.7	0
	(3,358.6–5,327.4)	(0.6-1)	(3,829.1-6,538.4)	(0.5–0.9)	(-0.04 to 0.04)
Central	30.6	0.1	78.6	0.1	0.06
Sub-Saharan Africa	(17.6–51.5)	(0.1-0.2)	(50.2–122.7)	(0.1–0.2)	(-0.02 to 0.13)
Eastern	102.6	0.1	236.8	0.1	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	(51.3–174.8)	(0.1–0.2)	(136.1–347.9)	(0.1–0.2)	(-0.06 to 0.07)
Western	183.6	0.2	559.4	0.2	1.05
Sub-Saharan Africa	(133–292.7)	(0.1–0.3)	(439.3–740.2)	(0.2–0.3)	(0.96–1.13)
Southern	42.2	0.1	87.1	0.1	0.16
Sub-Saharan Africa	(34.9–47.8)	(0.1–0.1)	(71.4–103.7)	(0.1–0.2)	(-0.02 to 0.33)
North Africa and	580.7	0.3	1,436.3	0.3	0.16
Middle East	(435.3–778.4)	(0.2–0.4)	(1,175.7–1,813.7)	(0.2–0.3)	(0.14–0.19)
East Asia	1,274.3	0.1	1,887.6	0.1	-1.44
	(923.4–1,543.1)	(0.1-0.2)	(1,526.7–2,506.3)	(0.1–0.1)	(-1.59 to -1.3)
High-income Asia	237.4	0.1	321.3	0.1	-0.75
Pacific	(210.4–350.8)	(0.1-0.2)	(265.7–498.4)	(0.1–0.1)	(-0.78 to -0.71)
South Asia	1,190.1	0.2	2,915.3	0.2	0.19
	(765.7–1,753.6)	(0.1-0.3)	(2,386.8–3,671.7)	(0.2–0.2)	(0.11-0.26)
Southeast Asia	389.7	0.1	770.8	0.1	-0.36
	(324.9–536.9)	(0.1-0.2)	(592.7–1,106.5)	(0.1–0.2)	(-0.41 to -0.3)
Central Asia	101	0.2	146.4	0.2	-0.14
	(81.1–121.6)	(0.2–0.2)	(117.2–222.7)	(0.2–0.3)	(-0.29 to 0.02)
Australasia	108.7	0.5	214.5	0.5	0
	(94.3–160)	(0.4–0.7)	(155.7–276)	(0.4–0.6)	(-0.08 to 0.08)
Oceania	3.7	0.1	8	0.1	-0.42
	(2.3–5.1)	(0.1–0.1)	(5.5–11.5)	(0.1-0.1)	(-0.48 to -0.36)

(Continued)

	199	90	20)19	1990–2019	
	Death number	ASR per 100,000	Death number	ASR per 100,000	EAPC	
	No.	No.	No.	No.	No. ×100%	
	(95 UI%)	(95 UI%)	(95 UI%)	(95 UI%)	(95 CI%)	
Caribbean	59.1	0.2	122.8	0.2	0.54	
	(49.2–72.2)	(0.2–0.3)	(92.4–155.8)	(0.2–0.3)	(0.48–0.61)	
Andean Latin	30.6	0.1	78.7	0.1	0.3	
America	(25.5–39.5)	(0.1–0.2)	(58.7–101)	(0.1–0.2)	(0.19–0.41)	
Central Latin	154	0.2	532.9	0.2	1.31	
America	(132.9–240.2)	(0.1-0.2)	(414.2–682.6)	(0.2–0.3)	(1.18–1.45)	
Southern Latin	131.1	0.3	185	0.2	-0.82	
America	(117–185.8)	(0.3-0.4)	(149.9–314.7)	(0.2–0.4)	(-0.96 to -0.69)	
Tropical Latin	158.3	0.2	420.6	0.2	-0.05	
America	(138–240.8)	(0.1–0.2)	(362.1–598.7)	(0.1–0.2)	(-0.28 to 0.18)	
High-income North	2,084.7	0.6	4,632.5	0.8	0.69	
America	(1,886.4–2,911.9)	(0.6–0.9)	(3,115.6–5,134.1)	(0.6–0.9)	(0.48–0.91)	

TABLE 2 (Continued)

ASR, age-standardized rates; EAPC, estimated annual percentage change; UI, uncertainty interval; CI, confidence interval.

The incidence, deaths, and DALYs in SDI regions and countries of MS

Regions and countries with higher SDI had a higher number and ASR of incidence, death, and DALYs both in 1990 and 2019, while EAPC of countries from 1990 to 2019 had a low correlation with SDI (Tables 1-3, Supplementary Table 1, Figures 3, 4). ASIR increased over time in most SDI regions except the high-middle SDI region, where there was a stable decreasing trend in ASIR with EAPC is -0.27 (95% CI, -0.31 to -0.22). Among them, the ASIR of middle SDI had the highest increasing speed with EAPC being 0.76 (95% CI, 0.71-0.81) (Table 1, Figure 4). The ASDRs and ASR of DALYs of MS in medium SDI region had the lowest value in both 1990 (ASDRs = 0.1 (95% UI, 0.1-0.2)/100,000 persons, ASR of DALYs = 7 (6-8.5)/100,000 persons) and 2019 (ASDRs = 0.1(0.1-0.2)/100,000 persons, ASR of DALYs = 7.5 (6.3-9.1)/100,000persons). High-middle SDI had the fastest decreasing trend in ASDRs and ASR of DALYs with EAPC being $-1.72~(95\%~{\rm CI},\,-1.85~{\rm to}\,-1.59)$ and -1.33 (-1.42 to -1.23), respectively, while low-middle SDI had the most increasing trend with EAPC being 0.32 (0.27-0.38) and 0.4 (0.35-0.44) (Tables 2, 3, Figure 4).

The incidence, deaths, and DALYs in GBD regions of MS

For the GBD region, the top two regions with the highest incidence number of MS were Western Europe [12,497.3 (95% UI, 11,105.6–13,902.6)] and high-income North America [12,057.8 (11,089.5–12,990.1)]. High-income North America [3.6 (95% UI, 3.3–3.8) per 100,000], Western Europe [0.7 (0.68–0.72) per 100,000], Australasia [1.21 (0.91–1.5) per 100,000], Central Europe [1.7 (1.5–1.9) per 100,000], and Eastern Europe [1.1 (0.9–1.2) per 100,000] had the highest ASIR of MS in 2019 than other regions. Australasia [EAPC = 1.21 (95% CI, 0.91–1.5)] and Eastern Europe [EAPC = -0.52 (-0.58 to -0.47)] had the most increase and decrease in ASIRs from 1990 to 2019, respectively (Table 1, Figures 3A, 5A, B). Regarding deaths and DALYs, absolute numbers

of MS cases increased in most regions except Central Europe [1,249.8 (95% UI, 1,052-1,548.1) to 1,147.8 (872.5-1,844.8) for deaths] [57,785.2 (50,040.5-67,952.8) to 51,364 (40,324.7-75,257.2) for DALYs] and Eastern Europe [1,522.1 (1,299.8-2,260.3) to 1,421.2 (941.8-2,847.5) for deaths] [77,450.5 (65,376.4-106,470.8) to 69,170.3 (48,216.6-125,154.3) for DALYs] from 1990 to 2019. High-income North America [0.8 (95% UI, 0.6-0.9) per 100,000 persons for deaths] [49.3 (40.2–57.4) per 100,000 persons for DALYs] and Western Europe [0.7 (0.5-0.9) per 100,000 persons for deaths] [43.5 (35.8-52.7) per 100,000 persons for DALYs] were the top two regions with the highest ASDRs and ASR of DALYs in 2019. The EAPCs of ASDRs varied in different GBD regions: the most significant increasing trend was detected in Central Latin America (EAPC = 1.31, 95% CI 1.18-1.45), while East Asia (EAPC = -1.44), -1.59 to -1.3) had the most significant decrease trend. Trends in DALYs by region were broadly consistent with changes in deaths (Tables 2, 3, Figures 3B, C, 5C–F).

Age-period-cohort analysis of MS incidence, deaths, and DALYs

Table 4 shows the results of age-period-cohort analysis for incidence, death, and DALYs rates globally. Figure 6 shows the coefficient of MS incidence, death, and DALYs rates globally from 1990 to 2019 due to age, period, and cohort effects. After controlling for the period and cohort effects, the age effect significantly impacts the MS incidence, death, and DALYs rates. The RRs for incidence rate rise until age 30–39, then decline and plateaus after age 50–59, and the RRs for death rate and DALYs peak at 50–59 years and keep stable or decline slightly thereafter, respectively. Regarding period effect, the risk value in the death rate and DALYs had an increasing trend over time, while the incidence rate had a relatively small period effect. In terms of cohort effect, we observed decreasing trends in the risk of deaths and DALYs in later birth cohorts (Table 4, Figure 6).

Under the influence of three temporal risk factors, the rates of incidence, death, and DALYs changed accordingly as shown in Figure 7. The incidence rate of MS in all periods increased over

TABLE 3 DALYs number and ASR of multiple sclerosis in 1990 and 2019, and EAPC of ASR from 1990 to 2019.

	199	90	20	19	1990–2019
	DALYs number	ASR per 100,000	DALYs number	ASR per 100,000	EAPC
	No.	No.	No.	No.	No. ×100%
	(95 UI%)	(95 UI%)	(95 UI%)	(95 UI%)	(95 CI%)
Global	726,065.6 (621,892.3–867,796)	16.1 (13.8–19.3)	1,159,831.8 (1,001,179.9– 1,381,870.2)	14 (12–16.6)	-0.56 (-0.6 to -0.52)
Sex					
Male	446,134.5	19.5	716,487.8	17	-0.54
	(375,656.9–557,397.5)	(16.4–24.4)	(603,116.4–866,743.5)	(14.3-20.5)	(-0.58 to -0.5)
Female	279,931.1	12.6	443,344	10.8	-0.6
	(234,138.2–361,106.2)	(10.5–16.2)	(378,482.1–554,817.1)	(9.3–13.6)	(-0.64 to -0.57)
SDI region					
High SDI	328,086	34.6	500,325.1	35.4	0.1
	(277,413.6–398,197.8)	(29.2–41.9)	(411,436.1–581,040.5)	(29.1–41.5)	(0.05–0.16)
High-middle SDI	216,664.5	18.9	260,398.5	14	-1.33
	(189,121.2–269,159.3)	(16.5–23.6)	(207,342.4–359,882.4)	(11.1–19.4)	(-1.42 to -1.23)
Middle SDI	96,587.2	7	199,666.1	7.5	0.21
	(81,861.5-116,209.9)	(6–8.5)	(168,751.2-241,140.8)	(6.3–9.1)	(0.18–0.24)
Low-middle SDI	60,369.1	7.5	138,239.2	8.5	0.4
	(44,772.5-83,402.9)	(5.6–10.2)	(116,847.9–167,903.7)	(7.2–10.3)	(0.35–0.44)
Low SDI	24,026.4	7.3	60,580.2	8.1	0.32
	(16,430.2–36,047.5)	(5–10.9)	(47,505.3–77,711.9)	(6.4–10.2)	(0.31–0.34)
GBD region					
Central Europe	57,785.2	41.5	51,364	32.7	-0.95
	(50,040.5-67,952.8)	(35.9–48.7)	(40,324.7-75,257.2)	(25.6-48.1)	(-1 to -0.91)
Eastern Europe	77,450.5	30.5	69,170.3	26.2	-1.14
	(65,376.4–106,470.8)	(25.9–41.6)	(48,216.6-125,154.3)	(18.3-47.6)	(-1.36 to -0.91)
Western Europe	192,347	40.5	271,038.6	43.5	0.27
	(162,402.8–237,882.1)	(34.1–49.9)	(222,001.5-324,345.6)	(35.8–52.7)	(0.26–0.29)
Central	1,526.7	4.7	4,031.4	4.9	0.09
Sub-Saharan Africa	(1,033.3–2,369.3)	(3.1–7.2)	(2,877.9–5,786.6)	(3.5–7.1)	(0.02–0.16)
Eastern	5,352.2	5	12,716.8	5.1	-0.01
Sub-Saharan Africa	(3,377.6–8,358.8)	(3.1–7.7)	(8,611.1–17,088.6)	(3.4–6.9)	(-0.07 to 0.06)
Western	9,036.5	7.7	28,344	9.9	1
Sub-Saharan Africa	(6,974.5–13,288.5)	(6–11.4)	(22,716–35,169.6)	(8–12.5)	(0.93–1.07)
Southern	2,379.7	6.5	4,686.1	6.6	0.06
Sub-Saharan Africa	(2,005.5–2,770.4)	(5.5–7.5)	(3,927.2–5,552.7)	(5.6–7.8)	(-0.02 to 0.14)
North Africa and	47,116.1	18.8	115,885.8	19.9	0.27
Middle East	(36,127.9–60,785.3)	(14.7–23.2)	(93,053.4–144,757.9)	(16.1–24.7)	(0.24–0.3)
East Asia	54,947.3	5	75,174.9	3.8	-1.35
	(40,126.2–66,523.5)	(3.6-6)	(62,164.2–95,959.6)	(3.1-4.8)	(-1.52 to -1.17)
High-income Asia	12,485	6.1	15,515.8	5.6	-0.39
Pacific	(10,440.7–16,555.6)	(5.1–8.1)	(12,323.7–20,968.3)	(4.4–7.7)	(-0.42 to -0.35)
South Asia	61,498	7.8	144,077.3	8.6	0.29
	(43,487.9–87,447.7)	(5.5–10.8)	(119,712.1–177,475.5)	(7.1–10.5)	(0.24–0.35)
Southeast Asia	18,650.9	5.1	32,509.9	4.5	-0.58
	(15,589.4–24,836.8)	(4.3–6.7)	(25,887.3-44,139.2)	(3.6–6.1)	(-0.65 to -0.5)
Central Asia	7,574.3	14.4	12,221	13.8	-0.15
	(6,135.4–9,190.8)	(11.7–17.5)	(9,340.7–15,780.9)	(10.7–17.6)	(-0.19 to -0.1)
Australasia	5,483.4	24.5	11,116	28.9	0.59
	(4,570.8–7,033.5)	(20.4–31.4)	(9,023.6–13,401)	(23.3–35.3)	(0.4–0.78)
Oceania	167.7	3.8	363.2	3.5	-0.39
	(115.4–226.3)	(2.6–5.2)	(263.6–502.5)	(2.5-4.8)	(-0.44 to -0.34)

(Continued)
TABLE 3 (Continued)

	199	90	20	2019		
	DALYs number	ASR per 100,000	DALYs number	ASR per 100,000	EAPC	
	No.	No.	No.	No.	No. ×100%	
	(95 UI%)	(95 UI%)	(95 UI%)	(95 UI%)	(95 CI%)	
Caribbean	2,979	10	5,729.5	11.3	0.45	
	(2,563.7-3,604.5)	(8.7–12.1)	(4,626.6–7,077.6)	(9.1–14)	(0.4–0.49)	
Andean Latin	1,494.2	5.7	3,734.9	6.1	0.33	
America	(1,246.4–1,836.8)	(4.8–7)	(2,951.9–4,623.3)	(4.9–7.6)	(0.26-0.41)	
Central Latin	7,920.3	7	24,524	9.6	1.22	
America	(6,629.8–11,288.2)	(5.8–10)	(20,014.5–29,813.9)	(7.9–11.7)	(1.1–1.35)	
Southern Latin	7,247.9	15.4	10,638.5	14	-0.42	
America	(6,031.8–9,269.3)	(12.8–19.7)	(8,314–15,021)	(11–19.8)	(-0.5 to -0.35)	
Tropical Latin	10,529.2	9.1	25,311.8	10.1	0.29	
America	(8,439.1–13,679.2)	(7.4–11.9)	(20,304.9-31,970.6)	(8.1–12.7)	(0.2–0.39)	
High-income North	142,094.4	45.3	241,677.9	49.3	0.29	
America	(116,994.6–171,097.7)	(37.3–54.5)	(195,635–278,600.5)	(40.2–57.4)	(0.19–0.4)	

DALYs, disability-adjusted life years; ASR, age-standardized rates; EAPC, estimated annual percentage change; UI, uncertainty interval; CI, confidence interval.



Comparison of time trends between women and men in incidence (A, D, G), deaths (B, E, H), and DALYs (C, F, I) number, all-age rate, and ASR of multiple sclerosis globally for 1990–2019, respectively. Error bars represented the 95% confidence intervals. DALYs, disability-adjusted life years; ASR, age-standardized rates.

age and peaked at age 30–39, which then decreased and dropped to its lowest level at 60–69 (Figures 7A, D). For all periods, the death rate increased with age (Figures 7B, E), and the DALYs rate

peaks at age 50–59 (Figures 7C, F). The distribution by period according to cohorts did not show significant variation (Figures 7A–C, G–I). Cohorts from 1960 to 1989 had the highest incidence rate



and dropped fast afterward (Figure 7G). Death rates and DALYs rates were lower for younger generations than they were for older generations for all periods (Figures 7H, I).

Discussion

In the current study, we evaluated the most recent examination of the global, regional, and national burden and temporal trends in MS by using the age-period-cohort analysis. From 1990 to 2019, we found that the global number of incidences, deaths, and DALYs of MS increased while the ASR decreased. The incidence rate remained relatively stable, whereas death and DALYs rates increased somewhat. Regions and countries with a higher SDI had a greater number and ASR of incidence, death, and DALYs. High-income North America and Western Europe were the top two regions with the highest ASIRs, ASDRs, and age-standardized DALYs. The age effect showed that the RRs of incidence and DALYs reached the peak at ages 30–39 and 50– 59, respectively. The period effect showed that the RRs of deaths and DALYs increased with the period. The cohort effect showed that the later cohort has lower RRs of deaths and DALYs than the early cohort.

Previous studies have shown a relatively stable or slightly increasing incidence rate of MS in whites over the past four or five decades (32, 33). Our data from GBD 2019 showed that the



number of incidences is increasing globally, however, the rate is flat or mildly decreasing. The combined estimate of the total MS incidence in 75 countries was 2.1 (95% CI, 2.09-2.12) per 100,000 persons/year (12), which differs from our estimate of 0.7 (95% UI, 0.6-0.8) per 100,000 persons in 2019. The lack of incidence data in some regions contributes to the discrepancy in global estimates of total incidence. We found that DALYs of MS made up 1.30% of all neurological disorders in 2019. Although the burden of MS is less than other neurological disorders such as headache disorders, Alzheimer's disease, and other dementias, the early age of MS onset and the significant impact on life quality and productivity cause a considerable non-fatal burden (11). The decreasing burden of MS, idiopathic epilepsy, and motor neuron disease observed since 1990 is partly in line with a rapidly improving quality of care, whereas an increasing burden of Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, and other dementias, which reflects increasing longevity and declining birth rates (34, 35). Several previous studies have reported a much higher crude death rate and ASDR in people with MS compared with the general population (36-38).

A positive correlation between age-standardized DALYs and SDI has been reported previously by using the GBD 2016 data (11). In agreement with the previous studies, we also detected a similar positive association between age-standardized DALY and SDI.

Moreover, we found that ASIR and age-standardized DALYs in the high-medium SDI region declined significantly from 1990 to 2019 and the general improvement of clinical care and the abundance of medical resources in the regions may be the underlying causes. Our study found that ASIR from 1990 to 2019 in high SDI regions was the highest and that ASIR was moderately correlated with SDI levels, which confirmed that developed countries have a higher incidence of MS than developing countries (39). In high SDI regions, patients with MS are more likely to be treated and reported due to the availability of a robust healthcare system and adequate healthcare resources. Whereas, in low SDI regions, medical resources are so scarce that mild MS may go undetected. The significant ASIR in high SDI regions may account for its high DALYs rates. At the same time, the overall burden of MS may be much heavier than we estimated, given that data collection is limited to areas with underdeveloped health systems. The reason for the increased incidence trend of MS in most SDI regions may be that the immune system has undergone inappropriate changes over the past few decades in developed countries through the increasing use of healthy vaccinations and antibiotics, leaving people more vulnerable to autoimmune diseases (40).

Our results are consistent with some previous reports on the burden of MS in various regions (10, 11). The Atlas of MS has shown that Europe has the highest incidence, followed by the United States;



ASR (A) and its EAPC (B) of incidence, deaths, and DALYs for multiple sclerosis by SDI, 1990–2019, expected value-based SDI. The blue line represents the average expected relationship between SDI and corresponding disease burden indicator values. ASR, age-standardized rates; EAPC, estimated annual percentage change; DALYs, disability-adjusted life years; SDI, Socio-demographic Index.

South-Central Asia and Africa have the lowest incidence (12). An analysis of data from the Danish Multiple Sclerosis Registry showed that the incidence doubled in women between 1950 and 2009, while the increase in men was more modest. In contrast, the excess death rate among MS patients in Denmark has declined since 1950 (41). The incidence has been rising sharply in Iran between 1990 and 2017, possibly due to the growth of urbanization, which leads to changes in lifestyle, exposure to more weather pollutants, more stress, and consumption of fast food. DALYs are lower in the Middle East and Northern Africa, possibly due to the more benign course of MS disease (10). On the other hand, a study by Mansouri et al. indicated Latin America and the Caribbean showed increasing trends of incidence in recent years. Lack of vitamin D intake and genetic risk factors have been cited as the possible causes of this increasing trend (40).

Discrepancies in MS burden were also found across different age groups and genders. From 1990 to 2019, across all age groups, women had higher ASIR, ASDR, and ASR of DALYs due to MS. This result was consistent with those of previous studies carried out in Italy (42), Denmark (41), France (43), Australia (19, 44), and Norway (45), which similarly showed an increase in female incidence rates (46, 47). Gonadal hormones, lifestyle changes, lactation patterns, oral contraceptives, reduced physical activity, and increased stress may be the basis of this phenomenon (11, 47). Moreover, we found an earlier onset age for women in 2019 compared to 1990, indicating that more effort should be invested in women to combat MS.

There is an evident age effect on MS incidence and mortality as expected. Age effects explain the variation of indicators of interest in disease with age and reflect the nature of age changes (23, 48). The global high-risk age group for MS is 30–39 years old, which shows a similar age at MS onset patterns in published MS literature (9, 43, 49). Several countries, such as Kuwait (49), Newcastle, and Australia (44), show an age-specific bimodal distribution at MS onset during 1986–2011, indicating the existence of at least two age population segments at risk for MS. MS develops during the prime of life, and with the increasing aging of the global population (50), the burden on people living with MS will increase further, and the cost to society may soar in future. This finding broadly supports the previous study in this area that DALYs of MS globally peaked in the sixth decade (11). Higher life



expectancy and early onset age have resulted in a high number of DALYs.

Although the global period effect and cohort effect of MS incidence have not been reported, the period effect and cohort effect have been evaluated in different regions previously. The period effect and cohort effect showed no significant change in the incidence of MS globally among the RRs of the different period groups and the same results showed in Lorraine, France between 1996 and 2015 (43), implying that genetic and environmental factors (5-8) that influence the disease's risk have not changed significantly or that factors that mitigate the disease's onset have emerged that have not yet been detected. On the other hand, Denmark and Kuwait show a significant period effect and cohort effect in incidence (41, 49). Moreover, a study in Norway found that the period effect on mortality was stable in men in the last three decades but increased for women (45). However, the period effect of mortality in Spain is decreasing from 1951 to 1997, probably due to an increasing life expectancy, while the risk of the birth cohort showed an increasing trend (51). A cohort effect analysis of MS-related mortality in North America and several European countries also showed a decline after the 1910–1930 generations (52). In the current study, the period effect showed that the RRs of deaths and DALYs increased with the period. The cohort effect showed that the later cohort has lower RRs of deaths and DALYs than the early cohort. Over the birth cohorts covered in our dataset, changes in lifestyle and environmental factors may have changed the risk of one cohort group over another. The late birth cohort, in comparison to the early birth cohort, received greater education, had a higher degree of awareness about health and illness prevention, and was more actively involved in treatment (22, 53). Furthermore, increasing risk factors for MS were discovered over time, raising public awareness of the disease. In APC analyses, birth cohort effects were largely unaffected by period effects due to changes in diagnostic criteria. In general, such changes are more likely too vague underlying birth cohort patterns than to emerge by chance (54).

One limitation of our current study is that the accuracy of our findings depends on the integrity and reliability of the GBD. However, insufficient diagnosis of diseases due to limited medical care in less developed regions and few national incidence and prevalence studies in high-income countries have led to the lack of partial data on the GBD, which in turn has resulted in biased models for predicting

TABLE 4 The age, period, and cohort effect on the global incidence, death, and DALYs rate of multiple sclerosis.

Variable		Incidence			Deaths			DALYs	
	Coefficient (95% CI)	Relative risk (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value	Coefficient (95% CI)	Relative risk (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value	Coefficient (95% CI)	Relative risk (95% CI)	p-value
Constant	-9.36 (-9.39, -9.34)	0 (0, 0)	<0.01	-10.0 (-10.17, -10.01)	0 (0, 0)	<0.01	-6.09 (-6.14, -6.04)	0 (0, 0)	< 0.01
Age									
0-9	-2.79 (-2.95, -2.62)	0.06 (0.05, 0.07)	<0.01	-2.23 (-2.61, -1.86)	0.11 (0.07, 0.16)	<0.01	-2.21 (-2.47, -1.96)	0.11 (0.08, 0.14)	< 0.01
10-19	0.07 (0.03, 0.12)	1.08 (1.03, 1.12)	<0.01	-2.64 (-3, -2.27)	0.07 (0.05, 0.1)	< 0.01	-1.9 (-2.06, -1.75)	0.15 (0.13, 0.17)	< 0.01
20-29	1.32 (1.29, 1.36)	3.75 (3.62, 3.88)	<0.01	-0.86 (-1.02, -0.71)	0.42 (0.36, 0.49)	< 0.01	-0.21 (-0.29, -0.12)	0.81 (0.75, 0.88)	< 0.01
30-39	1.41 (1.38, 1.44)	4.09 (3.97, 4.22)	<0.01	0.16 (0.03, 0.28)	1.17 (1.03, 1.33)	0.013	0.64 (0.57, 0.7)	1.89 (1.77, 2.02)	< 0.01
40-49	1.02 (1, 1.05)	2.78 (2.71, 2.85)	<0.01	0.8 (0.71, 0.9)	2.23 (2.03, 2.45)	<0.01	1.04 (0.99, 1.1)	2.84 (2.7, 2.99)	< 0.01
50–59	0.36 (0.34, 0.38)	1.43 (1.4, 1.46)	<0.01	1.05 (0.98, 1.11)	2.86 (2.68, 3.05)	<0.01	1.09 (1.06, 1.13)	2.99 (2.88, 3.1)	< 0.01
60–69	-0.35 (-0.37, -0.33)	0.7 (0.69, 0.72)	<0.01	1.06 (1.01, 1.1)	2.88 (2.76, 3)	<0.01	0.88 (0.86, 0.91)	2.42 (2.36, 2.48)	< 0.01
70–79	-0.34 (-0.35, -0.32)	0.71 (0.7, 0.72)	<0.01	1 (0.96, 1.04)	2.72 (2.62, 2.83)	< 0.01	0.56 (0.54, 0.58)	1.76 (1.72, 1.79)	< 0.01
80-89	-0.34 (-0.35, -0.33)	0.71 (0.7, 0.72)	<0.01	0.95 (0.89, 1.01)	2.58 (2.43, 2.74)	< 0.01	0.22 (0.19, 0.25)	1.25 (1.21, 1.29)	< 0.01
Period									
1990–1999	0 (-0.01, 0)	1 (0.99, 1)	0.17	-0.19 (-0.22, -0.15)	0.83 (0.8, 0.86)	< 0.01	-0.13 (-0.14, -0.11)	0.88 (0.87, 0.9)	< 0.01
2000-2009	0 (-0.01, 0)	1 (0.99, 1)	< 0.01	0 (-0.01, 0)	1 (0.99, 1)	< 0.01	0 (0, 0)	1 (1, 1)	0.933
2010-2019	0.01 (0, 0.02)	1.01 (1, 1.02)	<0.01	0.19 (0.16, 0.22)	1.21 (1.17, 1.25)	< 0.01	0.13 (0.11, 0.14)	1.13 (1.11, 1.15)	< 0.01
Cohort									
1900-1909	0.19 (0.15, 0.22)	1.2 (1.17, 1.24)	< 0.01	1.2 (1.09, 1.31)	3.33 (2.99, 3.71)	< 0.01	0.89 (0.83, 0.95)	2.42 (2.28, 2.58)	< 0.01
1910–1919	0.15 (0.13, 0.18)	1.17 (1.14, 1.2)	<0.01	1.09 (1, 1.17)	2.96 (2.73, 3.22)	< 0.01	0.76 (0.71, 0.81)	2.14 (2.03, 2.24)	< 0.01
1920-1929	0.13 (0.11, 0.16)	1.14 (1.11, 1.17)	<0.01	0.94 (0.87, 1)	2.56 (2.4, 2.73)	< 0.01	0.63 (0.59, 0.67)	1.88 (1.8, 1.96)	< 0.01
1930-1939	0.1 (0.08, 0.13)	1.11 (1.08, 1.14)	<0.01	0.7 (0.64, 0.76)	2.02 (1.91, 2.15)	<0.01	0.45 (0.41, 0.49)	1.57 (1.51, 1.64)	< 0.01
1940-1949	0.07 (0.04, 0.1)	1.07 (1.04, 1.1)	<0.01	0.51 (0.43, 0.58)	1.66 (1.54, 1.78)	<0.01	0.32 (0.27, 0.37)	1.37 (1.31, 1.44)	< 0.01
1950-1959	0.01 (-0.02, 0.04)	1.01 (0.98, 1.04)	0.691	0.3 (0.2, 0.39)	1.35 (1.22, 1.48)	< 0.01	0.19 (0.13, 0.24)	1.2 (1.14, 1.28)	< 0.01
1960-1969	-0.06 (-0.09, -0.02)	0.94 (0.91, 0.98)	<0.01	-0.01 (-0.13, 0.12)	0.99 (0.88, 1.12)	0.933	-0.02 (-0.09, 0.05)	0.98 (0.91, 1.05)	0.559
1970–1979	-0.14 (-0.17, -0.1)	0.87 (0.84, 0.9)	<0.01	-0.37 (-0.52, -0.22)	0.69 (0.59, 0.8)	<0.01	-0.28 (-0.36, -0.19)	0.76 (0.69, 0.82)	< 0.01
1980-1989	-0.11 (-0.15, -0.06)	0.9 (0.86, 0.94)	<0.01	-0.64 (-0.82, -0.46)	0.53 (0.44, 0.63)	<0.01	-0.43 (-0.53, -0.33)	0.65 (0.59, 0.72)	< 0.01
1990–1999	-0.12 (-0.16, -0.07)	0.89 (0.85, 0.93)	<0.01	-0.93 (-1.14, -0.72)	0.39 (0.32, 0.49)	< 0.01	-0.61 (-0.73, -0.49)	0.54 (0.48, 0.61)	< 0.01

(Continued)

TABLE 4 (Continued)

Variable	Incidence			Deaths			DALYs		
	Coefficient (95% CI)	Relative risk (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value	Coefficient (95% CI)	Relative risk (95% CI)	p-value	Coefficient (95% CI)	Relative risk (95% CI)	p-value
2000-2009	-0.12 (-0.17, -0.06)	0.89 (0.85, 0.94)	<0.01	-1.26 (-1.73, -0.79)	0.28 (0.18, 0.45)	< 0.01	-0.84 (-1.07, -0.61)	0.43 (0.34, 0.54)	< 0.01
2010-2019	-0.12 (-0.43, 0.19)	0.89 (0.65, 1.21)	0.455	-1.52 (-2.27, -0.78)	0.22 (0.1, 0.46)	< 0.01	-1.05 (-1.59, -0.52)	0.35 (0.2, 0.59)	< 0.01
AIC	-25.31799			-26.30645		-18.13016			
BIC	-27.20958			-27.20958		-27.20958			

DALYs, disability-adjusted life years.



rates. In addition, the disease prediction models used in the database lack robust covariates for a more reliable risk assessment of the population (11). A second major limitation is that models are based on superimposed assumptions of age, period, and cohort effects. This not only creates identification problems but also led to a poor

approximation of how social change occurs. Therefore, additional new models and methods are needed to test other theories of social change (23).

In conclusion, the cases of incidence, deaths, and DALYs of MS globally have all increased, whereas ASR has declined, with different



trends in different regions. High SDI regions have a substantial burden of MS. Furthermore, we found significant age effects for incidence, deaths, and DALYs of MS globally, and period effects and cohort effects for deaths and DALYs. Health promotion, disease prevention, and rehabilitation should all receive significant attention, especially in high-risk areas.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Author contributions

ZQ: study design and manuscript drafting. YL: data collection, data analysis, and drawing graphs. KZ, YD, SY, BC, HW, and JJ:

data collection and data analysis. KQ, ZG, and MZ: study design, data analysis, results interpretation, and manuscript reviewing. All authors contributed to the review of manuscript and the final version of paper.

Funding

This study was partly supported by the Special Fund for Science and Technology of Guangdong Province (Grant Number: 2019ST024) and the Science and Technology Plan Project of Shantou (Grant Number: 汕府科[2019]106).

Acknowledgments

We thank the works of the Global Burden of Diseases, Injuries, and Risk Factors 2019 study collaborators.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Compston A, Coles A. Multiple sclerosis. Lancet. (2002) 359:1221-31. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08220-X

2. Olek MJ. Multiple sclerosis. Ann Intern Med. (2021) 174:ITC81-96. doi: 10.7326/AITC202106150

3. Dobson R, Giovannoni G. Multiple sclerosis: a review. Eur J Neurol. (2019) 26:27-40. doi: 10.1111/ene.13819

4. Group GBDNDC. Global, regional, and national burden of neurological disorders during 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *Lancet Neurol.* (2017) 16:877–97. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30299-5

5. Fletcher J, Bishop EL, Harrison SR, Swift A, Cooper SC, Dimeloe SK, et al. Autoimmune disease and interconnections with vitamin D. *Endocr Connect.* (2022) 11:814. doi: 10.1530/EC-21-0554

6. Ebers GC. Environmental factors and multiple sclerosis. Lancet Neurol. (2008) 7:268-77. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70042-5

7. Olsson T, Barcellos LF, Alfredsson L. Interactions between genetic, lifestyle and environmental risk factors for multiple sclerosis. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2017) 13:25– 36. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2016.187

8. Belbasis L, Bellou V, Evangelou E, Ioannidis JP, Tzoulaki I. Environmental risk factors and multiple sclerosis: an umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Lancet Neurol.* (2015) 14:263–73. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70267-4

9. Koch-Henriksen N, Sorensen PS. The changing demographic pattern of multiple sclerosis epidemiology. *Lancet Neurol.* (2010) 9:520–32. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70064-8

10. Abbastabar H, Bitarafan S, Mohammadpour Z, Mohammadianinejad SE, Harirchian MH. The trend of incidence, prevalence, and DALY of multiple sclerosis in the Middle East and Northern Africa region compared to global, West Europe and, Iran's corresponding values during 1990–2017: retrieved from global burden of diseases data. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2021) 52:102949. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.102949

11. Collaborators GBDMS. Global, regional, and national burden of multiple sclerosis 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *Lancet Neurol.* (2019) 18:269–85. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30443-5

12. Walton C, King R, Rechtman L, Kaye W, Leray E, Marrie RA, et al. Rising prevalence of multiple sclerosis worldwide: insights from the Atlas of MS. *Multiple Scler J*. (2020) 26:1816–21. doi: 10.1177/1352458520970841

13. Lane J, Ng HS, Poyser C, Lucas RM, Tremlett H. Multiple sclerosis incidence: a systematic review of change over time by geographical region. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2022) 63:103932. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2022.103932

14. Zahoor I, Haq E. Multiple sclerosis in India: iceberg or volcano. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2017) 307:27–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2017.03.015

15. Negrotto L, Correale J. Evolution of multiple sclerosis prevalence and phenotype in Latin America. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2018) 22:97–102. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2018.03.014

16. Mellinger S, Dias D, Flores N, Palavecino A, Vigo G, Burgos D, et al. Multiple sclerosis prevalence in Salta City, Argentina. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2018) 25:212–5. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2018.07.033

17. Hosseinzadeh A, Baneshi MR, Sedighi B, Kermanchi J, Haghdoost AA. Geographic variations of multiple sclerosis in Iran: a population based study. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2019) 28:244–9. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2019.01.001

18. Houzen H, Niino M, Hata D, Nakano F, Kikuchi S, Fukazawa T, et al. Increasing prevalence and incidence of multiple sclerosis in northern Japan. *Multiple Scler.* (2008) 14:887–92. doi: 10.1177/1352458508090226

19. Simpson-Yap S, Atvars R, Blizzard L, van der Mei I, Taylor BV. Increasing incidence and prevalence of multiple sclerosis in the Greater Hobart cohort of Tasmania, Australia. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2022) 93:723–31. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2022-328932

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2023. 1073278/full#supplementary-material

20. Ajdacic-Gross V, Schmid M, Mutsch M, Steinemann N, von Wyl V, Bopp M. The change in the sex ratio in multiple sclerosis is driven by birth cohort effects. *Eur J Neurol.* (2017) 24:98–104. doi: 10.1111/ene.13160

21. Ajdacic-Gross V, Tschopp A, Schmid M, Bopp M, Gutzwiller F. Missed epidemics and missing links: international birth cohort trends in multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Neurol.* (2013) 20:440–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2012.03802.x

22. Holford TR. Understanding the effects of age, period, and cohort on incidence and mortality rates. *Annu Rev Public Health.* (1991) 12:425–57. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pu.12.050191.002233

23. Yang Y, Schulhofer-Wohl S, Fu Wenjiang J, Land Kenneth C. The intrinsic estimator for age-period-cohort analysis: what it is and how to use it. *Am J Sociol.* (2008) 113:1697–736. doi: 10.1086/587154

24. Bragazzi NL, Zhong W, Shu J, Abu Much A, Lotan D, Grupper A, et al. Burden of heart failure and underlying causes in 195 countries and territories from 1990 to 2017. *Eur J Prevent Cardiol.* (2021) 28:1682–90. doi: 10.1093/eurjpc/zwaa147

25. Hankey BF, Ries LA, Kosary CL, Feuer EJ, Merrill RM, Clegg LX, et al. Partitioning linear trends in age-adjusted rates. *Cancer Causes Control.* (2000) 11:31–5. doi: 10.1023/A:1008953201688

26. Gao S, Yang WS, Bray F, Va P, Zhang W, Gao J, et al. Declining rates of hepatocellular carcinoma in urban Shanghai: incidence trends in 1976–2005. *Eur J Epidemiol.* (2012) 27:39–46. doi: 10.1007/s10654-011-9636-8

27. Liu Z, Jiang Y, Yuan H, Fang Q, Cai N, Suo C, et al. The trends in incidence of primary liver cancer caused by specific etiologies: Results from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016 and implications for liver cancer prevention. *J Hepatol.* (2019) 70:674–83. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.12.001

28. Yang Y, Fu WJ, Land KC. 2. A methodological comparison of age-period-cohort models: the intrinsic estimator and conventional generalized linear models. *Sociol Methodol.* (2016) 34:75–110. doi: 10.1111/j.0081-1750.2004.00148.x

29. He H, Liang L, Han D, Xu F, Lyu J. Different trends in the incidence and mortality rates of prostate cancer between China and the USA: a joinpoint and age-period-cohort analysis. *Front Med.* (2022) 9:824464. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022. 824464

30. Akaike H. A new look at the statistical model identification. *IEEE Trans Autom Control*. (1974) 19:716–23. doi: 10.1109/TAC.1974.1100705

31. Vrieze SI. Model selection and psychological theory: a discussion of the differences between the Akaike information criterion (AIC) and the Bayesian information criterion (BIC). *Psychol Methods*. (2012) 17:228–43. doi: 10.1037/a0027127

32. Langer-Gould A, Brara SM, Beaber BE, Zhang JL. Incidence of multiple sclerosis in multiple racial and ethnic groups. *Neurology.* (2013) 80:1734–9. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182918cc2

33. Wallin MT, Culpepper WJ, Coffman P, Pulaski S, Maloni H, Mahan CM, et al. The Gulf War era multiple sclerosis cohort: age and incidence rates by race, sex and service. *Brain.* (2012) 135(Pt 6):1778–85. doi: 10.1093/brain/aws099

34. Prince M, Bryce R, Albanese E, Wimo A, Ribeiro W, Ferri CP. The global prevalence of dementia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Alzheimer's Dement J Alzheimer's Assoc.* (2013) 9:63–75.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2012.11.007

35. Dorsey ER, Bloem BR. The Parkinson pandemic: a call to action. *JAMA Neurol.* (2018) 75:9–10. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2017.3299

36. Manouchehrinia A, Tanasescu R, Tench CR, Constantinescu CS. Mortality in multiple sclerosis: meta-analysis of standardised mortality ratios. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2016) 87:324–31. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2015-310361

37. Bronnum-Hansen H, Koch-Henriksen N, Stenager E. Trends in survival and cause of death in Danish patients with multiple sclerosis. *Brain.* (2004) 127(Pt 4):844–50. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh104

38. Lunde HMB, Assmus J, Myhr KM, Bo L, Grytten N. Survival and cause of death in multiple sclerosis: a 60-year longitudinal population study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2017) 88:621–5. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2016-315238

39. Moghaddam VK, Dickerson AS, Bazrafshan E, Seyedhasani SN, Najafi F, Hadei M, et al. Socioeconomic determinants of global distribution of multiple sclerosis: an ecological investigation based on Global Burden of Disease data. *BMC Neurol.* (2021) 21:145. doi: 10.1186/s12883-021-02170-3

40. Mansouri S, Zayeri F. Global and regional trends of multiple sclerosis disabilityadjusted life years rates: a 25-year assessment. *Neuroepidemiology*. (2019) 52:17– 24. doi: 10.1159/000492819

41. Koch-Henriksen N, Thygesen LC, Stenager E, Laursen B, Magyari M. Incidence of MS has increased markedly over six decades in Denmark particularly with late onset and in women. *Neurology.* (2018) 90:e1954–e63. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000005612

42. Raggi A, Monasta L, Beghi E, Caso V, Castelpietra G, Mondello S, et al. Incidence, prevalence and disability associated with neurological disorders in Italy between 1990 and 2019: an analysis based on the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *J Neurol.* (2022) 269:2080–98. doi: 10.1007/s00415-021-10774-5

43. Gbaguidi B, Guillemin F, Soudant M, Debouverie M, Mathey G, Epstein J. Ageperiod-cohort analysis of the incidence of multiple sclerosis over twenty years in Lorraine, France. *Sci Rep.* (2022) 12:1001. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-04836-5

44. Ribbons K, Lea R, Tiedeman C, Mackenzie L, Lechner-Scott J. Ongoing increase in incidence and prevalence of multiple sclerosis in Newcastle, Australia: a 50-year study. *Multiple Scler.* (2017) 23:1063–71. doi: 10.1177/1352458516671819

45. Nakken O, Lindstrom JC, Holmoy T. Sex ratio in multiple sclerosis mortality over 65 years; an age-period-cohort analysis in Norway. *J Neurol.* (2018) 265:1295–302. doi: 10.1007/s00415-018-8832-9

46. Magyari M, Sorensen PS. The changing course of multiple sclerosis: rising incidence, change in geographic distribution, disease course, and prognosis. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2019) 32:320–6. doi: 10.1097/WCO.00000000000695

47. Leray E, Moreau T, Fromont A, Edan G. Epidemiology of multiple sclerosis. *Rev Neurol.* (2016) 172:3–13. doi: 10.1016/j.neurol.2015.10.006

48. Gao Y, Liu X. Secular trends in the incidence of and mortality due to Alzheimer's disease and other forms of dementia in China from 1990 to 2019: an age-period-cohort study and joinpoint analysis. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2021) 13:709156. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.709156

49. Akhtar S, Al-Abkal J, Al-Hashel JY, Alroughani R. Age-period-cohort modeling of multiple sclerosis incidence rates in Kuwait: 1980–2014. *Neuroepidemiology*. (2017) 49:152-9. doi: 10.1159/000484318

50. Partridge L, Deelen J, Slagboom PE. Facing up to the global challenges of ageing. *Nature*. (2018) 561:45-56. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0457-8

51. Llorca J, Guerrero-Alonso P, Prieto-Salceda D. Mortality trends of multiple sclerosis in Spain, 1951–1997: an age-period-cohort analysis. *Neuroepidemiology*. (2005) 24:129– 34. doi: 10.1159/000083000

52. Sonnenberg A, Ajdacic-Gross V. Similar birth-cohort patterns in Crohn's disease and multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Scler*. (2018) 24:140–9. doi: 10.1177/1352458517691620

53. Cohen AK, Syme SL. Education: a missed opportunity for public health intervention. *Am J Public Health.* (2013) 103:997–1001. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2012. 300993

54. Brookmeyer R, Stroup DF. Monitoring the Health of Populations: Statistical Principles and Methods for Public Health Surveillance. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2004).

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Alessandra Lugaresi, University of Bologna, Italy

REVIEWED BY

Russell Ouellette, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden Massimiliano Calabrese, University of Verona, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Matilde Inglese M.inglese@unige.it

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

RECEIVED 30 October 2022 ACCEPTED 30 January 2023 PUBLISHED 08 March 2023

CITATION

Lapucci C, Tazza F, Rebella S, Boffa G, Sbragia E, Bruschi N, Mancuso E, Mavilio N, Signori A, Roccatagliata L, Cellerino M, Schiavi S and Inglese M (2023) Central vein sign and diffusion MRI differentiate microstructural features within white matter lesions of multiple sclerosis patients with comorbidities. *Front. Neurol.* 14:1084661. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1084661

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Lapucci, Tazza, Rebella, Boffa, Sbragia, Bruschi, Mancuso, Mavilio, Signori, Roccatagliata, Cellerino, Schiavi and Inglese. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Central vein sign and diffusion MRI differentiate microstructural features within white matter lesions of multiple sclerosis patients with comorbidities

Caterina Lapucci^{1,2}, Francesco Tazza², Silvia Rebella³, Giacomo Boffa², Elvira Sbragia², Nicolò Bruschi², Elisabetta Mancuso², Nicola Mavilio⁴, Alessio Signori⁵, Luca Roccatagliata^{4,5}, Maria Cellerino², Simona Schiavi² and Matilde Inglese^{2,6}*

¹HNSR, IRRCS Ospedale Policlinico San Martino, Genoa, Italy, ²Department of Neuroscience, Rehabilitation, Ophthalmology, Genetics, Maternal and Child Health (DINOGMI), University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy, ³University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy, ⁴Department of Neuroradiology, IRCCS Ospedale Policlinico San Martino, Genoa, Italy, ⁵Department of Health Sciences (DISSAL), University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy, ⁶IRCCS Ospedale Policlinico San Martino IRCCS, Genoa, Italy

Introduction: The Central Vein Sign (CVS) has been suggested as a potential biomarker to improve diagnostic specificity in multiple sclerosis (MS). Nevertheless, the impact of comorbidities on CVS performance has been poorly investigated so far. Despite the similar features shared by MS, migraine and Small Vessel Disease (SVD) at T2-weighted conventional MRI sequences, *ex-vivo* studies demonstrated their heterogeneous histopathological substrates. If in MS, inflammation, primitive demyelination and axonal loss coexist, in SVD demyelination is secondary to ischemic microangiopathy, while the contemporary presence of inflammatory and ischemic processes has been suggested in migraine. The aims of this study were to investigate the impact of comorbidities (risk factors for SVD and migraine) on the global and subregional assessment of the CVS in a large cohort of MS patients and to apply the Spherical Mean Technique (SMT) diffusion model to evaluate whether perivenular and non-perivenular lesions show distinctive microstructural features.

Methods: 120 MS patients stratified into 4 Age Groups performed 3T brain MRI. WM lesions were classified in "perivenular" and "non-perivenular" by visual inspection of FLAIR* images; mean values of SMT metrics, indirect estimators of inflammation, demyelination and fiber disruption (EXTRAMD: extraneurite mean diffusivity, EXTRATRANS: extraneurite transverse diffusivity and INTRA: intraneurite signal fraction, respectively) were extracted.

Results: Of the 5303 lesions selected for the CVS assessment, 68.7% were perivenular. Significant differences were found between perivenular and non-perivenular lesion volume in the whole brain (p < 0.001) and between perivenular and non-perivenular lesion volume and number in all the four subregions (p < 0.001 for all). The percentage of perivenular lesions decreased from youngest to oldest patients (79.7%–57.7%), with the deep/subcortical WM of oldest patients as the only subregion where the number of non-perivenular was higher than the number of perivenular lesions. Older age and migraine were independent predictors of a higher percentage of non-perivenular lesions (p < 0.001 and p = 0.013 respectively). Whole brain perivenular lesions showed higher inflammation, demyelination and fiber disruption than non perivenular lesions (p = 0.001, p = 0.001 and p = 0.02 for EXTRAMD, EXTRATRANS and INTRA respectively). Similar

findings were found in the deep/subcortical WM (p = 0.001 for all). Compared to non-perivenular lesions, (i) perivenular lesions located in periventricular areas showed a more severe fiber disruption (p = 0.001), (ii) perivenular lesions located in juxtacortical and infratentorial regions exhibited a higher degree of inflammation (p = 0.01 and p = 0.05 respectively) and (iii) perivenular lesions located in infratentorial areas showed a higher degree of demyelination (p = 0.04).

Discussion: Age and migraine have a relevant impact in reducing the percentage of perivenular lesions, particularly in the deep/subcortical WM. SMT may differentiate perivenular lesions, characterized by higher inflammation, demyelination and fiber disruption, from non perivenular lesions, where these pathological processes seemed to be less pronounced. The development of new non-perivenular lesions, especially in the deep/subcortical WM of older patients, should be considered a "red flag" for a different -other than MS- pathophysiology.

KEYWORDS

multiple sclerosis, comorbidities, MRI, central vein sign, diffusion

Introduction

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an inflammatory disease of the central nervous system (CNS) characterized by a relapsing or progressing clinical course. Although focal hyperintensities on T2-weighted magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) detected within the brain and spinal cord represent the radiological hallmarks of the disease (1), they lack histopathological specificity and may hide heterogeneous pathological substrates.

The perivenular location of MS lesions has been known for more than a century. From a histopathological point of view, MS lesions are characterized by cellular infiltrates that rise around small-to-medium-sized parenchymal venules (2), the so-called "perivascular cuffs", mainly characterized by mononuclear cells that enter CNS by damaging the blood-brain barrier (BBB) as waves of inflammatory invasion (3). The essential transition from the histopathological evidence to the "*in vivo*" demonstration of the presence of a central venule within MS lesions has been made possible by advanced gradient-echo MRI techniques (4, 5). Thus, this "Central Vein Sign" (CVS) has been suggested as a potential biomarker to improve diagnostic specificity in MS (6–8).

Nevertheless, the presence of cardiovascular comorbidities, which are particularly frequent in older patients with progressive MS, introduces an extra challenge in the conventional radiological setting, where advanced and specific MRI biomarkers may be needed to distinguish whether a new T2-weighted lesion is due to MS or age-related comorbidities. The prevalence of small vessel disease (SVD)-related white matter (WM) hyperintensities increases from approximately 5% for people aged 50 years to nearly 100% for people aged 90 years (9). In addition to age, arterial hypertension (HT) (10), current and former smoking, and diabetes mellitus (11) are considered modifiable risk factors (RFs) for SVD.

However, data about the impact of age and, more generically, of other RFs for SVD on CVS performance in patients with MS are still scarce. In a recent study, performed on a relatively small cohort of patients with MS, the percentage of CVS+ (from now on "%CVS+") lesions significantly decreased in older and hypertensive patients with MS (12).

Besides SVD, migraine is a frequent comorbidity in patients with MS (13). It is well-known that WM T2-weighted hyperintensities are frequently detected in patients with migraine and persist over time (14), with the deep/subcortical WM of the frontal lobes typically involved (15). Although previous studies explored how to differentiate MS from migraine by using MRI (16) and how migraine may be associated with a more symptomatic MS course (17), the impact of migraine as a comorbidity in MS diagnosis and radiological monitoring has not yet been deeply investigated.

Despite the similar features shared by MS, migraine, and SVDrelated WM T2-weighted hyperintensities on conventional MRI, *ex vivo* studies showed the heterogeneity of the underlying histopathological substrates (18, 19). Nevertheless, the microstructural features differentiating WM lesions due to MS from WM lesions due to comorbidities have not yet been investigated by using *in vivo* MRI.

To overcome the limited pathological specificity of conventional MRI, several advanced MRI techniques have been developed and applied to characterize microstructural alterations due to tissue disruptions caused by MS (20, 21). Among all the proposed multicompartment models, the spherical mean technique (SMT) has been successfully applied to characterize the brain (22) and the spinal cord (23) of patients with MS. Nevertheless, to the best of our knowledge, whether CVS+ lesions

Abbreviations: BBB, Blood Brain Barrier; BMI, Body Mass Index; CNS, Central Nervous System; CVS, Central Vein Sign; EDSS, Expanded Disability Status Scale; EXTRAMD, Extraneurite Mean Diffusivity; EXTRATRANS, Extraneurite Transverse Diffusivity; FDR, False Discovery Rate; FLIRT, FMRIB's Linear Image Registration Tool; FSL, FMRIB Software Library; GEE, Generalized Estimating Equation; HT, Arterial Hypertension; INTRA, Neurite Signal Fraction; MS, Multiple Sclerosis; NAWM, Normal Appearing White Matter; NMOSD, Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorder; PMS, Progressive Multiple Sclerosis; SMT, Spherical Mean Technique; SP, Secondary Progressive; SVD, Small Vessel Disease; WM, White Matter.

show distinctive microstructural features compared to CVS-lesions has not yet been investigated.

Therefore, the aims of our study were a) to investigate the impact of risk factors for SVD and migraine on the global and subregional brain CVS assessment in a large cohort of patients with MS as a whole and stratified according to age; b) to investigate the pathological substrate of CVS+ and CVS- lesions using advanced diffusion metrics (SMT); and c) to determine whether the use of SMT-derived metrics can differentiate perivenular lesions, typical of MS, from no perivenular lesions, possibly associated with different pathophysiological mechanisms related to comorbidities.

Materials and methods

Subjects

In this prospective study, 120 patients with a diagnosis of MS (24) [84 with relapsing-remitting (RRMS), 36 with progressive (Primary Progressive, PP and Secondary Progressive, SP, from now on "PMS") disease course (25)] were consecutively enrolled between January 2019 and September 2020 at the Department of Neuroscience, Rehabilitation, Ophthalmology, Genetics, Maternal and Child Health (University of Genoa). Inclusion criteria were as follows: (I) age >18 years and (II) MS diagnosis according to revisions of McDonald's criteria (24). Exclusion criteria were as follows: (i) absence of capability to sign the informed consent and (ii) suboptimal MRI quality.

Moreover, we stratified the included subjects as follows: (i) Group 1: 18–30 years (n = 30); (ii) Group 2: 31–44 years (n = 30); (iii) Group 3: 45–55 years (n = 30); (iv) Group 4: 56–77 years (n = 30).

All patients underwent neurological examination with the assessment of the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS). In addition, the following RFs for SVD were recorded: body mass index (BMI; measured as a weight-to-height ratio, cut-off ≥ 25 kg/m²), smoking (at the time of MRI examination or in the past), diagnosis of HT (at the time of MRI examination or in the past) and its medications, diabetes or glucose intolerance (at the time of MRI examination or in the past) and its medications, and hypercholesterolemia (at the time of MRI examination or in the past) and its medications. The cumulative number of RFs was calculated for each patient. Furthermore, the presence of migraine (or history of migraine) with or without aura (from now on simply "migraine") was also recorded.

MRI acquisition

All patients underwent MRI on a 3T Siemens MAGNETOM Prisma (Siemens Healthcare, Erlangen, Germany) with a 64channel head and neck coil.

The MRI protocol included (i) 3D sagittal T2-FLAIR (repetition time/inversion time/echo time (TR/TI/TE): 5,000/1,800 ms/393 ms; resolution $0.4 \times 0.4 \times 1 \text{ mm}^3$); (ii) 3D sagittal T1 MPRAGE (TR/TI/TE: 2300 ms/919 ms/2.96 ms; resolution $1 \times$

 $1 \times 1 \text{ mm}^3$) before and after intravenous contrast injection of 10 ml of 0.5 mmol/ml gadoteric acid contrast agent; (iii) twicerefocused spin echo echo-planar imaging sequence for multi-shell diffusion-weighted images (TR/TE: 4,500 /75 ms; 107 diffusion directions distributed in 5 shells with b-value up to 3,000 s/mm² plus 7 non weighted images acquired with both anterior-posterior and posterior-anterior phase encoding directions; spatial resolution 1.8 × 1.8 × 1.8 mm³); (iv) 3D sagittal segmented echo-planar imaging (EPI) providing T2* magnitude and phase contrasts (TR/TE: 64 ms/35 ms; resolution 0.65 × 0.65 × 0.65 mm³) after intravenous contrast injection of 10 ml of 0.5 mmol/ml gadoteric acid contrast agent.

Lesion segmentation and CVS assessment

Central vein sign assessment was performed on FLAIR* images obtained by rigid co-registration (26) and voxel-wise multiplication of the high-resolution 3D T2* EPI and the 3D T2-FLAIR, as previously described (27).

FLAIR* images were reformatted in the axial plane maintaining the native section thickness of 0.65 mm to improve the visualization of vessels within MS lesions and were used for the assessment of the presence of the CVS. For each patient, brain WM matter lesions were selected for the assessment of CVS according to NAIMS guideline (28). The presence or absence of the CVS (CVS+ lesions or "perivenular" and CVS- lesions or "nonperivenular", respectively) was blindly and independently evaluated by two assessors (neurologists with expertise in neuroimaging of MS), according to the NAIMS guidelines (28). In the case of disagreement between assessors, lesions were reviewed by a third assessor (with great expertise in neuroimaging) and a consensus was reached. Gadolinium enhancing lesions were excluded from the analysis to avoid the possible contamination of FLAIR* images due to the leakage of contrast agent within lesions with evidence of BBB disruption. Then, selected CVS+ and CVS- lesions were manually segmented on native FLAIR* images using Jim software (Jim 7.0, Xinapse System; http://www.xinapse.com), creating CVS+ and CVS- lesion masks, respectively.

In addition, patients with MS were classified into "perivenular positive" vs. "perivenular negative" according to the previously proposed criteria: the 40% CVS proportion-based diagnostic thresholds (29–31), the "6-lesion rule" (8), and the "3-lesion rule" (32).

An in-house algorithm based on priors about tissues segmentation was used automatically subdivide to CVS+ and CVSlesions according to their location: deep/subcortical WM, (ii) periventricular, (i) (iii) juxtacortical, and (iv) infratentorial. To avoid mislabelling, the resulting а quality check on classification was then made by a neurologist with more than 5 years of experience.

Finally, whole brain and subregion-specific CVS+ and CVSlesion masks were registered on T1- weighted images using the automated FMRIB's Linear Image Registration Tool (FLIRT) with boundary-based registration (33).

Diffusion processing

Diffusion MR images were first denoised using the Marchenko-Pastur principal component analysis algorithm (34) available in MRtrix3 (35). Then they were corrected for movement artifacts and susceptibility induced distortions using eddy and top-up commands from FMRIB Software Library (FSL) (36-39). As the last step of pre-processing, we also performed B1 field inhomogeneity correction to all the dMRI volumes (40). To compute the microstructural maps derived from the SMT model, we used the open-source code available at (https://github.com/ ekaden/smt). To register the different lesion masks on the SMT maps, first, the diffusion weighted images were registered on T1weighted images using FLIRT with boundary-based registration (33), then the resulting transformations were inverted and applied to the lesion masks to register them in the diffusion weighted image space. Similar to the study by Inglese et al. (41), to compensate for the variable partial volume effects caused by the different resolutions between the images, only lesions larger than three voxels after registration on diffusion space were included in the final data analysis. All the registrations were visually checked by a trained professional with more than 5 years of experience in neuroimaging. Finally, we extracted the mean values inside each type of lesions of the following SMT microstructural maps, namely intraneurite signal fraction (INTRA), extraneurite transverse diffusivity (EXTRATRANS), and extraneurite mean diffusivity (EXTRAMD), that describe the fraction of signal coming from the intra-axonal compartment as well as the properties of the anisotropic extraneurite compartment via its transverse microscopic diffusivity and mean diffusion outside the axons, respectively (42, 43).

Statistical analysis

Results were reported as mean with standard deviation (SD) or median with range. Differences in lesion volume and lesion location frequencies were compared between CVS+ and CVSusing a generalized estimating equation (GEE) model to take into account multiple lesions from the same patients. The association of demographic and clinical characteristics of patients on the percentage of CVS lesions was assessed using the Mann-Whitney test for binary variables or the Kruskal-Wallis test for categorical variables. Spearman's rank correlation was used for continuous characteristics such as age, disease duration, and BMI. All significant (p < 0.05) characteristics at the univariable analyses were included in a multivariable linear regression model. Single lesions microstructural metrics comparisons between CVS+ and CVS- and according to age groups were performed using the GEE model for the same reasons reported above. The mean and SD of each microstructural metric were estimated from a multivariable GEE model also including age, gender, and MS type. EDSS scores were correlated with lesional and normal appearing white matter (NAWM) SMT-derived metrics by using Spearman's test. P-values were adjusted for multiple comparisons using the false-discovery rate (FDR) approach. Stata (v.16; Statacorp) was used for the computation.

Approval for this study was received from the Local Ethic Committee of the IRCCS Ospedale Policlinico San Martino (Genoa), and written informed consent was obtained from all subjects.

Data availability

The 3T brain MRI images used were obtained from the IRCCS Ospedale Policlinico San Martino of Genoa and could be made available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

Results

Demographic and clinical data

In our cohort, 66 patients with MS were women (55%), the mean (\pm SD) age was 43.8 \pm 14.4 years, and the mean disease duration was 13.4 \pm 10.6 years. A more detailed summary of the demographic and clinical features of the enrolled subjects is reported in Table 1. No differences were present in terms of gender distribution. Disease duration was different between age Group 4 vs. age Group 1 and age Group 2 (p < 0.001 for both, >in age Group 4) and between age Group 3 vs. age Group 1 (p = 0.001, >in age Group 3) and age Group 2 (p < 0.001, >in age Group 3). No differences in disease duration were present between age Group 1 vs. age Group 2 and age Group 3 vs. age Group 4. MS phenotype was different between age Group 1 vs. Age Group 3 and age Group 4 [RRMS > PMS, p < 0.001 for both] and between age Group 2 vs. age Group 4 (RRMS>PMS, p = 0.002). HT was more prevalent in age Group 4 vs. age Group 3 (p = 0.04), age Group 2, and age Group 1 (p < 0.001 for both). A difference in the prevalence of hypercholesterolemia was observed between age Group 4 vs. age Group 1 (p = 0.021). No differences in terms of prevalence of migraine, smoke, diabetes or glucose intolerance were observed among age groups.

CVS assessment: Global data and inter-assessor agreement

A total of 7,445 brain WM lesions were analyzed with a median of 27.3 (range: 4–51) lesions per patient. Among the 7,445 lesions, 5,303 (71.2%) were selected for CVS assessment. Of the 5,303 lesions, 3,645 (68.7%) were CVS+. The median frequency of CVS+ lesions per patient was 73.5% (range: 27.7–100%). The inter-assessor agreement for the percentage of CVS+ lesions was "substantial/good" with a Cohen's κ of 0.7 and an agreement of 89%.

Lesion volume was different between CVS+ and CVS- lesions (median = 1,292 mm³, range: 26–7,969 mm³ vs. 224 mm³, range: 17–1,713 mm³, respectively; p < 0.001). CVS+ lesions had a significantly higher volume and number compared to CVS- lesions in all the four brain regions analyzed [deep/subcortical WM, periventricular, juxtacortical, and infratentorial; (p < 0.001 for all, both for volume and number), Table 2].

TABLE 1 Baseline demographic and clinical characteristics.

Demographic and MS clinical data	
Patients, n	120
Female, %	55
Age, years, mean (SD)	43.8 (14.4)
EDSS score, median (range)	2 (1–7)
MS phenotype, n (%)	
RRMS	84 (70)
SPMS	21 (17.5)
PPMS	15 (12.5)
Disease duration, years, mean (SD)	13.4 (10.6)
Comorbidities clinical data	
Age Groups, n	4
Age Group 1, n. patients (range, years)	30 (18–30 years)
Age Group 2, n. patients (range, years)	30 (31-44 years)
Age Group 3, n. patients (range, years)	30 (45-55 years)
Age Group 4, n. patients (range, years)	30 (56-77 years)
HT, n (%)	17 (14.2)
Diabetes or glucose intolerance, <i>n</i> (%)	2 (1.7)
Smoke, <i>n</i> (%)	63 (52.5)
BMI \geq 25 kg/m ² , <i>n</i> (%)	10 (8.3)
Hypercholesterolemia, <i>n</i> (%)	21 (17.5)
Cumulative number of RFs for SVD, median (<i>range</i>)	1 (0-4)
Migraine, n (%)	34 (28.3)
Demographic and clinical featu	ires according to age Groups ^a
Disease duration	1 vs. 4 (<i>p</i> < 0.001)
	2 vs. 4 (<i>p</i> < 0.001)
	1 vs. 3 (p = 0.001)
	2 vs. 3 (<i>p</i> < 0.001)
	(> in age Group 4 and age Group 3)
MS phenotype*	1 vs. 3 (<i>p</i> < 0.001)
	1 vs. 4 (<i>p</i> < 0.001)
	2 vs. 4 (p = 0.002)
	(RRMS > PMS in age Group 1)
HT	1 vs. 4 (<i>p</i> < 0.001)
	2 vs. 4 (<i>p</i> < 0.001)
	3 vs. 4 (p = 0.04)
	(>HT in age Group 4)
Hypercholesterolemia	1 vs. 4 ($p = 0.021$)
	(>hypercholesterolemia in age Group 4)
	1

EDSS, Expanded Disability Status Scale; RRMS, Relapsing Remitting Multiple Sclerosis; SPMS, Secondary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis; PPMS, Primary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis; HT, arterial hypertension; BMI, Body Mass Index; RFs, risk factors; SVD, Small Vessel Disease.

^aOnly significant comparisons among age groups were reported.

*All PPMS patients were included in age Groups 3 and 4.

TABLE 2 Volume and topography of CVS+ and CVS- lesions in the whole
cohort and according to age groups.

	CVS+	CVS-	<i>p</i> -value
Total lesions, <i>n</i> (%)	3,645 (68.7)	1,658 (31.3)	-
Whole cohort, Lesi	on volume (mm	³), median (<i>ran</i> g	ge)
Periventricular	1,292 (26–7,969)	224 (17–1,713)	<0.001
Infratentorial	296 (110–555)	45 (13-88)	<0.001
Juxtacortical	161 (75–273)	34 (16-54)	<0.001
Deep/subcortical WM	283 (72–526)	74 (29–255)	<0.001
	596 (158-1,229)	141 (56–270)	<0.001
Whole cohort, Lesi	on location, <i>n</i> (%	6)	
Periventricular	584 (80)	146 (20)	<0.001
Infratentorial	527 (85.6)	89 (14.4)	<0.001
Juxtacortical	640 (61.3)	404 (38.7)	<0.001
Deep/subcortical WM	1894 (65.1)	1019 (34.9)	<0.001
Age Group 1 (18–3	0), Lesion locati	on, <i>n</i> (%)	
Periventricular	136 (84.5)	25 (15.5)	<0.001
Infratentorial	112 (85.5)	19 (14.5)	<0.001
Juxtacortical	171 (67.6)	82 (32.4)	<0.001
Deep/subcortical WM	411 (72.1)	159 (27.9)	<0.001
Age Group 2 (31–4	4), Lesion locati	on, <i>n</i> (%)	
Periventricular	178 (84)	34 (16)	<0.001
Infratentorial	161 (88.5)	21 (11.5)	<0.001
Juxtacortical	187 (64.9)	101 (35.1)	<0.001
Deep/subcortical WM	570 (73.4) 207 (26.6)		<0.001
Age Group 3 (45–5	5), Lesion locati	on, <i>n</i> (%)	
Periventricular	123 (75.9)	39 (24.1)	<0.001
Infratentorial	113 (85)	20 (15)	<0.001
Juxtacortical	161 (59.2)	111 (40.8)	0.033
Deep/subcortical WM	558 (67.1)	273 (32.9)	<0.001
Age Group 4 (56–7	7), Lesion locati	on, <i>n</i> (%)	
Periventricular	147 (75.4)	48 (24.6)	<0.001
Infratentorial	141 (82.9)	29 (17,1)	<0.001
Juxtacortical	121 (52.4)	110 (47.6)	0.19
Deep/subcortical WM	355 (48.3)	380 (51.7)	0.085

CVS, Central Vein Sign.

CVS proportion-based diagnostic thresholds vs. simplified algorithms

Based on the 35% and the 40% of CVS proportion-based diagnostic thresholds (29–31), 119 of the 120 included patients were perivenular positive for both thresholds. In one patient, %CVS+ lesions was 28% (age Group 4, secondary progressive phenotype, and history of migraine); in the other patient, it was 39% (age Group 2, secondary progressive phenotype, smoke, and migraine). When

applying the simplified algorithms, 6-lesion (8) and 3-lesion rules (32), 119 and 111 of the 120 included patients were perivenular positive, respectively.

CVS relationship with MS phenotype, RFs for SVD, and migraine

Patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis showed a higher percentage of CVS+ lesions compared to patients with PMS (76.9%, range 40–100 vs. 67.3%, range 27.7–100%; p = 0.002).

The median percentage of CVS+ lesions decreased from age Group 1 to age Group 4 (for age Group 1: median 79.7%, range 60.3–100%; for age Group 2: median 79.1%, range 39.1–100%; for age Group 3: median 71.8%, range 40–100%; for age Group 4: median 57.7%, range 27.7–100%). Differences in the median percentage of CVS+ lesions were observed among all age groups, except for age Group 2 vs. age Group 3 (Table 3).

When patients with MS were stratified according to age groups, we found that, in all age groups and brain subregions, CVS+ lesion number was higher than CVS- lesions [p < 0.001 for all, except for (i) juxtacortical area in age Group 3 (p = 0.033) and (ii) juxtacortical area in age Group 4 where the difference was not significant], excluding the deep/subcortical WM in age Group 4, where CVS- lesion number was higher than CVS+ lesions, although not reaching statistical significance (Table 2, Figure 1).

Patients with HT showed a lower percentage of CVS+ lesions (median: 61.9%, range 43.3–100%) compared to patients not diagnosed with HT (median: 74.7%, range 27.7–100%; p = 0.031). Patients with migraine had a lower percentage of CVS+ lesions (median: 65.8%, range 27.7–100%) compared to patients without migraine (median: 76.4%, range 40–100%; p = 0.032). A trend was observed between patients with hypercholesterolemia and no hypercholesterolemia (median: 68%, range 43.1–100% vs median 74.7%, range 27.7–100% respectively; p = 0.078). For the variables: smoking/no smking, BMI ≥ 25 /BMI ≤ 25 , diabetes or glucose intolerance/ no diabetes or glucose intolerance, and cumulative number of RFs for SVD, no differences in terms of CVS+ vs CVS- lesion median percentage were observed in terms of CVS+ vs CVS- lesion median percentage (Table 3).

A negative correlation was found between %CVS+ lesions and age (r = -0.46; p < 0.001, Figure 2) and between %CVS+ lesions and disease duration (r = -0.24; p = 0.008), while a trend was observed with BMI (r = -0.17; p = 0.058).

In the multivariable model, including age, migraine, the cumulative number of RFs for SVD, HT, MS phenotype, and disease duration, age and migraine were independently associated with the %CVS+ lesions (model R² 0.25; p < 0.001 for age and p = 0.013 for migraine).

Microstructural features of CVS+ and CVSlesions evaluated by the SMT diffusion model

Compared to CVS- lesions, CVS+ lesions showed higher EXTRAMD (p = 0.001), higher EXTRATRANS (p = 0.001), and lower INTRA (p = 0.02). In the deep/subcortical WM,

TABLE 3 CVS+ lesions percentage comparisons among age groups, MS phenotype, RFs for SVD, and migraine.

	CVS+ (% lesions), median (range)	p-value
Age		
Age Group 1: 18–30 $(n = 30)^1$	79.7 (60.3–100)	1 vs 2 p = 0.026
Age Group 2: $31-44 (n = 30)^2$	79.1 (39.1–100)	1 vs 3 <i>p</i> < 0.001 2 vs 3 0.088
Age Group 3: $45-55 (n = 30)^3$	71.8 (40–100)	1 vs 4 <i>p</i> < 0.001
Age Group 4: 56–77 $(n = 30)^4$	57.7 (27.7–100)	2 vs 4 p < 0.001
		3 vs 4 p = 0.017
MS type		
RR ($n = 84$)	76.9 (40-100)	0.002
PMS (<i>n</i> = 36)	67.3 (27.7–100)	
HT		
No (<i>n</i> = 103)	74.7 (27.7–100)	0.031
Yes (<i>n</i> = 17)	61.9 (43.3–100)	
Diabetes or glucose intol	erance	
No (<i>n</i> = 118)	74.0 (27.7–100)	0.33
Yes $(n = 2)$	60.8 (49.2–72)	
Smoke		
No $(n = 57)$	72.4 (27.7–100)	0.84
Yes $(n = 63)$	75 (39.1–100)	
BMI		
18–24.9 ($n = 79$)	75 (27.7–100)	0.27
$\geq 25 (n = 41)$	72 (40–100)	
Hypercholesterolemia		
No $(n = 99)$	74.7 (27.7–100)	0.07
Yes $(n = 21)$	68 (43.1-100)	
Cumulative RFs number		
0 (<i>n</i> = 31)	74.7 (40-100)	0.55
1 (n = 52)	77.1 (27.7–100)	
2(n=20)	65.8 (39.1–93.3)	
3-4 (n = 17)	66.7 (43.5-88.1)	
Migraine (with or without	t aura)	
No $(n = 86)$	76.4 (40-100)	0.032
Yes (<i>n</i> = 34)	65.8 (27.7–100)	

CVS, Central Vein Sign

juxtacortical, and infratentorial areas, EXTRAMD was higher in CVS+ lesions compared to CVS- lesions (p = 0.001, 0.01, and 0.05, respectively), while in the periventricular region, we observed the opposite result (p = 0.001). In the deep/subcortical WM and infratentorial areas, EXTRATRANS was higher in CVS+ lesions compared to CVS- lesions (p = 0.001 and p = 0.04, respectively), while in periventricular and juxtacortical regions, no differences were observed. In the deep/subcortical WM and periventricular areas, INTRA was lower in CVS+ lesions compared to CVS-



FIGURE 1

CVS+ and CVS- distribution according to age groups and brain subregions. In all age groups and brain subregions, CVS+ lesion number is higher than CVS- lesions (**p < 0.001; *p = 0.033), except for the juxtacortical area in age Group 4 where the difference is not significant. Note that in the deep/subcortical WM in age Group 4 (57–77 years) CVS– lesion number rises and becomes higher than CVS+ lesions, although not statistically significant. CVS, Central Vein Sign.



FIGURE 2

Association between patient's age and the frequency of CVS+ and CVS- lesions. An inverse correlation was found between %CVS+ lesions and age (r = -0.46; p < 0.001), while a positive correlation was found between %CVS- lesions and age (r = 0.46; p < 0.001). CVS, Central Vein Sign.

	CVS+	CVS-	<i>p</i> -value*	<i>p</i> -value adjusted for m.c.^
EXTRAMD (inflammation), mean (SD) mm ² /s	0.00144 (0.000245)	0.00139 (0.000228)	<0.001	0.001
Deep/subcortical WM	0.00139 (0.000128)	0.00135 (0.000114)	<0.001	0.001
Periventricular	0.00154 (0.000226)	0.00163 (0.000301)	<0.001	0.001
Juxta	0.00132 (0.000175)	0.00129 (0.000190)	0.007	0.01
Infratentorial	0.00141 (0.000251)	0.00134 (0.000260)	0.035	0.05
EXTRATRANS (demyelination), mean (SD) mm ² /s	0.00117 (0.000288)	0.00111 (0.000252)	<0.001	0.001
Deep/subcortical WM	0.00109 (0.000182)	0.00105 (0.000145)	<0.001	0.001
Periventricular	0.00131 (0.000252)	0.00135 (0.000333)	0.13	0.15
Juxta	0.00114 (0.000176)	0.00112 (0.000194)	0.08	0.11
Infratentorial	0.00103 (0.000293)	0.000952 (0.000296)	0.027	0.04
INTRA (fiber disruption), mean (SD)	0.399 (0.129)	0.409 (0.124)	0.012	0.02
Deep/subcortical WM	0.425 (0.113)	0.449 (0.0976)	<0.001	0.001
Periventricular	0.341 (0.0969)	0.378 (0.109)	<0.001	0.001
Juxta	0.309 (0.0932)	0.301 (0.0894)	0.17	0.19
Infratentorial	0.507 (0.122)	0.530 (0.138)	0.11	0.14

TABLE 4 SMT metrics comparisons between CVS+ and CVS- lesions.

m.c., multiple comparisons.

*P-value obtained from the GEE model and adjusted for age, MS phenotype, and gender; ^Adjustment for multiple comparisons using the false-discovery rate approach. CVS, Central Vein Sign; SMT, Spherical Mean Technique.

lesions (p = 0.001 for both), while in infratentorial and juxtacortical regions, no differences were observed (Table 4).

SMT-metrics maps within representative CVS+ and CVS-lesions (at the top) and their graphical representation by violin plots (at the bottom) are shown in Figure 3.

EDSS scores correlations with SMT metrics

The EDSS scores were correlated with SMT metrics extracted from CVS+ and CVS- lesions but no significant results were observed, while a significant negative correlation was detected between SMT-intra of the NAWM and EDSS ($p = 0.014 \ r = -0.226$).

Discussion

In this study, we investigated the impact of RFs for SVD and migraine on the global and subregional brain CVS assessment in a large cohort of patients with MS stratified according to age and thus applied the SMT diffusion model to evaluate whether perivenular lesions show distinctive microstructural features compared to non-perivenular lesions. We focused on the different risk factors for SVD (age, BMI, smoking, HT, diabetes or glucose intolerance, hypercholesterolemia) and migraine, due to their high prevalence in the common population, including patients with MS (13, 44). Unlike MS, histopathological studies in SVD revealed that the anatomical target of tissue damage is mostly represented by the arteriolar side of vascular microcirculation (19, 45), where vessel lumen restriction and chronic hypoperfusion mainly occur. Although the pathophysiology of migraine-related deep WM hyperintensities is poorly understood, both ischemic and inflammatory mechanisms have been proposed, as there is increased cerebral vulnerability to ischemia in migraineurs, as well as evidence of BBB disruption during migraine attacks (18).

Among the RFs for SVD, age was the strongest inverse predictor of the percentage of CVS+ lesions, while HT, although associated with a higher prevalence of CVS- lesions, did not survive as a significant predictor in the regression analysis. The low percentage of MS patients with HT in our sample (as for patients with diabetes, higher BMI, and smokers) may explain these findings. One of the most novel aspects of our study was the investigation of migraine impact on the percentage of CVS+ lesions. MS patients with migraine showed a higher percentage of CVS- lesions compared to MS patients without migraine. Furthermore, migraine also survived as an inverse predictor of the percentage of perivenular lesions in the regression analysis. Interestingly, analyzing the demographic and clinical features of patients with MS who did not fulfill the 40% thresholds approach in our sample, we observed that both MS patients had suffered or suffered from migraine. Although our data confirmed that the previously proposed CVS proportion-based thresholds (29-31) remain valid for differential diagnosis, they may suggest that migraine, as well as aging, could be able to affect CVS performance and, thus, it should be carefully considered in the radiological workflow of patients with high clinical suspicion of MS.

Furthermore, in order to investigate whether older age has a more preferential impact on the CVS assessment in some brain subregions than in others, we considered the distribution of the CVS+ and CVS- lesions in brain areas considered specific (periventricular, infratentorial, and juxtacortical) and not specific



(deep/subcortical WM) for MS. CVS+ lesion volume was higher than CVS-lesion volume, both considering the global brain and the four subregions analyzed, where CVS+ lesions were also numerically prevalent. In a recent study (12), it was reported that CVS+ lesion volume in the whole brain and CVS+ lesion number in the deep/subcortical WM were higher than CVSlesion volume and CVS- lesion number in the global brain and deep/subcortical WM, respectively, although there was no statistical significance between them. The larger sample size and the higher number of lesions analyzed in our study may partially explain these different findings. Nevertheless, conflicting results emerged also in the juxtacortical area, where Guisset et al. (12) found that CVS- lesions were numerically prevalent compared to CVS+ lesions. CVS evaluation in the juxtacortical area may be challenging due to the possible effect of distortion artifacts intrinsic to EPI-T2* images. To improve the detection rate of CVS+ lesions, we decided to perform EPI-T2* images after contrast agent administration, following the suggestion of previous studies (46-48). It is possible that T1 shortening, due to gadolinium administration, may lead to an increase in the phase effects around blood vessels, thus improving the visibility of the central vein (47, 49). In our study, the CVS assessment in gadolinium enhanced susceptibility images could have helped to optimize the detection of perivenular lesions on the whole brain but also in challenging areas.

After having stratified MS patients according to age to evaluate the CVS in the different brain subregion, we found that in brain subregions considered typical of MS (periventricular, infratentorial, and juxtacortical), the relationship between CVS+/CVS- lesion number showed a clear prevalence of CVS+ on CVS- lesions in all age groups, except for juxtacortical areas in the 56-77 years group. An overestimation of CVS- lesions in the juxtacortical area throughout all age groups due to the abovementioned technical issues, despite our attempt to improve CVS detection by acquiring EPI-T2* images after contrast injection, may partially explain our findings. Furthermore, despite both SVD and migraine-related WM T2-weighted hyperintensities being mostly located in the deep/subcortical WM, different studies showed that juxtacortical areas may also be involved (50, 51). Interestingly, we found that in age Group 4 (56-77 years) CVS- lesion number increased to become higher than CVS+ lesions in the deep/subcortical WM, although no statistical significance was found.

Therefore, driven by our findings about the impact of age and migraine on the percentage of CVS+ lesions and the inversion of CVS+/CVS- lesions prevalence in deep/subcortical WM in older patients with MS, we decided to use the SMT model to investigate the pathological substrate of CVS+ and CVS- lesions. The choice to use SMT relied on its interesting basic assumptions and its encouraging recent results in MS (20, 23, 43). Overcoming the issue represented by the fixed intrinsic diffusivity

of other multicompartment models (20), SMT considers WM as a two-compartment (intra- and extra-axonal) tissue and provides signal fraction and diffusion metrics per axon without confounds from fiber direction, crossing, or dispersion (43). Histopathologic validation of SMT has been performed in the animal model of tuberous sclerosis, where the absence of neuroinflammation makes the detection of CNS axonal injury and demyelination more suitable. Thus, although obtained with a different disease model, the provided validation against axonal histology is fundamental. It applies to any condition affecting myelin and axonal integrity and supports the ability of SMT to quantify axonal content without artifactual effects from fiber-crossing and orientation dispersion (18). This is particularly important in MS because many WM voxels contain complex fiber configurations, and fiber arrangements widely vary within MS lesions. Thus, these fiber orientation-independent diffusion metrics may provide more accurate estimates of axon integrity. SMT has been already applied in different in vivo studies focusing on the brain (22) and spinal cord (23) of patients with MS, demonstrating to be helpful in differentiating MS lesions damage from the NAWM as well as the NAWM of patients with MS from that of healthy controls (20) and in characterizing pathological features within MS lesions (52). Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that DTI, neurite orientation dispersion and density imaging (NODDI), and SMT concur on the direction of tissue changes in MS, providing consistent descriptors of tissue microstructure useful in monitoring MS in clinical trials and practice (53). In this study, we demonstrated that SMT was able to investigate the pathological substrates of CVS+ and CVS- lesions and detect distinctive features capable of differentiating them from each other. Compared to CVS- lesions, perivenular lesions showed higher EXTRAMD, indirectly reflecting higher free water content, higher EXTRATRANS, indirect expression of a decrease in myelin content, and lower INTRA, suggestive of a higher degree of axonal damage and fiber disruption. Thus, we could suggest that perivenular lesions, typical of MS, were characterized by a more severe degree of inflammation, demyelination, and fiber disruption than non-perivenular lesions, possibly associated with different pathophysiological mechanisms. Similar strong evidence was found comparing all SMT metrics within CVS+ and CVS- lesions clustered in the deep/subcortical WM. Fiber disruption seemed to also be higher in perivenular lesions located in periventricular areas, while cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) contamination could have affected extraneurite compartment metrics (EXTRAMD >in CVS- lesions; no difference was found between CVS+ and CVSlesions in EXTRATRANS). Similar, although weaker, differences were found in juxtacortical and infratentorial areas. Indeed, compared to CVS- lesions, a higher inflammatory component was detected in CVS+ lesions located in both regions and a more pronounced degree of demyelination was found in infratentorial CVS+ lesions. Technical issues may have affected these findings. Because the voxel signal is a sum of all tissue signals within the voxel, finite image resolution inevitably causes a mixture of signals at the interface of two tissues. This phenomenon, known as partial volume effect (PVE), may obscure small lesions near the interface between tissues (54) and, quantitatively, may cause errors in volumetric measurements using structural MRI or region-of-interest (ROI) measurements using diffusion-weighted imaging (55). Thus, this limitation in SMT metrics extraction cannot be disregarded in periventricular and juxtacortical areas, where CSF contamination and the different tissue cytoarchitecture of gray matter characterize the corresponding WM interfaces. Furthermore, the lower mean volume of juxtacortical and infratentorial T2-weighted hyperintensities compared to the deep/subcortical WM may also contribute to explain why SMT metrics seem to perform worse in differentiating perivenular from non-perivenular lesions in these areas.

Finally, we found a correlation between EDSS score as a clinical parameter and SMT metrics extracted from the NAWM but not between EDSS scores and SMT metrics obtained from CVS+ and CVS- lesions. The pathological, and, thus, microstructural, heterogeneity of FLAIR hyperintense lesions, ranging from early lesions to T1-hypointense "black holes" and the exclusion of a considerable amount of FLAIR lesions from the CVS assessment, whose SMT metrics were thus not extracted in our study, might explain our findings. Conversely, the correlation we found between the NAWM microstructural damage and the ESSS is in line with that shown in a recent paper (53), suggesting that the greater the widespread axonal damage, the poorer the clinical status. These findings may indicate initial hints about the clinical potential of SMT diffusion derived metrics in explaining disability in MS *in vivo*.

This study is not without limitations. First, the presence of a comparison group including non-MS patients suffering from RFs for SVD and/or migraine would have been very helpful to investigate whether CVS- lesions in MS and non-MS patients possibly share microstructural features, thus potentially contributing to validating our findings. Moreover, the crosssectional design of this study does not allow us to evaluate how and where the new T2-weighted hyperintensities develop over time and their temporal relationships with aging and other comorbidities in patients with MS. The relatively low incidence of MS patients with RFs for SVD in our sample may have underestimated the role of HT, above all, in reducing the percentage of CVS+ lesions and thus affecting CVS performance. Finally, we did not include other potential causes of WM lesions, such as a macroangiopathic disease, i.e., lacunar infarcts-, hemodynamic changes, and abnormalities of heart rhythm (i.e., atrial fibrillation) or structure (i.e., patent foramen ovale), that could increase the prevalence of CVS- lesions within the brains of patients with MS.

In conclusion, this study demonstrated that aging has a relevant impact on reducing the percentage of CVS+ lesions in patients with MS. This effect is already clear when the whole brain is considered but becomes even more evident when the deep/subcortical WM, a region not typical of MS, is specifically analyzed. Indeed, in this site, non-perivenular lesions become more prevalent than perivenular lesions in older patients with MS. Although the use of three periventricular lesions instead of 1, as required by current MS criteria for DIS (24), surely helps in reducing the risk of misdiagnosis or wrong interpretation of disease activity in older and comorbid patients with MS (56), it lacks a pathophysiological basis. Furthermore, vascular leukoaraiosis is typically extended around ventricles and its differentiation from confluent MS lesions may be very challenging.

Our findings suggest that thanks to the use of MRI biomarkers closely linked to MS pathophysiology -as the CVS-, also "non-DIS" regions may become very informative and help to prevent diagnostic misinterpretation.

Among the other comorbidities, for the first time, we showed that migraine may also play a significant role in increasing the amount of non-perivenular lesions in younger patients with MS. Furthermore, we demonstrated that SMT-derived metrics may provide a deep characterization of microstructural features within WM lesions and, for the first time, that these metrics seem to be able to differentiate perivenular lesions, characterized by higher levels of inflammation, demyelination, and fiber disruption, from non-perivenular lesions, for which other pathophysiological mechanisms could be suggested.

Therefore, in our opinion, the development of a new nonperivenular T2-weighted hyperintensity, especially if located in the deep/subcortical WM in older patients with MS, should be considered a "red flag" for a pathophysiology other than MS disease activity. A careful evaluation of comorbidities during CVS assessment for the diagnosis and monitoring of MS should be mandatory, to avoid misleading interpretations and potentially inappropriate therapeutic strategies.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Local Ethic Committee of the IRCCS Ospedale Policlinico San Martino (Genoa). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

CL: designed and conceptualized study, major role in the acquisition and analysis of data, and drafted the manuscript for

References

1. Inglese M, Petracca M. MRI in multiple sclerosis: clinical and research update. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2018) 31:249–55. doi: 10.1097/WCO.00000000000559

2. Adams CWM, Poston RN, Buk SJ. Pathology, histochemistry and immunocytochemistry of lesions in acute multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Sci. (1989) 92:291–306. doi: 10.1016/0022-510X(89)90144-5

3. Hohlfeld R, Londei M, Massacesi L, Salvetti M. T-cell autoimmunity in multiple sclerosis. *Immunol Today*. (1995) 16:259–61. doi: 10.1016/0167-5699(95)80176-6

4. Kuchling J, Ramien C, Bozin I, Dörr J, Harms L, Rosche B, et al. Identical lesion morphology in primary progressive and relapsing-remitting MS -an ultrahigh field MRI study. *Mult Scler J.* (2014) 20:1866–71. doi: 10.1177/1352458514531084

5. Tallantyre EC, Morgan PS, Dixon JE, et al. A comparison of 3T and 7T in the detection of small parenchymal veins within MS lesions. *Invest Radiol.* (2009) 44:491-4. doi: 10.1097/RLI.0b013e3181b4c144

intellectual content. FT: major role in the acquisition and analysis of data and revised the manuscript for intellectual content. SR and AS: major role in the analysis of data. GB and ES: major role in the acquisition of data and revised the manuscript for intellectual content. NB, EM, and NM: major role in the acquisition of data. LR: major role in the acquisition of data and study conceptualization and revised the manuscript for intellectual content. MC: revised the manuscript for intellectual content. SS: major role in the analysis of data and revised the manuscript for intellectual content. MI: design and conceptualized study, analyzed the data, and revised the manuscript for intellectual content.

Funding

This work was supported by Italian Ministry of Health (5x1000 funding).

Acknowledgments

This work was developed within the framework of the DINOGMI Department of Excellence of MIUR 2018-2022 (legge 232 del 2016).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor AL declared a past co-authorship with the author MI.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

6. Maggi P, Absinta M, Grammatico M, Vuolo L, Emmi G, Carlucci G, et al. Central vein sign differentiates Multiple Sclerosis from central nervous system inflammatory vasculopathies. *Ann Neurol.* (2018) 83:283–94. doi: 10.1002/ana. 25146

7. Cortese R, Magnollay L, Tur C, Abdel-Aziz K, Jacob A, De Angelis F, et al. Value of the central vein sign at 3T to differentiate MS from seropositive NMOSD. *Neurology.* (2018) 90:e1183–90. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000005256

8. Mistry N, Abdel-Fahim R, Samaraweera A, Mougin O, Tallantyre E, Tench C, et al. Imaging central veins in brain lesions with 3-T T2*-weighted magnetic resonance imaging differentiates multiple sclerosis from microangiopathic brain lesions. *Mult Scler.* (2016) 22:1289–96. doi: 10.1177/1352458515616700

9. van der Knaap MS, Valk J. White matter lesions of the elderly. Magn Reson Myelination Myelin Disord. (2005) 110:759–66. doi: 10.1007/3-540-27660-2_98

10. Hilal S, Mok V, Youn YC, Wong A, Ikram MK, Chen CLH. Prevalence, risk factors and consequences of cerebral small vessel diseases: data from three Asian countries. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2017) 88:669–74. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2016-315324

11. Khan U, Porteous L, Hassan A, Markus HS. Risk factor profile of cerebral small vessel disease and its subtypes. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2007) 78:702–6. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2006.103549

12. Guisset F, Lolli V, Bugli C, Perrotta G, Absil J, Dachy B, et al. The central vein sign in multiple sclerosis patients with vascular comorbidities. *Mult Scler J.* (2021) 27:1057–65. doi: 10.1177/1352458520943785

13. Applebee A. The clinical overlap of multiple sclerosis and headache. *Headache*. (2012) 52:111-6. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4610.2012.02243.x

14. Zaidat OO, Kruit MC, Van Buchem MA, Ferrari MD, Launer LJ. Migraine as a Risk Factor for Subclinical Brain Lesions [1] (multiple letters). *J Am Med Assoc.* (2004) 291:2072–3. doi: 10.1001/jama.291.4.427

15. De Benedittis G, Lorenzetti A, Sina C, Bernasconi V. Magnetic resonance imaging in migraine and tension-type headache. *Headache J Head Face Pain.* (1995) 35:264–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4610.1995.hed3505264.x

16. Absinta M, Rocca MA, Colombo B, Copetti M, De Feo D, Falini A, et al. Patients with migraine do not have MRI-visible cortical lesions. *J Neurol.* (2012) 259:2695–8. doi: 10.1007/s00415-012-6571-x

17. Kister I, Caminero AB, Monteith TS, Soliman A, Bacon TE, Bacon JH, et al. Migraine is comorbid with multiple sclerosis and associated with a more symptomatic MS course. *J Headache Pain.* (2010) 11:417–25. doi: 10.1007/s10194-010-0237-9

18. Eikermann-Haerter K, Huang SY. White matter lesions in migraine. Am J Pathol Published online. (2021). doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2021.02.007

19. Pantoni L. Cerebral small vessel disease: from pathogenesis and clinical characteristics to therapeutic challenges. *Lancet Neurol.* (2010) 97:689-701. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70104-6

20. Lakhani DA, Schilling KG, Xu J, Bagnato F. Advanced multicompartment diffusion MRI models and their application in multiple sclerosis. *Am J Neuroradiol.* (2020) 41:751–7. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A6484

21. Schiavi S, Petracca M, Sun P, et al. Non-invasive quantification of inflammation, axonal and myelin injury in multiple sclerosis. *Brain.* (2021) 144:213-23. doi: 10.1093/brain/awaa381

22. Bagnato F, Franco G, Li H, Kaden E, Ye F, Fan R, et al. Probing axons using multi-compartmental diffusion in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* (2019) 6:1595–605. doi: 10.1002/acn3.50836

23. By S, Xu J, Box BA, Bagnato FR, Smith SA. Multi-compartmental diffusion characterization of the human cervical spinal cord in vivo using the spherical mean technique. *NMR Biomed.* (2018) 31:1–12. doi: 10.1002/nbm.3894

24. Thompson AJ, Banwell BL, Barkhof F, Carroll WM, Coetzee T, Comi G, et al. Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria. *Lancet Neurol.* (2018) 17:162–173. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30470-2

25. Lublin FD, Reingold SC, Cohen JA, Cutter GR, Sørensen PS, Thompson AJ, et al. MS clinical definitions.pdf. *Neurology*. (2014). https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4117366/pdf/NEUROLOGY2013555623.pdf

26. Jenkinson M, Bannister P, Brady M, Smith S. Improved optimization for the robust and accurate linear registration and motion correction of brain images. *Neuroimage*. (2002) 17:825–41. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2002.1132

27. Sati P, George IC, Shea CD, Gaitán MI, Reich DS. FLAIR*: a combined MR contrast technique for visualizing white matter lesions and parenchymal veins. *Radiology.* (2012) 265:926–32. doi: 10.1148/radiol.12120208

28. Sati P, Oh J, Constable RT, Evangelou N, Guttmann CRG, Henry RG, et al. The central vein sign and its clinical evaluation for the diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: a consensus statement from the North American Imaging in Multiple Sclerosis Cooperative. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2016) 12:714–22. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2016.166

29. Tallantyre, Dixon, Donaldson. Nottingham University Hospital NHS Trust, Nottingham; Sir Peter Mansfield Magnetic Resonance Centre. (2011).

30. Maggi P, Absinta M, Sati P, Perrotta G, Massacesi L, Dachy B, et al. Multiple sclerosis : a prospective multicenter 3T study. (2021) 26:421-32. doi: 10.1177/1352458519876031

31. Sinnecker T, Clarke MA, Meier D, Enzinger C, Calabrese M, De Stefano N, et al. Evaluation of the central vein sign as a diagnostic imaging biomarker in multiple sclerosis. *JAMA Neurol.* (2019) 76:1446–56. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.2478

32. Solomon AJ, Watts R, Ontaneda D, Absinta M, Sati P, Reich DS. Sclerosis with a simplified three lesion algorithm. *Mult Scler.* (2019) 24:750-7. doi: 10.1177/1352458517726383

33. Greve DN, Fischl B. Accurate and robust brain image alignment using boundary-based registration. *Neuroimage*. (2009) 48:63– 72. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.06.060

34. Veraart J, Novikov DS, Christiaens D. Ades-aron B, Sijbers J, Fieremans E. Denoising of diffusion MRI using random matrix

theory. Neuroimage. (2016) 142:394-406. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016. 08.016

35. Tournier JD, Smith R, Raffelt D, Tabbara R, Dhollander T, Pietsch M, et al. MRtrix3: A fast, flexible and open software framework for medical image processing and visualisation. *Neuroimage*. (2019) 202:116137. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.116137

36. Andersson JLR, Sotiropoulos SN. An integrated approach to correction for offresonance effects and subject movement in diffusion MR imaging. *Neuroimage*. (2016) 125:1063–78. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.10.019

37. Andersson JLR, Graham MS, Zsoldos E, Sotiropoulos SN. Incorporating outlier detection and replacement into a non-parametric framework for movement and distortion correction of diffusion MR images. *Neuroimage.* (2016) 141:556–72. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.06.058

38. Andersson JLR, Skare S, Ashburner J. How to correct susceptibility distortions in spin-echo echo-planar images: application to diffusion tensor imaging. *Neuroimage*. (2003) 20:870–88. doi: 10.1016/S1053-8119(03)00336-7

39. Smith SM, Jenkinson M, Woolrich MW, Beckmann CF, Behrens TEJ, Johansen-Berg H, et al. Advances in functional and structural MR image analysis and implementation as FSL. *Neuroimage*. (2004) 23:208–19. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.07.051

40. Tustison NJ, Cook PA. Gee JC. N4Itk. (2011) 29:1310–20. doi: 10.1109/TMI.2010.2046908

41. Inglese M, Madelin G, Oesingmann N, Babb JS, Wu W, Stoeckel B, et al. Brain tissue sodium concentration in multiple sclerosis: a sodium imaging study at 3 tesla. *Brain.* (2010) 133:847–57. doi: 10.1093/brain/awp334

42. Kaden E, Kruggel F, Alexander DC. Quantitative mapping of the per-axon diffusion coefficients in brain white matter. *Magn Reson Med.* (2016) 75:1752-63. doi: 10.1002/mrm.25734

43. Kaden E, Kelm ND, Carson RP, Does MD, Alexander DC. Multi-compartment microscopic diffusion imaging. *Neuroimage*. (2016) 139:346–59. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.06.002

44. Zhang CE, Wong SM, Van De Haar HJ, et al. Blood-brain barrier leakage is more widespread in patients with cerebral small vessel disease. *Neurology.* (2017) 88:426–32. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000003556

45. Caunca MR, De Leon-Benedetti A, Latour L, Leigh R, Wright CB. Neuroimaging of cerebral small vessel disease and age-related cognitive changes. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2019) 11:1–15. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2019.00145

46. Campion T, Smith RJ, Altmann DR, Brito GC, Turner BP, Evanson J, et al. FLAIR* to visualize veins in white matter lesions: A new tool for the diagnosis of multiple sclerosis? *Eur Radiol.* (2017) 27:4257–63. doi: 10.1007/s00330-017-4822-z

47. Maggi P, Mazzoni LN, Moretti M, Grammatico M, Chiti S, Massacesi L, et al. Enhances vein detection using gadolinium in multiple sclerosis. *Acta Radiol Open.* (2015) 4:204798161456093. doi: 10.1177/2047981614560938

48. Sparacia G, Agnello F, Iaia A, Banco A, Galia M, Midiri M. Multiple sclerosis: prevalence of the 'central vein' sign in white matter lesions on gadolinium-enhanced susceptibility-weighted images. *Neuroradiol J.* (2021) 34:470–5. doi: 10.1177/19714009211008750

49. Gaitán MI, Yañez P, Paday Formenti ME, Calandri I, Figueiredo E, Sati P, et al. SWAN-venule: an optimized MRI technique to detect the central vein sign in MS Plaques. *Am J Neuroradiol.* (2020) 41:456–60. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A6437

50. Dobrynina LA, Suslina AD, Gubanova MV, Belopasova AV, Sergeeva AN, Evers S, et al. White matter hyperintensity in different migraine subtypes. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:1–9. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-90341-0

51. Lapucci C, Saitta L, Bommarito G, Sormani MP, Pardini M, Bonzano L, et al. How much do periventricular lesions assist in distinguishing migraine with aura from CIS? *Neurology*. (2019) 92:1–6. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000007266

52. Devan SP, Jiang X, Bagnato F, Xu J. Optimization and numerical evaluation of multi-compartment diffusion MRI using the spherical mean technique for practical multiple sclerosis imaging. *Magn Reson Imaging.* (2020) 74:56–63. doi: 10.1016/j.mri.2020.09.002

53. Johnson D, Ricciardi A, Brownlee W, Kanber B, Prados F, Collorone S, et al. Comparison of neurite orientation dispersion and density imaging and twocompartment spherical mean technique parameter maps in multiple sclerosis. *Front Neurol.* (2021) 12:662855. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.662855

54. Rashid W, Hadjiprocopis A, Griffin CM, Chard DT, Davies GR, Barker GJ, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging of early relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis with histogram analysis using automated segmentation and brain volume correction. *Mult Scler.* (2004) 10:9–15. doi: 10.1191/1352458504ms9850a

55. Salminen LE, Conturo TE, Bolzenius JD, Cabeen RP, Akbudak E, Paul RH, et al. Microstructure. *Technol Innov.* (2016) 18:5–20. doi: 10.21300/18.1. 2016.5

56. Solomon AJ, Naismith RT, Cross AH. Misdiagnosis of multiple sclerosis: impact of the 2017 McDonald criteria on clinical practice. *Neurology*. (2019) 92:26– 33. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000006583

(Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Kristen Marie Krysko, St Michael's Hospital, Canada

REVIEWED BY Mirta Fiorio, University of Verona, Italy Caterina Lapucci, San Martino Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Antonella Conte ⊠ antonella.conte@uniroma1.it

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

RECEIVED 05 January 2023 ACCEPTED 28 February 2023 PUBLISHED 16 March 2023

CITATION

Tartaglia M, Canevelli M, Malimpensa L, Belvisi D, Baione V, Ferrazzano G, Leodori G, Berardelli A and Conte A (2023) Neurophysiological and clinical biomarkers of secondary progressive multiple sclerosis: A cross-sectional study. *Front. Neurol.* 14:1138600. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1138600

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Tartaglia, Canevelli, Malimpensa, Belvisi, Baione, Ferrazzano, Leodori, Berardelli and Conte. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Neurophysiological and clinical biomarkers of secondary progressive multiple sclerosis: A cross-sectional study

Matteo Tartaglia¹, Marco Canevelli¹, Leonardo Malimpensa², Daniele Belvisi^{1,2}, Viola Baione¹, Gina Ferrazzano¹, Giorgio Leodori^{1,2}, Alfredo Berardelli^{1,2} and Antonella Conte^{1,2}*

¹Department of Human Neurosciences, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ²Department of Neurophysiology, IRCCS Neuromed, Pozzilli, Italy

Timely diagnosis of secondary progressive multiple sclerosis (SPMS) represents a clinical challenge. The Frailty Index, a quantitative frailty measure, and the Neurophysiological Index, a combined measure of sensorimotor cortex inhibitory mechanism parameters, have recently emerged as promising tools to support SPMS diagnosis. The aim of this study was to explore the possible relationship between these two indices in MS. MS participants underwent a clinical evaluation, Frailty Index administration, and neurophysiological assessment. Frailty and Neurophysiological Index scores were found to be higher in SPMS and correlated with each other, thus suggesting that they may capture similar SPMS-related pathophysiological mechanisms.

KEYWORDS

multiple sclerosis, frailty, neurophysiology, disease progression, biomarkers, transcranial magnetic stimulation

1. Introduction

Secondary progressive multiple sclerosis (SPMS) develops after a relapsing-remitting form of multiple sclerosis (RRMS). SPMS diagnosis is retrospectively based on worsening of the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) scores, without substantial changes in magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). There is evidence that a high EDSS score at MS diagnosis is a risk factor for RRMS-to-SPMS conversion (1). However, EDSS assessment is affected by significant inter-rater variability and a substantial frequency of rating errors depending on the examiner's experience (2).

The identification of possible objective markers of RRMS-to-SPMS conversion is therefore needed. A neurophysiological marker to identify SPMS has been recently proposed, which consists of an index derived from the objective assessment of a neurophysiological and a psychophysical variable. The first is short intracortical inhibition (SICI), which tests inhibitory interneuron excitability in the motor cortex. The second is the somatosensory temporal discrimination threshold (STDT), which tests inhibitory interneuron excitability in the primary sensory cortex (3, 4).

The neurophysiological index combining SICI and STDT also included age as a factor in the formula predicting SPMS. This observation is in line with previous evidence suggesting that chronological aging may play a role in the RRMS-to-SPMS transition (5). Besides chronological aging, however, also biological aging, as measured by Frailty Index (FI), seems to be associated with SPMS (6). The FI is a quantitative frailty indicator based on clinical and laboratory data that assesses an individual's global vulnerability to stressors and may represent a useful multidimensional tool to evaluate biological aging in MS. FI is able to discriminate SPMS from RRMS and has been proposed as a possible clinical marker for SPMS (6). Intriguingly, the association between frailty and SPMS is lost in the advanced phases of the disease (7), thus suggesting that frailty should be considered a factor implied in the conversion from RRMS to SPMS rather than a long-term feature of SPMS. From this perspective, FI could be considered a quantitative clinical marker of SPMS at its early stages.

Both the neurophysiological index and FI correlate with chronological aging in MS but it is unknown whether a relationship between these potential biomarkers for MS is present.

The aim of this study was to investigate the neurophysiological index and the FI comparing RRMS and SPMS patients and explore possible correlations between these two measures.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Subjects

For this purpose, 19 patients with MS (13 RRMS, mean age 41.2 \pm 9.0 years, median EDSS 1.0 [0-4.0]; 6 SPMS, mean age 53.3 ± 5.2 years, median EDSS 6.0 [2.5–7.5]) were enrolled at the Multiple Sclerosis Outpatient Clinic, Department of Human Neurosciences, Sapienza University of Rome. MS diagnosis was defined accordingly to the latest revised McDonald criteria (8), while disease course was identified based on Lublin definition (9). Inclusion criteria were age over 18 years, RRMS or SPMS diagnosis, absence of contraindications to TMS (such as epilepsy or head trauma). SPMS enrolled patients were not in an active phase as defined by Lublin et al. (9), while RRMS patients had to be free from relapses and from corticosteroid intake in the 30 days preceding the assessments. All study participants gave a written informed consent. The study was approved by the Ethical Committee of our Institution and was conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki. All patients underwent clinical and neurophysiological examination.

2.2. Neurophysiological index

All neurophysiological assessments were performed in a random order while patients were comfortably sitting on an armchair. The neurophysiological index was calculated for each patient using the following formula obtained in a previous work (3):

$$P(X = 1) = \frac{e^{-5.95503 + 0.00056^*SICI(\%)^*Age + 0.00073^*STDT^*Age}}{1 + e^{-5.95503 + 0.00056^*SICI(\%)^*Age + 0.00073^*STDT^*Age}}$$

This score computes the probability that a patient (X) has to be assessed as SPMS (class 1) using three variables: age, SICI (%), and STDT.

2.2.1. Short intracortical inhibition (SICI)

We delivered single and paired-pulses through a Magstim Bistim2 magnetic stimulator (The Magstim Company, Ltd., Whitland, South West Wales, UK) connected to a figure-ofeight coil. Motor evoked potentials (MEPs) from the first dorsal interosseous muscle were elicited delivering transcranic magnetic stimulation (TMS) to the contralateral M1 motor area. Coil was handled tangentially to the scalp, while tail was placed backward at 45° respect of the median line. Minimum single-pulse intensity able to elicit a 50 µV of amplitude MEP was defined as resting motor threshold (RMT). Consequently, conditioning stimulus intensity was set as 80% of RMT while TMS intensity able to evoke a 1 mV of average amplitude MEP was used as test stimulus. To assess SICI, a 3 ms interstimulus interval (ISI) between conditioning and test stimulus was used. SICI effects were then computed as the percentage ratio between the conditioned MEP amplitude and the test MEP amplitudes [SICI (%)].

2.2.2. Somatosensory temporal discrimination threshold (STDT)

To test STDT we used procedures explained in previous studies (3, 10, 11). Briefly, pairs of square-wave electric stimuli were delivered with an increasing ISI of 10 ms starting from a couple of simultaneous stimuli. Electric stimulation was performed through a stimulator (Digitimer DS7AH) connected to AgCl electrodes placed on the volar face of the right index finger. Stimulation intensity was increased, starting from 2 mA, by 1 mA for each step to reach the minimum intensity at which patients perceived 10 out of 10 stimuli. STDT was defined as the first of three consecutive ISIs when patients could temporally discriminate the stimuli. During the experiment "catch trials" were performed to reduce persevering answers and to check patient's attention level.

2.3. Frailty index (FI)

The FI was assessed through 42 clinical and laboratory health items as previously described (6). During the outpatient visit, subjects were questioned about each item and a score of 1 was assigned if a deficit was present and of 0 if absent. The FI score was then computed for each participant as a ratio between the total number of deficits and the total number of items (n = 42).

2.4. Statistical analysis

Mann-Whitney U test for independent samples was used to evaluate differences in the neurophysiological and frailty indices between RRMS and SPMS patients. Spearman's correlation

Abbreviations: EDSS, expanded disability status scale; FI, frailty index; ISI, interstimulus interval; MEP, motor evoked potential; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; RMT, resting motor threshold; RRMS, relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; SICI, short intracortical inhibition; STDT, somatosensory temporal discrimination threshold; SPMS, secondary progressive multiple sclerosis; TMS, transcranic magnetic stimulation.

ID	Age (years)	Sex	Clinical phenotype	EDSS (score)	Disease duration (years)	Neurophysiological index (score)	Frailty index (score)
1	49	F	RR	0	21	0.06	0.14
2	34	М	RR	0	1	0.31	0.07
3	51	F	RR	2	11	0.65	0.19
4	30	F	RR	0	5	0.05	0.05
5	30	F	RR	1	1	0.01	0.19
6	55	М	RR	1.5	28	0.21	0.26
7	52	F	RR	1.5	9	0.52	0.11
8	48	F	RR	1	6	0.11	0.14
9	38	F	RR	2	4	0.15	0.38
10	40	М	RR	4	13	0.07	0.07
11	38	М	RR	1	8	0.09	0.05
12	29	М	RR	1.5	6	0.02	0
13	42	F	RR	1	11	0.18	0.12
14	49	М	SP	3.5	26	0.78	0.19
15	52	М	SP	6	18	0.96	0.29
16	46	F	SP	7.5	21	0.94	0.33
17	59	F	SP	2.5	35	0.95	0.12
18	57	F	SP	7	22	0.99	0.33
19	57	F	SP	6	24	0.92	0.33
RRMS mean (SD)	41.2 (9.0)	F = 8	-	-	9.5 (7.7)	0.19 (0.19)	0.14 (0.10)
SPMS mean (SD)	53.3 (5.2)	F = 4	-	-	24.3 (5.9)	0.92 (0.07)	0.27 (0.09)

TABLE 1 Patients' demographic, neurophysiological and frailty characteristics.

EDSS, Expanded disability status scale; RRMS, Relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; SPMS, Secondary progressive multiple sclerosis.

coefficient was used to investigate possible correlations between the FI and neurophysiological index. This analysis was adjusted for disease duration and sex. A case-wise diagnostic was used to detect outliers with standardized residual $> \pm 2$ standard deviations. The case-wise diagnostic detected 1 outlier (case 9 in Table 1) in the relation between FI and neurophysiological index.

3. Results

As expected, patients with SPMS were older than patients with RRMS (p = 0.009) and had higher EDSS values (p < 0.001). Consistent with previous studies, the neurophysiological index differed between RRMS (0.19 ± 0.19) and SPMS (0.92 ± 0.07) (p < 0.001). The FI was also significantly higher in patients with SPMS (0.27 ± 0.09) than in patients with RRMS (0.14 ± 0.10) (p = 0.02). Both FI ($\rho = 0.6$; p = 0.008) and neurophysiological index ($\rho = 0.7$; p = 0.001) correlated with EDSS.

A statistically significant, positive correlation between FI and neurophysiological index values was observed ($\rho = 0.5$; p = 0.03) (Figure 1).

4. Discussion

The positive correlation between the neurophysiological and frailty indices in patients with MS suggests that both reflect similar pathophysiological mechanisms involved in the progression to SPMS. Higher frailty levels and abnormalities in the considered neurophysiological measures may capture those neurodegenerative processes that underlie the progressive course of the disease. Abnormalities in both neurophysiological and frailty indices may depend on the involvement of gray matter (3, 6). This conclusion is also supported by MRI evidence of higher gray matter loss in patients with SPMS as compared to those with RRMS (12).

The correlation between FI and neurophysiological index also provides a more comprehensive understanding of the role of these candidate biomarkers in MS. For instance, the present observation that FI and neurophysiological index correlate in MS suggests that the age-related accumulation of health/biological deficits (as expressed by FI) is associated with neurophysiological changes that intervene at cortical level, thus reflecting neurodegenerative rather neuroinflammatory processes. This provides a neurobiological substrate to the previously documented role of frailty on MS clinical expression.



The cross-sectional design constitutes the main limitation of the present study. The correlation that emerged between the neurophysiological index and FI should be interpreted with caution, and follow-up longitudinal investigations are needed to clarify their mutual relationship.

To conclude, we suggest the assessment of neurophysiological and frailty indices as objective markers in identifying patients at risk of disease progression. Future longitudinal investigations in naïve patients with MS are needed to demonstrate the predictive value of the frailty and neurophysiological indices in identifying RRMS-to-SPMS transition.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Sapienza University of Rome Ethics Committee. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

Conceptualization: AC, DB, and MC. Investigation: MT, LM, VB, GF, and GL. Writing—original draft: MT, MC, and DB. Writing—review and editing: MC, DB, AB, and AC. All authors approved the final version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Barzegar M, Najdaghi S, Afshari-Safavi A, Nehzat N, Mirmosayyeb O, Shaygannejad V. Early predictors of conversion to secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2021) 54:103115. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.103115

2. Cohen M, Bresch S, Thommel Rocchi O, Morain E, Benoit J, Levraut M, et al. Should we still only rely on EDSS to evaluate disability in multiple sclerosis patients? A study of inter and intra rater reliability. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2021) 54:103144. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.103144

3. Belvisi D, Tartaglia M, Borriello G, Baione V, Crisafulli SG, Zuccoli V, et al. Are neurophysiological biomarkers able to discriminate multiple sclerosis clinical subtypes? *Biomedicines*. (2022) 10:231. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines10020231

4. Leodori G, Formica A, Zhu X, Conte A, Belvisi D, Cruccu G, et al. The thirdstimulus temporal discrimination threshold: focusing on the temporal processing of sensory input within primary somatosensory cortex. *J Neurophysiol.* (2017) 118:2311– 7. doi: 10.1152/jn.00947.2016

5. Fambiatos A, Jokubaitis V, Horakova D, Kubala Havrdova E, Trojano M, Prat A, et al. Risk of secondary progressive multiple sclerosis: a longitudinal study. *Mult Scler.* (2020) 26:79–90. doi: 10.1177/1352458519868990

6. Belvisi D, Canevelli M, Baione V, Buscarinu MC, Pellicciari G, Fantozzi R, et al. Operationalization of a frailty index in patients with multiple sclerosis: a cross-sectional investigation. *Mult Scler.* (2021) 27:1939–47. doi: 10.1177/1352458520987541

7. Zanotto T, Rice LA, Sosnoff JJ. Frailty among people with multiple sclerosis who are wheelchair users. *PLoS ONE.* (2022) 17:e0271688. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0271688

8. Thompson AJ, Banwell BL, Barkhof F, Carroll WM, Coetzee T, Comi G, et al. Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria. *The Lancet Neurology*. (2018) 17:162–73. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30470-2

9. Lublin FD, Reingold SC, Cohen JA, Cutter GR, Sorensen PS, Thompson AJ, et al. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: the 2013 revisions. *Neurology*. (2014) 83:278–86. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000560

10. Conte A, Belvisi D, Manzo N, Bologna M, Barone F, Tartaglia M, et al. Understanding the link between somatosensory temporal discrimination and movement execution in healthy subjects. *Physiol Rep.* (2016) 4:e12899. doi: 10.14814/phy2.12899

11. Baione V, Belvisi D, Crisafulli SG, Tartaglia M, Leodori G, Ferrazzano G, et al. Is somatosensory temporal discrimination threshold a biomarker of disease progression in multiple sclerosis? *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2020) 131:2935-6. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2020.09.012

12. Rocca MA, Valsasina P, Meani A, Gobbi C, Zecca C, Rovira A, et al. Association of gray matter atrophy patterns with clinical phenotype and progression in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*. (2021) 96:e1561–e1573. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000011494

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Vilija Jokubaitis, Monash University, Australia

REVIEWED BY Timothy Coetzee, National Multiple Sclerosis Society, United States Bianca Weinstock-Guttman, University at Buffalo, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Roberta Lanzillo ⊠ roberta.lanzillo@unina.it

^tThese authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

⁺These authors have contributed equally to this work and share last authorship

RECEIVED 17 April 2023 ACCEPTED 15 May 2023 PUBLISHED 02 June 2023

CITATION

Capasso N, Virgilio E, Covelli A, Giovannini B, Foschi M, Montini F, Nasello M, Nilo A, Prestipino E, Schirò G, Sperandei S, Clerico M and Lanzillo R (2023) Aging in multiple sclerosis: from childhood to old age, etiopathogenesis, and unmet needs: a narrative review.

Front. Neurol. 14:1207617. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1207617

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Capasso, Virgilio, Covelli, Giovannini, Foschi, Montini, Nasello, Nilo, Prestipino, Schirò, Sperandei, Clerico and Lanzillo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Aging in multiple sclerosis: from childhood to old age, etiopathogenesis, and unmet needs: a narrative review

Nicola Capasso^{1,2†}, Eleonora Virgilio^{3†}, Antonio Covelli⁴, Beatrice Giovannini⁵, Matteo Foschi^{6,7}, Federico Montini⁸, Martina Nasello⁹, Annacarmen Nilo¹⁰, Elio Prestipino¹¹, Giuseppe Schirò¹², Silvia Sperandei¹³, Marinella Clerico^{14‡} and Roberta Lanzillo^{1,2*‡}

¹Department of Neuroscience, Reproductive Sciences and Odontostomatology, Federico II University of Naples, Naples, Italy, ²Multiple Sclerosis Unit, Policlinico Federico II University Hospital, Naples, Italy, ³Neurology Unit, Department of Translational Medicine, AOU Maggiore della Carità Novara, University of Eastern Piedmont, Novara, Italy, ⁴Department of Neurology, Santi Antonio e Biagio e Cesare Arrigo Hospital, Alessandria, Italy, ⁵Neurology Unit, Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ⁶Department of Neuroscience, MS Center, S. Maria delle Croci Hospital, AUSL Romagna, Ravenna, Italy, ⁷Department of Biotechnological and Applied Clinical Sciences (DISCAB), University of L'Aquila, L'Aquila, Italy, ⁸Neurology Unit, IRCCS San Raffaele Scientific Institute, Milan, Italy, ⁹Neurology Unit, Department of Neurosciences, Mental Health and Sensory organs (NESMOS), Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ¹⁰Clinical Neurology Unit, Department of Head, Neck and Neurosciences, Santa Maria della Misericordia University Hospital, Udine, Italy, ¹¹UOSC Neuro-Stroke Unit, AORN Antonio Cardarelli, Naples, Italy, ¹²Section of Neurology, Department of Biomedicine, Neurosciences and Advanced Diagnostics (BiND), University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy, ¹³Section of Neurology, Department of Medicine and Surgery, University of Perugia, Perugia, Italy, ¹⁴Department of Clinical and Biological Sciences, University of Turin, Turin, Italy

Multiple sclerosis (MS) primarily affects adult females. However, in the last decades, rising incidence and prevalence have been observed for demographic extremes, such as pediatric-onset MS (POMS; occurring before 18 years of age) and late-onset MS (corresponding to an onset above 50years). These categories show peculiar clinical-pathogenetic characteristics, aging processes and disease courses, therapeutic options, and unmet needs. Nonetheless, several open questions are still pending. POMS patients display an important contribution of multiple genetic and environmental factors such as EBV, while in LOMS, hormonal changes and pollution may represent disease triggers. In both categories, immunosenescence emerges as a pathogenic driver of the disease, particularly for LOMS. In both populations, patient and caregiver engagement are essential from the diagnosis communication to early treatment of disease-modifying therapy (DMTs), which in the elderly population appears more complex and less proven in terms of efficacy and safety. Digital technologies (e.g., exergames and e-training) have recently emerged with promising results, particularly in treating and following motor and cognitive deficits. However, this offer seems more feasible for POMS, being LOMS less familiar with digital technology. In this narrative review, we discuss how the aging process influences the pathogenesis, disease course, and therapeutic options of both POMS and LOMS. Finally, we evaluate the impact of new digital communication tools, which greatly interest the current and future management of POMS and LOMS patients.

KEYWORDS

multiple sclerosis, aging, pediatric-onset, late-onset, immunosenescence, risk factors, unmet need, engagement

1. Introduction

Multiple Sclerosis (MS) is a chronic, inflammatory, immunemediated disease of the central nervous system disease (106). MS is one of the most relevant causes of neurological disability in young people, with an important social and economic impact (38). An early diagnosis is crucial for managing MS evolution and reducing morbidity and long-term effects (103). MS has a multifactorial etiology; young females are the most affected population (with a peak incidence between 20 and 40 years old). However, MS can emerge in all age groups, including pediatric patients (pediatric-onset MS, POMS), corresponding to children before 18 years of age (2-10% of total cases), and after 50 years of age (late-onset MS, LOMS; with a prevalence ranging from 1.1-21.3% of cases depending from cut-offs and diagnostic methods considered) (82). These demographic extremes different clinical present and pathogenetic characteristics (71).

The clinical phenotype of POMS differs from adult patients. POMS patients generally experience a more aggressive disease onset with disabling clinical symptoms, a polyfocal presentation at disease onset, and a higher relapse rate early in the disease course (60). In recent decades, evidence confirmed that early axonal damage in MS patients contributes to clinical disability and progression from early disease stages (113). In POMS, acute axonal injury following inflammatory demyelinating lesions is more pronounced than in the adult counterparts (89). In contrast, LOMS patients are more likely to convert in secondary progressive phases, suggesting that they may experience a more evident chronic axonal loss associated with physiological aging (1, 111). Children are less likely to develop primary or secondary progressive MS, and 98% of POMS present with a relapsing–remitting (RR) course, compared with 84% of adult patients and 50% of LOMS (3).

POMS and LOMS are also challenging during the diagnostic workup. For POMS, it is essential to rule out other disorders that may mimic MS and demyelinating syndromes that can occur more likely than MS in childhood, such as mog-associated disease (MOGAD) and acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM) (10). POMS must not only be differentiated from acute ADEM or MOGAD, but there is also an extensive list of other disorders that can mimic MS, which need to be excluded. Such diseases include neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder (NMOSD), systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), neurosarcoidosis, Sjögren syndrome, leukodystrophies, hereditary metabolic diseases, and encephalitic or meningoencephalitis infectious etiologies. Inflammation of the brain during critical developmental periods, including myelinogenesis in adolescence, may irreparably damage neural networks involved in cognition. This damage may also lead to the reduced brain and deep gray matter volumes in adulthood reported in POMS relative to sex- and age-matched patients with AOMS independent of disease duration (73). Several studies have demonstrated that individuals with POMS have slower disease progression than their adult-onset counterparts, particularly during the early stages of the disease. This discrepancy may suggest greater plasticity, less neurodegeneration, and potentially more repair and remyelination in the younger nervous system (4).

In the last decades, the average age of MS patients has progressively increased, as well as the number of patients with LOMS or very late onset MS (VLOMS, onset after 60 years of age) (13, 71, 102, 112). The yearly incidence of LOMS and VLOMS represents 3.4–4.8 and 0.5%

of all new diagnoses (50, 91, 112). Moreover, an increasing number of young MS patients are getting older, along with the general population trend (71, 112). Better diagnostic accuracy, longer life expectancy, and the introduction of specific disease-modifying treatments (DMTs) are among the factors leading to the growing number of older MS patients (112).

The management of older MS patients represents a clinical and therapeutic challenge, and the risk of misdiagnosis is higher than in younger patients. This is mainly due to the higher prevalence of comorbidities and immunosenescence. Indeed, the clinical onset of older MS patients is generally characterized by motor symptoms (101) potentially sharing similar features with deficits from other neurological disorders (i.e., cerebrovascular diseases) prevalent in older age. In addition, LOMS patients are more frequently male and tend to have a progressive form of the disease (8, 68). Moreover, long disease duration is associated with a worse prognosis in old MS patients (85). Some radiological and laboratory biomarkers such as spine involvement (usually spared in vascular diseases), the presence of lesions in the septum callosum (typical of MS), and the presence of oligoclonal bands in cerebrospinal fluid could be helpful to support MS diagnosis in older patients (20).

Finally, demographic extremes, POMS and LOMS, have different clinical, pathogenic, and prognostic characteristics, with 16% of LOMS reaching a score of 6 in the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS), compared to the 15% of POMS (82). Thus, the clinical management, therapeutic approach, and social engagement of these two groups of patients are completely different.

Here we present a narrative review discussing how the aging process influences the pathogenesis, disease course, and therapeutic options of both POMS and LOMS. Finally, we evaluate the impact of new digital communication tools, which greatly interest the current and future management of POMS and LOMS patients.

2. Pediatric-onset multiple sclerosis patients

2.1. Genetic background

Several pieces of evidence support the contribution of genetic factors in the onset of POMS (Figure 1). Moreover, some of the variants identified as possible genetic risk factors increase the susceptibility to the onset of the disease during the pediatric age and to the onset in adulthood, suggesting that the two forms of MS share similar and superimposable biological processes (42). Human leukocyte antigen (HLA) genetic variants and non-HLA variants extend the risk of developing MS in childhood (42). However, mainly the HLA molecules, among these, those of class II, confer a greater genetic susceptibility. Not surprisingly, the polymorphisms of the classic risk factor for adult MS HLA-DRB1*15:01 are also associated with an increased risk of developing the disease in childhood, although a greater association is described for adult-onset MS (7). The HLA-DRB1*03 allele was also identified - for the first time in a population of pediatric MS patients of Greek origin - as a genetic risk factor compared to healthy controls and adult MS patients. In particular, its presence identifies patients with greater inflammatory disease activity and more relapses, mainly with the involvement of the thoracic spinal cord (43). The HLA-DP alleles, although less studied



than HLA-DR alleles, seem involved in the pathogenetic mechanisms of the disease. In particular, HLA-DPB1*03 allele, already known as allele risk for adult MS, plays a role also for pediatric MS, while the HLA-DPB1*04 allele has shown a protective role for the onset of the disease in both adults and children (6). Furthermore, it is unclear whether the known genetic susceptibility factors for disease onset may also influence the relapse rate. A genotyping analysis by Graves and collaborators on 181 patients from two pediatric MS centers in the United States found no association between the number of relapses and genetic risk score for non-HLA genes. Instead, HLA-DRB1*15 was found to modify the association of vitamin D status with relapse rate (44). It should be noted that many of the biological processes that play a decisive role in the onset of MS, including pediatric MS, result from complex gene-environment interactions. According to this view, the disease emerges from genetic susceptibility under the impulse of one or more environmental exposure factors. For example, the risk of pediatric MS associated with high levels of environmental pollutants in the air appears to be greater in patients carrying the GG genotypic variant of the single nucleotide polymorphism rs928264 (G/A) within CD86 or in patients with HLA polymorphisms DRB1*15:01 (119).

In conclusion, although several genetic variants have been identified as susceptibility factors for the onset of MS, each of these individually plays a marginal role in the development of the disease, and perhaps more genes participate together in increasing the risk of the disease. This would lead to considering both pediatric and adultonset MS as a polygenic disease. Furthermore, the final expression of the disease is also the result of a complex interaction with environmental factors, whose phases and exact mechanisms are not yet fully known, and any future treatments should also consider this aspect.

2.2. Environmental factors

The environmental risk factors involved in the etiopathogenesis of pediatric MS are many, but for some of them, the data collected so far in the literature are few. Childhood obesity has often been proposed as an environmental risk factor in pediatric MS. A high BMI is associated with a higher risk of prepubertal and postpubertal pediatric MS in both boys and girls (26), and with a higher risk of MS onset in both females aged 7-13 years and in males between 8 and 10 years of age (80). A key role in the pathogenesis seems to be linked to increased leptin and pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-2, IL-6, IFN- γ , and TNF- α) and reduced adiponectin levels in patients compared to controls (54, 84). Furthermore, obesity, through the dysregulation of Th17 and T-reg cell activity, could change the intestinal microbiome favoring the development of a pro-inflammatory environment (108). Furthermore, POMS may be less likely to consume sufficient iron compared to controls (87). Therefore, the promotion of a healthy diet and good weight control allows a modulation of the immune response in the pediatric age, potentially preventing chronic inflammatory diseases such as MS. Breastfeeding seems to constitute a protective factor for the development of pediatric MS in the perinatal period, data suggest a

potential reduction of autoimmune dysregulation and an increase in the activity of the immune system against pathogens. In this regard, proposing early breastfeeding, especially to women of gestational age with a family history of MS, would constitute a potential preventive therapy against the development of pediatric MS (46). In adults, low levels of vitamin D, due to a low sun exposure, which in its active form works by inhibiting the activity of inflammatory cells involving both vitamin D and non-vitamin D pathways, may increase susceptibility to MS, a finding not yet confirmed in children, although vitamin D levels are lower than the normal range in most pediatric MS patients (48, 79). Spending more time in the sun during summer may be strongly protective against developing POMS (100). In a previous meta-analysis, it was reported strong evidence for a casual and independent association between low serum concentrations of vitamin D and increased BMI and risk of POMS (41). Recent metagenomic analyses show an altered gut microbiome-related metabolic potential in POMS patients compared to controls, including higher breakdown of lipopolysaccharide molecules, higher prevalence of a methane producing pathway from Archaea and depletion of the lactate fermentation pathway, but lower resistant starch metabolism (76, 77). In a recent USA case-control study gut microbiota diversity was similar for POMS and controls, however at the gut-community-network level differences were observed, in particular POMS patients exhibited an overrepresentation of highly connected opportunistic pathogens, suggesting a possible contribute to MS pathogenesis (109).

Very recent works, using data from millions of US military recruits monitored over 20 years, proposes EBV as the leading cause of MS, showing that the risk increases approximately 32-fold after infection with EBV but does not appear to increase after infection with other viruses, even with a transmission mechanism similar to CMV (16). About that, EBV negative to positive seroconversion generally increases with age with a major incidence peak in early childhood and a second peak, especially for females, around puberty, coinciding with the approximate age of mononucleosis and with the highest female prevalence in MS (28, 34, 35, 63, 66, 81, 98). EBV infection is related to pediatric MS, and generally, all children with MS are EBV seropositive, whereas the positivity rate is considerably lower in healthy children (11, 15, 69, 86, 90). French authors in 2006 demonstrated an absence of correlation between an increased risk of the onset of MS after administration of the vaccine against the hepatitis B virus (HBV), nor between an increase in the relapse rate in a patient with a first episode of demyelinating disease of the CNS after HBV vaccination (74). The same authors then speculated on the risk of MS onset in childhood concerning exposure to secondhand smoke, which seems to be doubled compared to patients whose family members do not smoke and to be even higher in case of prolonged exposure aged 10 years or older (75). In the past, an increased susceptibility to MS has been described in patients with type I diabetes mellitus (DM). Data from American case-control studies show a 3- to 10-fold increased risk of developing MS in children of mothers with diabetes mellitus, particularly mothers who have had diabetes during pregnancy (44). Furthermore, a recent cohort study of newborns in Denmark from 1978 to 2008 observed a doubled risk of MS in children of mothers with pre-gestational diabetes compared with children of non-diabetic mothers (83). These data underline the importance of the anamnestic moment as an early opportunity to obtain such information even before conception so as to intercept the possibility of developing pediatric MS in this category of patients as soon as possible. However, it is still unclear today whether a common cause underlies both pathologies. However, there are no studies able to better define the intricate pathway involving OPN, Th17 cells and dendritic cells, which seems to link MS and type I DM.

2.3. Treatments for POMS

In POMS, relapse treatment is similar to the adult form of MS, consisting of high-dose steroids. Due to the high relapse rate and the improved recovery from relapses of POMS, early DMTs start is strongly recommended (23, 27). Low-efficacy DMTs available for POMS are interferon- β and glatiramer acetate. Although no randomized trials have been conducted, these drugs have shown adult-like efficacy and tolerance in various retrospective studies, and they have been at the base of treatment in pediatric patients for years (32). In case of failure or poor tolerability, high-efficacy DMTs should be considered. Several oral treatments are available in adult patients: Fingolimod, teriflunomide, and dimethyl fumarate. In US a multicenter study showed that initial treatment of POMS with this newer DMTs led to better disease activity control compared to injectables, supporting a greater effectiveness. However long-term safety data are still lacking (61). In POMS, the randomized trial PARADIGMS demonstrated an 81.9% efficacy of Fingolimod in reducing the annualized recurrence rate compared with IFNs and at least a 53% reduction in the annualized rate of new lesions on MRI (24). Furthermore, the greater efficacy of this drug has been highlighted in children than in adults, probably due to a greater inflammatory component of the juvenile form (29). Teriflunomide has been approved as a treatment in patients from 10 to 17 years old thanks to the data from the phase III, trial, TERIKIDS: the drug was well tolerated and had an excellent safety profile in this population (25). The two trials, FOCUS and CONNECTED, showed similar long-term safety and efficacy of dimethyl fumarate similar to the adult population, demonstrating that pediatric patients can benefit from this treatment (5). Natalizumab can be used in the case of very active diseases. Although not officially approved, various studies have shown excellent efficacy. Unfortunately, the risk of PML in children is not estimated due to the small samples that have been treated (40, 59). Clinical trials are currently underway on other highly effective drugs, including Ocrelizumab, Ofatumumab (anti-CD20) and Alemtuzumab (anti-CD52, LemKids trial) (52).

2.4. Engagement in POMS

In the management of POMS, it is essential an active involvement of the patient, the so-called "patient engagement," and his caregivers, usually represented by the parents. This main goal has to be pursued from the very first visits and at the communication of the diagnosis (2, 67). The days after MS diagnosis represents a time of great stress for families, and an overload of information could create confusion, misunderstandings, or false expectations. Therefore it is necessary to provide adequate personalized advice, easily understandable and exhaustive, for example, iconographic stories. A better comprehension of the disease facilitates patient involvement (107). Due to the enormous impact of the disease, a multidisciplinary team composed of a neurologist, psychologist, and nurse who can meet the needs of patients and caregivers is essential. Adequate psychological support will be needed in dealing with the disruption of social life and family relationships. Therefore, it is important to encourage meetings between patients of the same age and between families of patients. Doctors must go beyond the simple medical care role by becoming a motivator. The young patient should feel part of a team that aims to fight the disease. The main weapons available are DMTs. In the past, injection therapy was the mainstay of treatment, with known and limited side effects. Otherwise, new, more effective, potentially dangerous oral drugs are now available. Therefore, the neurologist must debate the riskbenefit ratio with the patient and family members, encouraging their involvement in the decision-making process to choose the best treatment. Overcoming fear of therapy allows for avoiding harmful coping mechanisms in the future, encouraging better therapeutic adherence even in adulthood.

2.5. New communications tools: the digital

Our lifestyles and cognitive systems have changed throughout our evolutionary history, alongside human inventions, such as primitive tools, spoken language, writing, and arithmetics. Since the 1970s the Internet and the subsequent technological revolution have led to profound transformations of the human mind, thoughts and our way of life. In recent years the technological revolution has predictably reached the medical field as well, for example, in the field of cardiology, with FDA-approved devices to detect cardiac arrhythmias (95). Moreover, the current COVID-19 pandemic has further accelerated the technological transition in medicine and the role of telemedicine (78). Digital innovation is also emerging to monitor disease courses among patients with MS. A recent review (31) showed that digital technology has become part of clinical trials and was used to provide psychotherapy and motor rehabilitation with exergames, e-training, and robot-assisted exercises. Digital technology is particularly useful to standardize previously existing outcome measures, with automated acquisitions, reduced inconsistencies, and improved symptom detection (e.g., electronic recording of motor performance). Other clinical trials have used digital technology to monitor otherwise difficult-to-detect symptoms (e.g., fatigue, balance), to measure treatment adherence and side effects, and for self-assessment purposes. The collection of outcome measures is gradually shifting from on-site paper collection to Internet-based and, in the future, home-based Internet-based collection, with the detection of clinical and treatment characteristics that would otherwise have remained invisible. Similarly, remote interventions offer new possibilities for motor and cognitive rehabilitation. The role of technology in the therapeutic armamentarium to support MS patients appears to be of greater interest to pediatric patients, as they are more familiar than older patients with this latter. Examples included a recent trial that demonstrated the efficacy of an app in reducing stress and anxiety in POMS (22). Moreover, several studies explored the usefulness of digital technologies in POMS for motor exercise training program (114), physical activity and cognitive interventions (i.e., socialcognitive theory based) (70, 105).

2.6. Unmet needs: fears and confusions of POMS

POMS can be considered an "orphan" disease to all intents and purposes. Several studies have shown that there are still many unmet needs reported by children and adolescents affected by POMS, resulting not only from the physical and psychological effects of the disease in this specific age group but also from a lower availability of diagnostic and therapeutic information compared to the adult population (39). A recent meta-analysis analyzed 26 studies, including over 2,000 patients with POMS highlighting a profound negative impact on domains such as school performance, sociability and physical performance (39). Specifically, the lack of adequate knowledge of the disease has been reported as one of the main barriers experienced by patients with POMS in carrying out their daily activities, with important repercussions on the possibility of social integration. Several innovative ways have been proposed to improve communication between neurologists and caregivers to counter the sense of isolation that children and adolescents with MS often experience concerning the incorrect perception of being "different" from their peers due to illness. POMS patients, healthcare professionals and family members must adopt open communication, providing information in an age-appropriate and simple way. Taking the time to clearly explain the procedures, upcoming tests and treatments is essential to develop a comprehensive knowledge of MS, minimizing the risk of feeling confused and scared. From this point of view, modern technologies (i.e., telemedicine, online support groups) can represent a tool for sharing one's experiences and clarifying doubts and perplexities about symptoms, fears and personal expectations (65). Furthermore, constant psychological support, also aimed at family members, can reduce the negative impact of the pathology on the quality of life of patients with POMS and redefine a new balance in family relationships, especially in the months next to the diagnosis.

3. Late-onset multiple sclerosis patients

3.1. Genetic background and environmental factors

LOMS and VLOMS patients remain relatively under-investigated in the literature (92). The same risk factors for the adult MS population are probably responsible for the late forms. The duration and the onset of exposure to environmental factors could possibly influence the age at onset in MS patients (i.e., air pollution with exposure to PM10, PM2.5, and O3 or cigarette smoke later in life; Figure 1) (55, 57). However, these assumptions need further confirmation. MS is more frequent in adult females than males, but this gender difference appears less marked in LOMS patients (56), possibly related to hormonal variations. A study by Baroncini et al. highlighted a greater risk of disability progression after menopause (14), probably concerning age-related neurodegeneration phenomena (19). Since patients with LOMS have a greater chance of presenting a progressive phenotype and a lower relapse rate (30), it is possible to hypothesize that hormonal variation may influence the age at onset. However, specific literature in this regard is not currently available. Furthermore, a greater relapse risk for women in

the puerperium is known in the literature; a reduced birth rate could also be associated with a "delay" in time to the first clinical episode, thus postponing the clinical onset of the disease (57, 58). Some studies would then have indicated an increased risk of MS in men with low testosterone levels (117). Although age-related hormonal variations in men are not precocious and stereotyped, immunosenescence and hormonal factors may explain late onset in the male population. This area certainly deserves further investigation in the future. In contrast, the type of premorbid diet and the subsequent risk of developing LOMS was not shown to be associated in a large Danish registry study (92). Elderly patients also present numerous comorbidities more typical of the elderly subject, such as hypertension, dyslipidemia, and atherosclerotic processes with phenomena of chronic inflammation and oxidative stress, which could further influence the later onset of MS (64). The presence of such comorbidities might delay MS diagnosis in elderly patients; plus, evidence suggest that patients with vascular comorbidities will experience a faster progression. Finally, from a genetic point of view, while various studies have highlighted an earlier age of onset in association with several HLA alleles (for example, carriers of the HLA-DRB1*15 allele develop the disease earlier than non-carriers), few data are instead present for the patient LOMS and VLOMS (104). In an Australian study, the HLA-DRB1 *0801 allele was overrepresented in patients with LOMS, indicating a possible different genetic substrate even in late-onset patients (94).

3.2. Immunosenescence

Aging is a physiological process, typically occurring with the passing of the years, characterized by the progressive decline of bodily biological functions. This process is a major contributor to several comorbidities that frequently arise in the elderly (33). When this functional decline concerns the immune system, it is called immunosenescence. Modified proliferation and maturation of immune cells characterize immunosenescence and hempen the ability to develop an appropriate immune response. This leads to increased susceptibility to infection, improved autoimmune processes, and a worse response to vaccination (33). On the other hand, a compromised immune system causes a chronic inflammatory state, called "inflammaging," with an increased level of inflammatory cytokines, which increases the risk of morbidity in the elderly population (12, 96). Chronic infections, such as Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), and accumulated senescent cells are responsible for inflammation and increase inflammatory cytokines, growth factors, and autoreactive antibody levels.

The age-related changes in the immune system mainly involve the adaptive immune system compared to the innate immune system. Indeed, a lower number of T, NK, and B naïve cells and an altered balance between pro- and anti-inflammatory molecules are typical features of immune system aging (33). Moreover, telomerase activity is generally reduced, leading to cellular senescence, interrupted proliferation, and a higher level of cell death (96). On the other hand, less effective phagocytosis, degranulation, and production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) characterize the senescent innate immune system and are responsible for higher susceptibility to viral and bacterial infections.

3.2.1. Immunosenescence and MS

MS etiology is not fully known (80). Autoreactive CD4+ T lymphocytes, crossing the blood-brain barrier (BBB), infiltrating the CNS, and recognizing myelin antigens as not-self seems one of the pathogenetic determinants of MS. This process activates microglia and astrocytes, induces oligodendrocytes' apoptosis, and leads to demyelination and axonal loss (37). All MS patients, including POMS, are characterized by an early immunosenescence since disease onset, with shorter telomerase, thymic dysfunction, increased CD4+/CD28-T Lymphocytes and memory T cells levels, reduced number of naïve T cells, and less functional regulatory T cells (9). The immune system's premature senescence seems essential for the onset of MS and its progression (33). The evolution of the disease towards progressive forms and the progression independent of relapse activity (PIRA) is more tightly associated with immunosenescence and early neurodegeneration than with disease duration and patients' age (33). Moreover, sex has been reported to influence immunosenescence based on genetic, epigenetic, lifestyle, environmental, and social differences (19). For instance, the adaptive immune system tends to reduce its efficacy earlier in men (51). Hormonal changes are also important in MS progression (i.e., protective role in the third trimester of pregnancy and higher relapse risk in postpartum), as in immunosenescence. Estrogens, in fact, show neuroprotective effects in animal models of autoimmune encephalitis, binding beta receptors, activating oligodendrocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells, and supporting remyelination and recovery from axonal loss (14). Thus, reduced estrogens level in menopause leads to reproductive, neurological, and immunological changes in MS women in the direction of a worsening of disease and disability (19).

3.2.2. Immunosenescence and elderly MS population

In the last decades, the number of LOMS and VLOMS has been growing, in line with the prevalence of elderly MS patients (17). Reduced cerebral plasticity and growth factor levels are typical of this population and lead to incomplete recovery from demyelination and diffuse axonal degeneration. Moreover, in the aging BBB, permeability increases, leading to a higher degree of inflammatory cells infiltrating CNS and facilitating astrocyte proliferation and glial scars development. This phenomenon contributes to incomplete recovery from demyelination and myelin debris clearance. The prevalence of progressive forms of MS is higher with increasing age (110). A higher number of B memory and plasma cells are typical of these forms and form lymphatic follicles. Increased numbers of memory B cells and plasma cells are characteristic of these forms and organize into meningeal ectopic follicles. In addition, with the transition to progressive MS, BBB permeability gradually decreases, leading to the compartmentalization of disease activity and significantly dampening therapeutic efficacy. Oxidative processes also increase and phagocytosis becomes much less efficient with aging. These mechanisms are responsible for progressive iron accumulation in the brain and in active chronic lesions called "smoldering lesions" (1, 62). These slowly expanding lesions are typical of elderly patients and are more frequent in long-term disease (1). Histologically, these are characterized by a central astrocyte scar and a peripheral rim of active macrophages full of iron and increased oxidative processes. Other radiological features of LOMS are global and regional cerebral atrophy (typical of grey matter), white matter lesion load atrophy (especially

Capasso et al.

of periventricular lesions, responsible for the accumulation of cerebrospinal fluid) and increased cortical lesions number (connected to higher cognitive disability) (20).

In summary, immunosenescence results in such biological and immune changes in LOMS that it can be considered a major determinant of increased disability in this population.

3.3. Treatments in LOMS and elderly patients: safety, discontinuation, and engagement

There is a lack of data on the safety and efficiency of DMTs in older people with MS (112). Patients over 55 are usually excluded from clinical trials (112). Therefore, it is very difficult to determine whether the treatments available for older people are safe and effective. Consequently, the decision to initiate DMTs in elderly patients should be carefully considered, considering the risks associated with the therapy and its limited efficacy. An Italian study on natalizumabrelated Progressive Multifocal Leukoencephalopathy (PML) showed that older age at natalizumab (NTZ) start might be a risk factor for developing PML before 24 infusions (93). PML risk is probably related to a major susceptibility secondary to the immunosenescence process.

Regarding other DMTs, Fingolimod has recently been associated with cases of PML, and these also seem to have an age-dependent trend (45). Furthermore, PML in elderly patients appears to have a worse outcome in various studies: in fact, most fatal cases of PML are in elderly patients (99). Age-associated changes in humoral immunity reduce the ability to mount an effective antibody response, suggesting that age may represent an additional stratified risk for PML in patients treated with MS therapy (45). Higher age is also a risk factor for other types of infections: for example, a higher risk of VZV reactivation was seen in older patients receiving Fingolimod, Cladribine, Natalizumab, and Alemtuzumab (47). Cryptococcal meningitis also appears to have the same age-related trend in patients receiving Fingolimod (115).

Nevertheless, due to the wide clinical variation in this group of patients, it is essential to individualize the treatment. Schweitzer et al. (99) suggested that the benefits of high-efficacy DMTs could decrease with age. Weideman et al. (115, 116) also found that the efficacy of DMTs was negatively correlated with age. In another work, age over 53 predicted no efficacy of DMTs (88). Older patients present significant pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic differences compared to younger patients.

Moreover, in advanced ages, progressive forms are more prevalent than RRMS. Despite expanding the therapeutic arsenal in MS, only one drug is approved for treating the primary progressive forms (Ocrelizumab). This drug showed a 24% reduction in the risk of disability progression compared to the placebo (36). Mitoxantrone and Siponimod have shown positive results in secondary progressive forms (53, 72, 118), although evidence suggests that the benefit is most evident in patients with persistent inflammatory activity (72).

Another important factor to consider before starting a DMT is the risk of developing cancer in ancient people: actually, most of the studies on the current DMTs have not shown a real correlation between their use and a greater risk of developing tumors; however, due to the increased cancer risks in individuals of advancing age, the interactions of age, immunosenescence, and DMTs use needs further study (99).

An Italian study on naïve RR LOMS patients did not show statistical differences between injective and oral treatment regarding time to the first relapse, risk of disability, and treatment withdrawal (118). Another problem to discuss is the treatment discontinuation in light of the decreased efficiency and increased risk of DMT in elderly patients. Another important factor to consider in this type of patient is the treatment discontinuation problem. A recent study (53) highlighted how discontinuation of treatment in elderly and previously stable patients results in possible new worsening/ progression of the disease. These findings are very interesting, considering the growing number of older patients with MS in recent years and the many uncertainties about how to treat them. As previously reported, it's generally accepted that older patients will benefit less from currently available DMTs. However, most studies involved ancient therapies; today, DMTs with better efficacy and safety profiles are available. The study, which involved adult patients of all ages, also found that disease worsening and progression resulting from therapy discontinuation were independent of patient age. The type of MS (RR versus progressive) also did not seem to influence disease progression. Notably, up to 40% of previously stable progressive patients showed worsening in disability after drug discontinuation. Recently, the ongoing DISCO-MS study evaluated discontinuation of DMT in participants aged 55 years or older, clinically stable (no relapses) for at least 5 years, and radiologically stable for three or more years. The study is probably the largest controlled study for DMTs conducted in MS patients older than 55. There is not a significant difference between treated and untreated patients regarding clinical activity and clinical worsening. Clinical relapses were particularly rare. An increase in the number of MRI lesions was highlighted in the group that stopped therapy: however, MRI changes involved a reduced number of new lesions (1 or 2 lesions), and numerous observational studies have shown that 1-2 new brain lesions on MRI scan after 1 year of therapy, are not associated with a significant risk of disability progression in the following 5-10 years. On the other hand, a higher number of lesions (3 or more new lesions), an active lesion or new relapses appear to correlate with significant disability progression. Thus, minimal evidence of new disease activity may be functionally acceptable in elderly patients after DMTs suspension. Therapy discontinuation is also a minor risk factor for elderly patients (over 55 years) with moderate disabilities. Interruption of therapy should be considered in patients with secondary progressive (SP) disease due to the poor therapeutic efficacy of most drugs in this disease stage. A retrospective study in patients with SPMS demonstrated that after discontinuation of INF β or glatiramer acetate therapy, the rate of relapse and progression of disability remained similar to treated patients (18). In this context, it is now clear how it is essential to maintain a direct and one-to-one relationship between patient and neurologist in the therapeutic management of a chronic and complex pathology such as multiple sclerosis. It is known that older adults with MS are more likely to have a reduced health-related quality of life as a consequence of increased social isolation, the development of cognitive impairment, which, together with a physical disability, multiple comorbidities, and therefore to polytherapy, lead to a greater sense of dependence and "uselessness" (21).

Based on these considerations, an increasing number of Patient Health Engagement projects is emerging to guarantee shared treatment management (drug start and stop) and socioeconomic and work aspects. One of the main challenges of the last years is increasing the patient's awareness of being a central point in the process of therapeutic decision. The active involvement of the MS patient should occur at any age through educational, listening, and empowerment programs. The purpose of these programs is to allow greater trust between doctor and patient and, consequently, greater autonomy and proactivity of the patient in the management of own lifestyle, health and care (97). The availability of new drugs, with their advantages and disadvantages, necessarily requires sharing the therapeutic choice, whether to start, continue or discontinue a drug, based on the single patient and needs. Several experts have reported how patients of MS appreciate direct and sincere communication, even when medical data are uncertain, resulting in better satisfaction of healthcare and so, greater adherence to the treatment (49).

Finally, in the elderly patient, it is essential to start a concomitant process of active involvement of caregivers (Caregiver Engagement), who play a fundamental and complementary role in the therapeutic, rehabilitative and social management of these patients.

4. Final remarks and conclusion

POMS and LOMS are two demographic extremes with different pathogenesis, clinical management, therapeutic approach, and social engagement. Both forms are the result of a complex gene-environment interaction, whereby the disease would emerge from a condition of genetic susceptibility under the impulse of one or more factors of environmental exposure. In this regard, both in POMS and above all in LOMS, immunosenescence could play an important role. There are many therapeutic challenges in these categories of patients and there is a lack of data on the safety and efficiency of DMTs especially in LOMS. However early DMTs start is strongly recommended and a multidisciplinary team that can meet the individual needs of the patient and caregivers is essential. A current challenge is the role of digital innovation in supporting the patient, especially POMS, not only in psychological and rehabilitation monitoring and support, but also in improving communication between the neurologist and the patient/family members, in a process of active involvement of patients and caregivers.

References

1. Absinta M, Sati P, Masuzzo F, Nair G, Sethi V, Kolb H, et al. Association of chronic active multiple sclerosis lesions with disability in vivo. *JAMA Neurol.* (2019) 76:1474–83. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.2399

2. Allen D, Gillen E, Rixson L. The effectiveness of integrated care pathways for adults and children in health care settings: a systematic review. *JBI Libr Syst Rev.* (2009) 7:80–129. doi: 10.11124/jbisrir-2009-182

3. Alroughani R, Akhtar S, Ahmed S, Behbehani R, Al-Hashel J. Is time to reach EDSS 6.0 faster in patients with late-onset versus young-onset multiple sclerosis? *PLoS One.* (2016) 11:e0165846. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0165846

4. Alroughani R, Boyko A. Pediatric multiple sclerosis: a review. *BMC Neurol.* (2018) 18:27. doi: 10.1186/s12883-018-1026-3

5. Alroughani R, Huppke P, Mazurkiewicz-Beldzinska M, Blaschek A, Valis M, Aaen G, et al. Delayed-release dimethyl fumarate safety and efficacy in pediatric patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Front Neurol.* (2020) 11:606418. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.606418

 Anagnostouli M, Artemiadis A, Gontika M, Skarlis C, Markoglou N, Katsavos S, et al. HLA-DPB1*03 as risk allele and HLA-DPB1*04 as protective allele for both earlyand adult-onset multiple sclerosis in a Hellenic cohort. *Brain Sci.* (2020) 10:374. doi: 10.3390/brainsci10060374

7. Anagnostouli MC, Manouseli A. HLA-DRB1* allele frequencies in pediatric, adolescent and adult-onset multiple sclerosis patients, in a Hellenic sample. Evidence

Author contributions

RL and MC contributed to conception, design of the study, and contributed in writing—review and editing the original draft. NC and EV organized the search literature. AC, BG, MF, EP, AN, FM, MN, GS, SS, NC, and EV wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by Merck Serono S.p.A., Rome, Italy, an affiliate of Merck (CrossRef Funder ID: 10.13039/100009945). Merck had no influence in the design, interpretation of the data, or content of the manuscript. No payments were made to the authors for the writing of this manuscript. Editorial assistance was provided by Ethos, and supported by an independent medical writing grant from Merck Serono S.p.A., Rome, Italy.

Conflict of interest

RL and MC received financial compensation for attendance to expert meetings as part of an educational programme by Merck Serono S.p.A., Rome, Italy, an affiliate of Merck.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

for new and established associations. J Mult Scler. (2014) 1:104. doi: 10.4172/2376-0389.1000104

8. Andersen MA, Buron MD, Magyari M. Late-onset MS is associated with an increased rate of reaching disability milestones. *J Neurol.* (2021) 268:3352–60. doi: 10.1007/s00415-021-10490-0

9. Balint B, Haas J, Schwarz A, Jarius S, Fürwentsches A, Engelhardt K, et al. T-cell homeostasis in pediatric multiple sclerosis: old cells in young patients. *Neurology*. (2013) 81:784–92. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182a2ce0e

10. Banwell B, Bennett JL, Marignier R, Kim HJ, Brilot F, Flanagan EP, et al. Diagnosis of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein antibody-associated disease: international MOGAD panel proposed criteria. *Lancet Neurol.* (2023) 22:268–82. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(22)00431-8

11. Banwell B, Krupp L, Kennedy J, Tellier R, Tenembaum S, Ness J, et al. Clinical features and viral serologies in children with multiple sclerosis: a multinational observational study. *Lancet Neurol.* (2007) 6:773–81. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(07)70196-5

12. Barbé-Tuana F, Funchal G, Schmitz CRR, Maurmann RM, Bauer ME. The interplay between immunosenescence and age-related diseases. *Semin Immunopathol.* (2020) 42:545–57. doi: 10.1007/s00281-020-00806-z

13. Barnett MH, Williams DB, Day S, Macaskill P, McLeod JG. Progressive increase in incidence and prevalence of multiple sclerosis in Newcastle, Australia: a 35-year study. *J Neurol Sci.* (2003) 213:1–6. doi: 10.1016/s0022-510x(03)00122-9

14. Baroncini D, Annovazzi PO, De Rossi N, Mallucci G, Torri Clerici V, Tonietti S, et al. Impact of natural menopause on multiple sclerosis: a multicentre study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2019) 90:1201–6. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2019-320587

15. Bar-Or A, Pender MP, Khanna R, Steinman L, Hartung HP, Maniar T, et al. Epstein-Barr virus in multiple sclerosis: theory and emerging immunotherapies. *Trends Mol Med.* (2020) 26:296–310. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2019.11.003

16. Bjornevik K, Cortese M, Healy BC, Kuhle J, Mina MJ, Leng Y, et al. Longitudinal analysis reveals high prevalence of Epstein-Barr virus associated with multiple sclerosis. *Science*. (2022) 375:296–301. doi: 10.1126/science.abj8222

17. Bolton C, Smith PA. The influence and impact of ageing and immunosenescence (ISC) on adaptive immunity during multiple sclerosis (MS) and the animal counterpart experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). *Ageing Res Rev.* (2018) 41:64–81. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2017.10.005

18. Bonenfant J, Bajeux E, Deburghgraeve V, Le Page E, Edan G, Kerbrat A. Can we stop immunomodulatory treatments in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis? *Eur J Neurol.* (2017) 24:237–44. doi: 10.1111/ene.13181

19. Bove R, Okai A, Houtchens M, Elias-Hamp B, Lugaresi A, Hellwig K, et al. Effects of menopause in women with multiple sclerosis: an evidence-based review. *Front Neurol.* (2021) 12:554375. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.554375

20. Brownlee WJ, Hardy TA, Fazekas F, Miller DH. Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: progress and challenges. *Lancet.* (2017) 389:1336–46. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30959-X

21. Buhse M. The elderly person with multiple sclerosis: clinical implications for the increasing life-span. J Neurosci Nurs. (2015) 47:333–9; quiz E1. doi: 10.1097/JNN.000000000000172

22. Charvet L, George A, Cho H, Krupp LB, Dennis-Tiwary TA. Mobile attention Bias modification training is a digital health solution for managing distress in multiple sclerosis: a pilot study in pediatric onset. *Front Neurol.* (2021) 12:719090. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.719090

23. Chitnis T, Aaen G, Belman A, Benson L, Gorman M, Goyal MS, et al. Improved relapse recovery in paediatric compared to adult multiple sclerosis. *Brain.* (2020) 143:2733-41. doi: 10.1093/brain/awaa199

24. Chitnis T, Arnold DL, Banwell B, Brück W, Ghezzi A, Giovannoni G, et al. Trial of Fingolimod versus interferon beta-1a in pediatric multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med.* (2018) 379:1017–27. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1800149

25. Chitnis T, Banwell B, Kappos L, Arnold DL, Gücüyener K, Deiva K, et al. Safety and efficacy of teriflunomide in paediatric multiple sclerosis (TERIKIDS): a multicentre, double-blind, phase 3, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Neurol.* (2021) 20:1001–11. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(21)00364-1

26. Chitnis T, Graves J, Weinstock-Guttman B, Belman A, Olsen C, Misra M, et al. Distinct effects of obesity and puberty on risk and age at onset of pediatric MS. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* (2016) 3:897–907. doi: 10.1002/acn3.365

27. Chitnis T, Tenembaum S, Banwell B, Krupp L, Pohl D, Rostasy K, et al. Consensus statement: evaluation of new and existing therapeutics for pediatric multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2012) 18:116–27. doi: 10.1177/1352458511430704

28. Choi A, Marcus K, Pohl D, Eyck PT, Balfour H Jr, Jackson JB. Epstein-Barr virus infection status among first year undergraduate university students. *J Am Coll Heal*. (2022) 70:22–5. doi: 10.1080/07448481.2020.1726927

29. Cohen JA, Barkhof F, Comi G, Hartung HP, Khatri BO, Montalban X, et al. Oral fingolimod or intramuscular interferon for relapsing multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med.* (2010) 362:402–15. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0907839

30. D'Amico E, Patti F, Zanghì A, Chisari CG, Lo Fermo S, Zappia M. Late-onset and young-onset relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: evidence from a retrospective long-term follow-up study. *Eur J Neurol.* (2018) 25:1425–31. doi: 10.1111/ene.13745

31. De Angelis M, Lavorgna L, Carotenuto A, Petruzzo M, Lanzillo R, Brescia Morra V, et al. Digital Technology in Clinical Trials for multiple sclerosis: systematic review. *J Clin Med.* (2021) 10:2328. doi: 10.3390/jcm10112328

32. de Chalus A, Taveira M, Deiva K. Pediatric onset multiple sclerosis: future challenge for early diagnosis and treatment. *Presse Med.* (2021) 50:104069. doi: 10.1016/j. lpm.2021.104069

33. Dema M, Eixarch H, Villar LM, Montalban X, Espejo C. Immunosenescence in multiple sclerosis: the identification of new therapeutic targets. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2021) 20:102893. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2021.102893

34. Dunmire SK, Verghese PS, Balfour HH Jr. Primary Epstein-Barr virus infection. J Clin Virol. (2018) 102:84–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jcv.2018.03.001

35. Fisher KS, Cuascut FX, Rivera VM, Hutton GJ. Current advances in pediatric onset multiple sclerosis. *Biomedicine*. (2020) 8:71. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines8040071

36. Fox EJ, Markowitz C, Applebee A, Montalban X, Wolinsky JS, Belachew S, et al. Ocrelizumab reduces progression of upper extremity impairment in patients with primary progressive multiple sclerosis: findings from the phase III randomized ORATORIO trial. *Mult Scler.* (2018) 24:1862–70. doi: 10.1177/1352458518808189

37. Frischer JM, Bramow S, Dal-Bianco A, Lucchinetti CF, Rauschka H, Schmidbauer M, et al. The relation between inflammation and neurodegeneration in multiple sclerosis brains. *Brain.* (2009) 132:1175–89. doi: 10.1093/brain/awp070

38. GBD 2016 Neurology Collaborators. Global, regional, and national burden of neurological disorders, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *Lancet Neurol.* (2019) 18:459–80. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30499-X

39. Ghai S, Kasilingam E, Lanzillo R, Malenica M, van Pesch V, Burke NC, et al. Needs and experiences of children and adolescents with pediatric multiple sclerosis and their caregivers: a systematic review. *Children (Basel).* (2021) 8:445. doi: 10.3390/ children8060445

40. Ghezzi A, Pozzilli C, Grimaldi LM, Brescia Morra V, Bortolon F, Capra R, et al. Safety and efficacy of natalizumab in children with multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*. (2010) 75:912–7. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181f11daf

41. Gianfrancesco MA, Stridh P, Rhead B, Shao X, Xu E, Graves JS, et al. Evidence for a causal relationship between low vitamin D, high BMI, and pediatric-onset MS. *Neurology.* (2017) 88:1623–9. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000003849

42. Gianfrancesco MA, Stridh P, Shao X, Rhead B, Graves JS, Chitnis T, et al. Genetic risk factors for pediatric-onset multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*. (2018) 24:1825–34. doi: 10.1177/1352458517733551

43. Gontika M, Skarlis C, Artemiadis A, Pons R, Mastroyianni S, Vartzelis G, et al. HLA-DRB1 allele impact on pediatric multiple sclerosis in a Hellenic cohort. *Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin.* (2020) 6:2055217320908046. doi: 10.1177/2055217320908046

44. Graves JS, Chitnis T, Weinstock-Guttman B, Rubin J, Zelikovitch AS, Nourbakhsh B, et al. Maternal and perinatal exposures are associated with risk for pediatric-onset multiple sclerosis. *Pediatrics*. (2017) 139:e20162838. doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-2838

45. Grebenciucova E, Berger JR. Immunosenescence: the role of aging in the predisposition to neuro-infectious complications arising from the treatment of multiple sclerosis. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep.* (2017) 17:61. doi: 10.1007/s11910-017-0771-9

46. Hardy D, Chitnis T, Waubant E, Banwell B. Preventing multiple sclerosis: the pediatric perspective. *Front Neurol.* (2022) 13:802380. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.802380

47. Havla J, Warnke C, Derfuss T, Kappos L, Hartung HP, Hohlfeld R. Interdisciplinary risk management in the treatment of multiple sclerosis. *Dtsch Arztebl Int.* (2016) 113:879–86. doi: 10.3238/arztebl.2016.0879

48. Hedström AK, Olsson T, Kockum I, Hillert J, Alfredsson L. Low sun exposure increases multiple sclerosis risk both directly and indirectly. *J Neurol.* (2020) 267:1045–52. doi: 10.1007/s00415-019-09677-3

49. Heesen C, Solari A, Giordano A, Kasper J, Köpke S. Decisions on multiple sclerosis immunotherapy: new treatment complexities urge patient engagement. *J Neurol Sci.* (2011) 306:192–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2010.09.012

50. Hooge JP, Redekop WK. Multiple sclerosis with very late onset. *Neurology*. (1992) 42:1907–10. doi: 10.1212/WNL.42.10.1907

51. Huang Z, Chen B, Liu X, Li H, Xie L, Gao Y, et al. Effects of sex and aging on the immune cell landscape as assessed by single-cell transcriptomic analysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2021) 118:e2023216118. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2023216118

52. Jakimovski D, Awan S, Eckert SP, Farooq O, Weinstock-Guttman B. Multiple sclerosis in children: differential diagnosis, prognosis, and disease-modifying treatment. *CNS Drugs*. (2022) 36:45–59. doi: 10.1007/s40263-021-00887-w

53. Jakimovski D, Kavak KS, Vaughn CB, Goodman AD, Coyle PK, Krupp L, et al. Discontinuation of disease modifying therapies is associated with disability progression regardless of prior stable disease and age. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2022) 57:103406. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.103406

54. Keyhanian K, Saxena S, Gombolay G, Healy BC, Misra M, Chitnis T. Adipokines are associated with pediatric multiple sclerosis risk and course. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2019) 36:101384. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2019.101384

55. Khreis H, Bredell C, Wai Fung K, Hong L, Szybka M, Phillips V, et al. Impact of long-term air pollution exposure on incidence of neurodegenerative diseases: a protocol for a systematic review and exposure-response meta-analysis. *Environ Int.* (2022) 170:107596. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2022.107596

56. Kis B, Rumberg B, Berlit P. Clinical characteristics of patients with late-onset multiple sclerosis. J Neurol. (2008) 255:697–702. doi: 10.1007/s00415-008-0778-x

57. Koch-Henriksen N, Sørensen PS. The changing demographic pattern of multiple sclerosis epidemiology. *Lancet Neurol.* (2010) 9:520–32. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70064-8

58. Koch-Henriksen N, Thygesen LC, Stenager E, Laursen B, Magyari M. Incidence of MS has increased markedly over six decades in Denmark particularly with late onset and in women. *Neurology*. (2018) 90:e1954–63. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000005612

59. Kornek B, Aboul-Enein F, Rostasy K, Milos RI, Steiner I, Penzien J, et al. Natalizumab therapy for highly active pediatric multiple sclerosis. *JAMA Neurol.* (2013) 70:469–75. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.923

60. Krupp LB, Tardieu M, Amato MP, Banwell B, Chitnis T, Dale RC, et al. International Pediatric Multiple Sclerosis Study Group criteria for pediatric multiple sclerosis and immune-mediated central nervous system demyelinating disorders: revisions to the 2007 definitions. *Mult Scler*. (2013) 19:1261–7. doi: 10.1177/1352458513484547

61. Krysko KM, Graves JS, Rensel M, Weinstock-Guttman B, Rutatangwa A, Aaen G, et al. Real-world effectiveness of initial disease-modifying therapies in pediatric multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol.* (2020) 88:42–55. doi: 10.1002/ana.25737
62. Kuhlmann T, Ludwin S, Prat A, Antel J, Brück W, Lassmann H. An updated histological classification system for multiple sclerosis lesions. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2017) 133:13–24. doi: 10.1007/s00401-016-1653-y

63. Kuri A, Jacobs BM, Vickaryous N, Pakpoor J, Middeldorp J, Giovannoni G, et al. Epidemiology of Epstein-Barr virus infection and infectious mononucleosis in the United Kingdom. *BMC Public Health*. (2020) 20:912. doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-09049-x

64. Laman JD, De Boer M, Hart BA. CD40 in clinical inflammation: from multiple sclerosis to atherosclerosis. *Dev Immunol.* (1998) 6:215–22. doi: 10.1155/1998/69628

65. Landi D, Ponzano M, Nicoletti CG, Cola G, Cecchi G, Grimaldi A, et al. Patient's point of view on the use of telemedicine in multiple sclerosis: a web-based survey. *Neurol Sci.* (2022) 43:1197–205. doi: 10.1007/s10072-021-05398-6

66. Langille MM, Rutatangwa A, Francisco C. Pediatric multiple sclerosis: a review. *Adv Pediatr Infect Dis.* (2019) 66:209–29. doi: 10.1016/j.yapd.2019.03.003

67. Lorefice L, Mura G, Coni G, Fenu G, Sardu C, Frau J, et al. What do multiple sclerosis patients and their caregivers perceive as unmet needs? *BMC Neurol.* (2013) 13:177. doi: 10.1186/1471-2377-13-177

68. Lotti CBDC, Oliveira ASB, Bichuetti DB, Castro ID, Oliveira EML. Late onset multiple sclerosis: concerns in aging patients. *Arq Neuropsiquiatr*. (2017) 75:451–6. doi: 10.1590/0004-282x20170070

69. Lünemann JD, Huppke P, Roberts S, Brück W, Gärtner J, Münz C. Broadened and elevated humoral immune response to EBNA1 in pediatric multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*. (2008) 71:1033–5. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000326576.91097.87

70. Ly M, Stephens S, Iruthayanathan R, Motl R, Finlayson M, Yeh EA. Physical activity in youth with multiple sclerosis receiving the ATOMIC intervention: social connectedness above all else. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2021) 49:102795. doi: 10.1016/j. msard.2021.102795

71. Marrie RA, Yu N, Blanchard J, Leung S, Elliott L. The rising prevalence and changing age distribution of multiple sclerosis in Manitoba. *Neurology*. (2010) 74:465–71. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181cf6ec0

72. Martinelli Boneschi F, Vacchi L, Rovaris M, Capra R, Comi G. Mitoxantrone for multiple sclerosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2013) 5:Cd002127. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD002127.pub3

73. McKay KA, Manouchehrinia A, Berrigan L, Fisk JD, Olsson T, Hillert J. Long-term cognitive outcomes in patients with pediatric-onset vs adult-onset multiple sclerosis. *JAMA Neurol.* (2019) 76:1028–34. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.1546

74. Mikaeloff Y, Caridade G, Assi S, Tardieu M, Suissa S. Hepatitis B vaccine and risk of relapse after a first childhood episode of CNS inflammatory demyelination. *Brain.* (2007) 130:1105–10. doi: 10.1093/brain/awl368

75. Mikaeloff Y, Caridade G, Suissa S, Tardieu M. Hepatitis B vaccine and the risk of CNS inflammatory demyelination in childhood. *Neurology*. (2009) 72:873–80. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000335762.42177.07

76. Mirza AI, Zhu F, Knox N, Forbes JD, Bonner C, Van Domselaar G, et al. The metabolic potential of the paediatric-onset multiple sclerosis gut microbiome. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2022) 63:103829. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2022.103829

77. Mirza AI, Zhu F, Knox N, Forbes JD, Van Domselaar G, Bernstein CN, et al. Metagenomic analysis of the pediatric-onset multiple sclerosis gut microbiome. *Neurology.* (2022) 98:e1050–63. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000013245

78. Monaghesh E, Hajizadeh A. The role of telehealth during COVID-19 outbreak: a systematic review based on current evidence. *BMC Public Health*. (2020) 20:1193. doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-09301-4

79. Mowry EM, Krupp LB, Milazzo M, Chabas D, Strober JB, Belman AL, et al. Vitamin D status is associated with relapse rate in pediatric-onset multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol.* (2010) 67:618–24. doi: 10.1002/ana.21972

80. Munger KL, Bentzen J, Laursen B, Stenager E, Koch-Henriksen N, Sørensen TI, et al. Childhood body mass index and multiple sclerosis risk: a long-term cohort study. *Mult Scler.* (2013) 19:1323–9. doi: 10.1177/1352458513483889

81. Münz C. EBV infection of mice with reconstituted human immune system components. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol.* (2015) 391:407–23. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-22834-1_14

82. Naseri A, Nasiri E, Sahraian MA, Daneshvar S, Talebi M. Clinical features of lateonset multiple sclerosis: a systematic review and Meta-analysis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2021) 50:102816. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.102816

83. Nielsen NM, Gørtz S, Hjalgrim H, Rostgaard K, Munger KL, Ascherio A, et al. Maternal diabetes and risk of multiple sclerosis in the offspring: a Danish nationwide register-based cohort study. *Mult Scler.* (2021) 27:1686–94. doi: 10.1177/1352458520977120

84. Nyirenda MH, Fadda G, Healy LM, Mexhitaj I, Poliquin-Lasnier L, Hanwell H, et al. Pro-inflammatory adiponectin in pediatric-onset multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2021) 27:1948–59. doi: 10.1177/1352458521989090

85. Ostolaza A, Corroza J, Ayuso T. Multiple sclerosis and aging: comorbidity and treatment challenges. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2021) 50:102815. doi: 10.1016/j. msard.2021.102815

86. Pakpoor J, Disanto G, Gerber JE, Dobson R, Meier UC, Giovannoni G, et al. The risk of developing multiple sclerosis in individuals seronegative for Epstein-Barr virus: a meta-analysis. *Mult Scler.* (2013) 19:162–6. doi: 10.1177/1352458512449682

87. Pakpoor J, Seminatore B, Graves JS, Schreiner T, Waldman AT, Lotze TE, et al. Dietary factors and pediatric multiple sclerosis: a case-control study. *Mult Scler*. (2018) 24:1067–76. doi: 10.1177/1352458517713343

88. Perdaens O, van Pesch V. Molecular mechanisms of immunosenescene and inflammaging: relevance to the immunopathogenesis and treatment of multiple sclerosis. *Front Neurol.* (2021) 12:811518. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.811518

89. Pfeifenbring S, Bunyan RF, Metz I, Röver C, Huppke P, Gärtner J, et al. Extensive acute axonal damage in pediatric multiple sclerosis lesions. *Ann Neurol.* (2015) 77:655–67. doi: 10.1002/ana.24364

90. Pohl D, Krone B, Rostasy K, Kahler E, Brunner E, Lehnert M, et al. High seroprevalence of Epstein-Barr virus in children with multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*. (2006) 67:2063-5. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000247665.94088.8d

91. Polliack ML, Barak Y, Achiron A. Late-onset multiple sclerosis. J Am Geriatr Soc. (2001) 49:168–71. doi: 10.1046/j.1532-5415.2001.49038.x

92. Pommerich UM, Nielsen R, Overvad K, Dahm CC, Tjønneland A, Olsen A, et al. Diet quality is not associated with late-onset multiple sclerosis risk-a Danish cohort study. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2020) 40:101968. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2020.101968

93. Prosperini L, de Rossi N, Scarpazza C, Moiola L, Cosottini M, Gerevini S, et al. Natalizumab-related progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy in multiple sclerosis: findings from an Italian independent registry. *PLoS One.* (2016) 11:e0168376. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0168376

94. Qiu W, Wu JS, Castley A, James I, Joseph J, Christiansen FT, et al. Clinical profile and HLA-DRB1 genotype of late onset multiple sclerosis in Western Australia. *J Clin Neurosci.* (2010) 17:1009–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jocn.2009.12.011

95. Raja JM, Elsakr C, Roman S, Cave B, Pour-Ghaz I, Nanda A, et al. Apple watch, wearables, and heart rhythm: where do we stand? *Ann Transl Med.* (2019) 7:417. doi: 10.21037/atm.2019.06.79

96. Ray D, Yung R. Immune senescence, epigenetics and autoimmunity. *Clin Immunol.* (2018) 196:59–63. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2018.04.002

97. Rieckmann P, Boyko A, Centonze D, Elovaara I, Giovannoni G, Havrdová E, et al. Achieving patient engagement in multiple sclerosis: a perspective from the multiple sclerosis in the 21st century steering group. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2015) 4:202–18. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2015.02.005

98. Rostgaard K, Balfour HH Jr, Jarrett R, Erikstrup C, Pedersen O, Ullum H, et al. Primary Epstein-Barr virus infection with and without infectious mononucleosis. *PLoS One*. (2019) 14:e0226436. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0226436

99. Schweitzer F, Laurent S, Fink GR, Barnett MH, Reddel S, Hartung HP, et al. Age and the risks of high-efficacy disease modifying drugs in multiple sclerosis. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2019) 32:305–12. doi: 10.1097/WCO.000000000000701

100. Sebastian P, Cherbuin N, Barcellos LF, Roalstad S, Casper C, Hart J, et al. Association between time spent outdoors and risk of multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*. (2022) 98:e267–78. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000013045

101. Shirani A, Zhao Y, Petkau J, Gustafson P, Karim ME, Evans C, et al. Multiple sclerosis in older adults: the clinical profile and impact of interferon Beta treatment. *Biomed Res Int.* (2015) 2015:451912. doi: 10.1155/2015/451912

102. Solaro C, Ponzio M, Moran E, Tanganelli P, Pizio R, Ribizzi G, et al. The changing face of multiple sclerosis: prevalence and incidence in an aging population. *Mult Scler.* (2015) 21:1244–50. doi: 10.1177/1352458514561904

103. Solomon AJ. Diagnosis, differential diagnosis, and misdiagnosis of multiple sclerosis. *Continuum (Minneap Minn)*. (2019) 25:611–35. doi: 10.1212/CON.00000000000028

104. Song J, Westerlind H, McKay KA, Almqvist C, Stridh P, Kockum I, et al. Familial risk of early- and late-onset multiple sclerosis: a Swedish nationwide study. *J Neurol.* (2019) 266:481–6. doi: 10.1007/s00415-018-9163-6

105. Stephens S, Schneiderman JE, Finlayson M, Berenbaum T, Motl RW, Yeh EA. Feasibility of a theory-informed mobile app for changing physical activity in youth with multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2022) 58:103467. doi: 10.1016/j. msard.2021.103467

106. Thompson AJ, Banwell BL, Barkhof F, Carroll WM, Coetzee T, Comi G, et al. Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria. *Lancet Neurol.* (2018) 17:162–73. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30470-2

107. Tindall T, Topcu G, Thomas S, Bale C, Evangelou N, Drummond A, et al. Developing a patient care pathway for emotional support around the point of multiple sclerosis diagnosis: a stakeholder engagement study. *Health Expect.* (2023) 26:858–68. doi: 10.1111/hex.13711

108. Tremlett H, Fadrosh DW, Faruqi AA, Hart J, Roalstad S, Graves J, et al. Associations between the gut microbiota and host immune markers in pediatric multiple sclerosis and controls. *BMC Neurol.* (2016) 16:182. doi: 10.1186/s12883-016-0703-3

109. Tremlett H, Zhu F, Arnold D, Bar-Or A, Bernstein CN, Bonner C, et al. The gut microbiota in pediatric multiple sclerosis and demyelinating syndromes. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* (2021) 8:2252–69. doi: 10.1002/acn3.51476

110. Tutuncu M, Tang J, Zeid NA, Kale N, Crusan DJ, Atkinson EJ, et al. Onset of progressive phase is an age-dependent clinical milestone in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*. (2013) 19:188–98. doi: 10.1177/1352458512451510

111. Valentino P, Marnetto F, Martire S, Malucchi S, Bava CI, Popovic M, et al. Serum neurofilament light chain levels in healthy individuals: a proposal of cut-off values for use in multiple sclerosis clinical practice. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2021) 54:103090. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.103090

112. Vaughn CB, Jakimovski D, Kavak KS, Ramanathan M, Benedict RHB, Zivadinov R, et al. Epidemiology and treatment of multiple sclerosis in elderly populations. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2019) 15:329–42. doi: 10.1038/s41582-019-0183-3

113. Virgilio E, Vecchio D, Crespi I, Serino R, Cantello R, Dianzani U, et al. Cerebrospinal tau levels as a predictor of early disability in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2021) 56:103231. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.103231

114. Vural P, Zenginler Yazgan Y, Tarakci E, Guler S, Saltik S. The effects of online exercise training on physical functions and quality of life in patients with pediatric-onset multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2023) 74:104710. doi: 10.1016/j. msard.2023.104710

115. Weideman AM, Barbour C, Tapia-Maltos MA, Tran T, Jackson K, Kosa P, et al. New multiple sclerosis disease severity scale predicts future accumulation of disability. *Front Neurol.* (2017) 8:598. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00598

116. Weideman AM, Tapia-Maltos MA, Johnson K, Greenwood M, Bielekova B. Metaanalysis of the age-dependent efficacy of multiple sclerosis treatments. *Front Neurol.* (2017) 8:577. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00577

117. Ysrraelit MC, Correale J. Impact of Andropause on multiple sclerosis. Front Neurol. (2021) 12:766308. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.766308

118. Zanghì A, Avolio C, Amato MP, Filippi M, Trojano M, Patti F, et al. First-line therapies in late-onset multiple sclerosis: an Italian registry study. *Eur J Neurol.* (2021) 28:4117–23. doi: 10.1111/ene.15006

119. Ziaei A, Lavery AM, Shao XM, Adams C, Casper TC, Rose J, et al. Gene-environment interactions increase the risk of pediatric-onset multiple sclerosis associated with ozone pollution. *Mult Scler.* (2022) 28:1330–9. doi: 10.1177/13524585211069926

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Alessandra Lugaresi, University of Bologna, Italy

REVIEWED BY Paolo Ragonese, University of Palermo, Italy Amin Zarghami, University of Tasmania, Australia

*CORRESPONDENCE Malthe Faurschou Wandall-Holm Malthe.faurschou.wandall-holm@regionh.dk

RECEIVED 30 April 2023 ACCEPTED 18 May 2023 PUBLISHED 13 June 2023

CITATION

Wandall-Holm MF, Holm RP, Pontieri L, Sellebjerg F and Magyari M (2023) Socioeconomic status of the elderly MS population compared to the general population: a nationwide Danish matched cross-sectional study. *Front. Neurol.* 14:1214897. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1214897

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Wandall-Holm, Holm, Pontieri, Sellebjerg and Magyari. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Socioeconomic status of the elderly MS population compared to the general population: a nationwide Danish matched cross-sectional study

Malthe Faurschou Wandall-Holm^{1*}, Rolf Pringler Holm¹, Luigi Pontieri¹, Finn Sellebjerg² and Melinda Magyari^{1.2}

¹Danish Multiple Sclerosis Registry, Department of Neurology, Copenhagen University Hospital – Rigshospitalet, Glostrup, Denmark, ²Department of Neurology, Danish Multiple Sclerosis Center, Copenhagen University Hospital – Rigshospitalet, Glostrup, Denmark

Introduction/objectives: Multiple sclerosis (MS) leads to physical and cognitive disability, which in turn impacts the socioeconomic status of the individual. The altered socioeconomic trajectory combined with the critical role of aging in MS progression could potentially lead to pronounced differences between MS patients and the general population. Few nations have the ability to connect long-term clinical and socioeconomic data at the individual level, and Denmark's robust population-based registries offer unique insights. This study aimed to examine the socioeconomic aspects of elderly Danish MS patients in comparison to matched controls from the general population.

Methods: A nationwide population-based study in Denmark was conducted, comprising all living MS patients aged 50 years or older as of 1 January 2021. Patients were matched 1:10 based on sex, age, ethnicity, and residence with a 25% sample of the total Danish population. Demographic and clinical information was sourced from the Danish Multiple Sclerosis Registry, while socioeconomic data were derived from national population-based registries containing details on education, employment, social services, and household characteristics. Univariate comparisons between MS patients and matched controls were then carried out.

Results: The study included 8,215 MS patients and 82,150 matched individuals, with a mean age of 63.4 years (SD: 8.9) and a 2:1 female-to-male ratio. For those aged 50–64 years, MS patients demonstrated lower educational attainment (high education: 28.3 vs. 34.4%, P < 0.001) and fewer received income from employment (46.0 vs. 78.9%, P < 0.001), and working individuals had a lower annual income (48,500 vs. 53,500 \in , P < 0.001) in comparison to the controls. Additionally, MS patients within this age group were more likely to receive publicly funded practical assistance (14.3 vs. 1.6%, P < 0.001) and personal care (10.5 vs. 0.8%, P < 0.001). Across the entire population, MS patients were more likely to live alone (38.7 vs. 33.8%, P < 0.001) and less likely to have one or more children (84.2 vs. 87.0%, P < 0.001).

Conclusion: MS presents significant socioeconomic challenges among the elderly population, such as unemployment, reduced income, and increased dependence

on social care. These findings underscore the pervasive impact of MS on an individual's life course, extending beyond the clinical symptoms of cognitive and physical impairment.

KEYWORDS

multiple sclerosis (MS), aging, income, education, socioeconomics, family, patient-centered care

1. Introduction

Over the last few decades, the mean age among patients with multiple sclerosis (MS) has increased (1, 2). This trend may be attributed to advances in diagnostics, the impact of disease-modifying therapies (DMT), improved supportive care enhancing prognosis, and a general increase in life expectancy in the general population. Another contributing factor is the rise in the incidence of late-onset MS, which includes individuals experiencing their first clinical symptom after the age of 50 (1, 2). This demographic shift is important as MS is primarily considered a disease of young adults. The approach to elderly patients is likely to be markedly different due to unique clinical characteristics, comorbidities, and daily life needs within this select patient group.

Traditional clinical parameters are limited in providing a comprehensive view of an MS population, as functional scores such as the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) have several shortcomings (3, 4). Consequently, socioeconomic factors become crucial in describing the state of patients with MS. These parameters directly impact patient's lives and are often more relatable for both patients and decision-makers, particularly when considering the long-term consequences of MS (5).

Universally, the general population's need for personal care and practical assistance increases with age (6). However, in a disease like MS, where disability accumulates over time, the interaction with age may further amplify this effect. It is thus essential to investigate the growing population of older patients with MS, especially given the high societal cost of caretaking for these patients (7, 8).

An MS diagnosis has also been shown to affect personal finances adversely. Patients with MS tend to experience reduced workability and the proportion of patients receiving disability pension or lacking labor-related income increases following an MS diagnosis (9–11). Our previous research has demonstrated that Danish patients with MS are at a higher risk of losing all income from earnings and face a much higher likelihood of receiving disability pension than healthy controls (12).

This study aims to describe multiple aspects of the aging population with MS, focusing on differences in employment, workability, and family-related income, outcomes in patients with MS over 50 years old by comparing them to matched individuals from the general population.

2. Methods

2.1. Study design and study population

We conducted a matched nationwide cross-sectional study in Denmark, with a reference date of 1 January 2021. From the Danish Multiple Sclerosis Registry (13) (DMSR), we identified all patients with a diagnosis of definite MS. To be included in the study, patients had to be above 50 years of age, alive, and living in Denmark at the reference date. We matched each patient to 10 controls from a 25% random sample of the entire Danish background population (excluding patients with MS) based on sex, exact age, ethnicity, and geographic region at the reference date. To investigate parental status, we constructed a population that included all children born to individuals from the MS population and the 25% random sample, selecting the children of all individuals enrolled in the study.

In addition, we performed a longitudinal sub-analysis on work-related measures that included all participants from the cross-sectional study aged between 50 and 64 years from 1980 to 2020. The cutoff at 64 years was due to the Danish state pension age of 65 years for people born before 1 July 1959. Since then, the state pension age has gradually increased to adjust for increased life expectancy and demographical changes, but the threshold at 64 years was set to reduce temporal selection bias. We collected their annual economic data for each integer age level within the specified age range. Subsequently, we created graphical representations, displaying the proportion of individuals receiving disability pension or having no income from employment and the annual income in euros for those with an income from work and were not receiving disability pension to analyze trends across age levels.

2.2. Data sources and variables

The unique personal identification code assigned to all Danish citizens or individuals with a permanent address residing in the country for more than 3 months enabled cross-linkage between registries on the individual level (14).

2.2.1. Clinical

The DMSR is a nationwide, population-based registry containing information on all patients with MS since 1948. Currently, data are obtained from each of the 13 MS clinics

distributed around the country and are entered directly into an online platform by clinicians. Since the introduction of DMTs on the Danish market in 1996, data entry on treated patients has been mandatory. The data are the basis for national clinical quality indicators ensuring a high degree of completeness and validity (15). The DMSR contains clinical data on demographic information, diagnostics, disease status, imaging, and more.

From the DMSR, we collected age, sex, age at clinical onset, current phenotype, latest EDSS score within 2 years, relapse activity, and time since the last clinical visit. We calculated disease duration as the difference in years between the onset and the reference date.

2.2.2. Socioeconomic

Socioeconomic and demographic information was collected from several national Danish population-based registries such as the Population Statistics Register (PSR), the Income Statistics Register (ISR), the Employment Classification Module (AKM), the Sickness Benefits Statistics Register (SBSR), the Danish Education Register (DER), the Elderly Documentation Register (EDR), the Immigrants and Descendants Register (IDR), the Danish Rational Economic Agents Model (DREAM), the Social Pensions Register (SOCP), the Cause of Death Register (CDR), the Historical Migration Register (VNDS), and the Register-based Labor Force Statistics (RAS). Through the Fertility Database (FER) we identified children of study participants from both the MS and general population. The nationwide registers have an expected coverage of 97% of the population and a high level of validity (16). For the cross-sectional study, all data were collected for 2020 except for work absence from SBSR, which was only available for 2019.

In Denmark, the municipality office functions as a local government authority. It provides a range of social services, including assistance with personal care (such as dressing, bathing, and toileting) and practical help (such as cleaning, grocery shopping, and laundry). The municipality conducts an individual assessment to determine the required level of support. Information about the services provided is reported to the EDR, from which we collected data on the weekly amount of personal and practical help.

From the AKM, we collected information about the occupational classification based on the International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO) to determine the primary source of income grouped as either "wage earner," "pensioner," "long-term unemployed," or "others." Long-term unemployed individuals are either unemployed for more than half a year or recipients of social security benefits, which is financial assistance provided to individuals who are unemployed or have a low income.

From the PSR, we collected cohabitation and marital status. Cohabitation was defined as living with another adult (18 years or older) or living alone.

We collected gross annual income from primary and secondary employment and benefits or allowances from the ISR. The income was subsequently adjusted using the net price index with 2015 as the reference year to account for inflation and allow for direct purchasing power comparisons.

From RAS, we collected information on working hours categorized as either "full-time" or "part-time." An individual was

considered to be working full-time if they, on average, worked more than or equal to 32 h a week annually and part-time if they worked fewer than 32 h a week.

From SBSR, we collected information on the duration of longterm absence from work due to illness, with long-term defined as having 30 or more days of absence. In Denmark, an employer can receive public financial aid if an employee has 30 or more days of absence due to illness. As such, employers are highly incentivized to report long-term illness to the municipality office, but this registry does not ensure complete coverage.

From the DER, we collected the highest, completed education and converted it into three categories according to the International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED) classification (17): ISCED level 0–2, ISCED level 3–4, and ISCED level 5–8, corresponding to low, medium, and high educational levels. For an extended description of the ISCED classification and the translation from Danish to English terminology, see Supplementary Description 1.

From DREAM, we collected data on whether an individual had received a social transfer payment designated as "disability pension." In Denmark, disability pension is public support benefit provided to individuals whose work capacity is permanently and substantially reduced, rendering them unable to support themselves in the labor market. To apply for disability pension, a formal application must be submitted to the municipal office. The assessment process for eligibility involves an evaluation of the individual's work ability and potential for reskilling or receiving additional support for employment. A medical evaluation conducted by a healthcare professional is typically part of this process.

The structure of the disability pension system underwent a reform in 2003 to simplify and restrict access. Prior to 2003, the benefit was distributed across four levels, depending on the age of the individual and the degree of loss of working ability for individuals of working age (18–65 years). After 2003, the benefit was reduced to one level (adjusted for cohabitation) and was primarily granted to individuals between 40 and 65 years of age although exceptions for individuals under 40 years are permitted. In our study, we categorize the status of "receiving disability pension" binarily irrespective of whether it was granted before or after the 2003 reform.

2.3. Statistical analysis

Patient and control characteristics are displayed as frequencies with corresponding percentages, mean values, and standard deviation (SD) or median values with the 1st and 3rd quartiles. In the longitudinal analysis, we display the proportion of persons with disability pension and no taxable income (not mutually exclusive) and median annual income in euros with whiskers displaying the first and third quartile for those receiving a taxable income.

For the cross-sectional descriptive analysis, missing data are included as a missing category. For the longitudinal analysis, there was no missing data on disability pension. In the rare case of a patient missing a record for one or more income years in ISR



(present in 0.56% of patients), the years with missing information were disregarded.

For significance testing of differences between groups, multiple models were applied according to the outcome variable and accounting for the clustering of matches. For nominal outcomes, we used a Rao-Scott chi-square test. For all other outcomes, we used a generalized estimating equation: binary outcomes had a logit link function and ordinal outcomes had a multinomial distribution with a cumulative logit link, and for non-normally distributed continuous outcomes, we used a Wald-type rank test (18). *P*-values were adjusted for multiplicity by the Benjamini and Hochberg (FDR) procedure.

No sensitivity analyses were performed. Data management and table creation were carried out using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) and figures were created using R version 3.4.3.

2.4. Ethics, approvals, and data access

ethical Informed consent or approval is not а requirement for anonymized register-based studies in Denmark. The study is conducted under the Danish and registered at the Knowledge GDPR Center for Data Reviews, the data-responsible entity of the Capital Region of Denmark, approved by the Danish Data Protection Agency. Access to data is available upon qualified request.

All cells containing information from fewer than five subjects (or neighbors allowing cross-cell calculations) are censored to avoid personally identifiable data. Data preparation was performed on secure servers hosted by Statistics Denmark.

3. Results

A total of 15,252 patients in the DMSR were screened for eligibility, and 8,215 met the inclusion criteria and were enrolled in the study population (Figure 1A). Each patient was matched with 10 individuals, resulting in a control group of 82,150 individuals from the background population. The mean age of the entire population was 63.4 years (SD: 8.9) at the reference date with a female-to-male ratio of 2:1 (68.3% were female participants), and 99.2% were of Danish ethnicity. For patients who had an EDSS score recorded within the last 2 years, the median score was 3.5 (Q₁-Q₃ = 2.0–6.0); however, 44% (n = 3,585) did not have a recent EDSS assessment. See Table 1 for further characteristics of the MS population.

Table 2 presents the educational- and labor-related parameters. For individuals aged 65 years or older (mean age of 72.2 years), the difference in the educational level between people with MS and the controls was minor and not statistically significant. However, for patients younger than 65 years (mean age of 56.9 years), a greater proportion of individuals with MS had a low educational level (22.5 vs. 19.6%) and a medium educational level (48.8 vs. 44.9%), while a smaller proportion had a high educational level (28.3 vs. 34.4%). Overall, the education levels of both people with MS and the controls increased over time when comparing the two age groups.

Table 2 also highlights a significant difference in the proportion of people receiving income from work regardless of age. Among those under 65 years old, only 46.0% of people with MS received income from employment compared to 78.9% among controls. For individuals aged 65 years or older, the proportions were 5.9% for those with MS vs. 15.6% for controls. The primary source of income exhibited a similar pattern: among individuals under 65 years of

TABLE 1	Demographic and	clinical characteristics	of the MS population.
---------	-----------------	--------------------------	-----------------------

	MS population
Number of patients	8,215
Age, years, mean (SD)	63.4 (8.9)
Age at onset, years, mean (SD)	39.3 (11.2)
Disease duration, years, mean (SD)	24.1 (12.6)
Latest EDSS within 2 years, median (Q1–Q3), $n_{\rm miss}$	3.5 (2.0-6.0), $n_{\rm miss} = 3,585$
Time since last visit, years, median (Q1–Q3), $n_{\rm miss}$	1.3 (0.4–11.5), $n_{\rm miss} = 0$
Sex, n (%)	
Male	2,602 (31.7)
Female	5,613 (68.3)
Ethnicity, n (%)	
Danish	8,147 (99.2)
Other	68 (0.8)
Phenotype, n (%)	
RRMS	3,664 (44.6)
SPMS	2,043 (24.9)
PPMS	1,364 (16.6)
Unspecified	1,144 (13.9)
One or more relapses recorded in the la	st 2 years, <i>n</i> (%)
Yes	449 (5.5)
No	7,766 (94.5)

EDSS, expanded disability status scale; RRMS, relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; SPMS, secondary progressive multiple sclerosis; PPMS, primary-progressive multiple sclerosis.

age, only 39.7% of people with MS had "labor" as their primary source of income compared to 76.6% among controls. Conversely, 48.0% of the people with MS had "pension" as their primary source of income compared to 12.5% among controls. The overall trend persists among those aged 65 years or older though the differences were less pronounced.

Figure 2 presents results from the longitudinal analysis, allowing individuals to contribute data to each integer age (Patient disposition, Figure 1B). Figure 2A displays the prevalence of disability pension recipients among individuals aged 50–64 years with and without MS, illustrating a consistent relative difference throughout this senior working age. Figure 2B depicts the varying prevalence of individuals with no income from employment in the same age range for those with and without MS. This illustrates that among the control group, many individuals gradually stop receiving income from work without being granted disability pensions as they age. It is important to note that some individuals will be present in both figures, but not all.

Among individuals under 65 years of age who receive income from employment, we found a statistically significant difference in the median yearly income between those with MS and controls ($48,500 \in vs. 53,500 \in$). Additionally, the proportion of people working part-time was more than double among people with MS (45.7 vs. 18.6%), and the percentage of people who had more than 30 sick days per year was also higher among the MS population (13.4 vs. 8.7%). Figure 2C illustrates the distinct median yearly incomes for individuals aged 50–64 years who have an income but are not on disability pension, displaying that the median income is slightly lower among people with MS across all age groups. However, if an individual with MS maintains income from employment, they follow a similar trajectory as the controls.

Table 3 presents information on municipal social services provided. Overall, the proportion of individuals receiving practical help or personal care increased with age when comparing those younger than 65 years to those older. In the under-65 age group, people with MS received practical help almost nine times more frequently than those without MS (14.3 vs. 1.6%). However, the amount of practical help received was similar (2.0 vs. 1.7 monthly hours). In the same age group, 10.5% of people with MS received personal care with a median of 18.3 monthly hours compared to just 0.8% of people without MS who received personal care with a median of 4.7 monthly hours. This trend persisted among individuals aged 65 years and older.

Table 4 presents family characteristics for the study population. People with MS tended to live alone more frequently (38.7 vs. 33.8%) and had a lower marriage rate (56.3 vs. 59.2%) compared to the control group at the reference date. Upon examining divorce prevalence, a difference between sexes emerged: male participants with MS had a higher proportion of divorce compared to male controls (18.9 vs. 15.8%), while this difference was not observed among female participants with MS (19.5 vs. 19.3%).

The proportion of people having children was lower in the MS population at 84.2% compared to 87.0% among controls. This difference was even more pronounced among female participants (85.7 vs. 89.1%) but less among male participants (80.7 vs. 82.6%). Among those with at least one child, the average number of children was nearly identical (2.1 vs. 2.2), and the parent's age at the birth of the first child was also similar (26.2 vs. 26.5 years), with male participants generally being older than female participants (27.9–28.5 vs. 25.4–25.6 years).

4. Discussion

In this Danish nationwide population-based study, we found significant socioeconomic differences between people with MS and the matched general population, such as reduced employment, lower earnings, and a higher reliance on social benefits. Various socioeconomic factors can serve as indicators of an individual's functional level, and we focused on education, employment, income, and family-related factors. Investigating socioeconomic outcomes is essential as MS typically has onset in early life, affecting individuals functionally and financially for the majority of their lives. Moreover, MS imposes considerable direct and indirect costs on society, especially evident in the growing proportion of elderly individuals in the MS population (19, 20).

In individuals younger than 65 years, the highest achieved educational level was lower in the MS population compared to the matched controls from the background population. However, for those aged 65 years or older, no difference in the educational level was observed between the two groups. Generally, both the MS and control population had lower education levels among those aged TABLE 2 Socioeconomic parameters in the MS and the matched population.

		<65 years			\geq 65 years	
	Background	MS	P-value	Background	MS	P-value
Number of persons	50,040	5,004	-	32,110	3,211	_
Age, mean (SD) ^a	56.9 (4.2)	56.9 (4.2)	-	72.2 (5.7)	72.2 (5.7)	-
Educational level ^b , <i>n</i> (%)						
ISCED 0-2 (low)	9,804 (19.6)	1,128 (22.5)	< 0.001	10,074 (31.4)	1,048 (32.6)	0.08
ISCED 3-4 (medium)	22,473 (44.9)	2,443 (48.8)		13,285 (41.4)	1,345 (41.9)	
ISCED 5+ (high)	17,233 (34.4)	1,414 (28.3)		8,470 (26.4)	808 (25.2)	
Missing	530 (1.1)	19 (0.4)		281 (0.9)	10 (0.3)	
Primary source of income, n (%)						
Wage earner	38,311 (76.7)	1,987 (39.7)	< 0.001	3,309 (10.3)	135 (4.2)	< 0.001
Pensioner ^c	6,280 (12.5)	2,400 (48.0)		28,597 (89.1)	3,060 (95.3)	
Long-term unemployment	3,737 (7.5)	541 (10.8)		127 (0.4)	10 (0.3)	
Other	1,712 (3.4)	76 (1.5)		77 (0.2)	6 (0.2)	
Receiving income from work ^d , n (%)	39,495 (78.9)	2,301 (46.0)	< 0.001	5,008 (15.6)	189 (5.9)	< 0.001
If receiving income from work ^d						
Number of persons	39,495	2,301		5,008	189	
Annual income in €, median (Q1–Q3)	53,500 (41,000-68,000)	48,500 (25,000–63,500)	<0.001	20,000 (3,000-49,500)	15,500 (2,000–45,500)	<0.001
Full time or part-time, <i>n</i> (%)						
Full time	28,286 (71.6)	1,032 (44.9)	< 0.001	1,379 (27.5)	37 (19.6)	0.05
Part time	7,352 (18.6)	1,051 (45.7)		1,853 (37.0)	60 (31.7)	
Missing	3,856 (9.8)	218 (9.5)		1,776 (35.5)	92 (48.7)	
More than 30 days of absence	3,438 (8.7)	309 (13.4)	< 0.001	219 (4.4)	8 (4.2)	0.93

^aMatching variable.

^bThe highest completed education converted into three categories according to the International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED) classification: ISCED level 0–2, ISCED level 3–4, and ISCED level 5–8, corresponding to low, medium, and high educational levels.

^cFor the age group <65 years, this is mainly disability pensions (>95%), but also a few other minor early retirement pension schemes.

^dAdditionally not receiving disability pension.

65 years or older compared to those under 65 years. This finding implies that people with MS may have benefited less from the overall increase in educational levels observed in recent decades. A potential explanation for the observed divergence in educational levels between the populations above and below 65 years of age could be the increased cognitive demands associated with higher education levels. As a result, the cognitive impairment and fatigue commonly experienced by MS patients might hinder them from maintaining pace. Nevertheless, previous studies from other countries have reported mixed findings on this subject. Some found no differences in the educational level between the MS population and the background population (21), while other studies reported a higher educational level among people with MS (22, 23). The observed variations might result from important differences in data sources and study designs: discrepancies could arise from different data structures and classification of socioeconomic indicators (such as grouping of educational levels). Additionally, one of the studies only matched on age and sex and did not account for reported differences in ethnicity or geographical factors (22). The other two studies did not consider sex, age, ethnicity, or geographical differences when comparing the MS population, which had a highly specific composition of characteristics, to more general populations (21, 23). Furthermore, when conducting inter-country comparisons, it is crucial to consider differences in access and funding for education up to the university level. In Denmark, education is provided free of charge, and all residents are entitled to student grants. Moreover, if a person is disabled, the state offers additional financial and social support.

People with MS demonstrated a weaker connection to the labor market with a significantly lower proportion receiving income from employment and a lower proportion employed full-time. Additionally, a higher percentage of people with MS had over 30 days of absence or received disability pension. Among those receiving income from employment, people with MS had lower annual earnings in 2020. However, when examining temporal trends, the difference in earnings showed considerable yearto-year fluctuations (Supplementary Figure 1). Numerous studies have investigated employment-related outcomes, revealing a wide range of differences due to variations in data sources, study sizes, and social systems across countries. A study conducted in New



Longitudinal analysis. All panels display variable distributions according to age and group with "number of persons" at the bottom indicating the number of individuals in each data point. (A) Persons with disability pension. (B) Persons without income from work. Individuals can be present in both (A, B). (C) Median annual income for persons with an income. Individuals can only contribute data to (C), if not present in (A) or (B) (i.e., do not have disability pension and do have income from work).

TABLE 3 Municipal services provided.

Population		<65 years		65	years or more	
	Background	MS	P-value	Background	MS	P-value
Number of persons	50,040	5,004	-	32,100	3,210	-
Practical help, <i>n</i> (%)	777 (1.6)	715 (14.3)	< 0.001	2,361 (7.4)	909 (28.3)	< 0.001
If yes, hours, median (Q1–Q3)	1.7 (0.8–2.4)	2.0 (1.3-3.8)	< 0.001	1.7 (0.9–2.6)	2.1 (1.3-4.2)	< 0.001
Personal care, n (%)	376 (0.8)	524 (10.5)	< 0.001	1,552 (4.8)	866 (27.0)	< 0.001
If yes, hours, median (Q1–Q3)	4.7 (1.2–13.7)	18.3 (4.3–52.0)	< 0.001	3.7 (1.0-11.6)	21.4 (5.2-61.8)	< 0.001

Zealand demonstrated a significant disparity between the MS population and the general population (23), and a Danish study from 2010 found that among those receiving disability pension, the median time to obtain it was 10 years for MS patients and 24 years for controls (11). It is important to note that the eligibility criteria for disability pension are subject to temporal variations in accordance with contemporary implementations of social policies. All previous studies investigating income-related outcomes in MS patients showed pronounced differences when compared to the general population. A previous Swedish study indicated a 28% difference in the proportions of people with MS and those without, receiving income from employment (39 and 67%, respectively) (24). Income is strongly linked to disability and serves as an indicator of the clinical progression of MS. One study reported that individuals with higher levels of physical disability were more likely to receive social benefits and less likely to have earnings (25). However, the lower cognitive function has been reported to affect income independently from a physical disability level, revealing the shortcomings of the EDSS in capturing the comprehensive picture of the patient (26).

Assessing income and employment outcomes can offer valuable insights into the effectiveness of treatment strategies. Data from the DMSR have demonstrated that early treatment can lower the risk of disability pension among patients with RRMS (27). Another DMSR study showed that a clinically stable disease course was associated with a decreased risk of losing income from salaries and a reduced risk of disability pension, emphasizing the importance of adequate treatment (28).

People with MS received more practical help and personal care assigned by the municipality than the matched individuals from the background population. This not only underlines the difference in accumulated disability in the two populations but also exemplifies why MS caretaking is associated with high economic costs, as also shown in previous studies (7, 8, 19, 20). A person's need for practical help and personal care can also impact close relatives. We found differences in family-related parameters among people with MS compared to controls. They were more likely to live alone, and a lower proportion was married at the reference date. Our results also confirmed previous findings that male participants with MS were more likely to be divorced compared to the background (29, 30).

Parenthood was also affected as a smaller proportion of people with MS had children; however, the difference in the number of children between parents with MS and without MS was negligible. One possible explanation is that the average age at first childbirth is lower than the average age at MS onset resulting in many individuals having established a family before receiving the MS diagnosis. Furthermore, the recommendations on family planning have undergone significant changes over the past few decades. In the past, women were advised not to have children, while contemporary women with MS are encouraged to pursue parenthood due to increasing possibilities for treatment and strong evidence that pregnancy does not interact adversely with the course of MS (31, 32).

This study has several limitations primarily due to its crosssectional design. The cross-sectional design does not allow for the establishment of causal relationships between variables, and the obtained results may differ if the study were conducted at a different time (reference date) as this design does not take temporal changes into account. Consequently, we cannot project the future trajectory of the observed differences between people with MS and controls from the background population. Furthermore, all comparisons between the two groups are univariate and unadjusted for potential confounders, apart from the matching covariates.

When investigating working ability, the study lacked specific data on the nature of the participants' employment, which limits the ability to provide a more nuanced understanding of what contributes to differences in working ability. A previous Danish study showed that the likelihood of early pension for patients with physical work was 26% higher than that of patients with non-physical jobs (11).

Another limitation of the study is the generalizability of socioeconomic differences among individuals with MS as these differences are largely dependent on the comparability of social systems and societal structures across different countries. However, socioeconomic characteristics have been shown to be robust outcome measures, indicating that MS can have broad adverse consequences on various areas of life. When investigating the development of socioeconomic measures over a longer period, changes in social legislation should be taken into consideration which further complicates comparing results from different countries. Therefore, while the study provides valuable insights into the socioeconomic differences among individuals with MS, it is essential to consider the unique contexts of each country when interpreting the findings and comparing them to other studies conducted in different countries.

The strength of this large study lies in the completeness of data and the possibility to link Danish nationwide registries at the individual level. By matching on age, sex, ethnicity, and geographical region, the study was able to remove possible biases associated with these covariates. Adjusting for ethnicity is

0
<u> </u>
(D)
2
- 75
~
σ,
~
on .
_
0
>
_
=
li
am
am
am
Fam
am
4 Fam
Fam
4 Fam
4 Fam
4 Fam
4 Fam
4 Fam

Ś

	Ful	Full population			Female			Male	
	Background	MS	<i>P</i> -value	Background	MS	<i>P</i> -value	Background	MS	<i>P</i> -value
Number of persons	82,150	8,215	I	56,130	5,613	I	26,020	2,602	I
Cohabitation, <i>n</i> (%)									
With another	54,368 (66.2)	5,034 (61.3)	<0.001	35,966 (64.1)	3,385 (60.3)	< 0.001	18,402~(70.7)	1,649 (63.4)	<0.001
Alone	27,782 (33.8)	3,181 (38.7)		20,164 (35.9)	2,228 (39.7)		7,618 (29.3)	953 (36.6)	
Marital status, <i>n</i> (%)									
Married (+ separated)	48,655 (59.2)	4,629 (56.3)	<0.001	32,282 (57.5)	3,080 (54.9)	< 0.001	16,373 (62.9)	1,549~(59.5)	<0.001
Divorced	14,951 (18.2)	1,589~(19.3)		10,843~(19.3)	1,096 (19.5)		4,108~(15.8)	493 (18.9)	
Unmarried	11,494 (14.0)	1,259 (15.3)		7,009 (12.5)	816 (14.5)		4,485 (17.2)	443 (17.0)	
Widow(er)	7,050 (8.6)	738 (9.0)		5,996 (10.7)	621 (11.1)		1,054~(4.1)	117 (4.5)	
Has at least one child, <i>n</i> (%)	71,502 (87.0)	6,913 (84.2)	<0.001	50,020 (89.1)	4,813 (85.7)	< 0.001	21,482 (82.6)	2,100 (80.7)	0.02
If yes, number of children, mean (SD)	2.2 (0.9)	2.1 (0.9)	<0.001	2.2 (0.9)	2.1 (0.8)	< 0.001	2.2 (0.9)	2.2 (0.9)	0.01
If yes, parent age at first child, mean (SD)	26.5 (5.3)	26.2 (5.0)	<0.001	25.6 (5.0)	25.4 (4.7)	< 0.001	28.5 (5.4)	27.9 (5.3)	<0.001

important as the background population in Denmark includes a significant proportion of 12% foreigners and descendants (compared to 0.8% in the Danish MS population), who may have

(compared to 0.8% in the Danish MS population), who may have different characteristics such as educational level, income, and family structure but also a different susceptibility for MS (33). Socioeconomic data, obtained from public registers, can capture other aspects of the disease such as fatigue and cognition, which physical disability measured by EDSS may not reflect. These data can serve as proxy parameters of disability or surrogate markers of the individual functional level.

In conclusion, MS can have a significant impact on the socioeconomical trajectory of an individual, which is particularly evident among elderly people with MS. This study highlights differences across multiple socio-economic domains such as education, employment, and family status. Therefore, when considering the comprehensive wellbeing of a patient, socioeconomic outcomes are important and robust measures of disability and individual function level. These measures reflect the broader consequences of MS on a person's life, extending beyond physical disability and providing a more holistic understanding of the challenges faced by individuals with MS.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because access to data is only available upon qualified request and approval by the Knowledge Center for Data Reviews (data responsible entity of the Capital Region of Denmark, approved by the Danish Data Protection Agency) and the Danish Multiple Sclerosis group. Requests to access the datasets should be directed at: www.dmsr.dk.

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

Author contributions

MW-H and MM conceived and designed the study. MW-H and RH wrote the first draft of the manuscript. MW-H, RH, and LP were responsible for statistical analyses. RH, MM, and FS did the review of concurrent medical literature. All authors assisted in the study design, were involved in the interpretation and final review of the data, drafting, or revising the manuscript for intellectual content, and approved the final version.

Funding

This study was financially supported by the Danish Multiple Sclerosis Society, a non-governmental, patient organization.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge all Danish departments of neurology for assisting in the collection of data and the Danish Multiple Sclerosis Society for funding the Danish Multiple Sclerosis Registry.

Conflict of interest

MW-H has served on scientific advisory board for Sanofi and has received honoraria for lecturing for Novartis and Sanofi. RH has served on scientific advisory board for Novartis and has received honoraria for lecturing for Novartis and Sanofi. FS has served on scientific advisory boards for, served as consultant for, received support for congress participation or received speaker honoraria from Alexion, Biogen, Bristol Myers Squibb, H. Lundbeck A/S, Merck, Novartis, Roche and Sanofi Genzyme. His laboratory has received research support from Merck, Novartis, Roche, and Sanofi Genzyme. MM has served in scientific advisory board for Sanofi, Novartis, Merck, and has received honoraria for lecturing

References

1. Koch-Henriksen N, Thygesen LC, Stenager E, Laursen B, Magyari M. Incidence of MS has increased markedly over six decades in Denmark particularly with late onset and in women. *Neurology*. (2018) 90:e1954–63. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000005612

2. Solaro C, Ponzio M, Moran E, Tanganelli P, Pizio R, Ribizzi G, et al. The changing face of multiple sclerosis: prevalence and incidence in an aging population. *Mult Scler J.* (2015) 21:1244–50. doi: 10.1177/1352458514561904

3. Meyer-Moock S, Feng YS, Maeurer M, Dippel FW, Kohlmann T. Systematic literature review and validity evaluation of the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) and the multiple sclerosis functional composite (MSFC) in patients with multiple sclerosis. *BMC Neurol.* (2014) 14:58. doi: 10.1186/1471-2377-14-58

4. van Munster CEP, Uitdehaag BMJ. Outcome measures in clinical trials for multiple sclerosis. CNS Drugs. (2017) 31:217–36. doi: 10.1007/s40263-017-0412-5

 Kavaliunas A, Danylaite Karrenbauer V, Hillert J. Socioeconomic consequences of multiple sclerosis—a systematic literature review. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (2021) 143:587– 601. doi: 10.1111/ane.13411

6. Mitzner TL, Beer JM, McBride SE, Rogers WA, Fisk AD. Older adults' needs for home health care and the potential for human factors interventions. *Hum Factors Ergon Soc Annu Meet Proc.* (2009) 53:718–22. doi: 10.1177/154193120905301118

7. Whetten-Goldstein K, Sloan FA, Goldstein LB, Kulas ED. A comprehensive assessment of the cost of multiple sclerosis in the United States. *Mult Scler J.* (1998) 4:419–25. doi: 10.1177/135245859800400504

8. Bebo B, Cintina I, LaRocca N, Ritter L, Talente B, Hartung D, et al. The economic burden of multiple sclerosis in the United States. *Neurology*. (2022) 98:e1810–7. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000200150

9. Gyllensten H, Wiberg M, Alexanderson K, Hillert J, Tinghög P. How does work disability of patients with MS develop before and after diagnosis? A nationwide cohort study with a reference group. *BMJ Open.* (2016) 6:e012731. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012731

10. Landfeldt E, Castelo-Branco A, Svedbom A, Löfroth E, Kavaliunas A, Hillert J. Personal income before and after diagnosis of multiple sclerosis. *Value Health.* (2018) 21:590–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2017.09.021

11. Hilt Pfleger CC, Meulengracht Flachs E, Koch-Henriksen N. Social consequences of multiple sclerosis : early pension and temporary unemployment—a historical prospective cohort study. *Mult Scler J.* (2010) 16:121–6. doi: 10.1177/1352458509352196

12. Wandall-Holm MF, Andersen MA, Buron MD, Magyari M. Aging with multiple sclerosis: age-related factors and socioeconomic risks. *Front Neurol.* (2022) 13:818652. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.818652

from Biogen, Merck, Novartis, Roche, Sanofi Genzyme, and Bristol Myers Squibb.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fneur.2023. 1214897/full#supplementary-material

13. Magyari M, Joensen H, Laursen B, Koch-Henriksen N. The Danish Multiple Sclerosis Registry. *Brain Behav.* (2021) 11:1–10. doi: 10.1002/brb3.1921

14. Schmidt M, Pedersen L, Sørensen HT. The Danish Civil Registration System as a tool in epidemiology. *Eur J Epidemiol.* (2014) 29:541–9. doi: 10.1007/s10654-014-9930-3

15. Magyari M, Koch-Henriksen N, Sørensen P. The Danish Multiple Sclerosis Treatment Register. *Clin Epidemiol. Volume.* (2016) 8:549– 52. doi: 10.2147/CLEP.S99500

16. Erlangsen A, Fedyszyn I. Danish nationwide registers for public health and health-related research. *Scand J Public Health.* (2015) 43:333–9. doi: 10.1177/1403494815575193

17. Classification IS. International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED) 2011. Vol 5 UNESCO Institute for Statistics. (2012). doi: 10.1007/BF02207511

18. Fan C, Zhang D. Wald-type rank tests: a GEE approach. *Comput Stat Data Anal.* (2014) 74:1–16. doi: 10.1016/j.csda.2013.12.004

19. Kobelt G, Thompson A, Berg J, Gannedahl M, Eriksson J. New insights into the burden and costs of multiple sclerosis in Europe. *Mult Scler J.* (2017) 23:1123–36. doi: 10.1177/1352458517694432

20. Ernstsson O, Gyllensten H, Alexanderson K, Tinghög P, Friberg E, Norlund A. Cost of illness of multiple sclerosis - a systematic review. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0159129. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0159129

21. Gupta S, Goren A, Phillips AL, Dangond F, Stewart M. Self-reported severity among patients with multiple sclerosis in the US and its association with health outcomes. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2014) 3:78–88. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2013.06.002

22. Wiberg M, Murley C, Tinghög P, Alexanderson K, Palmer E, Hillert J, et al. Earnings among people with multiple sclerosis compared to references, in total and by educational level and type of occupation: a population-based cohort study at different points in time. *BMJ Open*. (2019) 9:e024836. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-024836

23. Pearson JF, Alla S, Clarke G, Mason DF, Anderson T, Richardson A, et al. Multiple sclerosis impact on employment and income in New Zealand. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (2017) 136:223–32. doi: 10.1111/ane.12714

24. Jennum P, Wanscher B, Frederiksen J, Kjellberg J. The socioeconomic consequences of multiple sclerosis: a controlled national study. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2012) 22:36–43. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2011.05.001

25. Kavaliunas A, Wiberg M, Tinghög P, Glaser A, Gyllensten H, Alexanderson K, et al. Earnings and financial compensation from social security systems correlate strongly with disability for multiple sclerosis patients. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0145435. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0145435

26. Kavaliunas A, Danylaite Karrenbauer V, Gyllensten H, Manouchehrinia A, Glaser A, Olsson T, et al. Cognitive function is a major determinant of income among multiple sclerosis patients in Sweden acting independently from physical disability. *Mult Scler J.* (2019) 25:104–12. doi: 10.1177/1352458517740212

27. Wandall-Holm MF, Buron MD, Kopp TI, Thielen K, Sellebjerg F, Magyari M. Time to first treatment and risk of disability pension in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2022) 93:858–64. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2022-329058

28. Chalmer TA, Buron M, Illes Z, Papp V, Theodorsdottir A, Schäfer J, et al. Clinically stable disease is associated with a lower risk of both income loss and disability pension for patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2020) 91:67–74. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2019-321523

29. Landfeldt E, Castelo-Branco A, Svedbom A, Löfroth E, Kavaliunas A, Hillert J. The long-term impact of multiple sclerosis on the risk of divorce. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2018) 24:145–50. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2018.07.002

30. Pfleger C, Flachs E, Koch-Henriksen N. Social consequences of multiple sclerosis. Part 2. Divorce and separation: a historical prospective cohort study. *Mult Scler J.* (2010) 16:878–82. doi: 10.1177/1352458510 370978

31. Andersen JB, Wandall-Holm MF, Andersen PK, Sellebjerg F, Magyari M. Pregnancy in women with MS: impact on long-term disability accrual in a nationwide Danish Cohort. *Mult Scler J.* (2022) 28:1239–47. doi: 10.1177/1352458521105 7767

32. Krysko KM, Dobson R, Alroughani R, Amato MP, Bove R, Ciplea AI, et al. Family planning considerations in people with multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2023) 22:350–66. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(22)00426-4

33. Ward M, Goldman MD. Epidemiology and pathophysiology of multiple sclerosis. *Contin Lifelong Learn Neurol.* (2022) 28:988–1005. doi: 10.1212/CON.00000000001136

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Kristen Marie Krysko, St Michael's Hospital, Canada

REVIEWED BY Omar Al-Louzi, Cedars Sinai Medical Center, United States Antje Bischof, University Hospital Münster, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Jodie R. Gawryluk ⊠ gawryluk@uvic.ca

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 17 April 2023 ACCEPTED 13 June 2023 PUBLISHED 30 June 2023

CITATION

Tokarska N, Tottenham I, Baaklini C and Gawryluk JR (2023) How does the brain age in individuals with multiple sclerosis? A systematic review.

Front. Neurol. 14:1207626. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1207626

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Tokarska, Tottenham, Baaklini and Gawryluk. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

How does the brain age in individuals with multiple sclerosis? A systematic review

Nataliya Tokarska^{1†}, Isabelle Tottenham^{2†}, Charbel Baaklini³ and Jodie R. Gawryluk⁴*

¹Department of Anatomy, Physiology and Pharmacology, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada, ²Department of Clinical Neurosciences, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada, ³Department of Neuroscience, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada, ⁴Department of Psychology, University of Victoria, Victoria, BC, Canada

Multiple Sclerosis (MS) is a complex neurological disorder that involves demyelination, lesions and atrophy in both white and gray matter. Such changes in the central nervous system are diagnostic in MS and has a strong relationship with both physical and cognitive symptoms. As a result, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scans as a metric of brain atrophy have emerged as an important outcome measure in MS studies. Recently, research has begun to focus on the contribution of aging to the structural changes in the brain associated with MS; prompting questions about whether there is an amplifying effect of aging superimposed on MS-related brain atrophy. To examine current evidence of how the brain ages in individuals with MS, a systematic review of the literature was performed. Specific guestions were focused on how aging affects gray and white matter structure, whether patterns of brain atrophy differ in younger and older cohorts and if there are structural differences in the brain as a function of sex in aging people with MS. This review considered studies that used MRI to examine the effects of aging in adults with MS. Twenty-one studies met eligibility criteria. Findings across these studies revealed that gray matter atrophy was more pronounced in older adults with MS, particularly in subcortical regions such as the thalamus; that the rates of atrophy were similar but varied by region for younger and older cohorts; and that males may experience more brain atrophy than females. Further studies that use multimodal MRI acquisition methods are needed to capture changes in both males and females over time, particularly in middle to older adulthood.

KEYWORDS

multiple sclerosis, aging, magnetic resonance imaging, systematic review, brain

Introduction

Globally, the population is aging at an unprecedented rate (1). Given the shifts in population demographics, it is essential to better understand the neurobiological aging process in both healthy conditions and in people with neurological disorders. Recent research has used magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), a non-invasive and easily repeatable technique, to depict normative trajectories of aging in gray and white matter. Specifically, Bethlehem et al. (2) used MRI data from more than 100,000 brain scans to create brain charts revealing patterns of gray and white matter atrophy in both males and females throughout middle and late adulthood (age 40 years onwards). These findings were largely in line with previous research indicating that after the age of 40 years, overall brain volume begins to decline by a rate of 5% per decade,

with increased rates of decline at 70 years onwards (3–6). These are expected changes in the brain with normative aging. Although a better understanding of the neurobiological underpinnings of aging is being developed, relatively less is known about how the brain changes with age in people with chronic neurological conditions, such as multiple sclerosis.

Multiple Sclerosis (MS) is an inflammatory demyelinating disorder which predominantly affects the central nervous system (CNS). Approximately 90% of MS cases initially present as relapsingremitting (RRMS), with acute inflammation and demyelinating lesions associated with relapsing symptoms (7). Over time, the majority of people with MS (pwMS) develop secondary progressive symptoms (SPMS), and although less common, some individuals present with primary progressive symptoms from onset (PPMS). Notably, MS tends to affect women more than men at an approximate 3:1 ratio, although, men who develop MS tend to move toward progressive stages of the disease faster (8). Regardless of the subtype, MS is characterized by chronic and cumulative changes in the brain that are evident on magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and represent a key diagnostic criterion. Specifically, diagnoses are based on MRI-detected lesions (which tend to occur in periventricular regions) disseminated in time and space, in conjunction with characteristic symptoms. From a research perspective, common MRI findings for pwMS include decreased whole brain volume, enlarged ventricles, and a measurable white matter lesion load, as well as a decreased white matter integrity on diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) (9). MRI metrics have emerged as important outcome measures in MS studies, given that brain atrophy and white matter lesions are strong predictors of motor impairment and cognitive dysfunction (10). Unlike many other neurological disorders, MS is typically diagnosed in young to middle adulthood. Yet, most pwMS live into older adulthood, with life expectancy at approximately 75 years (11). Along with the population as a whole, the proportion of older adults with MS is growing and many older adults with MS did not have access to disease modifying treatments at the time of their diagnosis (12).

Age is an important factor when considering the disease course of MS, especially given that pwMS over the age of 65 are more commonly in the progressive form of the disease (13). Reduced remyelinating capacity is observed independently in aging populations and in pwMS. It has been shown in animal models of MS that as age increases, oligodendrocyte precursor cells, the primary cells responsible for remyelination, have reduced capacity for differentiation into remyelinating oligodendrocytes (14). Further, iron accumulation and deposition are hallmarks of not only normal aging, but older pwMS tend to show exacerbated iron toxicity that can cause increased neurodegeneration (15). Additionally, it has been suggested that inflammation related to previous viral infections (e.g., Epstein–Barr virus) can result in decreased immune system function and reduced capacity for tissue repair (12, 16).

Essentially, emerging research has begun to focus on the contribution of normal aging to the structural changes in the brain associated with MS; prompting questions about whether there is an amplifying effect of aging superimposed on MS-related neurodegeneration. To examine current evidence, a systematic review of the literature that used MRI to examine aging in pwMS was performed. This is the first study to synthesize the literature on the effects of aging on brain structure in pwMS. The following questions were specifically examined and will be discussed in this review:

- 1. How does brain structure (e.g., volume, white matter microstructure) differ or change with age in pwMS?
- 2. Are there specific structural MRI findings in older pwMS compared to younger pwMS?
- 3. Are there structural differences in the brain as a function of sex in aging pwMS?

It was hypothesized that there would be differences in brain structure that were specific to pwMS beyond the changes associated with typical aging and that older pwMS would have greater whole brain atrophy than younger pwMS. Sex differences were examined because of the known differences in prevalence and progression of MS between females and males, although this question was purely exploratory.

Methods

Eligibility criteria

Specific eligibility criteria included studies that were peerreviewed, in English, focused on adult (>18 years of age) human subjects and included an MS group (any subtype: RRMS, SPMS, PPMS) with full-text availability. Given the research questions of interest, studies must have also used MRI to examine brain structure. Any acquisition sequence was acceptable (e.g., T1-weighted, T2-weighted, diffusion weighted, FLAIR) because each provides different information about the brain. For example, T1-weighted scans can be used to examine gray matter volume, and diffusionweighted scans can be used to examine white matter microstructure. Exclusion criteria included interventional studies and any studies focused on participants with other neurodegenerative conditions with comorbid MS. This review was registered on PROSPERO (CRD42021287667).

Search strategy

The literature search was conducted using two databases, PubMed and PsycINFO. Several preliminary search strategies were tested to determine the strategy that would be inclusive yet precisely able to identify papers of interest. The search strategy used a combination of terms relevant to the research questions and agreed upon by the authors (see Supplementary material for search terms in full). In summary, search terms included variables of interest including "aging," "multiple sclerosis," "white matter" "gray matter," and "MRI." Different variations of search terms were used to account for differing spellings and key words across articles. The reference sections of several articles were also screened to ensure that the search strategy was sufficient.

Screening strategy

Titles and abstracts of search results were extracted and uploaded into systematic review management software, Covidence. Duplicates were removed. An initial screening of the titles and abstracts was conducted based on the eligibility criteria stated previously to exclude ineligible articles. The suitability of each article based on title and abstract was reviewed by two randomly selected authors (two of NT, IT, CB, JG) such that no more than one quarter of the articles were reviewed by the same two reviewers. Where disagreements occurred regarding eligibility of an article, a randomly selected third author would break the tie and determine the final eligibility of the article. Full-text articles were then uploaded and a second screening was conducted by two authors based on the entire research article using the same eligibility criteria. As per the initial screening, a randomly chosen third author resolved any conflicts.

Study quality ratings

To assess the quality of the articles included in this systematic review, the well-established critical appraisal tool for cross-sectional studies (AXIS) was used to rate each study. The AXIS tool uses a set of 20 questions that evaluate study design quality and quality of reporting. Studies were randomly assigned to authors, with each study assessed by a single author (one of NT, IT, CB, JG). Each study was assessed and interpreted for each of the 20 questions to evaluate its overall quality. To maintain consistency, both cross-sectional and longitudinal studies were assessed using the AXIS tool to rate the quality.

Data analysis and extraction

Studies were assigned to authors randomly (one of NT, IT, CB, JG) to extract relevant data. For each study, the information extracted included sample size, MS group subtypes at baseline, mean age at baseline, sex ratio, geography of study participants, study type

(cross-sectional or longitudinal), acquisition/analysis measurement methods used in the study, and summarized results relevant to the research questions identified for this review.

Results

Systematic review

The search for studies was conducted on September 22, 2021. Initial search results yielded 318 studies. Covidence software automatically removed 133 duplicate studies based on titles. A total of 185 articles remained and their titles and abstracts were manually reviewed and screened further for inclusion and exclusion criteria, after which 144 irrelevant articles were excluded. Manual retrieval of full-text articles was conducted for the remaining 41 studies. These 41 full-text articles were then reviewed in-depth for inclusion. Each article was screened by two authors and any discrepancies for inclusion were resolved by a third author who was not involved in the initial voting for that article. Exclusions primarily resulted when studies did not have appropriate outcomes for this review (e.g., interventional studies, studies in which participants had concurrent neurodegenerative disorders, etc.). Supplementary Figure S1 details the papers that underwent full-text review but were ultimately excluded. The selection process is detailed in Figure 1 using a PRISMA flow diagram. A total of 21 studies published between 2003 and 2021 were included in the final review. Table 1 provides all the information extracted from the 21 full-text articles including sample size, MS groups, mean age, sex, geography, study type, acquisition/analysis, and summary of study results.



Study quality analysis

The AXIS tool (38) was used to assess study quality in both crosssectional and longitudinal studies included in this review. Quality was assessed by 20 questions that allow for evaluation of any pitfalls that studies may have. Table 2 shows the breakdown of quality analysis across each of the 20 questions for the 21 included studies.

Main findings

Overall, 21 studies were included in the final analyses. A description of each study, including sample size, MS group breakdown, mean age and sex of participants, study geography, study type and duration, type of scans acquired/analyzed, and a summary of study results, are included in Table 1. The findings are discussed further in the context of the research questions guiding this review in the discussion section below.

Discussion

MS is a chronic neurological disorder that is characterized by lesions in the CNS and typically diagnosed in young to mid-adulthood. Relatively less research has focused on older adults with MS, although recent questions have emerged about whether there is an accelerated aging effect for pwMS. The current study involved a systematic review of the literature that used structural MRI methods to examine changes in the brain specific to aging with MS. This review considered cross sectional studies that examined differences between pwMS and healthy controls, as well as longitudinal studies tracking changes in the brain in pwMS over time with an aim to answer several specific questions. Herein, we pose each of the pre-determined questions along with conditional answers based on the extant literature.

How does the brain differ or change with age in pwMS?

With an aim to answer this overarching question, the search terms of the current review included both gray and white matter as well as specific imaging techniques, such as diffusion tensor imaging (DTI), which provides metrics of white matter microstructure. However, there were no studies that focused on white matter using DTI and although several studies examined total white matter volume, the vast majority of studies focused on gray matter volume using high resolution T1-weighted anatomical MRI scans.

Of the 21 identified studies, 13 compared pwMS and healthy controls and all of these revealed significant structural brain differences. Notably, some studies focused on broad metrics such as whole brain volume, while other studies extracted values representing gray and white matter volume or white matter lesion load. Several studies also extracted volumes for particular regions or carried out voxel-based morphometry analyses. Although there was variability in the regions examined across studies, 4 studies reported decreased whole brain volume in pwMS (27, 29–31, 39), 6 reported decreased gray matter volume (18, 24, 25, 29, 30, 36, 39), 6 reported decreased

volume in subcortical gray matter structures (17, 18, 20, 24, 25, 29, 30) (particularly in the thalamus and basal ganglia) and 3 reported decreases in white matter based on volume or lesion load (19, 29, 30, 33). Notably, 6 of these studies examined how atrophy rates in healthy controls compared to pwMS. These studies suggested that pwMS showed accelerated rates of atrophy in the thalamus (17, 18) and other gray matter regions (24, 25, 39).

Three studies investigated predicted "brain age" using various algorithms and found that pwMS had significantly larger predicted brain age differences (higher biological age compared to chronological age) in comparison to healthy controls which also suggests accelerated aging in pwMS (22, 23, 28). Finally, a unique study from Krysko et al. (32) established that short leukocyte telomere length was associated with disability and brain atrophy (measured as total brain volume) in pwMS. The authors suggest that based on this finding, biological aging may contribute to disability worsening in MS (32).

Taken together, the studies included in this review provide evidence that supports acceleration of whole brain and gray matter atrophy as pwMS age when compared to normal aging in people without MS. Gray matter and subcortical regions including the thalamus appear particularly vulnerable to faster atrophy with age in pwMS as compared to healthy normal aging controls, although there were limited numbers of studies that focused on specific regions and on white matter which limits the conclusions that can be drawn from the literature.

Are there specific MRI findings in older pwMS compared to younger pwMS?

Of the 21 studies reviewed, 6 used MRI to examine brain structure differences in younger and older pwMS using a mix of cross-sectional and longitudinal approaches (18, 20, 21, 34, 35, 37). Using a crosssectional approach, Newbould et al. (35) compared younger (30.4 years) and older (49.7 years) pwMS and found strong magnetization transfer ratio (MTR) differences between the two age groups within white matter lesions. This suggests decreased myelin integrity in the older age group. Bishop et al. (20) also took a crosssectional approach and compared both younger (30.4 years) and older (48.7 years) pwMS to age-matched healthy controls. They found similar patterns of atrophy for each age group with MS in the putamen, thalamus and nucleus accumbens, but significantly more atrophy in the hippocampus and caudate in the younger group. A retrospective, cross-sectional approach was used by Tortorella et al. (37) to examine gadolinium-enhancing lesions in MS populations. They found that enhanced lesions were more frequently found in younger patients with lower disability. They also showed that the change in risk for gadolinium-enhancing lesions occurs at 35 years of age in pwMS. The authors proposed that these lesions may contribute to disease mechanisms in younger pwMS, whereas there are likely age-related neurodegenerative mechanisms occurring in older pwMS. Bove et al. (21) used a mixed design with a longitudinal component to examine changes in slopes of MRI extracted metrics including total brain volume and white matter lesion load over 2 years in pwMS who were under (younger group) or over (older group) 50 years of age (42 years and 58 years, respectively). The authors found no significant differences in slope of change as a function of age for either metric.

TABLE 1 Characteristics of papers included in this review.

Study	Sample size	MS groups (at baseline)	Mean age (years)	Sex (M:F)	Race/ Ethnicity	Expanded disability status scale	Disease modifying treatments	Geography	Study type (duration)	Acquisition (resolution of T1 scan provided)	Summary of results
Azevedo et al. (17)	520 MS/ CIS 81 HC	90 CIS 392 RRMS 38 SPMS	MS: 41.1 HC: 42.7	183:418	Not reported	Baseline: 1.8 (1.5)	22.3% no DMT; 77.7% up to 5 years of DMT	United States	LONG (4.1 years)	3T 3D T1-weighted 1 mm ³ resolution	Baseline thalamic volume reduced in pwMS compared to HCs. pwMS have significantly higher rates of thalamic atrophy compared to HC aging over time. Thalamic atrophy correlates with increase in disability. DMT use at baseline did not significantly impact the rate of thalamic decline.
Azevedo et al. (18)	520 MS/ CIS 130 HC	90 CIS 392 RRMS 38 SPMS	42.7	155:365	Not reported	Baseline: 1.8 (1.5)	22.3% no DMT; 77.7% up to 5 years of DMT	United States	XS LONG (5 years)	3T 3D T1-weighted 1 mm ³ resolution	GM structures are the top ranked regions of MS atrophy, including total GM volume, thalamus, putamen and caudate. Compared to HC aging, MS atrophy contribution seems to decrease from ages 30 to 60. In the thalamus, HC normal aging contribution to atrophy increases over time while MS contribution to atrophy decreases over time. In the putamen and caudate, HC aging and MS atrophy were more stable in their contributions to structural atrophy over time.
Baird et al. (19)	31 MS 22 HC	29 RRMS 2 PMS	MS: 63 HC: 63.7	11:42	83.9% Caucasian; 16.1% African American	4.0 (1.5)	22.6% no DMT; 77.4% yes DMT	United States	XS	3T 3D T1-weighted 1 mm ³ resolution	Mobility was significantly worse in older MS group compared to age-matched HC. There were no differences in GM volumes between MS and HC groups. Normal WM volume was significantly decreased and ventricular CSF was significantly increased in MS group, as compared to HC. In both groups, there was no correlation between brain atrophy or cognitive function with mobility.
Bishop et al. (20)	38 MS 52 HC	36 RRMS 2 SPMS	"Young" MS: 30.4 "Older" MS: 48.7 "Young" HC: 31.9 "Older" HC: 47.3	37:53	Not reported	"Young MS" 3.0 (1.2); "Older MS" 4.1 (1.3)	Not reported	United Kingdom	XS	3T 3D T1-weighted, FLAIR 1 mm ³ resolution	Brain volume loss in all MS groups compared to HCs was predominantly in the subcortical GM. Young and older MS groups showed similar, strong excess volume loss in the putamen, thalamus and nucleus accumbens, compared to HC aging. No excess volume loss was detected in the amygdala or pallidum. The young MS group also showed significant excess volume loss in the hippocampus and caudate compared to the young HC group.

(Continued)

Study	Sample size	MS groups (at baseline)	Mean age (years)	Sex (M:F)	Race/ Ethnicity	Expanded disability status scale	Disease modifying treatments	Geography	Study type (duration)	Acquisition (resolution of T1 scan provided)	Summary of results
Bove et al. (21)	551 MS/ CIS	481 RRMS/ CIS 26 PPMS 43 SPMS	"Young": 42 "Older": 58	140:411	Young 95.2% white; 3.6% Hispanic Older 95.4% white; 0.7% Hispanic	Young 1.42 (1.33) Older 2.39 (1.99)	Not reported	United States	XS LONG (2 years)	1.5T 3D T2- weighted 0.93 × 0.93 × 3 mm voxels	Whole brain atrophy increases with age in MS groups. Brain atrophy and disease severity was consistently higher in men compared to women in all MS groups. There were no significant differences between the young and older MS groups and no acceleration of decline with age. No interactions were found between age and sex.
Cole et al. (22)	1,204 MS/ CIS 150 HC	296 CIS 677 RRMS 111 SPMS 120 PPMS	MS: 39.41 HC: 37.29	501:853	Not reported	CIS 1.36 (1.02) RRMS 2.12 (1.40) SPMS 5.83 (1.20) PPMS 5.10 (1.32)	CIS 20% yes 79% no RRMS 53% yes 42% no SPMS 46% yes 47% no PPMS 7% yes 87% no	Netherlands, Catalonia, Switzerland, Austria, United Kingdom, Italy	LONG (HC: 1.97 years.; MS: 3.41 years) *retrospective*	1.5T and 3TT1- weighted Resolution not reported	MS group had significantly higher brain predicted age difference (brain-PAD) compared to HCs (10.3 years vs. 4.3 years). The highest brain-PADs were for people with SPMS (13.3 years). Higher brain-PAD reflect accelerated aging. Greater annual brain-PAD increases were also associated with higher disease severity.
Erramuzpe et al. (23)	10 MS 170 HC	Not stated	Not stated Age Range: 6–81 (10 HC children <18)	4:6	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	United States	XS (HC) LONG (MS; 2years)	3T 3D T1-weighted, FLAIR 0.93 × 0.93 × 3 mm voxels	Compared to HCs, MS group was predicted to have a higher biological age than their chronological age with the R1 (longitudinal relaxation based) age prediction method, even when only looking at normal appearing tissue. Differences between groups were revealed in parietal and occipital regions. The MS group also showed deficits in cortical thickness in midfrontal regions, compared to HC. The authors concluded that the MS group exhibited faster brain aging compared to HC aging.
Eshaghi et al. (24)	36 MS 19 HC	36 PPMS	MS: 42.8 HC: 37.6	34:21	Not reported	4 (min 1.5, max 7)	Not reported	United Kingdom	LONG (1,2,3,5 years)	1.5T 3D T1- weighted, T2- weighted 1.5 × 1.173 × 1.17 mm voxels	There was a marked progression of atrophy in several GM regions over time in the MS group compared to HC aging. Patients showed a greater decline of GM volume bilaterally in the cingulate cortex, thalamus, putamen, precentral gyrus, insula and cerebellum compared to HCs over five years. The progression of GM atrophy in the MS group occurs at different rates in different regions across the brain, with the fastest atrophy seen in the cingulate cortex and the slowest in the precentral gyrus. Some regions showed a significant volume loss at a later time point than other regions. There was a significant association between rate of volume loss in the cingulate cortex and worse clinical outcome at the five year time point.

(Continued)

Study	Sample size	MS groups (at baseline)	Mean age (years)	Sex (M:F)	Race/ Ethnicity	Expanded disability status scale	Disease modifying treatments	Geography	Study type (duration)	Acquisition (resolution of T1 scan provided)	Summary of results
Eshaghi et al. (25)	1,214 MS/ CIS 203 HC	253 CIS 708 RRMS 128 SPMS 125 PPMS	MS/CIS: 39.2 HC: 38.7	531:886	Not reported	CIS 1 (range 0–4.5) RRMS 2 (range 0–7) SPMS 6 (range 2.5–9) PPMS 5 (range 2–8)	CIS 20% yes RRMS 49% yes SPMS 41% yes PPMS 6% yes	Netherlands, Catalonia, Switzerland, Austria, United Kingdom, Italy	LONG (HC: 1.43 years.; MS/CIS: 2.41 years) *retrospective*	3T 3D T1-weighted, FLAIR 1 mm ³ resolution (varied slightly at different sites)	SPMS group had the lowest baseline volumes of cortical/deep GM (thalamus, putamen, globus pallidus, caudate, and amygdala) of all MS groups compared to HC. SPMS group showed a faster rate of temporal GM atrophy compared to RRMS, CIS and HC groups. SPMS group also showed faster parietal GM atrophy than the CIS group and HC. RRMS, SPMS and PPMS groups showed faster rates of deep GM atrophy and whole cortical GM compared to the CIS group and HC. However, deep GM rate of atrophy was higher than cortical/cerebellar GM and brain stem. Deep GM atrophy rate correlated with disability progression. SPMS and PPMS groups showed higher disability compared to RRMS and CIS groups.
Fisher et al. (26)	70 MS/CIS 17 HC	7 CIS 36 RRMS 26 SPMS	MS/CIS: 42.8 HC: 41.6	25:62	Not reported	CIS 0.86 (0.85) RRMS 2 (1.5) SPMS 5.39 (1.34)	Mean % time on DMT CIS 32.5% RRMS 77.6% SPMS 52.8%	United States	LONG (4 years)	1.5T T1-weighted, T2-weighted, FLAIR, PD 0.9 × 0.9 × 5 mm voxels	Whole brain atrophy and GM atrophy were accelerated in more advanced stages of MS. Increasing GM atrophy accounted for whole brain atrophy entirely as rates of WM atrophy were constant in all MS groups. There were no differences in atrophy rates between HC and the CIS group who did not convert to MS during the 4 years. Annual rate of change in volume of WM, GM and whole brain atrophy within all MS groups was not correlated with age but was positively correlated with disease severity. After adjusting for age, rate of GM atrophy in the RRMS and SPMS groups was significantly higher than HCs atrophy rate. This indicates that GM volume loss caused by MS accelerates over time.
Ghione et al. (27)	1982 MS 351 HC	1,530 RRMS 371 SPMS 81 PPMS	MS: 46.8 HC: 44.8	1718:615	90.3% Caucasian 8.9% African American 0.8% Other	Not reported	15.7% were not on DMTs at first MRI	Not stated	LONG (6 mons to 10 years) *retrospective*	1.5T and 3T 3D T1-weighted, FLAIR 1 mm ³ resolution	Development of brain atrophy manifests progressively in MS group, and occurs in a different pattern than that of HC aging. Percent lateral ventricular volume change (PLVVC) was increased across age in HCs as compared to MS group. Percent brain volume change (PBVC) decreased across age in both HC and MS groups.

(Continued)

Study	Sample size	MS groups (at baseline)	Mean age (years)	Sex (M:F)	Race/ Ethnicity	Expanded disability status scale	Disease modifying treatments	Geography	Study type (duration)	Acquisition (resolution of T1 scan provided)	Summary of results
Høgestøl et al. (28)	76 MS 3,443 HC (235 MRI data)	73 RRMS 1 SPMS 2 PPMS	MS: 34.8 HC: 47	1,028:2491	Not reported	Baseline median EDSS 2.0 (range 0–6)	22% were not on DMTs at first MRI	Norway	XS (HC) LONG (MS; 4.4 years)	1.5T 3D T1- weighted, T2-weighted, FLAIR; 3T 3D T1-weighted 1.2×1.25×1.25 mm voxels	On average, the MS group had a significantly higher brain age gap (biological brain age is older than chronological brain age) compared to HCs. In the MS group, compared to HCs, there was a high global brain age gap (4.4 years) and an even higher brain age gap (6.2 years) for subcortical/cerebellar brain regions. There was also an annual increase in brain age gap in the MS group. Progressive brain aging in the MS group was related with brain atrophy and WM lesion load (WMLL). Brain age gap and WMLL as well as brain age gap and global brain atrophy were shown to be positively correlated.
Jakimovski et al. (29)	2,199 MS/ CIS	192 CIS 1,554 RRMS 453 SPMS/ PPMS	46	548:1651	90.5% Caucasian 8.7% African American 0.8% Other	2.5 (IQR 1.5- 4.5)	17.8% were not on DMTs	United States	XS	1.5T and 3T 3D T1-weighted, FLAIR 1 mm ³ resolution	Compared to age-matched females with MS, a greater proportion of males with MS were diagnosed with progressive MS and had lower whole brain volume, lower GM volume and increased lateral ventricular volume. These findings remained significant after correcting for head size, MS groups and treatment. The sex differences were not evident in individuals who were 60+ years old.
Jakimovski et al. (30)	112 MS 184 HC	59 RRMS 48 SPMS 5 PPMS	MS: 60.3 HC: 59.5	79:217	Not reported	3.5 (IQR 2.3- 6)	Not reported	Not stated	XS	3T 3D T1-weighted, T2-weighted, FLAIR 1×1×3 mm voxels	The MS group had lower volumes compared to age- matched HCs in whole brain, WM, GM, deep GM, thalamus, caudate, putamen, globus pallidus and hippocampus, lateral ventricular regions.
Kassubek et al. (31)	33 MS 60 HC	33 RRMS	MS: 34.9 HC: 50.8	35:58	Not reported	Mean 2.4 (range 0–6.5)	Not reported	Germany	XS	1.5T T1-weighted, T2-weighted 1 mm ³ resolution	The MS group had significantly higher whole brain atrophy compared to age-matched HCs. Brain atrophy did also increase with age in HCs. In the MS group, whole brain atrophy was significantly increased in correlation with longer disease duration and higher disability.
Krysko et al. (32)	516 MS/ CIS	RRMS 367 CIS 80 SPMS 47 PPMS 17 PRMS 4 Unclear 1	42.6	160:356	Not reported	Median 1.5 (range 0–7)	29.3% were not on DMTs	United States	Observational LONG (5, 10 years)	3T 3D T1-weighted, T2-weighted, PD Resolution not reported	Shorter telomere length was shown to be associated with disability and brain atrophy (total brain volume) in the MS group, independent of chronological age and disease duration. The authors conclude that biological aging contributes to brain degeneration in pwMS and that individual variability in biological aging may contribute to heterogeneity in MS course.

(Continued)

Study	Sample size	MS groups (at baseline)	Mean age (years)	Sex (M:F)	Race/ Ethnicity	Expanded disability status scale	Disease modifying treatments	Geography	Study type (duration)	Acquisition (resolution of T1 scan provided)	Summary of results
Kuusisto et al. (33)	19 MS 19 HC	8 RRMS 8 SPMS 3 PPMS	51.6	12:26	Not reported	Monozygotic twins median 5.0 (range 2–7) Dizygotic twins median 2.5 (range 1–8)	2 monozygotic twins were on DMTs 5 dizygotic twins were on DMTs	Finland	XS *twin matched*	1.5T 3D T1- weighted, T2- weighted, FLAIR Resolution not reported	There were no significant differences found in brain and spinal cord volumes between twins in the MS group and their co-twins in the HC group. Results support that brain volume in twins is highly heritable. All twins in MS group had focal brain WM lesions and 3 had spinal cord lesions and 14 out of 19 fulfilled Barkhof MRI criteria. 9 out of 19 co-twins in the HC group had focal brain WM lesions but all lesions were significantly smaller than in the twins from the MS group and none fulfilled the Barkhof MRI criteria. There was no evaluation of associations between WM lesions and total brain atropy.
Martola et al. (34)	37 MS	16 RRMS 17 SPMS 4 PPMS	42	11:26	Not reported	Specific scores not reported, although EDSS was examined in relation to brain metrics	64.86% on Interferon treatment 35.14% Nontreatment	Sweden	LONG (7– 10 years)	1.5T T1-weighted 0.9 × 1.15 × 5 mm	There were evident linear annual decreases in brain volume, annual increases in left and right lateral ventricle volumes and linear annual increases in third ventricle volumes over the 4 decades of disease duration represented. There were no indications that differences between left and right ventricles would increase/decrease over disease duration. There was also no evidence of a specific timepoint altering brain atrophy or of acceleration or decline of atrophy over time. Corpus callosum atrophy and total brain atrophy were shown to be positively correlated with each other. There were no differences in atrophy patterns and no dependence on corpus callosum or ventricular size differences between MS courses. Disability increased with increases in atrophy rates of third and lateral ventricles. Older individuals showed larger ventricles at entry but rates of atrophy progression did not significantly differ from younger individuals.

(Continued)

10.3389/fneur.2023.1207626

Tokarska et al.

Study	Sample size	MS groups (at baseline)	Mean age (years)	Sex (M:F)	Race/ Ethnicity	Expanded disability status scale	Disease modifying treatments	Geography	Study type (duration)	Acquisition (resolution of T1 scan provided)	Summary of results
Newbould et al. (35)	38 MS 11 HC	36 RRMS 2 SPMS	"Young" MS": 30.4 "Older" MS: 49.7 HC: 48.5	11:38	Not reported	Young 2.5 (range 2–6) Older 3.8 (range 2–6)	Not reported	United Kingdom	XS	3T 3D T1-weighted, FLAIR, MT 1 mm ³ resolution	Despite variable MS courses, brain atrophy seems to uniformly progress over longer periods of time. Normal aging of HCs from other studies in same age spans shows no signs of elevated age-related brain atrophy, but lack of HCs in this study limited the authors from determining how much MS disease added to annual brain atrophy rates caused by normal aging. Despite matching for disease duration and recording no significant WM lesion volume differences, there were strong magnetization transfer ratio (MTR) differences in WM lesions between the young and older MS groups. This implies that aging in MS exerts a direct negative effect on CNS myelin integrity in WM lesions that is reflected in MTR and also suggests that aging-related processes modify the tissue response to inflammatory injury and its clinical outcome correlates in MS.
Tiberio et al. (36)	21 MS 10 HC	21 RRMS	MS: 37.5 HC: 37.1	11:20	Not reported	Median 1 (Range 0–3)	7/21 participants started interferon B treatment in the first year	United Kingdom	LONG (2 years)	1.5T T1-weighted, T2-weighted, PD 1.2×1.2×1.5 mm voxels	A decrease in GM volume over 2 years was seen in the MS group, compared to HCs. There was no change observed in WM volume. However, WM volume change was seen with the MS group who had gadolinium-enhancing lesion loads. The authors concluded that GM atrophy but not WM atrophy was observed early in the clinical course of RRMS. Fluctuations in WM lesions are related to volume changes in WM over two years.
Tortorella et al. (37)	200 MS	172 RRMS 28 SPMS	35.3	81:119	Not reported	Median 2 (range 1–5.5)	No participants were on DMTs	Italy	XS *retrospective*	1.5T T1-weighted, T2-weighted 1.3×1×5 mm voxels	Frequency and number of gadolinium-enhancing lesions was higher in younger, less disabled individuals with MS with greater disease activity in the 2 years before MRI examination. Main changes in enhancement risk occurs after 35 years of age. In a previous study, they also had found a faster age-related rate of progression after a similar age. This supports that lesion burden and new inflammatory lesion formation in articulate parts of CNS are main pathogenetic mechanisms of disability in younger individuals with MS whereas neurodegenerative mechanisms might contribute to neuronal decline in older, higher disabled individuals with MS.

Includes, sample size, age, sex, geographic location, methods and results; XS, cross-sectional; LONG, longitudinal. *Note that this study overlaps with Azevedo (17).

Martola et al. (34) also used longitudinal observations to examine changes in brain volume at three time points over a decade in pwMS (ranging in age from 24–65 years) and found uniform progression of atrophy over time. Lastly, an interesting study by Azevedo et al. (18) examined annual MRI scans from 520 participants with RRMS over 5 years and found that the contributions of normal aging and MS-related atrophy differed by brain region. Findings revealed that the contributions of aging became greater with each decade from 30 to 60 years of age, while the contribution of MS-related atrophy lessened. In contrast, the contributions of aging and MS-related atrophy were relatively more stable over time in the putamen and caudate. These findings underscore the need for more comprehensive regional analyses to better understand patterns of brain atrophy in aging pwMS.

The various approaches to study design and analyses create challenges and limitations in synthesizing the results to date. Although there is some evidence that aging may have differential effects on brain atrophy in pwMS across the lifespan as compared to normal aging, more research is needed. In particular, the use of regional approaches in older age groups (e.g., 60+ years) that have not been well captured require further examination.

Are there structural differences in the brain as a function of sex in aging pwMS?

Typically, MS affects 3 times more females than males, although disability progression occurs quicker in males (40). Of the 21 studies included, 2 examined aging as a function of sex in pwMS (21, 29, 30). Although Bove et al. (21) did not find differences in rate of whole brain atrophy as a function of age, their findings did reveal significantly greater disease severity (based on EDSS scores) and whole brain atrophy in males compared to females. Further, Jakimovski et al. (29, 30) highlighted similar findings with males demonstrating lower whole brain and gray matter volumes as well as increased ventricular volume compared to females. However, this paper also showed that after the age of 60, there were no evident differences in brain structure between males and females with progressive MS (29, 30).

As evidenced by our literature search, there are a limited number of studies examining sex differences in aging pwMS. However, the evidence to date suggests that males have greater brain atrophy than females with age. One potential factor that may be attributed to the differences seen between sexes is menopause as it has been suggested to affect brain atrophy patterns in aging females with MS (41). Another factor may relate to the course of MS in males, as males have been shown to have more rapid disability accumulation and cognitive decline than females (42). More research including longitudinal studies that capture changes from age 40 to 60 in both females and males are essential to understanding the potential effects of sex on age-related atrophy over time and whether such differences are also stable over time.

Conclusion, limitations, and future directions

The current review represents the first synthesis of the literature examining brain aging in pwMS. It was hypothesized that there

would be age-related differences in brain structure that were specific to pwMS and beyond the changes associated with typical aging, with older adults showing greater atrophy. Indeed, the literature revealed that cortical and subcortical gray matter are vulnerable to excess atrophy with age in pwMS. Predicted brain age was also consistently higher and atrophy rates were accelerated in pwMS compared to healthy controls. There were also indications that certain brain regions may become more prone to atrophy as pwMS age and that males may experience greater atrophy than females. However, more research is imperative to fully address each of the research questions posed in this review and there are several strengths and limitations within the current review, as well as within the literature that should be addressed.

With regards to the current review, strengths included the broad approach taken to search terms in combination with the focused questions on age related changes as measured by MRI in pwMS. The regional patterns and characteristics that influence brain atrophy for pwMS have important implications for clinical practice. In particular, understanding expected changes related to aging and whether there is accelerated neurodegeneration in MS can assist with interpretation of MRI findings for older adults with MS.

Conversely, a limitation was that studies examining correlations between structural brain changes with age and clinical variables were beyond the scope of the current review. Several studies that met the criteria for review happened to include comparisons of brain atrophy patterns and clinical outcomes (e.g., disease severity) with significant findings. Specifically examining such relationships between age related atrophy and symptoms of MS could form the topic of a separate focused systematic review.

Within the literature, the quality of the reviewed studies was consistently high. Assessment of study quality with the AXIS tool revealed that all of the studies in the current review clearly stated their objectives and designed their study appropriately, using proper outcome variables. The majority of studies were also clear on how significance was determined, and the conclusions made within each study were consistent with the presented results. The main limitations of the literature became apparent when synthesizing the findings. Specifically, there was heterogeneity in methods, including widely variable sample sizes (ranging from 19 to 2,199 pwMS), acquisition techniques (e.g., field strength, imaging sequences, parameters), analysis approaches (e.g., whole brain, gray matter volume, white matter lesion load, voxel-based morphometry, various brain age algorithms), and study designs (e.g., different age groups, study protocols) that yielded findings that are difficult to weigh and integrate across studies. As mentioned previously, there was a distinct lack of studies that examined aging pwMS using diffusion tensor imaging derived metrics of white matter microstructure. Given that changes in myelination and axonal integrity are characteristic of MS and that DTI is sensitive to both lesions and changes in normal appearing white matter, this technique could provide important information on the aging brain for pwMS. Additionally, in most of the included studies, the majority of participants had RRMS, although SPMS most commonly develops over the disease course of people with RRMS and should be better represented in studies on aging. Relatedly, people with different subtypes of MS may be more or less likely to be on disease modifying treatments (DMTs). Many, but not all, of the studies reviewed reported on DMTs, which was higher in people with RRMS than other subtypes. The differences

TABLE 2 AXIS tool responses to assess qualitative features of papers that were used in this review.

	Clear aims/ objectives?	Appropriate study design?	Sample size justified?	Target population defined?	Sample taken from appropriate population?	Appropriate sample selection process?	Addressed/ categorized non- responders?	Appropriate risk factor/ outcomes?	Appropriate risk factor/ outcome measures?	Appropriate statistical significance methods?	Methods sufficiently described?	Basic data adequately described?	Non- response bias?	Non- responder information described?	Results internally consistent?	Results described for all analyses?	Discussions/ conclusions justified by results?	Limitations discussed?	Funding sources/ conflicts of interest?	Ethical approval/ consent attained?
Azevedo et al. (17)	Y	Y	U	Y	U	U	N/A	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y
Azevedo et al. (18)	Y	Y	Y	Y	_	_	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	_	Y	Y	Y	Y	_	Y
Baird et al. (19)	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	_	_	Y	Y	Y	Y	_	Y
Bishop et al. (20)	Y	Y	U	Y	_	U	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	_	Y	Y	Y	Y	_	Y
Bove et al. (21)	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N/A	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	_	_	Y	Y	Y	Y	_	Y
Cole et al. (22)	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N/A	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	_	N/A	U	Y	Y	Y	_	Y
Erramuzpe et al. (23)	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	U	Y	Y	U	U	Y	U	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	_	U
Eshaghi et al. (24)	Y	Y	Y	Y	_	U	N/A	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	_	N/A	U	Y	Y	Y	_	Y
Eshaghi et al. (25)	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	N/A	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N/A	N/A	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y
Fisher et al. (26)	Y	Y	_	Y	U	U	_	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y
Ghione et al. (27)	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	_	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	_	Y
Høgestøl et al. (28)	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	_	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	-	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y
Jakimovski et al. (29)	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N/A	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	-	N/A	U	Y	Y	Y	_	Y
Jakimovski et al. (30)	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	N/A	Y	Y	Y	Y	_	Y
Kassubek et al. (31)	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N/A	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N/A	N/A	U	Y	Y	_	_	Y
Krysko et al. (32)	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	_	_	U	Y	Y	Y	_	Y
Kuusisto et al. (33)	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	U	Y	Y	Y	Y	_	Y
Martola et al. (34)	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	_	_	Y	Y	Y	Y	_	Y
Newbould et al. (35)	Y	Y	U	Y	U	U	U	Y	Y	Y	U	Y	U	_	Y	Y	Y	Y	U	Y
Tiberio et al. (36)	Y	Y	Y	Y	_	Y	N/A	Y	Y	_	Y	Y	_	_	U	Y	Y	Y	_	Y
Tortorella et al. (37)	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N/A	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	N/A	N/A	Y	Y	Y	_	U	Y

Tokarska et al.

and changes in brain volume detected in these studies were largely present in the context of DMT use. Although it is beyond the scope of the current review to determine whether DMT use has a modifying effect on neurodegeneration, ongoing research should report DMT use so that future reviews can examine whether any accelerated aging effects are muted by treatment (as current cohorts on these treatments age).

Importantly, previous research has shown that African Americans exhibit more rapid neurodegeneration than Caucasian Americans (43); however, most studies did not report on race or ethnicity and those that did report these characteristics had a majority of white participants. Moving forward, it will be important for research to be inclusive and involve transparent reporting.

In terms of other directions for future research, there is a clear need for large scale studies that use multimodal MRI acquisition methods to capture changes in both males and females over time, particularly in middle to older adulthood. Such studies would essentially aid the understanding of how the brain ages in pwMS, which will have implications for both the conceptualization of the disease course of MS and the interpretation of intervention related changes in the brain as pwMS age.

Author contributions

NT and IT drafted the initial manuscript. All authors were involved in conceptualizing the review, reviewing the literature, and critical revisions.

References

1. World Health Organization. (2023). *Aging and health*. Available at: https://www. who.int/news-room/facts-in-pictures/detail/aging.

2. Bethlehem RAI, Seidlitz J, White SR, Vogel JW, Anderson KM, Adamson C, et al. Brain charts for the human lifespan. *Nature*. (2022) 604:525–33. doi: 10.1038/ s41586-022-04554-y

3. Liu H, Yang Y, Xia W, Zhu W, Leak RK, Wei Z, et al. Aging of cerebral white matter. Aging Res Rev. (2017) 34:64–76. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2016.11.006

4. Nyberg L, Salami A, Andersson M, Eriksson J, Kalpouzos G, Kauppi K, et al. Longitudinal evidence for diminished frontal cortex function in aging. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2010) 107:22682–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1012651108

5. Scahill RI, Frost C, Jenkins R, Whitwell JL, Rossor MN, Fox NC. A longitudinal study of brain volume changes in normal aging using serial registered magnetic resonance imaging. *Arch Neurol.* (2003) 60:989–94. doi: 10.1001/archneur.60.7.989

 Svennerholm L, Boström K, Jungbjer B. Changes in weight and compositions of major membrane components of human brain during the span of adult human life of swedes. Acta Neuropathol. (1997) 94:345–52. doi: 10.1007/s004010050717

7. Browne P, Chandraratna D, Angood C, Tremlett H, Baker C, Taylor BV, et al. Atlas of multiple sclerosis 2013: a growing global problem with widespread inequity. *J Neurol.* (2014) 83:1022–4. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000768

8. Dunn SE, Gunde E, Lee H. Sex-Based Differences in Multiple Sclerosis (MS): Part II: Rising Incidence of Multiple Sclerosis in Women and the Vulnerability of Men to Progression of this Disease. In: A La Flamme and J Orian, editors. *Emerging and Evolving Topics in Multiple Sclerosis Pathogenesis and Treatments. Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences Vol 26.* Cham: Springer. (2015). 57–86.

9. Hemond CC, Bakshi R. Magnetic resonance imaging in multiple sclerosis. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. (2018) 8:a028969. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a028969

10. DeLuca GC, Yates RL, Beale H, Morrow SA. Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis: clinical, radiologic and pathologic insights. *Brain Pathol.* (2014) 25:79–98. doi: 10.1111/bpa.12220

11. Lunde HMB, Assmus J, Myhr K, Bø L, Grytten N. Survival and cause of death in multiple sclerosis: a 60-year longitudinal population study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2017) 88:621–5. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2016-315238

Funding

This project was supported by the endMS Scholar Program for Researchers IN Training (SPRINT) program by the Multiple Sclerosis Society of Canada.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fneur.2023.1207626/ full#supplementary-material

12. Balusha AAK, Morrow SA. Multiple sclerosis in people over age 55. *Pract Neurol.* (2021) 41:41–43.

13. Sanai SA, Saini V, Benedict RHB, Zivadinov R, Teter BE, Ramanathan M, et al. Aging and multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler J.* (2016) 22:717–25. doi: 10.1177/1352458516634871

14. Neumann B, Segel M, Chalut KJ, Franklin RJM. Remyelination and aging: reversing the ravages of time. *Mult Scler J.* (2019) 25:1835–41. doi: 10.1177/1352458519884006

15. Stankiewicz JM, Neema M, Ceccarelli A. Iron and multiple sclerosis. *Neurobiol Aging*. (2014) 35:S51–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.03.039

16. Bjornevik K, Cortese M, Healy BC, Kuhle J, Mina MJ, Leng Y, et al. Longitudinal analysis reveals high prevalence of Epstein-Barr virus associated with multiple sclerosis. *Science*. (2022) 375:296–301. doi: 10.1126/science.abj8222

17. Azevedo CJ, Cen SY, Khadka S, Liu S, Kornak J, Shi Y, et al. Thalamic atrophy in multiple sclerosis: a magnetic resonance imaging marker of neurodegeneration throughout disease. *Ann Neurol.* (2018) 83:223–34. doi: 10.1002/ana.25150

18. Azevedo CJ, Cen SY, Jaberzadeh A, Zheng L, Hauser SL, Pelletier D. Contribution of normal aging to brain atrophy in MS. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2019) 6:e617. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000616

19. Baird JF, Motl RW. Cognitive function and whole-brain MRI metrics are not associated with mobility in older adults with multiple sclerosis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:4232. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18084232

20. Bishop CA, Newbould RD, Lee JSZ, Honeyfield L, Quest R, Colasanti A, et al. Analysis of aging-associated grey matter volume in patients with multiple sclerosis shows excess atrophy in subcortical regions. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2017) 13:9–15. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2016.11.005

21. Bove R, Musallam A, Healy BC, Houtchens M, Glanz BJ, Khoury S, et al. No sexspecific difference in disease trajectory in multiple sclerosis patients before and after age 50. *BMC Neurol.* (2013) 13:73. doi: 10.1186/1471-2377-13-73

22. Cole JH, Raffel J, Friede T, Eshanghi A, Brownlee WJ, Chard D, et al. Longitudinal assessment of multiple sclerosis with the brain-age paradigm. *Ann Neurol.* (2020) 88:93–105. doi: 10.1002/ana.25746

23. Erramuzpe A, Schurr R, Yeatman JD, Gotlib IH, Sacchet MD, Travis KE, et al. A comparison of quantitative R1 and cortical thickness in identifying age, lifespan dynamics, and disease states of the human cortex. *Cereb Cortex*. (2021) 31:1211–26. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhaa288

24. Eshaghi A, Bodini B, Ridgway GR, García-Lorenzo D, Tozer DJ, Sahraian MA, et al. Temporal and spatial evolution of grey matter atrophy in primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Neuroimage*. (2014) 86:257–64. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013. 09.059

25. Eshaghi A, Prados F, Brownlee WJ, Altmann DR, Tur C, Cardoso MJ, et al. Deep grey matter volume loss drives disability worsening in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol.* (2018) 83:210–22. doi: 10.1002/ana.25145

26. Fisher E, Lee J-C, Nakamura K, Rudick RA. Gray matter atrophy in multiple sclerosis: A longitudinal study. *Ann Neurol.* (2008) 64:255–65. doi: 10.1002/ana.21436

27. Ghione E, Bergsland N, Dwyer MG, Hagermeier J, Jakimovski D, Paunkoski I, et al. Aging and brain atrophy in multiple sclerosis. *Neuroimage*. (2019) 29:527–35. doi: 10.1111/jon.12625

28. Høgestøl EA, Kaufmann T, Nygaard GO, Beyer MK, Sowa P, Nordvik JE, et al. Cross-sectional and longitudinal MRI brain scans reveal accelerated brain aging in multiple sclerosis. *Front Neurol.* (2019) 10:450. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00450

29. Jakimovski D, Bergsland N, Dwyer MG, Hagemeier J, Ramasamy DP, Szigeti K, et al. Long-standing multiple sclerosis neurodegeneration: volumetric magnetic resonance imaging comparison to Parkinson's disease, mild cognitive impairment, Alzheimer's disease, and elderly healthy controls. *Neurobiol Aging*. (2020) 90:84–92. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2020.02.002

30. Jakimovski D, Zivadinov R, Bergsland N, Ramasamy DP, Hagemeier J, Weinstock-Guttman B, et al. Sex-specific differences in life span brain volumes in multiple sclerosis. *Neuroimage*. (2020) 30:342–50. doi: 10.1111/jon.12709

31. Kassubek J, Tumani H, Ecker D, Kurt A, Ludolph AC, Juengling FD. Age-related brain parenchymal fraction is significantly decreased in young multiple sclerosis patients: a quantitative MRI study. *Neuroreport.* (2003) 14:427–30. doi: 10.1097/00001756-200303030-00026

32. Krysko KM, Henry RG, Cree BAC, Lin J, University of California San Francisco MS EPIC Team et al. Telomere length is associated with disability progression in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol.* (2019) 86:671–82. doi: 10.1002/ana.25592

33. Kuusisto H, Wu X, Dastidar P, Luukkaala T, Elovaara I. Volumetric MRI assessment of brain and spinal cord in Finnish twins discordant for multiple sclerosis. *Medicina*. (2012) 48:437–41. PMID: 23168917. doi: 10.3390/medicina48090065

34. Martola J, Bergström J, Fredrikson S, Stawiarz L, Hillert J, Zhang Y, et al. A longitudinal observational study of brain atrophy rate reflecting four decades of multiple sclerosis: a comparison of serial 1D, 2D and volumetric measurements from MRI images. *Neuroradiology*. (2010) 52:109–17. doi: 10.1007/s00234-009-0593-9

35. Newbould RD, Nicholas R, Thomas CL, Quest R, Lee JSZ, Honeyfield L, et al. Age independently affects myelin integrity as detected by magnetization transfer magnetic resonance imaging in multiple sclerosis. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2014) 4:641–8. doi: 10.1016/j. nicl.2014.02.004

36. Tiberio M, Chard DT, Altmann DR, Davies G, Griffin CM, Rashid W, et al. Gray and white matter volume changes in early RRMS: a 2-year longitudinal study. *Neurology*. (2005) 64:1001–7. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000154526.22878.30

37. Tortorella C, Bellacosa A, Paolicelli D, Fuiani A, Di Monte E, Simone IL, et al. Age-related gadolinium-enhancement of MRI brain lesions in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci.* (2005) 239:95–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2005.08.006

38. Downes MJ, Brennan ML, Williams HC, Dean RS. Development of a critical appraisal tool to assess the quality of cross-sectional studies (AXIS). *BMJ Open*. (2016) 6:e011458. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011458

39. Fischer E, Lee J, Nakamura K, Rudick RA. Gray matter atrophy in multiple sclerosis: a longitudinal study. Ann Neurol. (2008) 64:255–65. doi: 10.1002/ana.21436

40. Voskuhl RR, Patel K, Paul F, Gold SM, Scheel M, Kuchling J, et al. Sex differences in brain atrophy in multiple sclerosis. *Biol Sex Differ*. (2020) 11:49. doi: 10.1186/s13293-020-00326-3

41. Bove R, Okai A, Houtchens M, Elias-Hamp B, Lugaresi A, Hellwig K, et al. Effects of menopause in women with multiple sclerosis: an evidence-based review. *Front Neurol.* (2012) 12:554375. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2021.554375

42. Alvarez-Sanchez N, Dunn SE. Potential biological contributers to the sex difference in multiple sclerosis progression. *Front Immunol.* (2023) 14:1175874. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2023.1175874

43. Caldito NG, Saidha S, Sotirchos ES, Dewey BE, Cowley NJ, Glaister J, et al. Brain and retinal atrophy in African-Americans versus Caucasian-Americans with multiple sclerosis: a longitudinal study. *Brain*. (2018) 141:3115–29. doi: 10.1093/brain/awy245

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Alessandra Lugaresi, University of Bologna, Italy

REVIEWED BY

Maria Celica Ysrraelit, Fundación Para la Lucha Contra las Enfermedades Neurológicas de la Infancia (FLENI), Argentina Vincent Van Pesch, Université Catholique de Louvain, Belgium

*CORRESPONDENCE Gabrielle Macaron gabrielle.macaron@umontreal.ca Pierre Duquette pierre.duquette.med@ssss.gouv.qc.ca

RECEIVED 30 March 2023 ACCEPTED 18 May 2023 PUBLISHED 07 July 2023

CITATION

Macaron G, Larochelle C, Arbour N, Galmard M, Girard JM, Prat A and Duquette P (2023) Impact of aging on treatment considerations for multiple sclerosis patients. *Front. Neurol.* 14:1197212. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1197212

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Macaron, Larochelle, Arbour, Galmard, Girard, Prat and Duquette. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Impact of aging on treatment considerations for multiple sclerosis patients

Gabrielle Macaron ^{1,2,3,4*}, Catherine Larochelle^{1,2,3}, Nathalie Arbour^{1,2,3}, Manon Galmard¹, Jean Marc Girard^{1,2,3}, Alexandre Prat^{1,2,3} and Pierre Duquette^{1,2,3*}

¹Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal, Montréal, QC, Canada, ²Department of Neurosciences, Faculty of Medicine, Université de Montréal, Montréal, QC, Canada, ³Neuroimmunology Research Laboratory, Centre de Recherche du Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal, Montréal, QC, Canada, ⁴Faculté de Médecine, Université Saint-Joseph de Beyrouth, Beirut, Lebanon

With a rapidly aging global population and improvement of outcomes with newer multiple sclerosis (MS)-specific disease-modifying therapies (DMTs), the epidemiology of MS has shifted to an older than previously described population, with a peak prevalence of the disease seen in the 55-65 years age group. Changes in the pathophysiology of MS appear to be age-dependent. Several studies have identified a consistent phase of disability worsening around the fifth decade of life. The latter appears to be independent of prior disease duration and inflammatory activity and concomitant to pathological changes from acute focal active demyelination to chronic smoldering plaques, slow-expanding lesions, and compartmentalized inflammation within the central nervous system (CNS). On the other hand, decreased CNS tissue reserve and poorer remyelinating capacity with aging lead to loss of relapse recovery potential. Aging with MS may imply longer exposure to DMTs, although treatment efficacy in patients >55 years has not been evaluated in pivotal randomized controlled trials and appears to decrease with age. Older individuals are more prone to adverse effects of DMTs, an important aspect of treatment individualization. Aging with MS also implies a higher global burden of comorbid illnesses that contribute to overall impairments and represent a crucial confounder in interpreting clinical worsening. Discontinuation of DMTs after age 55, when no evidence of clinical or radiological activity is detected, is currently under the spotlight. In this review, we will discuss the impact of aging on MS pathobiology, the effect of comorbidities and other confounders on clinical worsening, and focus on current therapeutic considerations in this age group.

KEYWORDS

multiple sclerosis (MS), aging, comorbidity, treatment efficacy and safety, treatment discontinuation

Introduction

The field of multiple sclerosis (MS) has grown considerably in the past 25 years, from the refinement of the diagnostic criteria to the expansion of the therapeutic arsenal. We now have a better understanding of the pathophysiological mechanisms driving clinical worsening and early factors impacting prognosis, such as baseline disease characteristics and treatment effect modifiers. Knowledge on the clinical potential of biomarkers of disease severity, prognosis, and treatment response has also significantly increased. Most of these advances are most useful for

the early phases of MS; however, advances in the field of late-stage and progressive MS remain modest. With a rapidly aging global population and improvement of outcomes with newer MS-specific diseasemodifying therapies (DMTs), the epidemiology of MS has shifted to an older than previously described population. According to US-based health claims data, MS prevalence estimates demonstrate an overall aging of the MS population, with the highest prevalence of the disease seen in the 55–65 years age group (1). As an illustrative example, the peak age-specific prevalence in Manitoba, Canada, was seen in patients aged 35–39 years in 1984 vs. 55–59 years in 2004 (2).

Although the disease course is no longer dichotomized into a relapsing-remitting and a progressive course, as there is current consensus that progression independent from relapse activity (PIRA) starts at the earliest stages of the disease (3-5), natural history cohorts suggest that a consistent phase of overt clinical disability worsening is observed in most patients around the fifth decade of life (6-8). Moreover, patients with a primary progressive disease course tend to present at a later age than those with relapsing-remitting disease, and pediatric-onset MS almost exclusively presents with relapses. Importantly, while most DMTs are effective in reducing the acute inflammatory component of the disease - and are hence beneficial in younger patients with early relapsing-remitting MS, therapeutic options for patients with a predominantly progressive course are lacking. Treatment efficacy in patients older than 55 years has not been evaluated in pivotal randomized controlled trials. Nevertheless, an increasing number of large cohort studies have documented decreased DMT efficacy with age (9). In clinical practice, detecting a transition from a predominantly relapsing to a secondary progressive course is often difficult. Clinical disease activity can also be challenging to diagnose in older individuals, as aging is associated with a higher global burden of comorbid illnesses that contribute to overall impairments and represent a crucial confounder in the interpretation of clinical worsening (10, 11). Radiological disease activity may also be difficult to interpret in patients with cardiovascular risk factors who accumulate non-specific microangiopathic lesions on MRI over time. Patients often remain in this "transitional zone" for several years. Because of the lack of clear clinical practice guidelines in this setting (12), DMTs are often continued for decades after the diagnosis. Hence, aging with MS may imply longer exposure to DMTs and cumulative toxicity of sequential DMTs. On the other hand, older individuals are more prone to adverse effects of DMTs (13), an important aspect of treatment individualization. In this review, we discuss the impact of aging on MS pathology, the effect of comorbidities and other confounders on clinical worsening, and we focus on current therapeutic considerations in aging MS patients. We differentiate between late-onset MS (patients with an onset of the disease at an older age) and long-standing MS in aging patients, and will solely focus on the latter.

The effect of aging on MS pathophysiology

MS pathophysiology

MS is a sex-biased neuroinflammatory and neurodegenerative disease of the CNS. The hallmarks of MS neuropathology include

multifocal areas of demyelination (lesions or plaques), neuroaxonal injury/loss, gliosis, inflammation, and infiltration of peripheral immune cells. Of note, diffuse neuroglial alterations in non-lesional areas, as well as slowly expanding lesions characterized by a rim of activated microglia with iron accumulation at the lesion edge, and subpial demyelination, are considered relatively unique to MS (14–18). These neuropathological characteristics, so far not reported in other CNS demyelinating disorders, are increasingly associated with the distinct course of MS progression occurring independently of relapses (18). Spontaneous remyelination is associated with improved function and reduced disability in MS, but is generally limited, especially in older individuals in the context of chronic inflammation, oxidative injury, and accumulation of debris/injury (5, 19–22).

Pathophysiological mechanisms underlying MS onset implicate the interaction between multiple predisposing genetic risk factors, such as the major histocompatibility complex class I and II (MHC I and II), polymorphisms, and environmental risk factors, such as exposure to EBV, low vitamin D levels, smoking, and obesity (23, 24). Major genetic and environmental risk factors for MS onset directly and indirectly influence the activation and trafficking of immune cells and consequently contribute to the greater risk of MS onset in susceptible individuals (25–27). In line with this, therapeutic approaches targeting peripheral T and B lymphocytes are highly effective, especially in younger people with MS, establishing the crucial contribution of peripheral immune cells to CNS neuroinflammatory processes in MS.

The biological mechanisms underlying the heterogeneous rate and severity of disability accumulation, e.g., the disease course, remain however poorly understood. Few genetic risks loci coding for genes highly expressed in neuroglial cells and linked to cognitive function were recently potentially associated with the severity of MS course, as were genetic polymorphisms associated with educational achievements, a proxy for cognitive reserve (28). In addition to older age being the greatest risk factor for onset of clinically overt progression in MS and for incomplete recovery from relapses (4, 29), this suggests a major contribution of the neurodegenerative aspects of MS to disease course and severity. Considering the increasingly recognized contribution of the immune system to other neurodegenerative disorders, as well as the modest but significant impact of a subset of DMTs on the progressive phase of the disease, neurodegeneration in MS is likely fueled by immune and CNS processes shaped by age-related alterations that tip the balance between immune-mediated injury and repair (5).

Biological aging

Biological aging is characterized by functional decline and loss of homeostasis over time. The combined accumulation of damage and exhaustion of repair/compensatory mechanisms partake in biological aging. Hallmarks of aging such as the accumulation of nuclear and mitochondrial DNA mutations, telomere attrition, epigenetic alterations, loss of proteostasis, disabled macroautophagy, dysregulated nutrient sensing, mitochondrial dysfunction, cellular senescence, stem cell exhaustion, altered intercellular communication, and gut dysbiosis, contribute to generate the state of chronic low-grade inflammation referred to as inflammaging (30).

Aging alters the innate and the adaptive immune systems

As put into light during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic (31-34), biological aging of the immune system leads to a progressive deterioration of the capacity to mount an appropriate robust

immune response, reduced immune surveillance, autoimmunity, and excessive levels of pro-inflammatory mediators. Immunosenescence affects the innate and adaptive immunity (35, 36), with a pronounced impact on lymphocytes and on CNS resident immune cells, the microglia (Figures 1A-C) (37–39). Aging



and characteristics that are altered with age. (A) Immunosenescence in the periphery. Alterations reported as enhanced in patients with MS compared with age-matched controls are identified in bold. (B) Physiological mechanisms altered in the aging CNS and potentially relevant to MS pathobiology. (C) Physiological functions decreasing (blue triangle) or increasing (orange triangle) with age and associated with inflammaging (in bold: MS-specific changes).

is associated with an altered immune cell output from the bone marrow. The volume of hematopoietic tissue within the bone marrow decreases as individuals age, and bone marrow hematopoietic stem cells exhibit a decreased capacity to self-renew and a shift toward myeloid cell differentiation (40, 41). The thymus involution starts as early as adolescence and data from animal models suggest that male sex hormones accelerate this process (42). Therefore, with aging, more neutrophils and monocytes but less T and B lymphocytes are generated (43). Despite the increased numbers of myeloid cells with aging, defective innate functions are observed. The antimicrobial functions, cytokine responses, and phagocytosis capacity of neutrophils and monocytes are diminished (44). NK cells are also more frequent in older individuals but show reduced cytotoxicity and proliferation and an enriched pro-inflammatory CD56^{dim} phenotype (45). Similarly, aging dampens the capacity of microglia to clear debris and phagocyte proteins (46) but increases their production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, complement and reactive oxygen species (ROS) (47, 48).

The reduced renewal of T and B lymphocytes is partially compensated by homeostatic proliferation, leading to a decreased diversity of the T-cell and B-cell receptor (TCR and BCR) repertoires upon aging. A recent publication revealed a more severe TCR diversity loss in CD8 than CD4 T cells with aging (49). The reduced TCR repertoire diversity is associated with a diminished capacity to mount an efficient cellular immune response targeting encountered pathogens, such as JC virus (50), or tumorigenic cells (51). Increased proportions of dysfunctional regulatory lymphocytes and of terminally differentiated pro-inflammatory T cells are observed upon aging (29). CD4 T lymphocytes from older subjects show impaired autophagy and mitochondrial dysfunction leading to a Th17 profile (52). Moreover, highly differentiated T lymphocytes develop a pro-inflammatory phenotype reminiscent of the senescence associated secretory phenotype (SASP) (53). Aging is furthermore associated with numerous changes in the B cell compartment, including an enhanced proinflammatory B cell secretome or SASP (43). In the elderly, infection or immunization induces antibodies with lower affinity and neutralizing functions, whereas autoantibody levels increase. An age-associated specific subset coined Age-associated B cells (ABCs) has been shown to contribute to the autoantibody secretion (54), notably, ABCs are more prevalent in patients with autoimmune diseases, including MS (55).

Immunosenescence fuels neurodegenerative processes

An increasing number of studies suggest that short telomere length in peripheral leukocytes represents a surrogate marker of biological aging, associated with an elevated risk of developing diseases, including neurodegenerative diseases (56, 57). Senescent immune cells cause accelerated systemic aging and are associated with organ damage including in the CNS (48, 58–60). In particular, dysfunctional aged myeloid cells contribute to neurodegenerative processes and age-related cognitive decline in multiple diseases such Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, and MS (61, 62). Exposure to rejuvenating interventions and to young bone marrow-derived immune cells can attenuate the age-related myeloid cell dysfunctions in animal models (63–65). Moreover, NK cells could accumulate in the dentate gyrus upon aging and show cytotoxicity towards neuroblasts, impairing synaptic plasticity and promoting cognitive decline (66). Interestingly, CD8 T lymphocytes showing clonal expansion are found in neurogenic regions of old animals, and their interferon- γ production could interfere with neural stem cell proliferation (Figure 1B) (67). Moreover, Th17 cells, which are increased upon aging, are implicated in a deleterious crosstalk with senescent cells such as fibroblasts (68). Notably, Th17 cells can form prolonged contact with oligodendrocytes in neuroinflammatory conditions and induce loss of distal myelinating processes followed by oligodendrocytic cell death (69).

Multiple age-related mechanisms can reduce the remyelination and neuroregeneration capacity observed in the elderly. Age-related sex hormone deficiencies, e.g., menopause and andropause, contribute to alterations in peripheral and central immune cell response and influence neurodegenerative processes (70). Increased oxidative stress, impaired phagocytosing capacity of myeloid cells (microglia and macrophages) (71), alterations in mitochondrial function and myelin biology, and reduced functionalities (migration, proliferation, differentiation) of oligodendrocyte precursor cells (72) have been identified as culprits in impaired remyelination (Figure 1B). Moreover, decreased neurogenesis, compromised support from astrocytes (73), reduced synaptic density, and maladaptive neuronal network alterations (48) participate in the age-related impaired neurodegeneration. Neural progenitor cells from subjects with progressive MS express markers of cellular senescence in situ and in vitro, and their secretome induces expression of senescence genes in OPCs and inhibits their differentiation (Figure 1B) (74). Recent studies suggest that aging of neuroglial cells shapes the clinical course and immune response in an animal model of MS (37). Therefore, concomitant age-sensitive processes in the peripheral immune and CNS compartment could contribute to the clinical and immunological shift seen over time in people with MS, from a relapsing to a progressive form. Such coexistent processes parallel a shift from aberrant peripheral immune cell activation and immune cell CNS infiltration to the subsequently intrathecal/diffuse CNS inflammation observed in later phases of MS.

Evidence of immunosenescence in MS

Telomere length shortening, a hallmark of biological aging of immune cells, is more pronounced in MS compared to age-matched controls (75). Shorter leukocyte telomere length is also associated with an increased risk of clinical progression over time (76). In line with this, the proportion of naïve T lymphocytes is reduced in MS compared to age-matched controls, and this alteration is observed even in pediatric MS cases (77). Antigen-experienced CD28^{neg} T cells exhibiting cytotoxic properties are observed in MS peripheral blood and CNS lesions (29). Other studies reported premature senescent expression patterns of age-sensitive immune markers by CD8 T lymphocytes from young MS patients (78). Pender et al. observed a reduction in the proportion of CD8 T cells producing interferongamma in response to autologous EBV infected cells in older patients compared with healthy donors (79). One group recently documented that the percentage of naïve CD4 T lymphocytes was lower, while the proportion of effector memory counterparts was higher in MS patients compared with healthy donors across ages (77). They also reported that the proportion of T lymphocytes expressing activation and cytotoxicity markers linked to aging is increased in MS patients (77).

Finally, pro-inflammatory age-associated B cells are more frequent in MS patients before the age of 60 years than in age-matched controls (55).

Factors driving premature immunosenescence and neurodegeneration in MS

Numerous factors have been proposed as drivers of immunosenescence. Repeated antigen encounters, such as seen in autoimmune diseases and in chronic viral infections, accelerate immunosenescence (80, 81). Multiple MS risk or prognostic factors such as viral infections, smoking, obesity, and sedentary lifestyle can accelerate immunosenescence and CNS dysfunction.

Smoking and obesity are associated with increased markers of DNA damage and telomere shortening in peripheral blood cells (82). Obesity is associated with peripheral and CNS inflammation, lower synaptic plasticity, and accelerated brain atrophy (83). Obesity speeds up T cell immunosenescence, including thymic involution (84) and enhances the proportion of peripheral blood memory CD4 and CD8 T cells (85). In fact, the complications of obesity, e.g., the metabolic syndrome, are associated with a state of chronic inflammation (metaflammation) similar to inflammaging, suggesting overlapping mechanisms and causes between inflammaging and metaflammation (86).

Interestingly, exercise is one of the most effective anti-aging interventions; it has profound effects on the immune system and the CNS (87). Exercise increases thymic output, skew myeloid cells towards an anti-inflammatory phagocytosing phenotype, boosts immune responses to pathogens and limits clinical manifestations of latent viruses, autoimmunity and inflammation (36). In addition, exercise is associated with better brain microstructural integrity and lower retinal and hippocampal atrophy in patients with MS (88). Notably, exercise decreases CNS inflammation and promote remyelination in MS mouse models (89). In addition to exercise, effective anti-aging dietary/metabolic interventions, such as intermittent fasting (90), metformin (91), and methionine restriction (92), ameliorate inflammation, remyelination and disease course in MS and its animal models. Shared mechanisms between exercise and dietary interventions include a beneficial impact on gut microbiota composition. Gut dysbiosis is indeed observed upon aging and is considered to precede onset of multiple age-related comorbidities and contribute to immunosenescence (Figure 1C) (93). MS and other autoimmune diseases are associated with gut dysbiosis, which is considered to contribute to skew the immune system towards a pro-inflammatory response (94). The composition of the gut microbiota is further modulated by obesity, diet, exercise and DMTs (93). Interventions aimed at restoring a healthy gut microbiota environment are promising nonpharmacological avenues to improve age-related comorbidities, inflammation and subsequently MS outcomes.

Confounders of clinical worsening with aging

The total burden of illnesses increases with age, leading to the higher prevalence of several common diseases such as hypertension, coronary heart disease, osteoarthritis, cancers, Alzheimer's disease, among others. This increase also affects aging MS patients who suffer from an already lower than average health status. Comorbidities have an important functional impact independent of MS and may explain, at least in part, the heterogeneity in outcomes between individuals (11). The presence of comorbid disorders is particularly important in the interpretation of new symptoms in aging MS patients. Neurologists must ascertain whether a decline in function is attributable to worsening MS or comorbid illnesses, which has an impact on treatment strategies. Comorbidities also directly affect the MS course. In a 3-year longitudinal study, comorbidities significantly impacted clinical outcomes (specifically, patient-reported outcome measures and timed 25-foot walk scores) in a real-world MS cohort, and a cumulative effect with multiple comorbidities was observed (95). Cardiovascular comorbidities in particular may promote neurodegenerative processes, as observed in some studies showing accelerated brain atrophy among individuals with hypertension (96). In a retrospective US observational cohort, age-related comorbidities such as cardiovascular risk factors, osteoarthritis, osteoporosis, glaucoma, and cancer were highly prevalent in MS, particularly in patients older than 65 years (97). The presence of multiple comorbidities in an individual patient was also highly prevalent in this MS cohort (97).

Cardiovascular comorbidities

Multiple sclerosis patients are at a higher risk than the general population to develop cardiovascular comorbidities such as hypertension, diabetes, dyslipidemia, ischemic heart disease, and cerebrovascular events (98). In a recent population-based retrospective matched cohort study from England, the risk of acute coronary syndrome, and cerebrovascular disease was approximately 30% higher in patients with MS than in the general population (99). A 3.5-fold increased hazard of all-cause mortality and a 1.5-fold increased hazard in cardiovascular disease-related mortality was also observed in this cohort (99). Similar results were observed in other cohorts (100). In a large population-based study using administrative data from four Canadian provinces, the incidence of diabetes in the MS population appears to be increasing more than in the general population (101). Interestingly, MS-related disability was associated with an increased risk of acute myocardial infarction in a Canadian MS cohort, which probably reflects sedentarity, lower exercise levels, and associated risk of obesity (100). The increased risk of cardiovascular events in MS might not be explained by a higher risk of cardiovascular risk factors alone, as MS cohorts were matched to controls after adjusting for age, sex, race, socioeconomic status, traditional risk factors, and antihypertensive treatments, statin use, and antiplatelets use (99, 100). It is postulated that chronic inflammation in MS and several other inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis contribute to increasing the cardiovascular risk in addition to traditional risk factors, although treatment-related effects cannot be excluded (100, 102).

The radiological correlate of the effect of cardiovascular comorbidities on the CNS is reflected by the accumulation of sub-cortical white matter abnormalities often referred to as microvascular changes. The pathogenesis of lesion formation in this case results from endothelial injury, decreased perfusion in distal arterioles, ischemia, and disruption of the blood–brain barrier (103). Features of microvascular lesions on brain MRI include acute

or sub-acute small subcortical infarcts seen on diffusion imaging, chronic lacunar infarcts mostly in the deep white and grey matter, sub-cortical white matter hyperintensities, enlarged perivascular spaces, microbleeds on susceptibility-weighted imaging, and global atrophy. Supratentorial MS lesions are typically ovoid periventricular, or juxtacortical. However, lesion formation in the sub-cortical regions is not uncommon with MS and the distinction can be difficult in practice (103). Differentiating microvascular lesions secondary to cerebral small vessel disease from new MS lesions is a key component in the evaluation of treatment response in older individuals with cardiovascular comorbidities. Although age-related whole brain and focal atrophy occur in all individuals with or without cardiovascular comorbidities, excess atrophy beyond what is expected from normal aging is seen in both MS and cerebrovascular disease. While MS-related atrophy is the main driver of global and focal brain volume loss in young individuals, the rate of normal aging increases and becomes the predominant contributor of atrophy after the age of 60 years (104). This has important implications when interpreting worsening atrophy in an older individual with long-standing MS.

Osteoarticular comorbidities

Reduced bone mineral density is more frequent in patients with MS since corticosteroid use and reduced mobility are known risk factors for osteoporosis (105). Combined with the fact that the risk of falls is increased in long-standing MS, aging patients are predisposed to fractures. Osteoarthritis and lower back pain are common in aging MS patients, affecting around 20-25% of those older than 65 years (97). Osteoarticular-related mobility impairment and pain is important to distinguish from MS-related worsening and can be the main disabling symptom in some patients. However, aging individuals in general are also at higher risk of gait imbalance, falls, and osteoarticular disorders, even without known neurological diseases, hence the influence of aging, polypharmacy, and comorbidities on disability measures could be significant. As an important illustrative point, aging individuals without MS or other neurological conditions also demonstrate high level of disability on the Expanded Disability System Score (EDSS), the most commonly used measure of disability in MS. Lynch et al. report an EDSS ≥ 4 in a third of individuals without MS who are 55 years or older, associated with impairment in all functional system scores of the EDSS, except the cerebellar and visual components (106).

Dementia

Both aging and long-standing MS independently impact cognitive functioning (107). Moreover, as patients age, several comorbid symptoms and disorders can contribute to patient-perceived cognitive impairment such as polypharmacy, poor sleep, depression, anxiety, and fatigue. With age, the risk of Alzheimer's disease (AD) and related dementias, as well as vascular dementia, increases in the general population (and in individuals with MS), which can be difficult to distinguish from MS-related cognitive impairment (108). AD is common in individuals >65 years old, and its prevalence is increasing with longer life expectancy in the Western world. In a large US retrospective cohort using private claims data, Mahmoudi et al. found that the incidence of early-onset AD and related dementias diagnosis was higher in individuals with MS aged 45-64 years and >65 years compared to non-MS individuals after adjusting for key confounders (109). This data suggests that MS patients may be at a greater risk of AD and related dementias, but is largely confounded by the high probability of misdiagnosis in this setting (i.e., MS-related condition vs. AD) (109). Indeed, the major obstacle in identifying coexisting AD in an aging MS patient is the challenge of diagnosing AD in general, since a definitive diagnosis relies on post-mortem histopathological confirmation. Rare case reports and case series of probable or definite AD in MS patients have been published (110). As an example, cortical lesions containing amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles suggestive of AD were found in 11 out of 67 patients with longstanding inactive MS in an autopsy case series (15). In practice, the differential diagnosis relies on the identification of different cognitive phenotypes and, when available, the use of paraclinical testing such as PET imaging and CSF biomarkers. AD often presents with deficits in episodic and semantic memory, executive functioning, apraxia, and agnosia (cortical dementia) and evolves in most cases to moderate to severe dementia, whereas MS-related cognitive dysfunction often involves processing speed, verbal memory, and visual memory impairments and dementia is rarely seen (111). Comparing cognitive phenotypes between patients with MS, patients with amnestic mild cognitive impairment, and healthy individuals all aged 60-80 years, a study showed that MS patients had poorer performance on measures of processing speed, but better performance on cued memory, language, and executive function tests compared to patients with amnestic mild cognitive impairment (112). Vascular cognitive impairment secondary to microvascular changes is highly variable but is generally associated with poor executive function and impaired processing speed and can evolve slowly into an insidious sub-cortical dementia (108). Due to the high inter-individual variability of cognitive phenotypes particularly in MS and vascular-related cognitive impairments, the diagnosis remains a challenge in clinical practice.

Frailty

Frailty is defined as a state of increased vulnerability resulting from aging-associated decline in reserve and function across multiple physiologic systems which occurs with age. Fried et al. operationally defined that frailty is reached with three out of five phenotypic criteria: low grip strength, low energy, slowed walking speed, low physical activity, and unintentional weight loss (113). A pre-frail stage, in which one or two criteria are present, identifies a subset at high risk of progressing to frailty. Frailty, which often accompanies aging in the general population, has a negative impact on the invalidity level in MS (114). Frailty carries an increased risk for poor health outcomes, including falls, incident disability, hospitalization, and mortality. To date, it is unclear if frailty is a reliable marker of handicap and morbidity related to MS.

Treatment efficacy in aging MS patients

Pivotal randomized controlled trials leading to the approval and wide use of MS-specific DMTs have systematically excluded individuals >55 years old. However, as already mentioned, these individuals represent the majority of MS patients in real-world settings (1). The age discrepancy between individuals with MS included in regulatory trials and real-world clinical practice is concerning when considering treatment efficacy in this age group (115).

There is increasing evidence to support an age-dependent decrease in the efficacy of DMTs, which is consistent with the pathophysiological changes associated with aging combined with the fact that approved DMTs exert their efficacy via their antiinflammatory properties. The majority of trials evaluating the efficacy of DMTs in progressive MS, particularly without evidence of clinical or radiological activity, have shown negative results. In a meta-analysis of all randomized clinical trials (including more than 28,000 participants) evaluating the efficacy of DMTs and using a complex statistical approach, Weideman et al. reported a strong decrease in the efficacy of DMTs on MS-related disability progression with advancing age, with chronological age explaining a large proportion of the variance in inhibition of disability progression (9). The regression model predicted no efficacy beyond the age of 53 years. Moreover, higher efficacy DMTs were superior to platform therapies only in patients younger than 40.5 years (9). However, in another large realword study, high-efficacy DMTs appeared to be superior until the age of 54.2 years (116). Age was a better predictor of lower benefit on disability progression than baseline EDSS (9). Despite several limitations related to the representativeness of subjects included in trials, this meta-analysis highlights the differential efficacy of DMTs based on age. Conversely, another meta-analysis using data from 26 trials of 14 different DMTs showed no significant associations between age and efficacy in reduction of inflammatory activity markers (annualized relapse rate (ARR), new T2 lesions, and gadoliniumenhanced lesions) between active and comparator groups. This can be explained by the inclusion of patients with baseline disease activity in these trials, therefore not representing real-world patients with RRMS above a certain age. In a Canadian population-based observational study using linked administrative health data and including more than 19,000 MS patients, a protective effect of DMTs on hospitalization rate was observed in subjects <55 years but the risk was not significantly lowered in those >55 years (117).

Subgroup analyses of the comparative DMT effectiveness based on age were conducted in most phase 3 pivotal trials (115) and are summarized in Table 1. Most DMTs show little to no effect on disability progression in patients older than 40 years compared to comparator arms. A positive effect on markers of disease activity such as the ARR is seen in patients >40 years in several but not most trials (ex: Natalizumab trials AFFIRM and SENTINEL, Dimethyl fumarate trial DEFINE - but not in CONFIRM, and in the Peginterferon Beta-1a ADVANCE trial). Again, this can be explained by the inclusion of patients with baseline disease activity in most trials.

Siponimod and ocrelizumab were evaluated in slightly older populations. The phase 3 Siponimod clinical trial (EXPAND) included patients up to 60 years of age with SPMS (122). The mean age in this cohort was 48 years whereas, in other trials, the mean age varied between 33 and 38 years old (130). The majority (64%) of patients had no clinical relapse in the past 2 years and around half needed assistance for walking, therefore including an underrepresented population in previous trials. Siponimod was superior to placebo in reducing the risk of disability progression as measured by the EDSS (but not the timed 25-foot walk test), radiological activity, and percent brain volume loss compared to placebo. The effect on confirmed disability progression was seen in patients younger and older than 50 years (Poster presentation by Hua L. et al. at the American Academy of Neurology meeting in 2022, P5.002). CONSONNANCE, an ongoing open-label single-arm study evaluating the efficacy of ocrelizumab in patients with SPMS and PPMS, is the first trial including patients up to 65 years old (131). Primary outcome measures include No Evidence of Progression (NEP) defined as the absence of 24-weeks confirmed clinical progression (measured by a clinically significant increase in the EDSS score, the timed 25-foot walk test, or the nine-hole peg test) and No Evidence of Progression or Active Disease (NEPAD) defined as NEP plus the absence of relapses or radiological activity. The mean age in this study was 48.5 years. In the year-1 interim analysis, ocrelizumab was effective in maintaining NEP in >70% and NEPAD in approximately 58% of patients with SPMS and PPMS. The relatively high proportion of patients not meeting NEPAD at year one is explained by the therapeutic lag expected with the drug, as new/ enlarging MRI lesions in the first 6 months were the main driver of NEPAD. However, this suggests that subjects included had some degree of inflammatory activity, therefore not representing real-world cohorts of patients with long-standing progressive MS.

Treatment safety in aging MS patients

Risks associated with disease-modifying therapies

As discussed in the first section of this paper, biological agingrelated qualitative and quantitative changes in the immune system are associated with decreased ability to counter infections and cancers. Added to treatment-specific immunomodulation and immunosuppression, older individuals are at higher risk of adverse events with prolonged DMT use (13). As patients age, they might also be exposed to a higher number of DMTs with different mechanisms of action and this cumulative effect is not without risks. In general, older individuals are more prone to serious adverse events, in particular severe adverse events (132-135). An important example is the risk of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML), mostly associated to the use of natalizumab but with other DMTs as well. Older age is an independent risk factor for developing PML. Older individuals are more likely to develop PML after a lower number of natalizumab infusions and have higher mortality rates (50, 136, 137). De novo infections and reactivation of latent viruses also occur more frequently in older individuals both in the general population and in MS. Particularly, the risk of varicella zoster virus associated to shingosine-1-phosphate receptor modulators, cladribine, and alemtuzumab increases with age (13). The risk of grade 3 lymphopenia with dimethyl fumarate use increases with age, and dimethyl fumarate-associated PML risk is related to severe lymphopenia (98). B-cell depleting therapies are associated with a higher risk of infections than interferon-based preparation, glatiramer acetate, fingolimod, and natalizumab, particularly in older individuals with comorbidities (138). The risk of serious infection with these therapies is partially correlated to the degree of associated hypogammaglobulinemia (139). This risk can be mitigated by monitoring immunoglobulin levels while on

Treatment	Trial	Age-based effect on disease activity markers	Age-based effect on the risk of confirmed disability progression
Teriflunomide	TEMSO (118)	Significant reduction of the ARR in patients <38 and ≥38 years vs. placebo	Reduction of the risk of disability progression only in patients <38 years vs. placebo
Dimethyl fumarate	DEFINE (119) CONFIRM (120)	Significant reduction in the ARR in patients <40 and \geq 40 years vs. placebo No significant reduction in the ARR in patients \geq 40 years vs. glatiramer acetate	Reduction of the risk of disability progression only in patients <40 years vs. placebo No reduction in the risk of disability progression in both age groups (<40 and >40 years) vs. glatiramer acetate
Fingolimod	FREEDOMS (121)	No significant reduction in the ARR in patients ≥40 years vs. placebo	No reduction in the risk of disability progression in both age groups vs. placebo
Siponimod	EXPAND (122)	-	Significant reduction in the risk of disability progression in patients <50 and years ≥50 years vs. placebo
Ozanimod	SUNBEAM (123) and RADIANCE (124)	No significant reduction in the ARR in patients ≥40 years vs. IFN-b1a	No reduction in the risk of disability progression in both age groups vs. placebo vs. IFN-b1a
Cladribine	CLARITY (125)	Significant reduction in the odds of remaining free of disease activity in patients <40 and ≥40 years vs. placebo	Significant reduction in the risk of disability progression in patients <40 and years ≥40 years vs. placebo
Ocrelizumab	OPERA I and II (126) OROTARIO (127)	No significant reduction in the ARR in patients ≥40 years, but significant reduction in NEDA rates in both sub-groups vs. IFN-b1a Significant reduction in the ARR in patients <45 and ≥45 years vs. placebo	Significant reduction in the risk of disability progression in patients <40 and years ≥40 years vs. IFN-b1a Significant reduction in the risk of disability progression in patients <45 and ≥45 years vs. placebo with a notable trend to benefit younger subjects
Ofatumumab	ASCLEPIOS (128)	Significant reduction in the ARR in patients <40 and years ≥40 years vs. teriflunomide	Significant reduction in the risk of disability progression in patients <40 and years ≥40 years vs. teriflunomide
Natalizumab	AFFIRM and SENTINEL (129)	Significant reduction in the ARR in patients <40 and ≥40 years vs. placebo in AFFIRM and in combination with iINF-b1a vs. INF- b1a alone in SENTINEL	Reduction of the risk of disability progression only in patients <40 years vs. placebo in AFFIRM and in combination with INF-b1a vs. INF-b1a alone in SENTINEL

TABLE 1 Reported post hoc sub-group analysis from pivotal phase 3 trials of different DMTs based on age.

ARR, annualized relapse rate; INF, interferon; NEDA, no evidence of disease activity.

treatment. Reactivation of latent hepatitis B is a known risk of B-cell depleting therapies but does not seem to be affected by age. During the COVID-19 pandemic, MS patients on B-cell depleting therapies such as ocrelizumab and rituximab had worse outcomes than those on other DMTs, even after adjusting for age and other confounders (140, 141). Age, progressive MS phenotype, higher disability, and the presence of comorbidities were often associated with poorer Covid-19-related prognosis in MS cohorts (140–143). Importantly, vaccine responses are significantly blunted in patients on B-cell depleting therapies and fingolimod (144), added to an age-dependent decreased immune response even in healthy individuals (34).

Older individuals are also more susceptible to several non-infectious adverse events of DMTs. For example, hypertension is a potential adverse event of teriflunomide and fingolimod, and is also more frequent with aging. The negative chronotropic effects of fingolimod might also be age-dependent, at least in mice (145). Patients with type 2 diabetes, which becomes more frequent and more commonly associated with end-organ damage with aging, are more prone to fingolimod-related macular oedema. There are conflicting data regarding the risk of cancer in MS in general, with some studies (including a recent meta-analysis) reporting a lower risk of cancers in MS patients (146), and others a similar or slightly increased risk compared to the general population (147, 148). Cancer risk also increases with age and can be potentiated by the use of

certain DMTs (148). For example, there is an increased risk of non-melanoma skin cancers with the use of fingolimod. B-cell depleting therapies, alemtuzumab, and natalizumab have also been associated with various cancers, but the evidence for causality is less robust. Despite the initial concern of increased carcinogenesis with cladribine, subsequent data showed no increase in risk of secondary malignancies (148). The overall cancer risk is probably not higher with exposure to IFN-b, glatiramer acetate, teriflunomide, and dimethyl fumarate (148–150).

Risk of polypharmacy

Polypharmacy, commonly defined as the concomitant use of at least 5 medications, is observed in up to 35 to 50% of adults >65 years of age in North America (151, 152). Polypharmacy is a major public health concern globally, and is associated with an increased risk of drug–drug interactions and adverse events, lower quality of life, worsening disability and cognitive function, and increased hospitalization rates (152). Older adults with multiple comorbidities might be more prone to slowed drug metabolism, side effects, adverse events and drug interactions. Adverse events are estimated to be the 14th leading cause of morbidity and mortality in the world as per the WHO (153). Moreover, the

estimated prevalence of hospitalizations due to drug interactionsrelated morbidity is around 1% (154). Patients with chronic diseases such as MS are at higher risk of polypharmacy, mainly secondarily to the use of symptomatic therapies. In a large Canadian populationbased study, using administrative and pharmacy data in the universal healthcare setting of British Columbia, 28% of MS patients met the criteria of polypharmacy, and more than 2/3 of these were exposed to polypharmacy for more than 180 days in 2017 (155). Patients in the polypharmacy group had a significantly higher odd of hospitalizations compared to the non-polypharmacy group. Additionally, one in 20 MS patients were treated with ≥ 10 medications. Within those exposed to polypharmacy, 82% were older than 50 years. Compared to those aged <50 years, the odds of being exposed to polypharmacy was 2 times higher in MS patients aged 50-64 years, and more than three times higher in those \geq 65 years. MS patients with 1–2 or \geq 3 comorbidities had 3- and 6-times higher odds, respectively, of being exposed to polypharmacy. Interestingly, women and people with lower socioeconomic status were also at higher risk of polypharmacy in this cohort. Anti-depressants followed by antiepileptics with analgesic properties (pregabalin, gabapentin, clonazepam), proton-pump inhibitors, lipid-lowering agents, centrally-acting muscle relaxants, ACE inhibitors, opioids, and thyroid medication, were the most commonly prescribed drugs in this study; this is consistent with a larger scale Medicare study in the US (156).

Polypharmacy is associated with poorer outcomes in MS patients. For instance, the risk of falls seems to be higher. In a *post hoc* analysis of data from two observational cohorts from the US and Australia, the adjusted odds of falling increased by 13% with each additional medication used (157). This increase was even more pronounced with centrally-acting drugs, specifically anti-depressants. In this study, the use of MS-specific DMTs decreased the risk of falls. In another prospective study, in which 85 MS patients were evaluated for depression, fatigue, self-reported cognitive functioning, and objective cognitive tests, those exposed to polypharmacy had increased fatigue and poorer self-reported cognitive functioning and performances on objective memory tests (158). People with MS are also more prone to potential drug–drug interactions which are more frequent in older individuals with a longer disease duration and higher EDSS scores (159).

The consequences of polypharmacy remain underrecognized among patients with MS and should be taken into account when evaluating older patients who are experiencing new or worsening symptoms. As suggested by Bourdette et al., polypharmacy should be highlighted in the problem list, when appropriate, to incite routine evaluation of medication lists (160). Specifically, the efficacy of MS symptomatic therapies should be periodically revised and discontinuation of treatment with no or little benefit should be encouraged while promoting non-pharmacological interventions to address pain, spasticity, poor sleep, and fatigue.

Trends in DMT use in older MS patients

In practice, neurologists are often confronted with the decision to either maintain, escalate, de-escalate, or discontinue therapies in patients with long-standing disease who are 55 years or older. There are currently no evidence-based guidelines on treatment in this age group, and treatment decisions should remain individualized in a case-by-case approach. The European Academy of Neurology and American Academy of Neurology practice guidelines do not clearly address the indication of DMT de-escalation or discontinuation. Some patients with RRMS continue to have active disease despite their age and long disease duration, whereas a majority either have stable disease or evolve into a secondary progressive course as illustrated in the clinical vignettes (Figures 2,3).



FIGURE 2

A 61-year-old man was evaluated for new neurological symptoms suggestive of a relapse. He was diagnosed with RRMS in 1998 after two episodes compatible with sub-acute sensory myelitis in 1994 and 1998. He did not receive any treatment for his MS between 1998 and 2019. Between 2000 and 2008, he had a couple of episodes suggestive of mild relapses. He had also noticed some progressively worsening gait instability and cognitive difficulties over the past few years, In April 2019 (at the age of 57), he experienced transient tingling followed by mild weakness and ataxia of the left upper extremity which resolved spontaneously over 5 weeks. Brain MRI showed 2 new lesions, one in the right juxtacortical posterior frontal lobe in the precentral gyrus explaining his symptoms. He was started on dimethyl fumarate 240 mg BID. He was doing well until August 2020 (at the age of 58 years), when he experienced tingling in the RUE associated with worsening cognitive difficulties. Repeat MRI showed 2 new lesions in the supratentorial regions. He was switched to oral cladribine without new clinical events or new radiological activity. This case highlights that although rare, some patients have continued disease activity despite an older age and longer disease duration.

(A) Axial FLAIR sequences of brain MRI in April 2019 showing 2 new lesions (arrows) compared to prior MRI in 2017, and concomitant with a relapse (weakness and proprioceptive ataxia of the left upper extremity). (B) Axial FLAIR sequences of brain MRI in August 2020, 13months after starting dimethyl fumarate, showing 2 new lesions (yellow arrows) compared to MRI in April 2019, with a decrease in size of the right posterior frontal lesion seen on prior MRI (green arrow) concomitant to a relapse: weakness of LUE and LLE.


FIGURE 3

A 66-year-old woman was evaluated to establish care in our clinic. She was diagnosed with RRMS in 2002 after an episode compatible with sub-acute sensory myelitis. She was a participant in a Natalizumab trial, and was treated with this drug between 2003 and 2006. She experienced a relapse in 2007 after Natalizumab discontinuation, and was started on interferon beta1-a IM once a week between 2007 and 2015. She had a pseudo-relapse in 2014 in the context of acute illness. She did not report subacute symptoms since 2014, however she has noticed progressively worsening gait difficulties over the past few years, which she attributes to invalidating mechanical lower back pain related to severe spinal stenosis and degenerative disk disease. She continues to have flu-like symptoms after each interferon injection which last 12 to 24 hours. Her brain MRI in 2022 (at the age of 65) is stable compared to her MRIs between 2015 and 2019, except for a mild worsening of whole brain atrophy. After explaining the risks and benefits of treatment discontinuation, we decided to discontinue her interferon treatment She has been clinically stable since. This case highlights that treatment discontinuation is a reasonable option in older patients with long standing disease duration and no clinical/radiological activity

Axial FLAIR sequences of brain MRI in July 2022 showing extensive lesions in the supratentorial regions which were stable in number and size compared to prior MRI in 2017, associated with diffuse brain atrophy.

Treatment de-escalation

Little is known about de-escalation strategies in MS. The theoretical logic of de-escalation is based on the fact that the probability of disease activity is the highest in the first 5–10 years, and DMTs are mostly effective during this period (116). In a recent study, Vollmer et al. report a lower probability of disease activity in patients on higher-efficacy infusible DMTs vs. oral therapies until the age of 54.2 years, after which the difference in efficacy becomes non-significant (116). For this reason, de-escalation should be considered in older patients with stable disease, especially those at risk of serious adverse events (for ex: a patient with hypogammaglobulinemia on a B cell- depleting

therapy). De-escalation can be done by switching to a lower efficacy DMT with more favorable safety profile before considering treatment discontinuation. However, whether the decrease in the risk of rebound disease activity is not counterbalanced by the safety and tolerability issues of cumulative exposure to DMTs is unclear. Another approach is de-escalation by interval extension for infusible DMTs (161, 162). The latter could offer the benefit of preserved efficacy with a reduced risk of adverse effects based on observations from the natalizumab and rituximab interval extension studies (161, 162). As proposed by Vollmer et al. de-escalation strategies developed to match the probability of disease activity across the lifespan need to be studied using randomized controlled trials (116).

Treatment discontinuation

The risk of treatment discontinuation should take into account the annualized relapse rate and the presence or absence of radiological activity on MRI in the recent years. Continued progressive worsening despite treatment is not an uncommon reason to discontinue DMTs in patients with secondary progressive MS. DMT-specific considerations should also be factored in, for example, a careful evaluation of the risk of long-lasting immunosuppression with B-cell depleting therapies, alemtuzumab, and cladribine in infection-prone patients with advanced MS. Discontinuing DMT in older patients appears to have no effect on quality of life measures based on a threecenter study comparing those outcomes between stoppers and stayers in a cohort of 600 MS patients above the age of 60 (163). Importantly, patients' perspective on treatment discontinuation should be considered. Reluctance on treatment discontinuation is frequent in patients who have been stable for many years and are tolerating their therapies. A recent study evaluated patient-perspective on treatment discontinuation using a survey sent to patients from the North American Research Committee on Multiple Sclerosis (NARCOMS) registry who were ≥45 years and on their most recent DMT for \geq 5 years (164). The mean age of respondents was approximately 56 years (164). In this study, 66.3% of respondents were unlikely or very unlikely to accept DMT discontinuation (164). In our experience, patients who are stable are usually more reluctant to treatment discontinuation compared to those with continued disability worsening.

Based on the observation of a lower benefit and potentially higher risk profile of DMT use in aging MS patients, recent research has focused on determining when and how to discontinue DMTs in older individuals. The DISCOMS (Discontinuation of Disease Modifying Therapies in MS) trial (NCT# 03073603) is the first randomized controlled trial evaluating the risk of disease activity after treatment discontinuation across 20 centers in the USA. The methodology of this trial was based on a non-inferiority analysis and the primary outcome was the combined measure of relapse and/or new T2 lesion on brain MRI. Other secondary and tertiary outcomes were also analyzed (6-months confirmed EDSS worsening, Symbol-Digit Modalities Test (SDMT) scores, and patient-reported outcome measures). Patients were randomized (1:1 by site) to either continue or discontinue their DMT. Clinical evaluation (relapse occurrence and EDSS scores), as well as MRI interpretation was performed by blinded raters. Mean

follow-up time was 22.4 months. Included individuals (n = 259) were 55 years or older of any MS phenotype, had no relapse in the past 5 years, no new MRI lesions in the past 3 years, and were continuously treated with an approved DMT for at least 5 years, with the most recently used DMT for at least 2 years. The mean age of this cohort was 63 years, with a majority of women and RRMS phenotype. Most patients had longstanding (mean disease duration of 22.2 years) and stable (mean time since last documented relapse of 14 years) disease. Around 75% of subjects were treated with low-efficacy injectable therapies (interferon beta1a or 1b or glatiramer acetate) or teriflunomide. The combined occurrence of disease events was 4.69% vs. 12.21% (p=0.521) meaning that non-inferiority was not demonstrated for this combined outcome. Relapses occurred in 0.78% of subjects in the group of patients who continued their DMT and 2.29% in the group who discontinued their DMT (p = 0.005), which implies non-inferiority of treatment discontinuation for this outcome. New T2 lesions occurred in 3.9% of subjects in the group of patients who continued their DMT and 10.69% in the group who discontinued their DMT (p=0.422), which implies that non-inferiority was not demonstrated for this outcome. Importantly, these primary outcome events were not associated with worsened disability. Moreover, relapses were very rare in both groups, and most participants with relapses did not have a new lesion on MRI to corroborate the clinical event, suggesting the possibility of pseudo-relapses. New MRI lesions were rare and most had one new lesion only. EDSS progression was seen in about 11% of patients who continued their DMT and 12% of patients who discontinued their DMT, a difference that was not statistically significant. There was also no difference in SDMT scores and patient-reported outcome measures. The authors conclude that although DMT discontinuation is not inferior to continuing DMT in this population, non-inferiority of discontinuing DMT was not demonstrated (in other words: stopping treatment is not non-inferior to continuing treatment). An extension study of the DISCOMS trial is expected (NCT# 04754542; Corboy J et al. ECTRIMS 2022; EP1089). Two other randomized trials are also ongoing: the STOP-I-SEP trial (Disease Modifying Therapies Withdrawal in Inactive Secondary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis Patients Older Than 50 Years, NCT# 03653273, estimated study completion date in January 2028) and the DOT-MS trial (Discontinuing Disease-modifying Therapies in Stable Relapsing-Onset Multiple Sclerosis, NCT# 04260711, estimated study completion date in January 2024).

Other observational studies have evaluated safety of treatment discontinuation in patients with MS, specifically platform therapies. In a large multicenter study using data from the MS base registry in patients with at least 5 years of disease stability treated with INF-b1a/b or glatiramer acetate, and using propensity score matching, patients who pursued and those who stopped their DMT were compared (165). Patients in both groups had a similar relapse rate, but those who discontinued their DMT had a 50% higher hazard for disability progression than those who stayed on treatment, and this higher risk was mostly driven by patients who were stable prior to DMT discontinuation (165). In a small retrospective cohort (n=69)predominantly treated with glatiramer acetate and interferon with stable disease for >2 years, patients who were <45 years had a significantly shorter time to first clinical or radiological activity event compared to older patients (166). In a cohort of 221 patients with RRMS treated with either glatiramer acetate or interferon beta 1a/b who discontinued their treatment, Bsteh et al. retrospectively identified an age of 45 years or older at the time of DMT discontinuation, the absence of relapses for more than 4 years, and the absence of active lesion on MRI as independent predictors of absence of clinical activity after stopping DMT (167). Patients who were both older than 45 years and had no relapses in the past 4 years had a very low risk of relapses after stopping their DMT (167). Importantly, higher EDSS scores, an age older than 45 years, and longer disease duration at treatment discontinuation were all associated with a higher risk of disability progression in this study after discontinuation (167). The same group evaluated the performance of a composite score taking into account age, radiological activity and the duration of disease stability prior to DMT discontinuation, and showed that patients with a high composite score had an 85% probability of recurrence of disease activity in the next 5 years after stopping their treatment (168). Similar results were observed in another observational study using propensity score matching to compare patients who stayed or stopped their injectable DMT (169). The mean age of this cohort was 54 years and all included patients were at least 50 years and did not have a relapse in the past 3 years (169). Stoppers did not have a higher likelihood of relapse or EDSS progression, but had a higher risk of reaching an EDSS of 6.0 (169). In another recent multi-center retrospective observational study from Jakimovsky et al. DMT discontinuation was associated with non-relapse disability progression, or PIRA, independently of prior stable disease and age, specifically in patients with an EDSS >6.0 (170). In this study, DMT discontinuation triggered de novo disability worsening in previously stable patients with both RRMS and SPMS (170). Taken altogether, the results of these studies corroborate the hypothesis that PIRA is the main driver of disability along the disease course and that DMTs do not halt or alter this neurodegenerative process once it is ongoing, but may play a role in controlling subclinical inflammation even at a later age, specifically in patients with no clear evidence of progressive disability worsening while on treatment and those in the so-called "transition phase."

Data on higher-efficacy DMT discontinuation after a certain age is scarce but yet less reassuring. A two-center study in France from Chappuis et al. retrospectively evaluated the risks of disease activity after platform (glatiramer acetate, interferon beta-1a/b, teriflunomide) and higher-efficacy (fingolimod, rituximab, natalizumab) DMT discontinuation in 232 patients who were older than 45 years (171). Median age in this cohort was around 53 years, median disease duration was 15.8 years, and mean EDSS was 3.8 at DMT discontinuation (171). Most patients did not have a relapse in the past year, but around 25% of those on higher-efficacy DMT and 16% of those on platform DMT did have clinical or radiological activity in the past 3 years (171). Nearly 40% of patients were classified as having SPMS. Importantly, 61.2% of patients who stopped their higher-efficacy DMT had progressive MS (171). A 6% relapse risk in the year after discontinuation was observed for the group on a platform DMTs, 9% for those on fingolimod and 43% for those on natalizumab was observed, peaking in the first 3 months after stopping fingolimod or natalizumab, while no patient had disease activity after stopping Rituximab (171). Hence, the wellestablished rebound effect after natalizumab discontinuation does not only occur in younger individuals with active relapsingremitting disease, and remains a significant risk when considering stopping this treatment in older patients, even those with a secondary-progressive disease course. Results from a smaller

10.3389/fneur.2023.1197212

prospective observational study are also in line with this observation: in 15 patients with a mean age of 50 years and stable disease for the past 5 years who discontinued natalizumab, all experienced disease activity after a mean follow-up period of 19 months (172). Specifically, 10 patients had a recrudescence of clinical or radiological activity whereas 5 had rebound activity (4 out 5 where >50 years old). In conclusion, discontinuing natalizumab specifically is associated with a significant risk of disease activity at any age and should prompt early switching to another DMT. In regards to fingolimod, the risk of disease activity or rebound activity after discontinuation appears to be lower and more age-dependent compared to Natalizumab, yet present. For instance, a single-center retrospective study looking at all patients who discontinued fingolimod for more than 6 months found than an age > 50 years did not significantly decrease the risk of recurrence of disease activity even though it occurred less frequently in this age group compared to their younger counterparts. Specifically, 11/128 patients were older than 60 years and none of them had recurrence of disease activity after stopping fingolimod (173). In the previously mentioned French study, 2 patients who were older than 60 years experienced recurrence of disease activity after stopping fingolimod (171). Discontinuing fingolimod should therefore also be considered cautiously at any age. There is little evidence on the risk of disease activity reactivation or rebound activity after discontinuation of B-cell depleting therapies. Nevertheless, this category of DMT seems to exert a prolonged effect without a significant risk of rebound of clinical or radiological activity. In a large single-center Swedish cohort treated with rituximab, 808 patients were retrospectively identified, only 92 (11%) had discontinued treatment mostly due pregnancy, adverse events, stable disease, and other reasons (174). There was no difference in age, disease duration, number of previous DMT, and EDSS at rituximab start between those who stayed on and those who stopped rituximab (174). After rituximab discontinuation, 3/92 patients had a relapse and 4/92 had new T2 lesions (one of which had both) at least 3 months after treatment stop (174). Although some patients who discontinued rituximab were started on another DMT, disease activity was rare even in those who stayed off therapy (174). In the French cohort, 9 patients discontinued Rituximab after the age of 45 and none had a relapse after a mean follow-up time of 1.6 years (171). Based on these observations, disease activity appears to remain suppressed long after B-cell depleting therapies discontinuation. Whether this DMT category can be used as an induction therapy and later discontinued safely without an alternative DMT is not clear but would be an interesting treatment approach when considering long-term treatment planning.

In conclusion, there is growing evidence to suggest that treatment discontinuation is relatively safe after the age of 55–60 years in individuals with long-standing and stable disease on platform therapies. Recurrence of disease activity however remains a risk, specifically for patients on fingolimod and natalizumab, and relapse recovery declines with age (175). Clinicians need tools to stratify the risk of disease reactivation to guide clinical decisions, such as the Vienna Innsbruck DMT discontinuation score based on age, activity on MRI, and duration in stable course (VIAADISC score) developed by Bsteh et al. for patients on platform DMTs (168). Predictive scores should be developed for other DMTs, specially for higher-efficacy DMTs as well as for teriflunomide and dimethyl fumarate for which data on discontinuation risk is scarce. The difficulty in developing such tools resides in the high interindividual

variability of MS phenotypes and in the lack of predictability and intraindividual variability of disease activity across the disease course. Moreover, we need more time to assess long-term effects of newer DMTs. There are inherent differences in the risk of disease reactivation and the risk of rebound activity with some DMTs after discontinuation and conversely a potential for induction properties of others such as B-cell depleting therapies and cladribine. Finally, it is essential to consider the patients' perspective when making such decisions; patient-reported outcome measures can guide clinicians understand how treatment decisions affect patients' quality of life (163). For now, the decision to discontinue or de-escalate DMTs should be taken in the context of each individual with a clear explanation of the risk–benefit balance to the patient, taking into account treatment-related morbidity and direct and indirect treatment-related costs.

Conclusion and recommendations

Caring for patients with long-standing MS is a quotidian and complex task for their health care providers. Several concerns must be integrated in treatment choices, including the disease process itself and its multiple sequelae, comorbidities, and measure of general health such as frailty. Development of clinical deterioration should be viewed as a potential complication from these several factors, and the management plan should be tailored accordingly. As patients age and transition to a predominantly progressive form, their needs increase as they accumulate symptoms such as weakness, ataxia, spasticity, cognitive impairment, pain, sphincteric and sexual dysfunctions, visual symptoms, sleep problems, and fatigue. Hence, management can become complex and requires frequent adjustments. To optimize health outcomes in this population, multidisciplinary care should be the cornerstone of management (176). Physical and occupational therapists, social workers, psychologists, speech therapists with an expertise in cognition, urologists, and physiatrists are all essential players in the treatment of long-standing MS, and can help patients to maintain their autonomy and quality of life (176). Involving patients in their own care can increase empowerment and coping abilities. In this regard, promoting physical activity, healthier life habits, weight control and good nutrition can delay disease progression and result in a higher sense of wellness. Unfortunately, MS care units remain a luxury in many regions, even in developed countries. As an example, using a survey targeting health care providers across Canada to assess models of MS care, Marrie et al. found that nearly half of MS clinics report an insufficient number of specialized neurologists, and nearly 70% report an insufficient number of non-physician providers (177). Sadly, a majority of clinics had wait times longer than 3 months for patients to be seen by the different providers of the multidisciplinary team (177). Another important aspect of MS management is recognizing polypharmacy and deprescribing when possible, as aging patients with MS often end up with several symptomatic therapies with additive side effects. Polypharmacy is an under-recognized problem and has an additive effect on MS symptoms particularly fatigue, cognitive impairment, and fall risk (160). As discussed throughout this review, the natural evolution of the disease, the shift of pathophysiological processes, the probable decreased efficacy of DMTs after the age of 55 years (supported by real-word data, clinical observations, and the DISCOMS trial), and the safety concerns in this age group, support

the rationale of considering DMT de-escalation and discontinuation in older patients with stable disease, particularly those on platform DMTs (178). Until we have more reassuring data, careful monitoring for recurrence of disease activity after discontinuation is prudent (178). However, the evidence to support this practice is still scarce and there are currently no guidelines on treatment discontinuation, although several consensus groups have published recommendations along these lines (179, 180).

In this regard, recommendations regarding treatment approaches in individuals after the age of 55 years may include the following, until more evidence-based data become available and practice guidelines are developed:

- The benefits and risks of DMTs should be reassessed and discussed with patients periodically taking into account their age, disease duration, clinical and radiological activity in the past few years, rate of disability accrual, comorbidities, and patient preferences. Treatment decisions should hence be individualized in a case-by-case approach.
- DMT discontinuation could be considered in individuals with long standing and stable disease on platform DMTs who are older than 55 years, especially in those older than 60 years.
- The benefit of platform therapies such as interferon beta-1a or b and teriflunomide in individuals with long standing disease after the age of 55 is questionable, and since there is no reported risk of rebound disease activity after discontinuation of these therapies, they could be safely discontinued with careful monitoring in most cases.
- In general, de-escalation could be considered after the age of 55 in patients who have been on high-efficacy DMTs for many years. Although the benefit of fingolimod and natalizumab in this population is questionable, the risk of breakthrough disease activity or rebound activity is non-negligible. De-escalation can be used as a strategy to mitigate this risk.
 - o Switching to lower efficacy DMTs such as teriflunomide, interferon-based preparation, or glatiramer acetate before considering treatment discontinuation could be an option.
 - o Another approach could be de-escalation by interval extension for therapies such as natalizumab and B celldepleting therapies, although whether the risk of rebound activity is sufficiently mitigated with this approach is unclear.
 - In patients with recent disease activity for whom natalizumab or fingolimod must be discontinued (e.g., lymphopenia, positive JCV serology), switching to other high-efficacy "induction" therapies such as cladribine or B-cell therapies can be useful in selected cases. These DMTs have more prolonged immunosuppressive effects and do not seem to be associated with rebound effects when stopped, although an additive effect on the risk of PML should be explained to patients.
- At each visit, symptomatic therapies should be reviewed and ineffective medications discontinued. Instead, non-pharmacological interventions, such as aerobic exercise and good sleep hygiene to improve fatigue or stretching to counter spasticity must be encouraged.
- General measures of wellness should be optimized by promoting physical activity and adequate nutrition, optimization of

comorbidity management, and promotion of age-specific preventive measures

- Developing outcome measures that are adapted to aging individuals to detect MS-related handicap and appropriately identifying confounders is key to evaluating treatment response and optimally address drivers of disability progression, whether related to MS or not. The EDSS, the most commonly used scale of disability in MS, might not be the ideal tool in this population, as higher scores are associated with older age and polypharmacy, even when used on older individuals who do not have MS (106).

Author contributions

GM: conception and design of manuscript, data review and interpretation, drafting the manuscript, and reviewing the manuscript for intellectual content. CL and NA: drafting the manuscript and reviewing the manuscript for intellectual content. MG, JG, and AP: reviewing the manuscript for intellectual content. PD: conception and design of manuscript, data review and interpretation, and reviewing the manuscript for intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank John Corboy for providing his input on the presentation of the DISCOMS trial results in this manuscript.

Conflict of interest

GM has served on advisory boards for Genentech-Roche, Novartis, Mercks, and Biologix, received speaker fees from Biologix, Mercks, and Novartis, and participated in educational activities for Neurology Live and John Hopkin's e-Litterature Review. CL has served on scientific advisory boards and/or as speaker for EMD-Serono, Biogen, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Roche, Novartis, Actelion, FindTx and Sanofi-Genzyme and has received a Grant for Multiple Sclerosis Innovation from Merck/ EMD-Serono.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Wallin MT, Culpepper WJ, Campbell JD, Nelson LM, Langer-Gould A, Marrie RA, et al. The prevalence of MS in the United States: a population-based estimate using health claims data. *Neurology*. (2019) 92:e1029–40. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000007035

2. Marrie RA, Yu N, Blanchard J, Leung S, Elliott L. The rising prevalence and changing age distribution of multiple sclerosis in Manitoba. *Neurology*. (2010) 74:465–71. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181cf6ec0

3. Kappos L, Wolinsky JS, Giovannoni G, Arnold DL, Wang Q, Bernasconi C, et al. Contribution of relapse-independent progression vs relapse-associated worsening to overall confirmed disability accumulation in typical relapsing multiple sclerosis in a pooled analysis of 2 randomized clinical trials. *JAMA Neurol.* (2020) 77:1132–40. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.1568

4. Lublin FD, Häring DA, Ganjgahi H, Ocampo A, Hatami F, Čuklina J, et al. How patients with multiple sclerosis acquire disability. *Brain.* (2022) 145:3147–61. doi: 10.1093/brain/awac016

5. Kuhlmann T, Moccia M, Coetzee T, Cohen JA, Correale J, Graves J, et al. Multiple sclerosis progression: time for a new mechanism-driven framework. *Lancet Neurol.* (2023) 22:78–88. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(22)00289-7

6. Zeydan B, Kantarci OH. Impact of age on multiple sclerosis disease activity and progression. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep.* (2020) 20:1–7. doi: 10.1007/s11910-020-01046-2

7. Zeydan B, Kantarci OH. Progressive forms of multiple sclerosis. *Neurol Clin*. (2018) 36:163–71. doi: 10.1016/j.ncl.2017.08.006

8. Tutuncu M, Tang J, Zeid NA, Kale N, Crusan DJ, Atkinson EJ, et al. Onset of progressive phase is an age-dependent clinical milestone in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler J*. (2013) 19:188–98. doi: 10.1177/1352458512451510

9. Weideman AM, Tapia-Maltos MA, Johnson K, Greenwood M, Bielekova B. Metaanalysis of the age-dependent efficacy of multiple sclerosis treatments. *Front Neurol.* (2017) 8:1–12. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00577

10. Yu N, Tennakoon A, Cossoy M, Marriott J, Elliott L, Marrie RA. Comorbidity increases the risk of hospitalizations in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*. (2014) 84:350–8. doi: 10.1212/wnl.00000000001187

11. Marrie RA. Comorbidity in multiple sclerosis: implications for patient care. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2017) 13:375–82. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2017.33

12. Macaron G, Cohen JA. Integrating multiple sclerosis guidelines into practice. *Lancet Neurol.* (2018) 17:658–60. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30248-5

13. Schweitzer F, Laurent S, Fink GR, Barnett MH, Reddel S, Hartung HP, et al. Age and the risks of high-efficacy disease modifying drugs in multiple sclerosis. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2019) 32:305–12. doi: 10.1097/WCO.00000000000000701

14. Hametner S, Wimmer I, Haider L, Pfeifenbring S, Bruck W, Lassmann H. Iron and neurodegeneration in the multiple sclerosis brain. *Ann Neurol.* (2013) 74:848–61. doi: 10.1002/ana.23974

15. Frischer JM, Bramow S, Dal-Bianco A, Lucchinetti CF, Rauschka H, Schmidbauer M, et al. The relation between inflammation and neurodegeneration in multiple sclerosis brains. *Brain.* (2009) 132:1175–89. doi: 10.1093/brain/awp070

16. Howell OW, Reeves CA, Nicholas R, Carassiti D, Radotra B, Gentleman SM, et al. Meningeal inflammation is widespread and linked to cortical pathology in multiple sclerosis. *Brain*. (2011) 134:2755–71. doi: 10.1093/brain/awr182

17. Mahad DH, Trapp BD, Lassmann H. Pathological mechanisms in progressive multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2015) 14:183–93. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70256-X

18. Lassmann H. The contribution of neuropathology to multiple sclerosis research. *Eur J Neurol.* (2022) 29:2869–77. doi: 10.1111/ene.15360

19. Goldschmidt T, Antel J, König FB, Brück W, Kuhlmann T. Remyelination capacity of the MS brain decreases with disease chronicity. *Neurology*. (2009) 72:1914–21. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181a8260a

20. Chang A, Staugaitis SM, Dutta R, Batt CE, Easley KE, Chomyk AM, et al. Cortical remyelination: a new target for repair therapies in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol.* (2012) 72:918–26. doi: 10.1002/ana.23693

21. Bodini B, Veronese M, García-Lorenzo D, Battaglini M, Poirion E, Chardain A, et al. Dynamic imaging of individual remyelination profiles in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol.* (2016) 79:726–38. doi: 10.1002/ana.24620

22. Kolb H, Absinta M, Beck ES, Ha SK, Song Y, Norato G, et al. 7T MRI differentiates remyelinated from demyelinated multiple sclerosis lesions. *Ann Neurol.* (2021) 90:612–26. doi: 10.1002/ana.26194

23. Waubant E, Lucas R, Mowry E, Graves J, Olsson T, Alfredsson L, et al. Environmental and genetic risk factors for MS: an integrated review. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* (2019) 6:1905–22. doi: 10.1002/acn3.50862

24. Shams H, Shao X, Santaniello A, Kirkish G, Harroud A, Ma Q, et al. Polygenic risk score association with multiple sclerosis susceptibility and phenotype in Europeans. *Brain.* (2023) 146:645–56. doi: 10.1093/brain/awac092

25. Golden LC, Itoh Y, Itoh N, Iyengar S, Coit P, Salama Y, et al. Parent-of-origin differences in DNA methylation of X chromosome genes in T lymphocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2019) 116:26779–87. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1910072116

26. Voskuhl RR. The effect of sex on multiple sclerosis risk and disease progression. *Mult Scler.* (2020) 26:554–60. doi: 10.1177/1352458519892491

27. Giefing-Kröll C, Berger P, Lepperdinger G, Grubeck-Loebenstein B. How sex and age affect immune responses, susceptibility to infections, and response to vaccination. *Aging Cell*. (2015) 14:309–21. doi: 10.1111/acel.12326

28. Baranzini S, Sawcer S. International multiple sclerosis genetics consortium. Genetic analysis of multiple sclerosis severity identifies a novel locus and implicates CNS resilience as a major determinant of outcome. *Res Sq.* (2022). doi: 10.21203/rs3. rs-1723574/v1

29. Larochelle C, Uphaus T, Prat A, Zipp F. Secondary progression in multiple sclerosis: neuronal exhaustion or distinct pathology? *Trends Neurosci.* (2016) 39:325–39. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2016.02.001

30. López-Otín C, Blasco MA, Partridge L, Serrano M, Kroemer G. Hallmarks of aging: an expanding universe. *Cells.* (2023) 186:243-78. doi: 10.1016/j. cell.2022.11.001

31. Rébillard R-M, Charabati M, Grasmuck C, Filali-Mouhim A, Tastet O, Brassard N, et al. Identification of SARS-CoV-2-specific immune alterations in acutely ill patients. *J Clin Invest.* (2021) 131:e145853. doi: 10.1172/JCI145853

32. Aragon L, Iribarren-López A, Alberro A, Iparraguirre L, von Wichmann M, Marimon JM, et al. Immune cell population and cytokine profiling suggest age dependent differences in the response to SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Front Aging*. (2023) 4:1108149. doi: 10.3389/fragi.2023.1108149

33. Froidure A, Mahieu M, Hoton D, Laterre PF, Yombi JC, Koenig S, et al. Short telomeres increase the risk of severe COVID-19. *Aging (Albany NY)*. (2020) 12:19911–22. doi: 10.18632/aging.104097

34. Müller L, Andrée M, Moskorz W, Drexler I, Walotka L, Grothmann R, et al. Agedependent immune response to the Biontech/Pfizer BNT162b2 coronavirus disease 2019 vaccination. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2021) 73:2065–72. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciab381

35. Dema M, Eixarch H, Villar LM, Montalban X, Espejo C. Immunosenescence in multiple sclerosis: the identification of new therapeutic targets. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2021) 20:102893. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2021.102893

36. Duggal NA, Niemiro G, Harridge SDR, Simpson RJ, Lord JM. Can physical activity ameliorate immunosenescence and thereby reduce age-related multi-morbidity? *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2019) 19:563–72. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0177-9

37. Atkinson JR, Jerome AD, Sas AR, Munie A, Wang C, Ma A, et al. Biological aging of CNS-resident cells alters the clinical course and immunopathology of autoimmune demyelinating disease. *JCI Insight*. (2022) 7:e158153. doi: 10.1172/jci. insight.158153

38. Godeanu S, Clarke D, Deftu A-F, Popa-Wagner A, Bălşeanu AT, et al. Microglial morphology in the somatosensory cortex across lifespan. A quantitative study. *Dev Dyn Off Publ Am Assoc Anat.* (2023). doi: 10.1002/dvdy.582 [Online ahead of print].

39. Streit WJ, Sammons NW, Kuhns AJ, Sparks DL. Dystrophic microglia in the aging human brain. *Glia*. (2004) 45:208–12. doi: 10.1002/glia.10319

40. de Haan G, Lazare SS. Aging of hematopoietic stem cells. *Blood.* (2018) 131:479–87. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-06-746412

41. Hartsock RJ, Smith EB, Petty CS. Normal variations with aging of the amount of hematopoietic tissue in bone marrow from the anterior iliac crest. A study made from 177 cases of sudden death examined by necropsy. *Am J Clin Pathol.* (1965) 43:326–31. doi: 10.1093/ajcp/43.4.326

42. Thomas R, Wang W, Su D-M. Contributions of age-related thymic involution to immunosenescence and inflammaging. *Immun Ageing.* (2020) 17:2. doi: 10.1186/s12979-020-0173-8

43. de Mol J, Kuiper J, Tsiantoulas D, Foks AC. The dynamics of B cell aging in health and disease. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 12:733566. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.733566

44. De Maeyer RPH, Chambers ES. The impact of ageing on monocytes and macrophages. Immunol Lett. (2021) 230:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2020.12.003

45. Gounder SS, Abdullah BJJ, Radzuanb NEIBM, Zain FDBM, Sait NBM, Chua C, et al. Effect of aging on NK cell population and their proliferation at ex vivo culture condition. *Anal Cell Pathol (Amst).* (2018) 2018:1–6. doi: 10.1155/2018/7871814

46. Thomas AL, Lehn MA, Janssen EM, Hildeman DA, Chougnet CA. Naturally-aged microglia exhibit phagocytic dysfunction accompanied by gene expression changes reflective of underlying neurologic disease. *Sci Rep.* (2022) 12:19471. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-21920-y

47. Sierra A, Gottfried-Blackmore AC, McEwen BS, Bulloch K. Microglia derived from aging mice exhibit an altered inflammatory profile. *Glia.* (2007) 55:412–24. doi: 10.1002/glia.20468

48. Bieri G, Schroer AB, Villeda SA. Blood-to-brain communication in aging and rejuvenation. *Nat Neurosci.* (2023) 26:379–93. doi: 10.1038/s41593-022-01238-8

49. Sun X, Nguyen T, Achour A, Ko A, Cifello J, Ling C, et al. Longitudinal analysis reveals age-related changes in the T cell receptor repertoire of human T cell subsets. *J Clin Invest*. (2022) 132:e158122. doi: 10.1172/JCI158122

50. Mills EA, Mao-draayer Y. Aging and lymphocyte changes by immunomodulatory therapies impact PML risk in multiple sclerosis patients. *Mult Scler J.* (2018) 24:1014–22. doi: 10.1177/1352458518775550

51. Han S, Georgiev P, Ringel AE, Sharpe AH, Haigis MC. Age-associated remodeling of T cell immunity and metabolism. *Cell Metab.* (2023) 35:36–55. doi: 10.1016/j. cmet.2022.11.005

52. Bharath LP, Agrawal M, McCambridge G, Nicholas DA, Hasturk H, Liu J, et al. Metformin enhances autophagy and normalizes mitochondrial function to alleviate aging-associated inflammation. *Cell Metab.* (2020) 32:44–55.e6. doi: 10.1016/j. cmet.2020.04.015

53. Fukushima Y, Minato N, Hattori M. The impact of senescence-associated T cells on immunosenescence and age-related disorders. *Inflamm Regen*. (2018) 38:24. doi: 10.1186/s41232-018-0082-9

54. Mouat IC, Goldberg E, Horwitz MS. Age-associated B cells in autoimmune diseases. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2022) 79:402. doi: 10.1007/s00018-022-04433-9

55. Claes N, Fraussen J, Vanheusden M, Hellings N, Stinissen P, van Wijmeersch B, et al. Age-associated B cells with proinflammatory characteristics are expanded in a proportion of multiple sclerosis patients. *J Immunol.* (2016) 197:4576–83. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1502448

56. Fessler J, Angiari S. The role of T cell senescence in neurological diseases and its regulation by cellular metabolism. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 12:706434. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.706434

57. Wang Q, Zhan Y, Pedersen NL, Fang F, Hägg S. Telomere length and all-cause mortality: a meta-analysis. *Ageing Res Rev.* (2018) 48:11–20. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2018.09.002

58. Yousefzadeh MJ, Flores RR, Zhu Y, Schmiechen ZC, Brooks RW, Trussoni CE, et al. An aged immune system drives senescence and ageing of solid organs. *Nature*. (2021) 594:100–5. doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-03547-7

59. Villeda SA, Plambeck KE, Middeldorp J, Castellano JM, Mosher KI, Luo J, et al. Young blood reverses age-related impairments in cognitive function and synaptic plasticity in mice. *Nat Med.* (2014) 20:659–63. doi: 10.1038/nm.3569

60. Villeda SA, Luo J, Mosher KI, Zou B, Britschgi M, Bieri G, et al. The ageing systemic milieu negatively regulates neurogenesis and cognitive function. *Nature*. (2011) 477:90–4. doi: 10.1038/nature10357

61. Mayne K, White JA, McMurran CE, Rivera FJ, de la Fuente AG. Aging and neurodegenerative disease: is the adaptive immune system a friend or foe? *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2020) 12:572090. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2020.572090

62. Thome AD, Faridar A, Beers DR, Thonhoff JR, Zhao W, Wen S, et al. Functional alterations of myeloid cells during the course of Alzheimer's disease. *Mol Neurodegener*. (2018) 13:61. doi: 10.1186/s13024-018-0293-1

63. Minhas PS, Latif-Hernandez A, McReynolds MR, Durairaj AS, Wang Q, Rubin A, et al. Restoring metabolism of myeloid cells reverses cognitive decline in ageing. *Nature*. (2021) 590:122–8. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-03160-0

64. das MM, Godoy M, Chen S, Moser VA, Avalos P, Roxas KM, et al. Young bone marrow transplantation preserves learning and memory in old mice. *Commun Biol.* (2019) 2:73. doi: 10.1038/s42003-019-0298-5

65. Ruckh JM, Zhao J-W, Shadrach JL, van Wijngaarden P, Rao TN, Wagers AJ, et al. Rejuvenation of regeneration in the aging central nervous system. *Cell Stem Cell*. (2012) 10:96–103. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2011.11.019

66. Jin W-N, Shi K, He W, Sun JH, van Kaer L, Shi FD, et al. Neuroblast senescence in the aged brain augments natural killer cell cytotoxicity leading to impaired neurogenesis and cognition. *Nat Neurosci.* (2021) 24:61–73. doi: 10.1038/s41593-020-00745-w

67. Dulken BW, Buckley MT, Navarro Negredo P, Saligrama N, Cayrol R, Leeman DS, et al. Single-cell analysis reveals T cell infiltration in old neurogenic niches. *Nature*. (2019) 571:205–10. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1362-5

68. Faust HJ, Zhang H, Han J, Wolf MT, Jeon OH, Sadtler K, et al. IL-17 and immunologically induced senescence regulate response to injury in osteoarthritis. *J Clin Invest.* (2020) 130:5493–507. doi: 10.1172/JCI134091

69. Larochelle C, Wasser B, Jamann H, Löffel JT, Cui QL, Tastet O, et al. Proinflammatory T helper 17 directly harms oligodendrocytes in neuroinflammation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2021) 118:e2025813118. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2025813118

70. Voskuhl R, Itoh Y. The X factor in neurodegeneration. J Exp Med. (2022) 219:e20211488. doi: 10.1084/jem.20211488

71. Rawji KS, Kappen J, Tang W, Teo W, Plemel JR, Stys PK, et al. Deficient surveillance and phagocytic activity of myeloid cells within demyelinated lesions in aging mice visualized by ex vivo live multiphoton imaging. *Rapid Commun.* (2018) 38:1973–88. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2341-17.2018

72. Neumann B, Segel M, Chalut KJ, Franklin RJ. Remyelination and ageing: reversing the ravages of time. *Mult Scler J*. (2019) 25:1835–41. doi: 10.1177/1352458519884006

73. Palmer AL, Ousman SS. Astrocytes and aging. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2018) 10:337. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2018.00337

74. Nicaise AM, Wagstaff LJ, Willis CM, Paisie C, Chandok H, Robson P, et al. Cellular senescence in progenitor cells contributes to diminished remyelination potential in progressive multiple sclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2019) 116:9030–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1818348116

75. Habib R, Ocklenburg S, Hoffjan S, Haghikia A, Epplen JT, Arning L. Association between shorter leukocyte telomeres and multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2020) 341:577187. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2020.577187

76. Krysko KM, Henry RG, Cree BAC, Lin J, University of California, San Francisco MS-EPIC TeamCaillier S, et al. Telomere length is associated with disability progression in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol.* (2019) 86:671–82. doi: 10.1002/ana.25592

77. Zuroff L, Rezk A, Shinoda K, Espinoza DA, Elyahu Y, Zhang B, et al. Immune aging in multiple sclerosis is characterized by abnormal CD4 T cell activation and increased frequencies of cytotoxic CD4 T cells with advancing age. *EBioMedicine*. (2022) 82:104179. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2022.104179

78. Eschborn M, Pawlitzki M, Wirth T, Nelke C, Pfeuffer S, Schulte-Mecklenbeck A, et al. Evaluation of age-dependent immune signatures in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Neurology.* (2021) 8:e1094. doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000000001094

79. Pender MP, Csurhes PA, Pfluger CMM, Burrows SR. CD8 T cell deficiency impairs control of Epstein--Barr virus and worsens with age in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2012) 83:353–4. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2011-300213

80. Ruan P, Wang S, Yang M, Wu H. The ABC-associated immunosenescence and lifestyle interventions in autoimmune disease. *Rheumatol Immunol Res.* (2022) 3:128–35. doi: 10.2478/rir-2022-0021

81. Sachinidis A, Garyfallos A. Involvement of age-associated B cells in EBV-triggered autoimmunity. *Immunol Res.* (2022) 70:546–9. doi: 10.1007/s12026-022-09291-y

82. Valdes AM, Andrew T, Gardner JP, Kimura M, Oelsner E, Cherkas LF, et al. Obesity, cigarette smoking, and telomere length in women. *Lancet.* (2005) 366:662–4. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)66630-5

83. Versini M, Jeandel P-Y, Rosenthal E, Shoenfeld Y. Obesity in autoimmune diseases: not a passive bystander. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2014) 13:981–1000. doi: 10.1016/j. autrev.2014.07.001

84. Yang H, Youm Y-H, Vandanmagsar B, Rood J, Kumar KG, Butler AA, et al. Obesity accelerates thymic aging. *Blood*. (2009) 114:3803-12. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-03-213595

85. Taylor JM, Li A, McLachlan CS. Immune cell profile and immune-related gene expression of obese peripheral blood and liver tissue. *FEBS Lett.* (2022) 596:199–210. doi: 10.1002/1873-3468.14248

86. Prattichizzo F, de Nigris V, Spiga R, Mancuso E, la Sala L, Antonicelli R, et al. Inflammageing and metaflammation: the yin and yang of type 2 diabetes. *Ageing Res Rev.* (2018) 41:1–17. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2017.10.003

87. Demnitz N, Stathi A, Withall J, Stainer C, Seager P, de Koning J, et al. Hippocampal maintenance after a 12-month physical activity intervention in older adults: the REACT MRI study. *NeuroImage Clin.* (2022) 35:102762. doi: 10.1016/j. nicl.2021.102762

88. Riemenschneider M, Hvid LG, Ringgaard S, Nygaard MKE, Eskildsen SF, Gaemelke T, et al. Investigating the potential disease-modifying and neuroprotective efficacy of exercise therapy early in the disease course of multiple sclerosis: the early multiple sclerosis exercise study (EMSES). *Mult Scler J.* (2022) 28:1620–9. doi: 10.1177/13524585221079200

89. Lozinski BM, de Almeida LGN, Silva C, Dong Y, Brown D, Chopra S, et al. Exercise rapidly alters proteomes in mice following spinal cord demyelination. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:7239. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-86593-5

90. Fitzgerald KC, Bhargava P, Smith MD, Vizthum D, Henry-Barron B, Kornberg MD, et al. Intermittent calorie restriction alters T cell subsets and metabolic markers in people with multiple sclerosis. *EBioMedicine*. (2022) 82:104124. doi: 10.1016/j. ebiom.2022.104124

91. Negrotto L, Farez MF, Correale J. Immunologic effects of metformin and pioglitazone treatment on metabolic syndrome and multiple sclerosis. *JAMA Neurol.* (2016) 73:520–8. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2015.4807

92. Roy DG, Chen J, Mamane V, Ma EH, Muhire BM, Sheldon RD, et al. Methionine metabolism shapes T helper cell responses through regulation of epigenetic reprogramming. *Cell Metab.* (2020) 31:250–266.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2020.01.006

93. Conway J, Duggal NA. Ageing of the gut microbiome: potential influences on immune senescence and inflammageing. *Ageing Res Rev.* (2021) 68:101323. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2021.101323

94. iMSMS Consortium. Gut microbiome of multiple sclerosis patients and paired household healthy controls reveal associations with disease risk and course. *Cells.* (2022) 185:3467–3486.e16. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2022.08.021

95. Conway DS, Thompson NR, Cohen JA. Influence of hypertension, diabetes, hyperlipidemia, and obstructive lung disease on multiple sclerosis disease course. *Mult Scler.* (2017) 23:277–85. doi: 10.1177/1352458516650512

96. Nagai M, Hoshide S, Ishikawa J, Shimada K, Kario K. Ambulatory blood pressure as an independent determinant of brain atrophy and cognitive function in elderly hypertension. *J Hypertens.* (2008) 26:1636–41. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e3283018333

97. Dai D, Sharma A, Phillips A, Lobo C. Patterns of comorbidity and multimorbidity among patients with multiple sclerosis in a large US commercially insured and Medicare advantage population. *J Heal Econ Outcomes Res.* (2022) 9:125–33. doi: 10.36469/ jheor.2022.38669

98. Graves JS, Krysko KM, Hua LH, Absinta M, Franklin RJM, Segal BM. Ageing and multiple sclerosis. Lancet Neurol. (2022) 4422:1-12. doi: 10.1016/s1474-4422(22)00184-3

99. Palladino R, Marrie RA, Majeed A, Chataway J. Evaluating the risk of macrovascular events and mortality among people with multiple sclerosis in England. *JAMA Neurol.* (2020) 77:820–8. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.0664

100. Marrie RA, Garland A, Schaffer SA, Fransoo R, Leung S, Yogendran M, et al. Traditional risk factors may not explain increased incidence of myocardial infarction in MS. *Neurology*. (2019) 92:e1624–33. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000007251

101. Marrie RA, Fisk J, Tremlett H, Wolfson C, Warren S, Blanchard J, et al. Differing trends in the incidence of vascular comorbidity in MS and the general population. *Neurol Clin Pract.* (2016) 6:120–8. doi: 10.1212/CPJ.00000000000230

102. Low ASL, Symmons DPM, Lunt M, Mercer LK, Gale CP, Watson KD, et al. Relationship between exposure to tumour necrosis factor inhibitor therapy and incidence and severity of myocardial infarction in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2017) 76:654–60. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2016-209784

103. Wang B, Li X, Li H, Xiao L, Zhou Z, Chen K, et al. Clinical, radiological and pathological characteristics between cerebral small vessel disease and multiple sclerosis: a review. *Front Neurol.* (2022) 13:1–11. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.841521

104. Azevedo CJ, Cen SY, Jaberzadeh A, Zheng L, Hauser SL, Pelletier D. Contribution of normal aging to brain atrophy in MS. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2019) 6:1–10. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000616

105. Hearn AP, Silber E. Osteoporosis in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2010) 16:1031–43. doi: 10.1177/1352458510368985

106. Lynch S, Baker S, Nashatizadeh M, Thuringer A, Thelen J, Bruce J. Disability measurement in multiple sclerosis patients 55 years and older: what is the expanded disability status scale really telling clinicians? *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2020) 2021:102724. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2020.102724

107. Tremblay A, Kim C, Estefania B, Elaine R, Pierre D, Isabelle R. The effects of aging and disease duration on cognition in multiple sclerosis. *Brain Cogn.* (2020) 146:105650. doi: 10.1016/j.bandc.2020.105650

108. O'Brien JT, Thomas A. Vascular dementia. Lancet. (2015) 386:1698-706. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00463-8

109. Mahmoudi E, Sadaghiyani S, Lin P, Kamdar N, Norcott A, Peterson MD, et al. Diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease and related dementia among people with multiple sclerosis: large cohort study, USA. *MSARD*. (2022) 57:103351. doi: 10.1016/j. msard.2021.103351

110. Luczynski P, Laule C, Hsiung GYR, Moore GRW, Tremlett H. Coexistence of multiple sclerosis and Alzheimer's disease: a review. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2018) 2019:232–8. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2018.10.109

111. Benedict RHB, Amato MP, DeLuca J, Geurts JJG. Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis: clinical management, MRI, and therapeutic avenues. *Lancet Neurol.* (2020) 19:860–71. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(20)30277-5

112. Roth A, Denney D, Burns J, Lynch S. Cognition in older patients with multiple sclerosis compared to patients with amnestic mild cognitive impairment and healthy older adults. *Neuropsychology.* (2018) 32:654–63. doi: 10.1037/ neu0000453

113. Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, Newman AB, Hirsch C, Gottdiener J, et al. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. (2001) 56:M146–57. doi: 10.1093/gerona/56.3.M146

114. Ayrignac X, Larochelle C, Keezer M, Roger E, Poirier J, Lahav B, et al. Frailty in ageing persons with multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler J.* (2021) 27:613–20. doi: 10.1177/1352458520923945

115. Jakimovski D, Eckert SP, Zivadinov R, Weinstock-Guttman B. Considering patient age when treating multiple sclerosis across the adult lifespan. *Expert Rev Neurother*. (2021) 21:353–64. doi: 10.1080/14737175.2021.1886082

116. Vollmer BL, Wolf AB, Sillau S, Corboy JR, Alvarez E. Evolution of disease modifying therapy benefits and risks: an argument for De-escalation as a treatment paradigm for patients with multiple sclerosis. *Front Neurol.* (2022) 12:1–8. doi: 10.3389/ fneur.2021.799138

117. Ng HS, Graf J, Zhu F, Kingwell E, Aktas O, Albrecht P, et al. Disease-modifying drug uptake and health service use in the ageing MS population. *Front Immunol.* (2022) 12:1–11. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.794075

118. Miller AE, O'Connor P, Wolinsky JS, Confavreux C, Kappos L, Olsson TP, et al. Pre-specified subgroup analyses of a placebo-controlled phase III trial (TEMSO) of oral teriflunomide in relapsing multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler J.* (2012) 18:1625–32. doi: 10.1177/1352458512450354

119. Gold R, Kappos L, Arnold DL, Bar-Or A, Giovannoni G, Selmaj K, et al. Placebocontrolled phase 3 study of oral BG-12 for relapsing multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med.* (2012) 367:1098–107. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1114287

120. Fox RJ, Miller DH, Phillips JT, Hutchinson M, Havrdova E, Kita M, et al. Placebocontrolled phase 3 study of oral BG-12 or glatiramer in multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med.* (2012) 367:1087–97. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1206328 121. Devonshire V, Havrdova E, Radue EW, O'Connor P, Zhang-Auberson L, Agoropoulou C, et al. Relapse and disability outcomes in patients with multiple sclerosis treated with fingolimod: subgroup analyses of the double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled FREEDOMS study. *Lancet Neurol.* (2012) 11:420–8. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70056-X

122. Kappos L, Bar-Or A, Cree BAC, Fox RJ, Giovannoni G, Gold R, et al. Siponimod versus placebo in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis (EXPAND): a double-blind, randomised, phase 3 study. *Lancet.* (2018) 391:1263–73. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30475-6

123. Comi G, Kappos L, Selmaj KW, Bar-Or A, Arnold DL, Steinman L, et al. Safety and efficacy of ozanimod versus interferon beta-1a in relapsing multiple sclerosis (SUNBEAM): a multicentre, randomised, minimum 12-month, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Neurol.* (2019) 18:1009–20. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(19)30239-X

124. Cohen JA, Comi G, Selmaj KW, Bar-Or A, Arnold DL, Steinman L, et al. Safety and efficacy of ozanimod versus interferon beta-1a in relapsing multiple sclerosis (RADIANCE): a multicentre, randomised, 24-month, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Neurol.* (2019) 18:1021–33. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(19)30238-8

125. Giovannoni G, Cook S, Rammohan K, Rieckmann P, Sørensen PS, Vermersch P, et al. Sustained disease-activity-free status in patients with relapsingremitting multiple sclerosis treated with cladribine tablets in the CLARITY study: a post-hoc and subgroup analysis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2011) 10:329–37. doi: 10.1016/ S1474-4422(11)70023-0

126. Turner B, Cree BAC, Kappos L, Montalban X, Papeix C, Wolinsky JS, et al. Ocrelizumab efficacy in subgroups of patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol.* (2019) 266:1182–93. doi: 10.1007/s00415-019-09248-6

127. Montalban X, Hauser SL, Kappos L, Arnold DL, Bar-Or A, Comi G, et al. Ocrelizumab versus placebo in primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med.* (2017) 376:209–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1606468

128. Hauser SL, Bar-Or A, Cohen JA, Comi G, Correale J, Coyle PK, et al. Ofatumumab versus Teriflunomide in Multiple Sclerosis. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 383:546–57. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1917246

129. for the AFFIRM and SENTINEL InvestigatorsHutchinson M, Kappos L, Calabresi PA, Confavreux C, Giovannoni G, et al. The efficacy of natalizumab in patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis: subgroup analyses of AFFIRM and SENTINEL. *J Neurol.* (2009) 256:405–15. doi: 10.1007/s00415-009-0093-1

130. Zhang Y, Caldito NG, Shirani A, Salter A, Cutter G, Culpepper W, et al. Aging and efficacy of disease-modifying therapies in multiple sclerosis: a metaanalysis of clinical trials Yinan. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord*. (2020) 13:1–10. doi: 10.1177/https

131. Comi G, Bermel R, Bar-Or A, McGinley M, Arnold D, Henry R, et al. A multicentre, open label, single-arm, phase 3b study (CONSONANCE) to assess the effectiveness and safety of ocrelizumab in patients with primary and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis: year-1 interim analysis (P1-1.Virtual). *Neurology*. (2022) 98:652.

132. Buscarinu MC, Reniè R, Morena E, Romano C, Bellucci G, Marrone A, et al. Late-onset MS: disease course and safety-efficacy of DMTS. *Front Neurol.* (2022) 13:1–7. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.829331

133. Vaughn CB, Jakimovski D, Kavak KS, Ramanathan M, Benedict RHB, Zivadinov R, et al. Epidemiology and treatment of multiple sclerosis in elderly populations. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2019) 15:329–42. doi: 10.1038/s41582-019-0183-3

134. Ostolaza A, Corroza J, Ayuso T. Multiple sclerosis and aging: comorbidity and treatment challenges. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2021) 2021:102815. doi: 10.1016/j. msard.2021.102815

135. Trojano M, Tintore M, Montalban X, Hillert J, Kalincik T, Iaffaldano P, et al. Treatment decisions in multiple sclerosis - insights from real-world observational studies. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2017) 13:105–18. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2016.188

136. Grebenciucova E, Berger JR. Immunosenescence: the role of aging in the predisposition to neuro-infectious complications arising from the treatment of multiple sclerosis. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep.* (2017) 17:61. doi: 10.1007/s11910-017-0771-9

137. Prosperini L, de Rossi N, Scarpazza C, Moiola L, Cosottini M, Gerevini S, et al. Natalizumab-related progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy in multiple sclerosis: findings from an Italian independent registry. *PLoS One.* (2016) 11:e0168376. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0168376

138. Luna G, Alping P, Burman J, Fink K, Fogdell-Hahn A, Gunnarsson M, et al. Infection risks among patients with multiple sclerosis treated with fingolimod, natalizumab, rituximab, and injectable therapies. *JAMA Neurol.* (2020) 77:184–91. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.3365

139. Barmettler S, Ong M, Farmer JR, Choi H, Walter J. Association of immunoglobulin levels, infectious risk, and mortality with rituximab and hypogammaglobulinemia. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2018) 1:1–14. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.4169

140. Sormani MP, de Rossi N, Schiavetti I, Carmisciano L, Cordioli C, Moiola L, et al. Disease-modifying therapies and coronavirus disease 2019 severity in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol.* (2021) 89:780–9. doi: 10.1002/ana.26028 141. Simpson-Yap S, de Brouwer E, Kalincik T, Rijke N, Hillert JA, Walton C, et al. Associations of disease-modifying therapies with COVID-19 severity in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*. (2021) 97:e1870–85. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000012753

142. Reder AT, Centonze D, Naylor ML, Nagpal A, Rajbhandari R, Altincatal A, et al. COVID-19 in patients with multiple sclerosis: associations with disease-modifying therapies. *CNS Drugs*. (2021) 35:317–30. doi: 10.1007/s40263-021-00804-1

143. Louapre C, Collongues N, Stankoff B, Giannesini C, Papeix C, Bensa C, et al. Clinical characteristics and outcomes in patients with coronavirus disease 2019 and multiple sclerosis. *JAMA Neurol.* (2020) 77:1079–88. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.2581

144. Tallantyre EC, Vickaryous N, Anderson V, Asardag AN, Baker D, Bestwick J, et al. COVID-19 vaccine response in people with multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol.* (2022) 91:89–100. doi: 10.1002/ana.26251

145. Ritter C, Svačina MKR, Bobylev I, Joshi A, Schneider T, Lehmann HC. Impact of age and polytherapy on fingolimod induced bradycardia: a preclinical study. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol Off J Soc NeuroImmune Pharmacol. (2017) 12:204–9. doi: 10.1007/s11481-017-9727-8

146. Ghajarzadeh M, Mohammadi A, Sahraian MA. Risk of cancer in multiple sclerosis (MS): A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2020) 19:102650. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2020.102650

147. Nielsen NM, Rostgaard K, Rasmussen S, Koch-Henriksen N, Storm HH, Melbye M, et al. Cancer risk among patients with multiple sclerosis: a population-based register study. *Int J Cancer*. (2006) 118:979–84. doi: 10.1002/ijc.21437

148. Lebrun C, Rocher F. Cancer risk in patients with multiple sclerosis: potential impact of disease – modifying drugs. CNS Drugs. (2018) 32:939–49. doi: 10.1007/s40263-018-0564-y

149. Lebrun C, Vermersch P, Brassat D, Defer G, Rumbach L, Clavelou P, et al. Cancer and multiple sclerosis in the era of disease-modifying treatments. *J Neurol.* (2011) 258:1304–11. doi: 10.1007/s00415-011-5929-9

150. Kingwell E, Evans C, Zhu F, Oger J, Hashimoto S, Tremlett H. Assessment of cancer risk with β -interferon treatment for multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2014) 85:1096–102. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2013-307238

151. Hales CM, Servais J, Martin CB, Kohen D. Prescription drug use among adults aged 40-79 in the United States and Canada. *NCHS Data Brief*. (2019) 347:1–8.

152. Frahm N, Hecker M, Zettl UK. Polypharmacy among patients with multiple sclerosis: a qualitative systematic review. *Expert Opin Drug Saf.* (2020) 19:139–45. doi: 10.1080/14740338.2020.1720646

153. Organization WH. *Medication safety in polypharmacy: Technical report* World Health Organization (2019) 61.

154. Dechanont S, Maphanta S, Butthum B, Kongkaew C. Hospital admissions/visits associated with drug-drug interactions: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* (2014) 23:489–97. doi: 10.1002/pds.3592

155. Chertcoff A, Ng HS, Zhu F, Zhao Y, Tremlett H. Polypharmacy and multiple sclerosis: a population-based study. *Mult Scler J*. (2023) 29:107–18. doi: 10.1177/13524585221122207

156. Hartung DM, Johnston KA, McGregor JC, Bourdette DN. Characteristics of prescription drug use among individuals with multiple sclerosis in the US Medicare population. *Int J MS Care*. (2022) 24:91–7. doi: 10.7224/1537-2073.2021-062

157. Cameron MH, Karstens L, Hoang P, Bourdette D, Lord S. Medications are associated with falls in people with multiple sclerosis. *Int J MS Care*. (2015) 17:207–14. doi: 10.7224/1537-2073.2014-076

158. Thelen JM, Lynch SG, Bruce AS, Hancock LM, Bruce JM. Polypharmacy in multiple sclerosis: relationship with fatigue, perceived cognition, and objective cognitive performance. *J Psychosom Res.* (2014) 76:400–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2014.02.013

159. Debus JL, Bachmann P, Frahm N, Mashhadiakbar P, Langhorst SE. Associated factors of potential drug-drug interactions and drug-food interactions in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Ther Adv Chronic Dis.* (2022) 13:1–19. doi: 10.1177/https

160. Bourdette D, Herink M. Polypharmacy in multiple sclerosis: more is not necessarily better. *Mult Scler J.* (2023) 29:1–5. doi: 10.1177/https

161. Foley JF, Defer G, Ryerson LZ, Cohen JA, Arnold DL, Butzkueven H, et al. Comparison of switching to 6-week dosing of natalizumab versus continuing with 4-week dosing in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis (NOVA): a randomised, controlled, open-label, phase 3b trial. *Lancet Neurol.* (2022) 21:608–19. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(22)00143-0 162. Rolfes L, Pawlitzki M, Pfeuffer S, Nelke C, Lux A, Pul R, et al. Ocrelizumab extended interval dosing in multiple sclerosis in times of COVID-19. *Neurology*. (2021) 8:e1035. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000001035

163. Hua LH, Harris H, Conway D, Thompson NR. Changes in patient-reported outcomes between continuers and discontinuers of disease modifying therapy in patients with multiple sclerosis over age 60. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2018) 2019:252–6. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2019.02.028

164. McGinley MP, Cola PA, Fox RJ, Cohen JA, Corboy JR, Miller DM. Perspectives of individuals with multiple sclerosis on discontinuation of disease-modifying therapies. *Mult Scler J.* (2020) 26:1581–9. doi: 10.1177/1352458519867314

165. Kister I, Spelman T, Patti F, Duquette P, Trojano M, Izquierdo G, et al. Predictors of relapse and disability progression in MS patients who discontinue disease-modifying therapy. *J Neurol Sci.* (2018) 391:72–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2018.06.001

166. Yano H, Gonzalez C, Healy BC, Glanz BI, Weiner HL, Chitnis T. Discontinuation of disease-modifying therapy for patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: effect on clinical and MRI outcomes. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2019) 35:119–27. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2019.07.021

167. Bsteh G, Feige J, Ehling R, Auer M, Hegen H, di Pauli F, et al. Discontinuation of disease-modifying therapies in multiple sclerosis – clinical outcome and prognostic factors. *Mult Scler*. (2017) 23:1241–8. doi: 10.1177/1352458516675751

168. Bsteh G, Hegen H, Riedl K, Altmann P, Auer M, Berek K, et al. Quantifying the risk of disease reactivation after interferon and glatiramer acetate discontinuation in multiple sclerosis: the VIAADISC score. *Eur J Neurol.* (2021) 28:1609–16. doi: 10.1111/ ene.14705

169. Kaminsky AL, Omorou AY, Soudant M, Pittion-Vouyovitch S, Michaud M, Anxionnat R, et al. Discontinuation of disease-modifying treatments for multiple sclerosis in patients aged over 50 with disease inactivity. *J Neurol.* (2020) 267:3518–27. doi: 10.1007/s00415-020-10029-9

170. Jakimovski D, Kavak KS, Vaughn CB, Goodman AD, Coyle PK, Krupp L, et al. Discontinuation of disease modifying therapies is associated with disability progression regardless of prior stable disease and age. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2022) 57:103406. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.103406

171. Chappuis M, Rousseau C, Bajeux E, Wiertlewski S, Laplaud D, le Page E, et al. Discontinuation of second- versus first-line disease-modifying treatment in middle-aged patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol.* (2023) 270:413–22. doi: 10.1007/s00415-022-11341-2

172. Fagius J, Feresiadou A, Larsson EM, Burman J. Discontinuation of disease modifying treatments in middle aged multiple sclerosis patients. First line drugs vs natalizumab. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2017) 12:82–7. doi: 10.1016/j. msard.2017.01.009

173. Pantazou V, Pot C, Du Pasquier R, Le Goff G, Théaudin M. Recurrence of disease activity after fingolimod discontinuation in older patients previously stable on treatment. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2021) 51:102918. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.102918

174. Juto A, Fink K, Al Nimer F, Piehl F. Interrupting rituximab treatment in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; no evidence of rebound disease activity. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2019) 2020:101468. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2019.101468

175. Conway BL, Zeydan B, Uygunoğlu U, Novotna M, Siva A, Pittock SJ, et al. Age is a critical determinant in recovery from multiple sclerosis relapses. *Mult Scler J*. (2019) 25:1754–63. doi: 10.1177/1352458518800815

176. Sorensen PS, Giovannoni G, Montalban X, Thalheim C, Zaratin P, Comi G. The multiple sclerosis care unit. *Mult Scler J.* (2019) 25:627–36. doi: 10.1177/1352458518807082

177. Marrie RA, Donkers SJ, Jichici D, Hrebicek O, Metz L. Models of Care in Multiple Sclerosis: A survey of Canadian health providers. *Front Neurol*. (2022) 13:1–12. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.904757

178. Hartung HP, Meuth SG, Miller DM, Comi G. Stopping disease-modifying therapy in relapsing and progressive multiple sclerosis. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2021) 34:598–603. doi: 10.1097/WCO.000000000000960

179. Gross RH, Corboy JR. Monitoring, switching, and stopping multiple sclerosis disease-modifying therapies. *Continuum (Minneap Minn)*. (2019) 25:715–35. doi: 10.1212/CON.00000000000738

180. Freedman MS, Devonshire V, Duquette P, Giacomini PS, Giuliani F, Levin MC, et al. Treatment optimization in multiple sclerosis: Canadian MS working group recommendations. *Canad J Neurol Sci.* (2020) 47:437–55. doi: 10.1017/ cjn.2020.66

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Alessandra Lugaresi, University of Bologna, Italy

REVIEWED BY Eva Havrdova, Charles University, Czechia Annette Okai, Texas Tech University Health Sciences Center, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Lorena Lorefice ⊠ lorena.lorefice@hotmail.it

RECEIVED 02 July 2023 ACCEPTED 24 July 2023 PUBLISHED 03 August 2023

CITATION

Lorefice L, Fenu G, Fronza M, Murgia F, Frau J, Coghe G, Barracciu MA, Atzori L, Angioni S and Cocco E (2023) Menopausal transition in multiple sclerosis: relationship with disease activity and brain volume measurements. *Front. Neurol.* 14:1251667. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1251667

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Lorefice, Fenu, Fronza, Murgia, Frau, Coghe, Barracciu, Atzori, Angioni and Cocco. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Menopausal transition in multiple sclerosis: relationship with disease activity and brain volume measurements

Lorena Lorefice^{1*}, Giuseppe Fenu², Marzia Fronza¹, Federica Murgia³, Jessica Frau¹, Giancarlo Coghe¹, Maria Antonietta Barracciu⁴, Luigi Atzori³, Stefano Angioni⁵ and Eleonora Cocco¹

¹Department of Medical Sciences and Public Health, Multiple Sclerosis Center, Binaghi Hospital, ASL Cagliari, University of Cagliari, Cagliari, Italy, ²Department of Neurosciences, ARNAS Brotzu, Cagliari, Italy, ³Department of Biomedical Sciences, University of Cagliari, Cagliari, Italy, ⁴Radiology Unit, Binaghi Hospital, ASL Cagliari, Cagliari, Italy, ⁵Division of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Department of Surgical Sciences, University of Cagliari, Italy

Background: Recent evidence has shown a significant association between menopause and multiple sclerosis (MS) progression. This study investigated the possible role of menopause in influencing MS from clinical and neuroradiological perspectives. Notably, the possible association between menopause and brain atrophy has been evaluated.

Materials and methods: This study included women with MS whose ages ranged from 45 to 55 years. Demographic and clinical characteristics were collected, and the reproductive phase was defined as non-menopausal or menopausal based on the final menstrual period. Thus, MS activity over the past year was reported as the annualised relapse rate (ARR), and MRI activity (defined as new T2 lesions and/or the presence of gadolinium-enhancing lesions at the last MRI assessment in comparison with the MRI performed within the previous 12 months) were compared between non-menopausal women (non-MW) and menopausal women (MW). Volume measurements of the whole brain (WB), white matter (WM), grey matter (GM), and cortical GM were estimated using the SIENAX software, and the possible relationship with menopausal status was assessed by regression analysis.

Results: The study included 147 women with MS. Eighty-four (57.1%) were MW, with a mean age of 48.5 ± 4.3 years at menopause onset and a mean duration of menopause of 4.1 ± 1.1 years. When compared for ARR, MW reported a lower rate than the non-MW (ARR of 0.29 ± 0.4 vs. 0.52 ± 0.5 ; p < 0.01). MRI activity was observed in 13.1% of MW and 20.6% of non-MW (p = 0.03). Lower cortical GM volumes (578.1 \pm 40.4 mL in MW vs. 596.9 \pm 35.8 mL in non-MW; p < 0.01) have also been reported. Finally, multivariate analysis showed a significant association of lower ARR (p = 0.001) and cortical GM volume (p = 0.002) with menopausal status after correction for chronological age and other variables.

Discussion: Menopause may be an adverse prognostic factor of MS. Our preliminary results suggest that menopause may facilitate cortical GM atrophy, probably due to a decline in the neuroprotective effects of estrogen, with negative effects on MS evolution.

KEYWORDS

aging, brain atrophy, menopause, multiple sclerosis, neurodegeneration, oestrogen deprivation

Introduction

One of the emerging topics in the field of gender medicine applied to multiple sclerosis (MS) is the issue of menopause (1), and its effects (often superimposed on those of aging) on various aspects of the disease (2). Menopause is a physiological event that marks the end of a woman's reproductive competence (3). Characterised by irreversible interruption of menstruation, it occurs in the general population at an average age of approximately 50 years (4). Several immunologic changes have been described in postmenopausal women. These modifications, mainly driven by oestrogen deprivation, overlap with age-related changes, resulting in decreased CD4 T lymphocytes, B lymphocytes, natural killer (NK) cells cytotoxic activity, and increased proinflammatory responses, with effects on the risk of infection and autoimmunity (5). Notably, MS is characterised by great pathogenetic, clinical, and neuroradiological heterogeneity, with different disease outcomes in relation to the inflammatory and neurodegenerative mechanisms underlying the disease (6), window for therapeutic intervention (7), and type of therapeutic intervention (8). Numerous studies have shown a predominance of the disease in females of all ages, and recent studies have shown a shift in MS onset to older age, with a higher frequency of late-onset forms among women (9). For these forms, the possible effect of menopause on susceptibility to the disease should be considered, attributable to the postmenopausal proinflammatory state and deprivation of the neuroprotective effects of oestrogens and progestins (10, 11), which would act to reduce the resilience of the central nervous system (CNS) thereby facilitating the onset of MS in the presence of other predisposing factors (12). Recently, a large study has shown that women with MS have greater inflammatory activity in terms of relapse than men, up to the age of 50 years. After that, the difference disappears, and the evolution of the disability worsens, becoming more similar in both the sexes (9, 13). Therefore, the possible effects of menopausal transition on the disease characteristics should be considered. Given the high number of women with MS among the aging population, it is crucial to understand the effects of menopause and its interaction with MS. Previously, in a longitudinal cohort of women with MS who were followed for approximately 10 years during the menopausal transition, Bove et al. showed that menopause represented an inflection point in their Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) changes (14). In line with these findings, a multicentre study evaluating the effect of menopause on the clinical course of MS showed a significant decrease in annualised relapse rate (ARR) 2 years after menopause compared to the previous 2 years, while disability worsened (15). Conversely, Otero-Romero S et al. showed that menopause did not modify disability trajectories in a longitudinal cohort of women with MS who were followed from disease onset, after controlling for age and disease duration (16), thereby leaving controversial aspects to be investigated. Additionally, even less explored are the effects of menopause on neuroradiological activity and brain volume measurements in women with MS, which are significantly related to long-term disability (17). With regard to the latter point, a longitudinal study has recently shown that ovarian aging, as defined by anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) levels, is associated with greater clinical disability and grey matter loss in women with MS (18) and is independent of the chronological age and disease duration, highlighting the crucial role of sex hormones in MS disease outcomes (19). In this framework, the present study aimed to evaluate, in a cohort of women with MS aged between 45 and 55 years, the possible impact of menopausal transition on clinical activity and MRI outcomes, and its effects on the whole brain (WB), white matter (WM), grey matter (GM), and cortical grey matter (cGM) volumes.

Methods

Participants

Women with relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS) (20) between the ages of 45 and 55 years were recruited from the Multiple Sclerosis Centre, Binaghi Hospital, University of Cagliari. Women were classified as as menopausal (MW) or non-menopausal (non-MW). Menopause onset was defined as the final menstrual period beyond which no menses occurred for 12 months (21) in association of neurovegetative menopausal symptoms (hot flushes). Women with surgical menopause were excluded, as were women exposed to oestrogen-progestin therapy (oral contraceptives) for up to 3 years before the final menstrual period or hormonal treatment during the menopausal transition. Demographic and clinical data [disease duration, disability level assessed by the EDSS (22), and disease-modifying therapy (DMT)], were recorded for each woman. MS clinical activity was defined as the presence of clinical relapse (new symptoms or the return of old symptoms for \geq 24 h in the absence of an infection or fever). Thus, the annualized relapse rate (ARR), defined as the number of confirmed relapses in the last 12 months, was estimated after evaluation of medical records. MRI activity was defined as the presence of new or enlarged T2 lesions or gadolinium-enhancing T1 lesions at the last MRI assessment compared to the MRI performed within the previous 12 months (20). Quantitative MRI evaluations were performed for each patient, and brain volume measurements were estimated at the time of the last neurological assessment. Informed consent was obtained from all the participants after obtaining approval from the local ethics committee.

MRI acquisition

Brain volumes were measured using a 1.5 T scanner Siemens Magnetom Avanto (Siemens Medical Solutions, Erlangen, Germany). Three-dimensional magnetisation-prepared rapid gradient-echo

10.3389/fneur.2023.1251667

(MPRAGE) was used to obtain 174 contiguous sagittal 3D-T1WI images with the following parameters: slice thickness = 1.3 mm, repetition time/echo time = 2400/3.6 ms, inversion time = 1,000 ms, flip angle = 8° , field of view = 24 cm, number of excitations = 1, and pixel matrix = 192×192 . Brain volumes were measured for each participant on T1 W gradient echo images using SIENAX, a previously described cross-sectional version of the Structural Image Evaluation using Normalisation of Atrophy (SIENA) software to estimate the global brain volume normalised for head size, as well as the selective measurement of normalised WM, GM, and cortical GM volumes (23). All brain volume measurements were performed in a single session using the same MRI protocol.

Statistical analyses

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS for Mac version 20.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, United States). First, a descriptive analysis was performed, reporting demographic, clinical, and MRI data as means (quantitative variables) or percentages (qualitative variables). A t-test was used to compare demographics (age), clinical data (MS duration, EDSS score, and ARR), and MRI measurements of the WB, WM, GM, and cortical GM in non-MW and MW. Similarly, analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to compare qualitative variables (presence of MRI activity in the last year and use of high-efficacy DMTs).

Therefore, regression analyses were performed to investigate the relationship of ARR and MRI activity (entered into the models as dependent variables) with menopausal status, while controlling for other demographic and clinical variables. Similarly, the relationship between MRI measurements of WB, WM, GM, and cortical GM volumes and menopausal status was explored using regression analyses. Statistical significance (p) was set at <0.05 for all assays.

Results

The study included 147 relapsing remitting women with MS between the ages of 45 and 55, of whom 63 (42.9%) were non-MW and 84 (57.1%) were MW, with an average age of 48.5 ± 4.3 years at menopause onset. The mean age was 46.1 ± 3.1 years in non-MW and 52.6 ± 3.2 years in MW (p<0.01), with disease duration of 15.5 ± 6.3 years and 18.2 ± 8 years, respectively (p < 0.05). Table 1 summarises the demographic and clinical characteristics of the patients included in this study, and also indicates the DMTs. In particular, high-efficacy DMTs were reported in 23.8% of non-MW compared to 17.8% of MW (p < 0.05). Table 2 shows the characteristics of non-MW and MW with clinical and neuroradiological activity in the last year of the disease and presents the comparison data of the brain MRI measurements obtained by an independent t-test. In particular, in the last year, an ARR of 0.52±0.5 in non-MW vs. 0.29 ± 0.4 in MW (p < 0.01) was reported, with MRI activity observed in 20.6% of non-MW vs. 13.1% of MW (p < 0.05). Regression analysis was performed to evaluate the factors that influenced clinical activity, as indicated by the ARR: an inverse relationship was observed between chronological age (p=0.028) and menopausal status (p=0.001). Analogously, an inverse relationship that tends towards significance was observed between MRI activity and chronological age (p = 0.064), TABLE 1 Demographic and clinical features of MS women categorized in relation to menopausal status.

	MS women (147) (ag	ge range: 45–55 ys)			
	Non-menopausal MS women (63)	Menopausal MS women (84)			
Age (mean±sd) years	46.1±3.1	52.6±3.2**			
MS duration (mean±sd) years	15.5±6.3	18.2±8.7*			
EDSS score	3.3±1.8	3.4±2.1			
Age at Menopause onset (mean±sd) years	NA	48.5±4.3			
Follow-up post menopause (mean ± sd) years	NA	4.2±3.5			
Use of II° line DMTs	15 (23.8%)	15 (17.8%)*			

p value: <0.05; ***p value: <0.005. Chi-square and independent-samples *t*-tests were used to compare demographic and clinical variables between the two groups.

while no relationship was reported with menopausal status (Table 3). Multivariate analysis was then performed considering WB, WM, GM, and cortical GM as dependent variables while controlling for age, disease duration, EDSS score, and menopausal status, included in the model as independent variables. A significant association between lower cortical GM volume and menopausal status (p=0.002) was reported, independent of other demographic (age) and clinical variables (MS duration and EDSS) (Table 4).

Discussion

Several studies have shown that natural menopause may contribute to a more rapid decline in women with MS, resulting in a turning point in the worsening of MS (14-16). These studies evaluated the impact of menopausal transition on clinical activity and EDSS changes; however, its effects on MRI activity and neurodegenerative aspects remain poorly explored. In this context, our study aimed to evaluate the impact of menopause on the course of MS, and explore the effects on MRI inflammatory activity, which is defined as an increase in lesion burden and presence of gadolinium-enhancing lesions, and the impact on brain atrophy, a principal surrogate indicator of neurodegeneration and predictor of long-term MS outcomes. In line with the results of previous studies, a relationship between lower ARR with chronological age and menopausal status was observed. At the same time, lower MRI activity appears to be associated with increasing age but is independent of menopause. It is now known that aging affects many aspects of MS (2). On the one hand, the peripheral immune response decreases, resulting in immunosenescence and making inactive plaques predominant; on the other hand, inflammation becomes compartmentalised and thus more challenging to detect, while neurodegenerative processes become more evident (24). Therefore, it is difficult to distinguish the effects exclusively linked to aging from those of menopause, which have similar effects on many aspects of immunity, brain damage, and disease evolution. Previously, Graves et al. reported that ovarian aging,

10.3389/fneur.2023.1251667

as indicated by lower AMH levels, was associated with both clinical and radiographic metrics of MS severity, as shown by the relationship with lower grey matter volume after adjustments for chronological age and disease duration (18). Similarly, our study revealed an association between lower cortical grey volume and menopausal status, independent of chronological age and duration of MS, suggesting an increased level of neurodegenerative pathological processes after this reproductive biological transition. It is known that oestrogen levels decrease with menopause (3), and in line with this decrease, their neuroprotective effects decline (25). As shown in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) models, oestrogen preserves synaptic transmission and has a role in sparing neurons and synapses in the brain and myelin and axons in the spinal cord (26, 27). Oestrogen exerts neuroprotective effects through various mechanisms. First, oestrogen has a suppressive effect on neuroinflammation and strongly inhibits microglial activation. In addition, a direct neuroprotective effect on the mitochondria, with increased aerobic glycolysis, respiratory efficiency, ATP generation, Ca2+ load tolerance, and antioxidant effects, has been reported (28, 29). EAE studies with various oestrogen treatments have led to clinical disease defence, as well as protection from CNS inflammation, axonal loss, demyelination, and promotion of remyelination processes (30). Thus, the reduction in the anti-inflammatory role of oestrogen after menopause could cause inflammatory damage to axons and myelin, contributing to brain damage and the accumulation of disability. Moreover, oestrogen depletion associated with menopausal transition facilitates the

TABLE 2 Annualized Relapse Rate, MRI activity and brain vol	ume
measurements in menopausal and non-menopausal MS wor	nen.

	Non- menopausal MS women (63)	Menopausal MS women (84)
ARR in the last year	0.52 ± 0.5	$0.29 \pm 0.4 **$
MRI activity in the last years	13 (20.6%)	11 (13.1%)*
Whole brain Mean value (mL)	1453.1±57.1	1438.6±74.8
White matter Mean value (mL)	688.1±36.9	684.4±35.4
Grey matter Mean value (mL)	764.9±43.2	754 ± 50.1
Cortical grey matter Mean value (mL)	596.9±35.8	578.1±40.4**

Chi-square and independent-samples *t*-tests were used to compare clinical and MRI variables between the two groups.

TABLE 3 Multiple regression analysis

propensity for cardiovascular disease (4) thereby increasing the risk of aging-related comorbidities, and the impact of these comorbidities on brain damage should be considered (31). Beyond this, the effects of menopausal transition on frailty, conceived as a marker of the depletion of the organism's homeostatic reserves (32), and on brain resilience (33) to various types of brain chronic damages (MS related or not) remain unexplored.

The present study has several limitations. First, the effects of menopausal transition on MS evolution were evaluated by comparing groups of MW and non-MW in the same age range, but not longitudinally in the same cohort. Second, most women with MS were treated with DMTs, which may have improved the course of the disease, making it more difficult to detect the effects of the menopausal transition. However, we chose not to exclude treated patients to avoid selection bias (such as the inclusion of only benign or stable MS). Furthermore, MRI data were not available for healthy controls to determine whether the association between menopause and lower GM volume was specific to women with MS. Similarly, we did not collect data of male MS patients and controls, which would have helped distinguish the effects of menopause on clinical and MRI measurements from those of aging and andropause. Furthermore, normative values for brain volumes have never been established, but only specific cut-off values capable of distinguishing between 'physiological' and 'pathological' brain volume loss in MS patients assessed longitudinally (34). However, these values are not applicable to our study since we did not longitudinally evaluate the brain volumes.

Finally, it should be emphasised that the menopausal transition process is gradual and begins even before the final menstrual period; in addition, the duration of menopause was different in the group of WM examined, while hormonal changes, which can affect the disease's immunity, inflammation, and neurodegenerative aspects, were not evaluated in this study (5).

Conclusion

Menopause may represent an adverse prognostic factor for MS evolution, inducing a worsening of disability and neurodegenerative aspects of MS. Our preliminary results suggest that menopause could facilitate cortical GM atrophy, probably due to a decline in the neuroprotective effects of oestrogen. In this context, further studies are needed to evaluate the impact of menopause on disease evolution. In particular, it is crucial to define studies that consider homogeneous groups of MS women, also exposed to the same type of DMT, and studies with a longitudinal design, including healthy women in the same biological phase, to define better how menopause interacts with MS and

	Annualized Relapse Rate				MRI activity					
	95% C.I. for EXP (B)				95% C.I. f	or EXP (B)				
	В	Lower	Upper	p	В	Lower	Upper	р		
Age	-0.028	-0.003	-0.052	0.026	-0.022	-0.045	0.001	0.064		
MS duration	-0.009	0.001	-0.019	0.075	0.001	-0.009	0.010	0.889		
Menopause	-0.443	-0.664	-0.223	0.001	0.105	-0.104	0.315	0.322		

Relationship of ARR with demographic, MS features and menopausal status.

TABLE 4 Multiple regression analysis.

		Cortical Grey Matter							
		95% C.I. for EXP (B)							
	В	Lower	p						
Age	1.265	-0.623	30.152	0.188					
MS duration	0.220	-0.556	0.996	0.576					
EDSS	-8.972	-12.098	-5.847	0.001					
Menopause	-28.881	-45.906	-11.856	0.002					

Relationship of cortical GM volume with demographic, MS features and menopausal status.

to discriminate the clinical, neuroradiological, and immunological effects induced by aging and aging-related comorbidities (35). Additionally, the effects of sex on immunosenescence and brain resilience should be further investigated with a view to facilitate an approach increasingly focused on gender medicine.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Multiple Sclerosis Centre, University of Cagliari. The studies were conducted in

References

1. Lorefice L, D'Alterio MN, Firinu D, Fenu G, Cocco E. Impact of menopause in patients with multiple sclerosis: current perspectives. *IJWH*. (2023) 15:103–9. doi: 10.2147/IJWH.S334719

2. Graves JS, Krysko KM, Hua LH, Absinta M, Franklin RJM, Segal BM. Ageing and multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2023) 22:66–77. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(22)00184-3

3. Hall JE. Endocrinology of the menopause. *Endocrinol Metab Clin N Am.* (2015) 44:485–96. doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2015.05.010

4. Santoro N. The menopausal transition. Am J Med. (2005) 118:8–13. doi: 10.1016/j. amjmed.2005.09.008

5. Giefing-Kröll C, Berger P, Lepperdinger G, Grubeck-Loebenstein B. How sex and age affect immune responses, susceptibility to infections, and response to vaccination. *Aging Cell.* (2015) 14:309–21. doi: 10.1111/acel.12326

6. Filippi M, Bar-Or A, Piehl F, Preziosa P, Solari A, Vukusic S, et al. Multiple sclerosis. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. (2018) 4:43. doi: 10.1038/s41572-018-0041-4

7. Cocco E, Sardu C, Spinicci G, Musu L, Massa R, Frau J, et al. Influence of treatments in multiple sclerosis disability: a cohort study. *Mult Scler*. (2015) 21:433–41. doi: 10.1177/1352458514546788

8. Iaffaldano P, Lucisano G, Caputo F, et al. Long-term disability trajectories in relapsing multiple sclerosis patients treated with early intensive or escalation treatment strategies. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord.* (2021) 14:175628642110195. doi: 10.1177/17562864211019574

9. Koch-Henriksen N, Thygesen LC, Stenager E, Laursen B, Magyari M. Incidence of MS has increased markedly over six decades in Denmark particularly with late onset and in women. *Neurology*. (2018) 90:e1954–63. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000005612

10. Bove RM, Healy B, Augustine A, Musallam A, Gholipour T, Chitnis T. Effect of gender on late-onset multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*. (2012) 18:1472–9. doi: 10.1177/1352458512438236

11. Pluchino N, Cubeddu A, Giannini A, Merlini S, Cela V, Angioni S, et al. Progestogens and brain: an update. *Maturitas*. (2009) 62:349–55. doi: 10.1016/j. maturitas.2008.11.023

accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

LL conceptualized the study and wrote, reviewed, and edited the manuscript. GF, MF, JF, GC, FM, and MB were responsible for resources and data curation. LA, SA, and EC supervised the study. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

LL, GF, JF, GC, and EC received honoraria for consultancy or speaking from Biogen, Novartis, Sanofi, Genzyme, Serono and Teva and Almirall.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

12. Olsson T, Barcellos LF, Alfredsson L. Interactions between genetic, lifestyle and environmental risk factors for multiple sclerosis. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2017) 13:25–36. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2016.187

13. Magyari M, Koch-Henriksen N. Quantitative effect of sex on disease activity and disability accumulation in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2022) 93:716–22. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2022-328994

14. Bove R, Healy BC, Musallam A, Glanz BI, de Jager PL, Chitnis T. Exploration of changes in disability after menopause in a longitudinal multiple sclerosis cohort. *Mult Scler.* (2016) 22:935–43. doi: 10.1177/1352458515606211

15. Baroncini D, Annovazzi PO, de Rossi N, Mallucci G, Torri Clerici V, Tonietti S, et al. Impact of natural menopause on multiple sclerosis: a multicentre study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2019) 90:1201–6. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2019-320587

16. Otero-Romero S, Midaglia L, Carbonell-Mirabent P, Zuluaga M, Galán I, Río J, et al. Menopause does not modify disability trajectories in a longitudinal cohort of women with clinically isolated syndrome and multiple sclerosis followed from disease onset. *Eur J Neurol.* (2022) 29:1075–81. doi: 10.1111/ene.14782

17. Barnett M, Bergsland N, Weinstock-Guttman B, Butzkueven H, Kalincik T, Desmond P, et al. Brain atrophy and lesion burden are associated with disability progression in a multiple sclerosis real-world dataset using only T2-FLAIR: the NeuroSTREAM MSBase study. *Neuroimage Clin.* (2021) 32:102802. doi: 10.1016/j. nicl.2021.102802

18. Graves JS, Henry RG, Cree BAC, Lambert-Messerlian G, Greenblatt RM, Waubant E, et al. Ovarian aging is associated with gray matter volume and disability in women with MS. *Neurology*. (2018) 90:e254–60. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000004843

19. Murgia F, Giagnoni F, Lorefice L, Caria P, Dettori T, D'Alterio MN, et al. Sex hormones as key modulators of the immune response in multiple sclerosis: a review. *Biomedicine*. (2022) 10:3107. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines10123107

20. Lublin FD, Reingold SC, Cohen JA, Cutter GR, Sorensen PS, Thompson AJ, et al. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: the 2013 revisions. *Neurology*. (2014) 83:278–86. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000560

21. Harlow SD, Gass M, Hall JE, Lobo R, Maki P, Rebar RW, et al. Executive summary of the stages of reproductive aging workshop + 10: addressing the unfinished agenda of staging reproductive aging. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2012) 97:1159–68. doi: 10.1210/ jc.2011-3362

22. Kurtzke JF. Rating neurologic impairment in multiple sclerosis: an expanded disability status scale (EDSS). *Neurology*. (1983) 33:1444–52. doi: 10.1212/WNL.33.11.1444

23. Smith SM, Zhang Y, Jenkinson M, Chen J, Matthews PM, Federico A, et al. Accurate, robust, and automated longitudinal and cross-sectional brain change analysis. *NeuroImage*. (2002) 17:479–89. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2002.1040

24. Giovannoni G, Popescu V, Wuerfel J, Hellwig K, Iacobaeus E, Jensen MB, et al. Smouldering multiple sclerosis: the 'real MS'. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord.* (2022) 15:17562864211066751. doi: 10.1177/17562864211066751

25. Bove R, Gilmore W. Hormones and MS: risk factors, biomarkers, and therapeutic targets. *Mult Scler*. (2018) 24:17–21. doi: 10.1177/1352458517737396

26. Benedek G, Zhang J, Bodhankar S, Nguyen H, Kent G, Jordan K, et al. Estrogen induces multiple regulatory B cell subtypes and promotes M2 microglia and neuroprotection during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2016) 293:45–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2016.02.009

27. Spence RD, Voskuhl RR. Neuroprotective effects of estrogens and androgens in CNS inflammation and neurodegeneration. *Front Neuroendocrinol.* (2012) 33:105–15. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2011.12.001

28. Brinton RD. The healthy cell bias of estrogen action: mitochondrial bioenergetics and neurological implications. *Trends Neurosci.* (2008) 31:529–37. doi: 10.1016/j. tins.2008.07.003

29. Vegeto E, Benedusi V, Maggi A. Estrogen anti-inflammatory activity in brain: a therapeutic opportunity for menopause and neurodegenerative diseases. *Front Neuroendocrinol.* (2008) 29:507–19. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2008.04.001

30. Tiwari-Woodruff S, Voskuhl RR. Neuroprotective and anti-inflammatory effects of estrogen receptor ligand treatment in mice. *J Neurol Sci.* (2009) 286:81–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2009.04.023

31. Lorefice L, Frau J, Coghe G, Pitzalis R, Gessa I, Contu F, et al. Assessing the burden of vascular risk factors on brain atrophy in multiple sclerosis: a casecontrol MRI study. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2019) 27:74–8. doi: 10.1016/j. msard.2018.10.011

32. Belvisi D, Canevelli M, Baione V, Buscarinu MC, Pellicciari G, Fantozzi R, et al. Operationalization of a frailty index in patients with multiple sclerosis: a cross-sectional investigation. *Mult Scler.* (2021) 27:1939–47. doi: 10.1177/1352458520987541

33. Stampanoni Bassi M, Iezzi E, Pavone L, Mandolesi G, Musella A, Gentile A, et al. Modeling resilience to damage in multiple sclerosis: plasticity meets connectivity. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 21:143. doi: 10.3390/ijms21010143

34. de Stefano N, Stromillo ML, Giorgio A, Bartolozzi ML, Battaglini M, Baldini M, et al. Establishing pathological cut-offs of brain atrophy rates in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2015) 87:jnnp-2014-309903–9. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2014-309903

35. Capasso N, Virgilio E, Covelli A, Giovannini B, Foschi M, Montini F, et al. Aging in multiple sclerosis: from childhood to old age, etiopathogenesis, and unmet needs: a narrative review. *Front Neurol.* (2023) 14:1207617. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1207617

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Alessandra Lugaresi, University of Bologna, Italy

REVIEWED BY Shalom Haggiag, San Camillo Forlanini Hospital, Italy Abdorreza Naser Moghadasi, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Iran

*CORRESPONDENCE Luigi Carbone ⊠ drcarboneluigi@gmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

⁺These authors have contributed equally to this work and share last authorship

RECEIVED 08 July 2023 ACCEPTED 22 August 2023 PUBLISHED 06 October 2023

CITATION

Carbone L, Landi D, Di Girolamo R, Anserini P, Centonze D, Marfia GA, Alviggi C and the Interdisciplinary Group for Fertility in Multiple Sclerosis (IGFMS) (2023) Optimizing the "Time to pregnancy" in women with multiple sclerosis: the OPTIMUS Delphi survey. *Front. Neurol.* 14:1255496. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1255496

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Carbone, Landi, Di Girolamo, Anserini, Centonze, Marfia, Alviggi and the Interdisciplinary Group for Fertility in Multiple Sclerosis (IGFMS). This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Optimizing the "Time to pregnancy" in women with multiple sclerosis: the OPTIMUS Delphi survey

Luigi Carbone^{1*†}, Doriana Landi^{2†}, Raffaella Di Girolamo³, Paola Anserini⁴, Diego Centonze^{5,6}, Girolama Alessandra Marfia^{2‡}, Carlo Alviggi^{3‡} and the Interdisciplinary Group for Fertility in Multiple Sclerosis (IGFMS)

¹Department of Neuroscience, Reproductive Sciences and Dentistry, School of Medicine, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy, ²Multiple Sclerosis Clinical and Research Unit, University Hospital of Rome Tor Vergata, Rome, Italy, ³Department of Public Health, School of Medicine, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy, ⁴UOS Physiopathology of Human Reproduction, IRCCS Ospedale Policlinico San Martino, Genova, Italy, ⁵Department of Systems Medicine, Laboratory of Synaptic Immunopathology, "Tor Vergata" University, Rome, Italy, ⁶Unit of Neurology, IRCCS Neuromed, Pozzilli, Isernia, Italy

Background: The debate on how to manage women affected by multiple sclerosis (MS) during reproductive age is still open, as is the issue of fertility in such patients. Main issue regard the identification of the optimal window for pregnancy and how to deal with medical therapy before and during conception. The aim of this Delphi consensus was to collect the opinions of a multidisciplinary group, involving reproductive medicine specialists and neurologists with experience in the management of multiple sclerosis women with reproductive desire.

Methods: Four experts plus scientific coordinators developed a questionnaire distributed online to 10 neurologists and later discussed the responses and amended a list of statements. The statements were then distributed *via* an online survey to 23 neurologists (comprising the first 10), who voted on their level of agreement/disagreement with each statement. Consensus was achieved if agreement or disagreement with a statement exceeded 66%.

Results: Twenty-one statements reached consensus after two rounds of voting, leading to the following main recommendations: (1) Fertility evaluation should be suggested to wMS, in case of the need to shorten time to pregnancy and before treatment switch in women on DMTs contraindicated in pregnancy, particularly in case of highly active disease and age > 35 years. (2) ART should not be discouraged in wMS, but the use of DMTs until pregnancy confirmation should be suggested; ART may be considered in order to reduce time to pregnancy in MS women with a reduced ovarian reserve and/or age > 35 years, but in case of an expected poor ART prognosis and the need for more than one ART cycle, a switch to a high-efficacy DMD before ART should be offered. (3) Oocyte cryopreservation may be considered in women with reduced ovarian reserve, with unpredictable time to complete diagnostic workup and achieve disease control; a risk/cost-benefit analysis must be performed in women >35 years, considering the diminished ovarian reserve.

Conclusion: This consensus will help MS neurologists to support family planning in wMS, respecting MS therapeutic needs while also taking into account the safety and impact of advancing age on fertility.

KEYWORDS

multiple sclerosis, infertility, time to pregnancy, Delphi, assisted reproductive technology

1. Introduction

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an autoimmune demyelinating disease of the central nervous system (CNS) with a female-to-male sex ratio of 3:1 (1). It is more common among women of reproductive age (2). Previously, MS was considered an obstacle for motherhood, given the huge impact that the disease had on the quality of life of affected women, the social stigma, and the lack of data on fetal outcomes (3). Although the rate of childlessness is still higher in MS women compared to the general population, it is now ascertained that pregnancy in MS women is not associated with adverse obstetric outcomes (4). Likewise, MS course does not worsen during pregnancy (5). However, an increased risk of relapse after pregnancy is reported, especially in women with MS who relapse shortly before pregnancy and with higher pre-conceptional disability (6). Currently, the issue of fertility in women with MS is still debated. Roux et al. observed that the fecundity of MS women seems not different from the general population (7). However, some epidemiological studies have shown that women with MS may have fewer children than the general population (8). To date, the improvements in the clinical conditions of patients, obtained through the use of increasingly effective disease-modifying drugs (DMDs), have favored the openness to the maternity project by both patients and neurologists (9). It remains to be clarified, however, whether MS causes a reduction in fertility, as occasionally reported in the literature, and whether this condition should be ascribed to the therapies or to the disease itself (10-14). Potential underlying reasons for this could include the effects of the autoimmune disease on fertility (15). Furthermore, taking into account the everincreasing age at which women are planning pregnancy nowadays, it happens more and more often that women with MS find themselves in the need to request assisted reproductive technology (ART) treatments to achieve pregnancy (16). In light of this scenario, it appears of striking importance to define strategies to manage women with MS who express a desire for conception, whether it can occur spontaneously or requires access to ART programs, with the aim of encouraging the realization of the maternity project in a context of safeguarding the neurological health of women with MS. As pregnancy planning is a fundamental driving factor in the treatment decision-making of women with MS, there is an emerging need to define how and when the fertility of the women with MS and more generally of the couple should be assessed to provide accurate and up-to-date counseling. The aims of this Delphi consensus were (1) to collect the expert opinion of neurologists involved in MS treatment and with expertise in pregnancy management, about the best practice in handling the reproductive desire in MS women and treatment plan in relation to pregnancy planning, and (2) to address the issue of couples' fertility evaluation and the feasibility of ART treatments and oocyte preservation, in collaboration with reproductive medicine experts,

with the purpose to optimize the time to pregnancy while minimizing the risk of relapses and undertreatment in MS women.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Participants

The Delphi consensus involved a scientific board, comprising the scientific coordinators (CA, DC, and GAM) and four additional experts (PA, DL, LC, and RDG). A panel of 10 experts and, successively, an extended panel of 23 experts (comprising the first 10) were suggested by the scientific board. The panel comprised neurology experts working in the field of MS (Table 1). Experts have been selected according to the following criteria: (1) clinical/research experience on the topic of pregnancy/fertility/women's health in MS and/or (2) consolidated experience in the management of wMS (i.e., working in large Italian MS centers). Geographical provenance has been considered in order to ensure that representatives from all the main Italian regions are included.

2.2. The consensus process

The scientific board generated a questionnaire (Step 1) with the aim of identifying the key topics and gaps in the treatment of fertility in women with MS. The questionnaire included open and multiple-choice questions and was distributed online to a restricted panel of 10 experts (Step 2). Based on the replies, the scientific coordinators developed the initial statements (Step 3). In Step 3, the scientific board discussed these statements during two web conferences, having the possibility to add, remove, or amend the proposed statements and references. The final selection of statements was decided by consensus and approved by the scientific coordinator and scientific board by email.

In Step 4, an online survey of the statements was circulated to the extended panel. Each participant anonymously rated his/her level of agreement with each statement using a 5-item Likert scale: 1 = totally disagree; 2=disagree; 3=neither agree nor disagree; 4=agree; 5=totally agree. Participants were also asked to provide the main reasons for their chosen level of agreement or disagreement (free text). Consensus was considered to have been achieved if the proportion of participants either disagreeing with a statement (responding 1 or 2) or agreeing with a statement (responding 4 or 5) exceeded 66%. If the proportion of participants either agreeing or disagreeing with a statement did not exceed 66%, that statement was discussed according to the feedback received and rephrased. In Step 5, the results of the online survey were discussed in a web conference by the scientific board. Another survey, including only the rephrased statement(s), was sent for a further round of voting (Step 6). The protocol required that this process be repeated, with the statements being revised, until consensus was reached for every statement (Figure 1).

TABLE 1 Participants involved in the Delphi consensus process.

Name	Place	Step 1 Questionnaire development	Step 2 Questionnaire distribution	Step 3 Statements' development	Step 4 Statements' grading	Step 5 Statements' Rephrasing	Step 6 Statements' grading
Carlo Alviggi*	Naples	Y		Y		Y	
Diego Centonze*	Rome	Y		Y		Y	
Gerola Alessandra Marfia*	Rome	Y		Y		Y	
Paola Anserini*	Genova	Y		Y		Y	
Doriana Landi*	Rome	Y		Y		Y	
Luigi Carbone*	Naples	Y		Y		Y	
Raffaella Di Girolamo*	Naples			Y		Y	
Eleonora Cocco	Cagliari		Y		Y		Y
Emilio Portaccio	Florence		Y		Y		Y
Roberta Lanzillo	Naples		Y		Y		Y
Simona Bonavita	Naples		Y		Y		
Paola Perini	Padua		Y		Y		Y
Diana Ferraro	Modena		Y		Y		Y
Matilde Inglese	Genova		Y		Y		Y
Marinella Clerico	Turin		Y		Y		Y
Emanuele D'Amico	Catania		Y		Y		Y
Pietro Annovazzi	Gallarate		Y		Y		Y
Carla Tortorella	Rome				Y		Y
Giovanna Borriello	Rome				Y		Y
Massimiliano Di Filippo	Perugia				Y		Y
Paola Cavalla	Turin				Y		Y
Raffaella Cerqua	Ancona				Y		Y
Giovanna De Luca	Chieti				Y		
Roberta Fantozzi	Pozzilli				Y		Y
Paola Valentino	Catanzaro				Y		
Paolo Ragonese	Palermo				Y		Y
Pietro Iaffaldano	Bari				Y		
Cinzia Cordioli	Brescia				Y		Y
Valentina Torri Clerici	Milan				Y		Y
Cinzia Scandellari	Bologna				Y		Y

*Scientific board members.



3. Results

3.1. Results overview

The scientific board developed 24 statements (Table 2). Consensus on each statement was reached in a web conference and subsequent email discussion. All members of the scientific board approved the final wording. The 24 statements approved by the scientific board were related to the evaluation of fertility in women/couples with MS (7 statements); management of MS treatment strategies in relation to pregnancy planning (5 statements); and indications for and management of access to medically assisted reproduction in women with MS (12 statements), divided into three subsections: medically assisted reproduction treatments for women with MS, MS treatment during medically assisted reproduction, oocyte cryopreservation in women affected by MS. Overall, 23 members of the extended panel completed the entire survey. All statements were rated by all experts. Consensus was achieved for 18 of the 24 statements after the first round of voting. Statements that did not reach the consensus threshold were statements 1, 7, 12, 14, 17, and 18. For three statements (12, 14, and 18) for which consensus threshold was not achieved, the neutral option (neither agree nor disagree) was higher than the sum of the TABLE 2 Statements approved by the scientific board.

	Evaluation of fertility in women or men with MS
1.	The fertility potential of women with multiple sclerosis (MS) should be evaluated before starting any treatment.
2.	The fertility evaluation of the couple should be suggested, if there is a need to shorten the time to pregnancy in a woman with MS.
3.	The fertility potential of women/couples should be always evaluated in women with highly active MS who wish to have children.
4.	Fertility potential evaluation should be considered in treatment decision-making in MS women of >35 years of age (advanced maternal age).
5.	Neurologists involved in MS care must be trained to interpret the couples' fertility potential accurately to optimize patients' counseling.
6.	Multidisciplinary fertility counseling should be offered to all women with MS and their partners.
7.	Fertility counseling should be proposed for all men with MS.
	Management of MS treatment strategies in relation to pregnancy planning
8.	First-line DMDs (interferons β and glatiramer acetate) should be continued until pregnancy confirmation and during pregnancy, if needed.
9.	In case of pregnancy desire, the couples' fertility potential should be evaluated before treatment switch in women on disease-modifying drugs (DMDs) that are contraindicated in pregnancy.
10.	In case of MS patients in treatment with DMDs not compatible with pregnancy, interferon β is a good bridging option.
11.	Contraception should be maintained during DMD washout if the treatment is not compatible with pregnancy.
12.	Considering that the elimination time of cladribine tablets is 1 week, in view of available scientific evidence, shortening the 6-month interval between cladribine treatment and conception is safe and may reduce the time to conception.
12 revote.	Considering that the elimination time of cladribine tablets is 1 week, in view of available scientific evidence, shortening the 6-month interval between cladribine treatment and conception could be safe and may reduce the time to conception. Further evidence is needed to confirm this statement.
	Indications for and management of access to medically assisted reproduction in women with MS
	Medically assisted reproduction treatments for women with MS
13.	Medically assisted reproduction is not contraindicated in women with MS.
14.	Assisted reproductive techniques (ARTs) should be considered in order to reduce time to pregnancy in MS women with a reduced ovarian reserve and/or age > 35 years.
14 revote.	In patients with stable disease, assisted reproductive techniques (ARTs) could be considered in order to reduce time to pregnancy in MS women with a reduced ovarian reserve and/or age > 35 years.
15.	The psychological wellness of a couple in which one member has MS should be evaluated before planning assisted reproduction cycles.
16.	Extensive counseling about the risk of MS worsening/relapse should be offered before starting ART.
17.	Time to pregnancy should be shortened in MS women who respond suboptimally to DMDs and require treatment switch.
	MS treatment during medically assisted reproduction
18.	Women with MS who have a poor ART prognosis, and may require more than one ART cycle to conceive, should be switched to a high-efficacy DMD before ART.
18 revote.	In women with MS who have a poor ART prognosis, and may require more than one ART cycle to conceive, a switch to a high-efficacy DMD before ART should be considered.
19.	First-line DMDs (interferons β and glatiramer acetate) should be continued until pregnancy confirmation after ART and during pregnancy, if needed.
20.	Second-line DMDs licensed for use during pregnancy should be continued during pregnancy after ART.
21.	Horizontal switch should be proposed for women with MS treated with DMDs not compatible with pregnancy before undergoing ART.
	Oocyte cryopreservation in women affected by MS
22.	Oocyte cryopreservation should be considered in women with reduced ovarian reserve, who require unpredictable time to complete diagnosis workup and achieve control of the disease.
23.	Oocyte cryopreservation should be proposed to women with MS who must postpone pregnancy due to poor disease control that requires highly effective treatments not compatible with conception.
24.	In women above 35 years of age, the option of oocyte cryopreservation should be evaluated in light of the ovarian reserve of the women and the risk-cost/benefit analysis.

"disagree" option. The comments provided are shown in the Supplementary material. The mean neutral opinion on the first round was 14% (max 34.78%; min 0%). Considering only the statements that reached the consensus in the first round, the mean agreement was 83% (max 100%; min 68%; Figure 2). Following a discussion concerning

the statements that did not reach an agreement, the scientific board decided to reject three of them (1, 7, 17) for the following reasons: Statements 1 and 7 concerned fertility evaluation of all men and women with MS, regardless desires, conditions, etc. The board agreed that the evaluation of fertility potential, based on patients' conditions

and desires, was well-covered by the other statements under the fertility evaluation section. Statement 17 was considered redundant since the time to pregnancy and treatment switch are discussed in greater detail in other statements of the section. Three statements (12, 14, and 18) were rephrased and circulated to the panel for a second round of voting (Step 6). Nineteen out of 23 experts participated in the second round. All the statements rephrased reached consensus. Statements are discussed in detail below. To conclude, experts agreed on three main concepts that arose from this consensus (Table 3).

3.2. Multiple sclerosis statements approved (first and second rounds)

3.2.1. Topic 1. Evaluation of fertility in women or men with MS

S2. The fertility evaluation of the couple should be suggested, if there is a need to shorten time to pregnancy in a woman with MS.

S3. The fertility potential of women/couples should be always evaluated in women with highly disabling MS who wish to have children.

S4. Fertility potential evaluation should be considered in treatment decision-making in MS women of >35 years of age (advanced maternal age).

S5. Neurologists involved in MS care must be trained to interpret the couples' fertility potential accurately to optimize patients' counseling.

S6. Multidisciplinary fertility counseling should be offered to all women with MS and their partners.

The statements concerning fertility evaluation reached 86.96, 73.92, 82.61, 73.91, and 69.57% agreement, respectively. In women affected by MS, shortening the time to pregnancy could depend both on fertility and MS issues. Given that no biomarkers exist to discriminate fecundity, time to pregnancy is becoming a useful surrogate to describe it at the population level (17, 18). In fact, in relation to fertility issues, it is well acknowledged that fertility is a time-dependent condition that declines with aging (19). The decline in female fertility is constant after 30 years of age, but increases dramatically after 35 years (20). In this regard, both the quantity and the quality of oocytes decrease, with an increase in miscarriage rates and aneuploidy (20-22). Indeed, ovarian reserve markers reflect the pool of oocytes a woman might benefit for reproductive purposes and time to pregnancy shortens with increasing levels of them (23). Furthermore, advanced maternal age (i.e., over 35 years old) has been associated with an increase in adverse pregnancy outcomes (24, 25). Therefore, time to pregnancy acquires even more importance in relation to chronic and autoimmune diseases, whose incidence usually peaks during reproductive years and where various issues coexist, determining reproductive concerns. Specifically, fertility issues in MS have been a matter of debate for years (26). Despite reports of an increased prevalence of infertility among MS women (27, 28), the heterogeneity of the data and the presence of numerous confounding factors have not yet allowed for definitive conclusions (29). In particular, although pregnancy for MS women does not seem associated with severely adverse obstetric outcomes (30), the higher rate of childlessness among MS patients (31) could be explained by psychosocial factors, such as current disability or fear of future problems, fear of genetically transmitting MS, fear of not starting/

discontinuing treatments (32), coexisting with biological factors, such as sexual dysfunction, reduced libido, altered sensitivity, abnormal endocrine patterns, and ovarian reserve (26). In addition, ovarian reserve has been studied in MS women with contrasting results (10-14, 33, 34). Interestingly, when the disease course is worse, the ovarian reserve has been found to be lower (12, 33), thereby complicating the eventual reproductive project. Moreover, considering different clinical phenotypes and the difficulty in predicting disease progression (35), fertility evaluation remains a remarkable practice to carry out in MS women who wish to have children whatsoever, even when there is a high activity of disease, the resolution of which could take years and thus be associated with a reduced ovarian reserve. Concomitantly, women with higher disease activity may require treatment with more powerful drugs; currently, there are very few data about the safety of the fetus for the majority of these treatments. For these reasons, women with worse prognostic factors desiring pregnancy may choose to be undertreated while trying to conceive or to waive the reproductive project. In this population, an objective assessment of fertility could be of utmost importance as it may dramatically impact patients' counseling in order to limit avoidable disability or to influence treatment choices. Considering the age-related decline of fertility, its evaluation should be explicitly proposed to women >35 years old, since later it may be too late. On the other side, it should not be taken for granted that women with MS aged >35 years should waive pregnancy desire. Bonavita et al. observed that childlessness was more common in the subgroup of patients aged 36-45 years (8), and in 78% of cases, the treatment was not selected considering family planning. In the general population, the average age of women at the birth of their first child has increased (36) for several social reasons that are also shared by women with MS. Additionally, these women start pregnancy planning after having spent years trying to achieve disease remission. Moreover, access to ART programs is becoming more common among healthy women as well as women with MS. Therefore, fertility evaluation should become ordinary practice at least in women >35 years before making treatment choices to individually tailor counseling and preserve both women's health and pregnancy plans. Thus, medical counseling acquires the utmost significance in driving women's and couple's choices regarding family planning. In 2014, Wundes et al. (37) evaluated what healthcare providers say to MS women about pregnancy, showing that almost all surveyed participants did not discourage pregnancy based solely on MS diagnosis, but few encouraged it, and a hypothesis could be that the lack of active encouragement might be perceived as a lack of support. Indeed, nowadays, such an attitude seems outdated. In addition, recommendations about DMD use vary considerably (37, 38). Recently, various attempts have been made to resume the main counseling issues and related management options for MS women with reproductive desires (39-43). Currently, the main topic of discussion is the therapeutic management of the window between pregnancy desire and conception as well as during gestation (44, 45). However, the issue of a couple's fertility evaluation before making such choices has never been addressed. Nevertheless, it should also be taken into consideration the partner's role in reproductive issues. As per definition, "infertility is a disease of the male or female reproductive system defined by the failure to achieve a pregnancy after 12 months or more of regular unprotected sexual intercourse" (46). Therefore, although not mandatory, it seems advisable that both partners be evaluated whenever planning a pregnancy, in order to assess

whether infertility issues could complicate the road to conception. Initial screenings might include semen analysis and ovarian reserve markers' evaluation, as well as questions about menstrual cycle regularity, whose first interpretation could be done by a neurologist. Moreover, creating a multidisciplinary team of reproductive medicine experts would speed up the process. Then, this would help the MS treating physicians manage therapeutic options. These statements received 13.04, 26.08, 17.39, 26.09, and 30.43% disagreement or doubt (neither agree nor disagree), respectively. The motivations supporting disagreements are outlined in the Supplementary material. Of note, respondents argued to consider age, the severity of the disease, and true desire for motherhood as determinants in deciding fertility evaluation.

3.2.2. Topic 2. Management of MS treatment strategies in relation to pregnancy planning

S8. First-line DMDs (interferons β and glatiramer acetate) should be continued until pregnancy confirmation and during pregnancy, if needed.

S9. In case of pregnancy desire, the couples' fertility potential should be evaluated before treatment switch in women on disease-modifying drugs (DMDs) that are contraindicated in pregnancy.

S10. In case of MS patients in treatment with DMDs not compatible with pregnancy, interferon β is a good bridging option.

S11. Contraception should be maintained during DMDs wash-out if the treatment is not compatible with pregnancy.

S12 (rephrased). Considering that the elimination time of cladribine tablets is 1 week, in view of available scientific evidence, shortening the 6-month interval between cladribine treatment and conception could be safe and may reduce time to conception. Further evidence is needed to confirm this statement.

The statements concerning MS treatment decision-making reached 91.3, 78.26, 73.92, 91.3, and 70.0% agreement, respectively. It is now well-established that pregnancy reduces the risk of relapses in MS women (5, 30) with pregnancy advancement, due to the hormonal-driven downregulation of proinflammatory immune mechanisms. Despite robust evidence regarding the favorable course of the disease in pregnancy, there is still a longstanding debate about whether DMDs should be suspended before conception and for how long, considering that today the majority of women with MS of childbearing age are treated with these medications. Main concerns regard the safety of the exposure of the fetus to DMDs at the time of conception or during pregnancy; for this reason, in the past, DMDs were usually discontinued in women planning pregnancy before trying to conceive. Nevertheless, several lines of evidence identified, among other factors, the length of treatment washout before conception as a predictor of a higher risk of relapse (47-49). Therefore, the last ECTRIMS/EAN MS treatment guidelines (50) recommended considering continuing interferon (IFN) or glatiramer acetate until pregnancy is confirmed in women with a high risk of relapses, also keeping in mind that often it is not possible to predict the time to pregnancy. Injectables, in fact, are now considered safe for the fetus and are labeled for use during pregnancy and lactation (51-56). While the oldest studies showed that exposure to IFN-beta was associated with an increased risk of lower mean birth weight, shorter mean birth length, and preterm birth (57, 58), more recent works on large pregnancy registries disconfirmed these results and demonstrated that IFN-beta exposure before conception and/or during pregnancy does not adversely increase the rate of congenital anomalies or spontaneous abortions (59-61). Fewer studies have investigated the outcomes of infants exposed to glatiramer acetate showing that the exposure during the first trimester does not affect perinatal outcomes (62, 63). Limited data are available on the risk/ benefit of continuing injectables DMD throughout pregnancy (64, 65), and new longitudinal studies are needed to address this issue. However, in agreement with ECTRIMS guidelines (50), such an option should be discussed with future parents, particularly in case of women with pre-conceptional adverse prognostic factors. A discussion is also open on the management of women seeking pregnancy that are treated with DMDs different from IFNs and glatiramer acetate. All of them are not licensed during pregnancy. Therefore, women who are on treatments not allowed during pregnancy should be ideally switched to other treatment options or discontinue therapies before conception. However, discontinuation of therapies may increase the risk of relapses and disability progression (66, 67). Several studies have shown that the odd of MS rebound after suspension, also motivated by pregnancy reasons, is particularly higher in women treated with sequestering drugs (i.e., natalizumab and fingolimod) (68-71), due to the rapid immune reconstitution occurring after treatment interruption. Hence, in this population, it would be advisable to assess women and couples' fertility before the treatment switch, also considering couples' age and the unknown toxic effect of chronic inflammation or DMDs (72) on ovarian reserve. Eventual detection of infertility before the treatment switch, which is not rare in older women, might help to optimize the timing of sequencing, in order to limit the risk of disability on one hand and to precociously manage treatable causes of infertility. Krysko et al. suggested (73) that, although not licensed for use during pregnancy, natalizumab could be continued at extended intervals dosing up until the third trimester, when it should be stopped to not incur in neonatal cytopenia (74). In addition, they proposed to target the last dose of anti-CD20 shortly before pregnancy, but ideally not during it. However, they have not stated the management during ART procedures, but underlined that women approaching fertility treatments should be on optimal disease control with a pregnancycompatible DMD. Instead, in women with low-moderate disease activity treated with platform therapies not compatible with pregnancy and thus requiring lateral treatment switch, IFNs are considered a good bridging option due to the low risk of fetal abnormalities and the possibility of continuing treatments during pregnancy. In this case, it should be taken into account that the estimated therapeutic lag for relapses from treatment start ranges from 14 to 19 weeks (75); therefore, particularly for those women getting pregnant soon after treatment starts, it might be proposed to continue treatment during pregnancy to optimize treatment benefit. Conversely, contraception is recommended for all women on DMDs not compatible with pregnancy. Contraceptive methods are safe in MS; highly effective methods, including IUDs (intra-uterine devices) and implants, should be proposed to women taking DMDs with known teratogenicity (6, 76), and they should be maintained during treatment washout. Such an interval depends on the elimination halflife of each DMD; in fact, a drug is considered to have been fully eliminated after five half-lives. Currently, drug plasmatic concentration can be dosed only for teriflunomide, allowing personalizing of discontinuation of contraception when a plasma level of <0.02 mg/L is detected (77). For all the other DMDs, label

 The fertility potential of women with multiple sclerosis (MS) should be evaluated before starting any treatment. 	Total agreement: 60. <mark>68%</mark>	
 The fertility evaluation of the couple should be suggested, if there is a need to shorten time to pregnancy in a woman with MS. 	Total agreement: 86.96%	
 The fertility potential of women/couples should be always evaluated in women with highly disabling MS who wish to have children. 	Total agreement: 73.92%	
 Fertility potential evaluation should be considered in treatment decision-ma- king in MS women of > 35 years of age (advanced maternal age). 	Total agreement: 82.61%	
 Neurologists involved in MS care must be trained to interpret the couples' fertility potential accurately to optimize patients' counselling. 	Total agreement: 73.91%	
 Multidisciplinary fertility counselling should be offered to all women with MS and their partners. 	Total agreement: 69.57%	
7. Fertility counselling should be proposed to all men with MS.	Total agreement: 56.52%	
IANAGEMENT OF MS TREATMENT STRATEGIES IN RELATION TO REGNANCY PLANNING		
8. First-line DMDs (interferons β and and glatiramer acetate) should be continued until pregnancy, if needed.	Total agreement: 91.30%	
9. In case of pregnancy desire, the couples' fertility potential should be evaluated before treatment switch in women on disease-modifying drugs (DMDs) that are contraindicated in pregnancy.	Total agreement: 78.26 <mark>%</mark>	
 In case of MS patients in treatment with DMDs not compatible with pregnancy, interferon β is a good bridging option. 	Total agreement: 73.92%	
 Contraception should be maintained during DMDs wash-out if the treatment is not compatible with pregnancy. 	Total agreement: 91.30%	
 Considering that the elimination time of cladribine tablets is one week, in view of available scientific evidences, shortening the 6-month interval between cladribine treatment and conception is safe and may reduce time to conception. 	Total agreement: 39.13%	
2 (revote). Considering that the elimination time of cladribine tablets is one week, in view of available scientific evidence, shortening the 6-month interval between cladribine treatment and conception could be safe and may reduce time to conception. Further evidence is needed to confirm this statement.	Total agreement: 70.00%	
NDICATIONS FOR AND MANAGEMENT OF ACCESS TO MEDICALLY SSISTED REPRODUCTION IN WOMEN WITH MS ledically Assisted Reproduction treatments for women with MS		
3. Medically assisted reproduction is not contraindicated in women with MS.	Total agreement: 86.95 <mark>%</mark>	
 Assisted reproductive techniques (ART) should be considered in order to reduce time to pregnancy in MS women with a reduced ovarian reserve and/or age >35 years. 	Total agreement: 60.87%	
4 (revote). In patients with stable disease, assisted reproductive techniques (ART) could be considered in order to reduce time to pregnancy in MS women with a reduced ovarian reserve and/or age >35 years.	Total agreement: 70.00%	
 The psychological wellness of a couple in which one member has MS should be evaluated before planning assisted reproduction cycles. 	Total agreement: 86.96%	
 Extensive counselling about the risk of MS worsening/relapse should be offered before starting ART. 	Total agreement: 91.31%	
Time to pregnancy should be shortened in MS women who respond suboptimally to DMDs and require treatment switch.	Total agreement: 43.48%	
IS treatment during Medically Assisted Reproduction 8. Women with MS who have a poor ART prognosis, and may require more than		
one ART cycle to conceive, should be switched to a high-efficacy DMD before ART.	Total agreement: 60.87%	
8 (revote). In women with MS who have a poor ART prognosis, and may require more than one ART cycle to conceive, a switch to a high-efficacy DMD before ART should be considered.	Total agreement: 75.00%	
 First-line DMDs (interferons β and glatiramer acetate) should be continued until pregnancy confirmation after ART and during pregnancy, if needed. 	Total agreement: 100.00%	
 Second-line DMDs licensed for use during pregnancy should be continued during pregnancy after ART. 	Total agreement: 78.26%	
	Total agreement: 91.30%	
 Horizontal switch should be proposed to women with MS treated with DMDs not compatible with pregnancy before undergoing ART. 		
not compatible with pregnancy before undergoing ART. ocyte cryopreservation in women affected by MS		
not compatible with pregnancy before undergoing ART. ocyte cryopreservation in women affected by MS	Total agreement: 82.61%	
 not compatible with pregnancy before undergoing ART. bocyte cryopreservation in women affected by MS 2. Oocyte cryopreservation should be considered in women with reduced ovarian reserve, who require unpredictable time to complete diagnosis workup and achieve control of the disease. 3. Oocyte cryopreservation should be proposed to women with MS that must postpone pregnancy due to poor disease control that requires highly effective 	Total agreement: 82.61% Total agreement: 91.31%	
not compatible with pregnancy before undergoing ART. bocyte cryopreservation in women affected by MS 2. Oocyte cryopreservation should be considered in women with reduced ovarian reserve, who require unpredictable time to complete diagnosis workup and achieve control of the disease. 3. Oocyte cryopreservation should be proposed to women with MS that must		

indications should be followed. Nevertheless, for some of the most recently approved drugs, such as cladribine or anti-CD20 drugs (78), the recommended washout interval before trying to conceive exceeds

the presumed drug half-life. For these treatments, regulatory authorities adopted a precautionary approach considering the lack of data on fetal safety and the prolonged immunological effects of these

FIGURE 2

TABLE 3 Three main concepts of the survey.

- Fertility evaluation should be suggested to wMS, in case of need to shorten time to pregnancy and before treatment switch in women on DMTs contraindicated in pregnancy, particularly in case of highly active disease and age > 35 years.
 ART should not be discouraged in wMS, but use of DMTs until pregnancy
- ART should not be discouraged in winds, but use of DMTs diffinit pregnancy confirmation should be suggested; ART may be considered in order to reduce time to pregnancy in MS women with a reduced ovarian reserve and/or age > 35 years, but in case of expected poor ART prognosis and need of more than one ART cycle, a switch to a high-efficacy DMD before ART should be offered.
- Oocyte cryopreservation may be considered in women with reduced ovarian reserve, with unpredictable time to complete diagnostic workup and achieve disease control; a risk/cost-benefit analysis must be performed in women >35 years considering the diminished ovarian reserve.

treatments, despite their low frequency of administration. In the case of cladribine tablets, the complete drug elimination time is 1 week (79), while it is recommended that women prevent pregnancy during treatment and for at least 6 months after the last dose. Moreover, as it is not known if cladribine may reduce the efficacy of birth control pills, a barrier method of contraception should be added during treatment and for at least 4 weeks after the last dose. Considering its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic, shortening the 6-month interval between cladribine treatment and conception seems safe and might represent a promising approach to reducing time to conception in women treated with this drug, in particular in those >35 years old. These statements received 8.7, 21.74, 26.08, 8.7, and 30% disagreement or doubt (neither agree nor disagree), respectively. The motivations supporting these disagreements are outlined in the Supplementary material. In detail, experts debated whether glatiramer acetate is a good bridging option; also, it would be better to gain more evidence before considering it safe to conceive prior to 6 months after cladribine treatment and to consider the effects on white blood cell count.

3.2.3. Topic 3. Medically assisted reproduction treatments for women with MS

S13. Medically assisted reproduction is not contraindicated in women with MS.

S14 (rephrased). In patients with stable disease, assisted reproductive techniques (ART) could be considered in order to reduce time to pregnancy in MS women with a reduced ovarian reserve and/ or age > 35 years.

S15. The psychological wellness of a couple in which one member has MS should be evaluated before planning assisted reproduction cycles.

S16. Extensive counseling about the risk of MS worsening/relapse should be offered before starting ART.

The statements concerning ART in wMS reached 86.95, 70, 86.96, and 91.31% agreement, respectively. The safety of ART in MS women is still debated, as evidence reports an increased risk of disease reactivation after such procedures, which is mainly related to sex hormone manipulation and its proinflammatory effects (80–84). Not only clinical but also radiological evidence of relapse has been observed (85, 86). Currently, ART protocols for ovarian stimulation involve the use of GnRH agonists or antagonists to avoid the LH (luteinizing hormone) surge and the risk of spontaneous ovulation. While some studies showed increased relapse risk after GnRH agonist

use (82-84), others did not find the same evidence (80, 81, 87); however, a recent meta-analysis demonstrated that no difference in risk of MS relapse was found between GnRH agonist and antagonist ART protocols (88). In addition, it has been observed that only wMS patients who suffered from relapses close to the start of the ART procedure were at risk of further relapses (89). Bove et al. (88) explored any confounding factors and found that age, parity, multiple IVF attempts, time without MS drugs, and disease duration had no effect on the association between ART and increased risk of relapse; interestingly, they also noticed that miscarriage after ART increased the risk of relapse 3 months after ART compared to 3 months before. The largest available study evaluating the relapse rate in 225 wMS undergoing ART compared 3-month exposed periods after IVF with unexposed periods before IVF and did not evidence an increase in the risk of relapse. Moreover, the results of this study do not support the hypothesis that patients stimulated with the GnRH agonist protocol have an increased risk of relapse (90). Finally, it was observed that there is no difference in live birth rates after ART between wMS and women without MS (16, 27). A very recent multicenter retrospective analysis observed that the relapse rate was not increased after ART and that being on therapeutic DMD was associated with a reduced relapse rate 3 months after ovarian stimulation: 10 out of the 13 patients relapsing after ART (over a 12-month period) were not on DMDs (91), enhancing the importance of continuing therapy when ART procedures are planned and performed.

Therefore, taking into account these data, it can be affirmed that MS is not a contraindication to ART treatments per sè, but a correct framework of the clinical conditions of the patients should be performed to allow its planning in the optimal window both for MS and pregnancy prognosis.

The diagnosis of infertility is associated with increased levels of emotional distress, anxiety, and depression (92). The importance of a couple's psychological evaluation and management was also recognized by the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE); in fact, Gameiro et al. (93) released a guideline on how to manage the main psychological aspects that could arise before, during, and after treatment for couples seeking fertility treatments. To overcome this issue, it was declared that psychological issues should be assessed and care should be tailored, especially in cases of ART failure. In this regard, specific tools could also be used (94). Actually, MS adds extra stress to the already acknowledged psychological burden with which couples are requested to deal when they need to refer to assisted reproduction in order to conceive. All the worries declared by people with MS, such as fear of disability, fear of transmitting the disease, fear of not being able to care for children, and fear of discontinuing MS treatments, would probably be the main reasons that could affect the decision not only to become pregnant but also to access ART programs in cases of infertility diagnosis (8, 31, 32). Actually, Houtchens et al. (27) observed that, despite the fact that a higher proportion of wMS have been found infertile compared to healthy controls, less wMS seek infertility treatments than women without MS. In contrast, Sadovnick et al. (38) observed that the proportion of MS women requesting ART treatments was not different from the general population. This data could be read in the way that infertile wMS are scared by the additional stressful path of assisted reproduction to be added to their chronic condition, thereby giving up on the idea of family planning. This is why multidisciplinary and extensive counseling is strongly needed for infertile wMS approaching

the possibility of ART treatments to conceive, to help them freely make reproductive choices after a thorough discussion on all the aspects, from the psychological to the pharmacological and clinical ones, covering the periods from before to after ART treatments and pregnancy. Indeed, wMS and their partners should be aware of the possibly increased risk of relapse after such treatments, which should be adequately discussed in place of pre-ART counseling by both the neurologist and the reproductive medicine specialist in relation to the abovementioned evidence and all the possible interfering factors. It has already been suggested that would be wiser to perform ART treatments during periods of disease stability (95, 96). Main indications remain related to infertility causes, but in order to not increase the likelihood of failure, it seems reasonable to consider wMS with reduced ovarian reserve and over 35 years old as the ones with time-dependent infertility conditions and therefore to get them soon into ART treatments. These statements received 13.05, 30, 13.04, and 8.69% disagreement or doubt (neither agree nor disagree), respectively. The motivations supporting these disagreements are outlined in the Supplementary material. Experts commented on the importance of the IVF protocol but also the need to inform patients about the risk of disease reactivation.

3.2.4. Topic 4. MS treatment during medically assisted reproduction

S18 (rephrased). In women with MS who have a poor ART prognosis, and may require more than one ART cycle to conceive, a switch to a high-efficacy DMD before ART should be considered.

S19. First-line DMDs (interferons β and glatiramer acetate) should be continued until pregnancy confirmation after ART and during pregnancy, if needed.

S20. Second-line DMDs licensed for use during pregnancy should be continued during pregnancy after ART.

S21. Horizontal switch should be proposed to women with MS treated with DMDs not compatible with pregnancy before undergoing ART.

The statements concerning MS treatments during ART procedures in wMS reached 75, 100, 78.26, and 91.3% agreement, respectively. Taking into account that it is still debated if MS or eventually some MS drugs could have an impact on fertility, whenever a wMS should ask for ART treatments to achieve a pregnancy, it seems appropriate to evaluate her (assisted) reproductive prognosis in advance, to tailor the optimal reproductive strategy. Indeed, the best parameters to define the prognosis of ART procedures include the combination of age, ovarian reserve markers such as antral follicle count (AFC) and Anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH), as well as the number of oocytes retrieved in previous IVF cycles. Embryo euploidy also has a fundamental role in the achievement of pregnancy, and its relationship with age should be taken into account, given that its probability decreases with increasing maternal age (97-100), for which pre-implantation tests can be performed (101, 102). Therefore, in women with poor ART prognosis, an accumulation strategy could be proposed in order to increase the number of mature oocytes that would reasonably allow for at least one euploid embryo (103-106). Actually, a recent large cohort study based on nationwide Danish health registries analyzing 2,267 embryo transfers in 815 women with MS has shown that the chance of a live birth was not decreased in these women compared with women without MS undergoing ART (16). Nevertheless, it should be considered that wMS could undergo biochemical pregnancy, miscarriage (107), repeated implantation failure, and therefore, several embryo transfer attempts. These unfavorable ART events might multiply the risk of disease reactivation, for the abovementioned reasons, much more than in case of ART success (92).

Therefore, in women with unfavorable prognostic factors regarding ART and/or MS, it is advisable to switch to higher efficacy DMDs before ART. Accumulating evidence suggests that natalizumab or anti-CD20 drugs can be viable options, as they have no impact on women's fertility (108) and no major obstetric or fetal complications emerged in exposed pregnancies (109-111). Patients switching to natalizumab for ART or already on treatment with this drug should continue the therapy during ART and pregnancy in order to minimize the risk of unwarranted relapses due to treatment suspension. The same approach should be proposed to women with MS treated with injectables compatible with pregnancy, given that IFNs or glatiramer acetate are not expected to have a detrimental impact on fertility or ART outcomes. Conversely, Bove et al. have shown that no treatment or treatment washout >3 months before ART increases the risk of relapses (88). So, in case of women treated with first-line orals not compatible with pregnancy, switching to injectables before starting ART procedures seems like a safer approach compared to treatment interruption.

These statements received 25, 0, 21.74, and 8.7% disagreement or doubt (neither agree nor disagree), respectively. The motivations supporting disagreements are outlined in the Supplementary material. One expert affirmed that it would be difficult to justify a therapeutical switch for a reason not intrinsically linked to the disease; in addition, many of them reinforced the importance of evaluating the disease course/activity.

3.2.5. Topic 5. Oocyte cryopreservation in women affected by MS

S22. Oocyte cryopreservation should be considered in women with reduced ovarian reserve, who require unpredictable time to complete diagnosis workup and achieve control of the disease.

S23. Oocyte cryopreservation should be proposed to women with MS that must postpone pregnancy due to poor disease control that requires highly effective treatments not compatible with conception.

S24. In women above 35 years of age, the option of oocyte cryopreservation should be evaluated in the light of the ovarian reserve of the women and the risk-cost/benefit analysis.

The statements concerning oocyte cryopreservation reached 82.61, 91.31, and 68.19% agreement, respectively. The first to suggest fertility preservation in MS patients was Cavalla et al. (26) in 2006. They proposed that, similarly to cancer patients, people with MS could take advantage of this technology to preserve their fertility potential before starting treatments. Recently, Massarotti et al. (96) reinforced this suggestion, stressing the concept that, in light of the many unanswered questions about fertility and assisted reproduction outcomes in patients with multiple sclerosis, multidisciplinary counseling and dedicated clinics should be put in place to manage these aspects over time. Oocyte or embryo cryopreservation is already a consolidated practice for fertile women diagnosed with cancer before starting anti-neoplastic treatments such as chemotherapy and/ or radiotherapy (112, 113). This is because such treatments are gonadotoxic, and therefore, the ovarian reserve and follicular pool could be dramatically reduced after certain oncologic protocols (114). Likewise, some MS treatments could be cytotoxic (i.e., mitoxantrone

and cyclophosphamide), with effects also on gonads, although the impact of MS drugs on fertility is still a matter of debate for the majority of them (45, 115). For these reasons, MS could be considered a condition in which the preservation of gametes before therapy or during diagnostic workup could be considered, mainly in women showing signs of reduced fertility or in those patients who are candidates for gonadotoxic therapies such as bone marrow or stem cell transplantation. Data on fertility after autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (aHSCT), which usually requires a conditioning regimen with alkylating agents, are still inconclusive. A study by Massarotti et al. (116) has shown that 70% of women recovered menses after treatment, especially if they were young, while Zafeiri et al. (117) observed a significant reduction of the AMH levels after the procedure. However, cryopreservation of ovarian tissue in eight women undergoing aHSCT resulted in good recovery of ovarian function in two women out of four with premature ovarian insufficiency after treatment (118). Despite the fact that ART treatments have been associated with an increased risk of postprocedure relapse, the evidence of reduced risk, whenever therapy is not discontinued (as the Boston cohort showed in the study from Bove et al. (88)), could open a new window in fertility preservation for women affected by MS, even if pregnancy is not advisable due to poor disease control. Gulekli et al. (119) were the first to report two cases of infertile women affected by MS who were treated with in vitro maturation (IVM) of oocytes to avoid the risk of ovarian stimulation and the related risk of disease reactivation, with successful pregnancy and live birth. The authors, therefore, suggested that MS would be considered an indication for this ART strategy. IVM could be a useful strategy for fertility preservation, in the centers that are familiar with this strategy, eventually in cases when disease control has not been achieved yet or when patients require highly effective treatments that are not compatible with conception. Finally, it is obvious that a risk/benefit analysis should be carried out by a multidisciplinary team in MS women of advanced reproductive age (e.g., over 35 years old), considering the markers of ovarian reserve. These statements received 17.39, 8.69, and 31.81% disagreement or doubt (neither agree nor disagree), respectively. The motivations supporting these disagreements are outlined in the Supplementary material. The main arguments commented on were that a long period for MS diagnosis is not acceptable or usually requested and that the decision on oocyte cryopreservation should always depend on the patient's age.

4. Discussion

This Delphi consensus, with 21 statements approved, provides a real-world clinical perspective on the specific approaches during key steps of fertility assessment and ART management from a diverse group of Italian experts. What emerges is that the evaluation of female and couple fertility is gaining more and more importance in light of the possibility of supporting pregnancy desire and motherhood with therapeutic regimens that are proving to be effective and safe, although further evidence is still urgently needed. The Delphi methodology represents the strength of this study, which also benefited from the knowledge of an Italian panel of highly respected experts in the field. The fertility experts participating in the consensus were from a diverse range of global regions of Italy, including different fertility centers from the northern, middle, and southern Italy, reflecting the quality of healthcare and different approaches to infertility treatment. The consensus allowed to include of a wider list of topics than what would be typically considered in a systematic review or in a guideline, which are usually based on strict methodology, limiting the scope of the investigation. However, there are a few limitations; first, the consensus does not represent an exhaustive list of statements, and the statements only represent the collective opinion of the experts included. The majority of the statements reached consensus (more than 66% agreement) at first voting, with only 3 statements rejected out of 24. Some statements reached consensus even though a few experts disagreed with them (motivations in Supplementary materials), while one was approved unanimously. Moreover, the statements have been conceived taking into account the evidence from the literature, which is quite heterogeneous and limited by the small sample size of the studies performed so far, especially in regard to ovarian reserve estimation and assisted reproduction outcomes in women with MS. At last, although these statements represent the point of view of the experts, individualized management with regards to treatment options should always be planned in relation to patients needs and clinical features. Dobson et al., in 2019, released the guidelines of the Association of British Neurologists regarding MS and pregnancy, developed through a Delphi consensus. They focused on the evidence about all the DMDs in relation to contraception, fertility, pregnancy, and lactation, but mainly on general management of pre-, during, and post-pregnancy times for MS women. Importantly, they stated that pre-pregnancy counseling should be organized at diagnosis or soon after it, and eventually repeated yearly in women of reproductive age. Moreover, they admitted that ART procedures are not contraindicated, although a multidisciplinary team should plan how to effectively manage the patient during those times (120). A recent consensus came also from Argentina, with 50 statements: they were of the same advice regarding the need for reproductive counseling before pregnancy and at regular (annual) intervals, as well as the possibility of asking for ART procedures to get pregnant. An interesting recommendation they released is to seek a fertility specialist if conception does not happen after 6 months of attempts when DMDs have been stopped, instead of the classical 12 months usually considered for infertility in the general population (121). Another consensus has been provided by the Portuguese Multiple Sclerosis Study Group, which has issued a list of statements similar to the others previously mentioned, analyzing the needs of MS women from the pre-conceptional period to the postpartum period. Similarly, they addressed the fertility issue, admitting that the evidence does not support a role for both the disease and related treatments in the determination of infertility. Furthermore, they confirmed the possibility of seeking ART treatments to get pregnant (122). Very recently, Oreja-Guevara et al. published some recommendations for ART in MS by a Spanish expert panel (123). The main arguments were the need to assess the partner's health and subfertility factors other than age, to consider less than 1 year of regular intercourse for infertility consultation after 35 years of age, single embryo transfer, and a maximum of three cycles of ovarian stimulation, and that a fertility preservation is a possible strategy. However, our consensus preferred to highlight the importance of proper fertility assessment and counseling, especially in relation to female age and the intrinsic reduction of fertility with aging, which prompts evaluation of fertility before it is too late. Although the reports on ovarian reserve suggested that highly active disease could cause impairment of AMH levels or AFC (12, 33), we suggest considering couple fertility

evaluation to help speed up the family planning process, independently from disease activity, so as to reduce the time to pregnancy. Nonetheless, we suggested the use of oocyte cryopreservation in selected cases. Further evidence is still urgently needed on the issue of fertility and ART treatments in women affected by MS, since the number of them with reproductive desire is increasing but the mean age at family planning request could be close to a window of reduced fertility, and therefore both neurologists involved in MS care and reproductive medicine experts should manage these aspects over time.

5. Conclusion

This Delphi consensus provides 21 statements by expert opinions on specific approaches during the neurological assessment of women diagnosed with multiple sclerosis, including fertility evaluation, assisted reproduction, and fertility preservation, especially when women are older than 35 years old, with the aim of reducing the time to pregnancy.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent from the participants or participants' legal guardian/next of kin was not required to participate in this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

Group member of Interdisciplinary Group for Fertility in Multiple Sclerosis

Carlo Alviggi and Raffaella Di Girolamo, Department of Public Health, School of Medicine, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy; Luigi Carbone and Roberta Lanzillo, Department of Neuroscience, Reproductive Sciences and Dentistry, School of Medicine, University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy; Doriana Landi and Girolama Alessandra Marfia, Multiple Sclerosis Clinical and Research Unit, University Hospital of Rome Tor Vergata, Rome, Italy; Paola Anserini, UOS Physiopathology of Human Reproduction, IRCCS Ospedale Policlinico San Martino, Genova, Italy; Diego Centonze, Department of Systems Medicine, Laboratory of Synaptic Immunopathology, "Tor Vergata" University, Rome, Italy; Unit of Neurology-IRCCS Neuromed, Pozzilli, Isernia, Italy; Pietro Annovazzi, Multiple Sclerosis Center, Hospital of Gallarate-ASST della Valle Olona, Gallarate, Italy; Simona Bonavita, Department of Advanced Medical and Surgical Sciences, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Naples, Italy; Giovanna Borriello, Multiple Sclerosis Center, 'S. Andrea' Hospital, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy; Paola Cavalla, Multiple Sclerosis Center, City of Health and Science University Hospital, Turin, Italy; Raffaella Cerqua, Neurological Clinic, Department of Experimental and Clinical Medicine, Ospedali Riuniti, Ancona, Italy; Marinella Clerico, Clinical and Biological Sciences Department, Neurology Unit, University of Torino, 'San Luigi Gonzaga' Hospital, Orbassano, Italy; Eleonora Cocco, Multiple Sclerosis Center, Department of Medical Science and Public Health, University of Cagliari, Cagliari, Italy; Cinzia Cordioli, Multiple Sclerosis Center, Spedali Civili of Brescia, Montichiari (BS), Italy; Emanuele D'Amico, Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences and Advanced Technologies 'G.F. Ingrassia', Section of Neurosciences, University of Catania, Catania, Italy; Giovanna De Luca, Multiple Sclerosis Center, 'SS Annunziata' Hospital, 'Gabriele d'Annunzio' University Chieti-Pescara, Chieti, Italy; Massimiliano Di Filippo, Section of Neurology, Department of Medicine and Surgery, University of Perugia, Perugia, Italy; Roberta Fantozzi, Unit of Neurology-IRCCS Neuromed, Pozzilli, Isernia, Italy; Diana Ferraro, Department of Neuroscience, UO of Neurology, AOU Policlinico OB, Modena, Italy; Pietro Iaffaldano, Department of Basic Medical Sciences, Neurosciences and Sense Organs, University of Bari Aldo Moro, Bari/Italy; Matilde Inglese, Department of Neuroscience, Rehabilitation, Ophthalmology, Genetics, Maternal and Child Health (DiNOGMI), University of Genoa, Genova, Italy; Department of Neurology, Policlinico 'San Martino Hospital'-Sistema Sanitario Regione, Genoa, Italy; Paola Perini, Multiple Sclerosis Center, Neurological Clinic, University Hospital of Padua, Italy; Emilio Portaccio, Division Neurological Rehabilitation, Department of NEUROFARBA, University of Florence, Florence, Italy; Paolo Ragonese, Unit of Neurology, Department of Biomedicine, Neurosciences and Advanced Diagnostics, Palermo University, Palermo, Italy; Cinzia Scandellari, IRCCS Institute of Neurological Sciences, UOSI Multiple Sclerosis Rehabilitation, Bologna, Italy; Valentina Torri Clerici, Neuroimmunology and Neuromuscular Diseases Unit, Fondazione I.R.C.C.S. Istituto Neurologico Carlo Besta, Milan, Italy; Carla Tortorella, Department of Neurosciences, S. Camillo-Forlanini Hospital, Rome, Italy; Paola Valentino, Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences, Institute of Neurology, Magna Graecia University, Catanzaro, Italy.

Author contributions

LC: Visualization, Writing – review and editing. DL: Visualization, Writing – review and editing. RDG: Data curation, Writing – original draft. PA: Validation, Writing – review and editing. DC: Validation, Writing – review and editing. GM: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing – review and editing. CA: Conceptualization, Methodology, Supervision, Visualization, Writing – review and editing.

Funding

The development of this publication was financially supported by Merck Serono S.p.A., Rome, Italy, an affiliate of Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany, through an independent medical writing grant. The funder was not involved in the study design, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, the writing of this article, or the decision to submit it for publication.

Acknowledgments

The Delphi consensus process was coordinated by Event Planet Srl.

Conflict of interest

LC declared receipt of Lecture fees from Merck. DL received travel funding from Biogen, Merck Serono, Sanofi, Teva, Bristol Myers Squibb, Mylan, speaking or consultations fees from Sanofi, Merck Serono, Teva, Biogen, Roche, Novartis, Bristol Myers Squibb, Bayer-Schering. PA declared receipt of honoraria or consultation fees to participate at meeting and workshop from Gedeon Richter and Organon. DC is an advisory board member of Almirall, Bayer Schering, Biogen, GW Pharmaceuticals, Merck, Novartis, Roche, Sanofi-Genzyme, Teva and has received honoraria for speaking or consultation fees from Almirall, Bayer Schering, Biogen, GW Pharmaceuticals, Merck, Novartis, Roche, Sanofi-Genzyme, Teva. DC is also the principal investigator in clinical trials for Bayer Schering, Biogen, Merck, Mitsubishi, Novartis, Roche, Sanofi-Genzyme, Teva. DC preclinical and clinical research was supported by grants from Bayer Schering, Biogen Idec, Celgene, Merck, Novartis, Roche, Sanofi-Genzyme, Teva. GM received travel funding, speaking or consultation fees from Almirall, Bayer-Schering, Biogen, Sanofi, Merck Serono, Novartis, Teva, Mylan, Bristol Mayers Squibb and research grants from Roche and Biogen. CA declared receipt of honoraria or consultation fees: provision of services as consultant/advisor for Event Planet, EXCEMED and IBSA. Receipt of research grants from Merck. Participation in a speaker's bureau for Event Planet, EXCEMED, IBSA, Organon and Merck.

References

1. Ysrraelit MC, Correale J. Impact of sex hormones on immune function and multiple sclerosis development. *Immunology*. (2019) 156:9–22. doi: 10.1111/imm.13004

2. Ghezzi A, Zaffaroni M. Female-specific issues in multiple sclerosis. *Expert Rev Neurother*. (2008) 8:969–77. doi: 10.1586/14737175.8.6.969

3. Wang G, Marrie RA, Fox RJ, Tyry T, Cofield SS, Cutter GR, et al. Treatment satisfaction and bothersome bladder, bowel, sexual symptoms in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2018) 20:16–21. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2017.12.006

4. Nguyen AL, Havrdova EK, Horakova D, Izquierdo G, Kalincik T, Van der Walt A, et al. Incidence of pregnancy and disease-modifying therapy exposure trends in women with multiple sclerosis: a contemporary cohort study. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2019) 28:235–43. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2019.01.003

5. Confavreux C, Hutchinson M, Hours MM, Cortinovis-Tourniaire P, Moreau T. Rate of pregnancy-related relapse in multiple sclerosis. Pregnancy in multiple sclerosis group. *N Engl J Med.* (1998) 339:285–91. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199807303390501

6. Krysko KM, Graves JS, Dobson R, Altintas A, Amato MP, Bernard J, et al. Sex effects across the lifespan in women with multiple sclerosis. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord*. (2020) 13:3616. doi: 10.1177/1756286420936166

7. Roux T, Courtillot C, Debs R, Touraine P, Lubetzki C, Papeix C. Fecundity in women with multiple sclerosis: an observational mono-centric study. *J Neurol.* (2015) 262:957–60. doi: 10.1007/s00415-015-7663-1

8. Houtchens M, Kaplan T. Reproductive issues in MS. Semin Neurol. (2017) 37:632-42. doi: 10.1055/s-0037-1608925

9. Bonavita S, Lavorgna L, Worton H, Russell S, Jack D. Family planning decision making in people with multiple sclerosis. *Front Neurol.* (2021) 12:620772. doi: 10.3389/ fneur.2021.620772

10. Thöne J, Kleiter I, Stahl A, Ellrichmann G, Gold R, Hellwig K. Relevance of endoglin, IL-1 α , IL-1 β and anti-ovarian antibodies in females with multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci.* (2016) 362:240–3. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2016.01.057

11. Thöne J, Kollar S, Nousome D, Ellrichmann G, Kleiter I, Gold R, et al. Serum anti-Müllerian hormone levels in reproductive-age women with relapsing–remitting multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2015) 21:41–7. doi: 10.1177/1352458514540843

12. Sepúlveda M, Ros C, Martínez-Lapiscina EH, Solà-Valls N, Hervàs M, Llufriu S, et al. Pituitary-ovary axis and ovarian reserve in fertile women with multiple sclerosis: a pilot study. *Mult Scler.* (2016) 22:564–8. doi: 10.1177/1352458515602339

13. Sadeghpour N, Mirmosayyeb O, Bjørklund G, Shaygannejad V. Is fertility affected in women of childbearing age with multiple sclerosis or Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum disorder? *J Mol Neurosci.* (2020) 70:1829–35. doi: 10.1007/s12031-020-01576-x

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Author disclaimer

The views and opinions described in this publication do not necessarily reflect those of the grantor.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fneur.2023.1255496/ full#supplementary-material

14. Cil AP, Leventoğlu A, Sönmezer M, Soylukoç R, Oktay K. Assessment of ovarian reserve and Doppler characteristics in patients with multiple sclerosis using immunomodulating drugs. *J Turk Ger Gynecol Assoc.* (2009) 10:213–9.

15. Kirshenbaum M, Orvieto R. Premature ovarian insufficiency (POI) and autoimmunity-an update appraisal. J Assist Reprod Genet. (2019) 36:2207–15. doi: 10.1007/s10815-019-01572-0

16. Jølving LR, Larsen MD, Fedder J, Nørgård BM. Live birth in women with multiple sclerosis receiving assisted reproduction. *Reprod Biomed Online*. (2020) 40:711–8. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2020.01.013

17. Eisenberg ML, Thoma ME, Li S, McLain AC. Trends in time-to-pregnancy in the USA: 2002 to 2017. *Hum Reprod*. (2021) 36:2331–8. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deab107

18. Smarr MM, Sapra KJ, Gemmill A, Kahn LG, Wise LA, Lynch CD, et al. Is human fecundity changing? A discussion of research and data gaps precluding us from having an answer. *Hum Reprod.* (2017) 32:499–504. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew361

19. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists Committee on Gynecologic Practice and Practice Committee. Female age-related fertility decline. Committee opinion no. 589. *Fertil Steril.* (2014) 101:633–4. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.12.032

20. Alviggi C, Humaidan P, Howles CM, Tredway D, Hillier SG. Biological versus chronological ovarian age: implications for assisted reproductive technology. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol.* (2009) 7:101. doi: 10.1186/1477-7827-7-101

21. Esteves SC, Alviggi C, Humaidan P, Fischer R, Andersen CY, Conforti A, et al. The POSEIDON criteria and its measure of success through the eyes of clinicians and embryologists. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. (2019) 10:814. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2019.00814

22. Haahr T, Dosouto C, Alviggi C, Esteves SC, Humaidan P. Management strategies for POSEIDON groups 3 and 4. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. (2019) 10:614. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00614

23. Korsholm AS, Petersen KB, Bentzen JG, Hilsted LM, Andersen AN, Hvidman HW. Investigation of anti-Müllerian hormone concentrations in relation to natural conception rate and time to pregnancy. *Reprod Biomed Online*. (2018) 36:568–75. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2018.01.013

24. Frick AP. Advanced maternal age and adverse pregnancy outcomes. *Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol.* (2021) 70:92–100. doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2020.07.005

25. Di Girolamo R, D'Antonio F. Infertility and adverse pregnancy outcome: from pathophysiology to clinical relevance. *Minerva Obstet Gynecol.* (2021) 74:1–2. doi: 10.23736/S2724-606X.21.05021-1

26. Cavalla P, Rovei V, Masera S, Vercellino M, Massobrio M, Mutani R, et al. Fertility in patients with multiple sclerosis: current knowledge and future perspectives. *Neurol Sci.* (2006) 27:231–9. doi: 10.1007/s10072-006-0676-x

27. Houtchens MK, Edwards NC, Hayward B, Mahony MC, Phillips AL. Live birth rates, infertility diagnosis, and infertility treatment in women with and without multiple sclerosis: data from an administrative claims database. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2020) 46:102541. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2020.102541

28. Jalkanen A, Alanen A, Airas L. Finnish multiple sclerosis and pregnancy study group. Pregnancy outcome in women with multiple sclerosis: results from a prospective nationwide study in Finland. *Mult Scler.* (2010) 16:950–5. doi: 10.1177/1352458510372629

29. McCombe PA, Stenager E. Female infertility and multiple sclerosis: is this an issue? *Mult Scler.* (2015) 21:5–7. doi: 10.1177/1352458514549406

30. Finkelsztejn A, Brooks JB, Paschoal FM, Fragoso YD. What can we really tell women with multiple sclerosis regarding pregnancy? A systematic review and metaanalysis of the literature. *BJOG*. (2011) 118:790–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2011.02931.x

31. Lavorgna L, Esposito S, Lanzillo R, Sparaco M, Ippolito D, Cocco E, et al. Factors interfering with parenthood decision-making in an Italian sample of people with multiple sclerosis: an exploratory online survey. *J Neurol.* (2019) 266:707–16. doi: 10.1007/s00415-019-09193-4

32. Ferraro D, Simone AM, Adani G, Vitetta F, Mauri C, Strumia S, et al. Definitive childlessness in women with multiple sclerosis: a multicenter study. *Neurol Sci.* (2017) 38:1453–9. doi: 10.1007/s10072-017-2999-1

33. Graves JS, Henry RG, Cree BAC, Lambert-Messerlian G, Greenblatt RM, Waubant E, et al. Ovarian aging is associated with gray matter volume and disability in women with MS. *Neurology*. (2018) 90:e254–60. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000004843

34. Carbone L, Di Girolamo R, Conforti A, Iorio GG, Simeon V, Landi D, et al. Ovarian reserve in patients with multiple sclerosis: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet*. (2023) 2023:14757. doi: 10.1002/ijgo.14757

35. Katz SI. Classification, diagnosis, and differential diagnosis of multiple sclerosis. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2015) 28:193–205. doi: 10.1097/WCO.000000000000206

36. Mathews TJ, Hamilton BE. Mean age of mothers is on the rise: United States, 2000-2014. NCHS Data Brief. (2016) 232:1-8.

37. Wundes A, Pebdani RN, Amtmann D. What do healthcare providers advise women with multiple sclerosis regarding pregnancy? *Mult Scler Int*. (2014) 2014:819216. doi: 10.1155/2014/819216

38. Sadovnick D, Criscuoli M, Yee I, Carruthers R, Schabas A, Smyth P. The road to conception for women with multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin.* (2021) 7:2313. doi: 10.1177/20552173211032313

39. Bove R, Alwan S, Friedman JM, Hellwig K, Houtchens M, Koren G, et al. Management of multiple sclerosis during pregnancy and the reproductive years: a systematic review. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2014) 124:1157–68. doi: 10.1097/ AOG.000000000000541

40. Vukusic S, Marignier R. Multiple sclerosis and pregnancy in the 'treatment era'. Nat Rev Neurol. (2015) 11:280–9. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2015.53

41. Coyle PK, Oh J, Magyari M, Oreja-Guevara C, Houtchens M. Management strategies for female patients of reproductive potential with multiple sclerosis: an evidence-based review. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2019) 32:54–63. doi: 10.1016/j. msard.2019.04.003

42. Canibaño B, Deleu D, Mesraoua B, Melikyan G, Ibrahim F, Hanssens Y. Pregnancyrelated issues in women with multiple sclerosis: an evidence-based review with practical recommendations. J Drug Assess. (2020) 9:20–36. doi: 10.1080/21556660.2020.1721507

43. Fragoso YD, Adoni T, Brooks JBB, Finkelsztejn A, da Gama PD, Grzesiuk AK, et al. Practical evidence-based recommendations for patients with multiple sclerosis who want to have children. *Neurol Ther.* (2018) 7:207–32. doi: 10.1007/s40120-018-0110-3

44. Krysko KM, Bove R, Dobson R, Jokubaitis V, Hellwig K. Treatment of women with multiple sclerosis planning pregnancy. *Curr Treat Options Neurol.* (2021) 23:11. doi: 10.1007/s11940-021-00666-4

45. Amato MP, Portaccio E. Fertility, pregnancy and childbirth in patients with multiple sclerosis: impact of disease-modifying drugs. *CNS Drugs*. (2015) 29:207–20. doi: 10.1007/s40263-015-0238-y

46. World Health Organization. *International classification of diseases*, 11th revision (*ICD-11*). Geneva: World Health Organization (2018).

47. Alroughani R, Alowayesh MS, Ahmed SF, Behbehani R, Al-Hashel J. Relapse occurrence in women with multiple sclerosis during pregnancy in the new treatment era. *Neurology*. (2018) 90:e840–6. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000005065

48. Hughes SE, Spelman T, Gray OM, Boz C, Trojano M, Lugaresi A, et al. Predictors and dynamics of postpartum relapses in women with multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2014) 20:739–46. doi: 10.1177/1352458513507816

49. Bsteh G, Algrang L, Hegen H, Auer M, Wurth S, di Pauli F, et al. Pregnancy and multiple sclerosis in the DMT era: a cohort study in Western Austria. *Mult Scler.* (2020) 26:69–78. doi: 10.1177/1352458518816614

50. Montalban X, Gold R, Thompson AJ, Otero-Romero S, Amato MP, Chandraratna D, et al. ECTRIMS/EAN guideline on the pharmacological treatment of people with multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*. (2018) 24:96–120. doi: 10.1177/1352458517751049

51. European Medicines Agency. *Rebif - summary of product characteristics*. (2022). Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/rebif-epar-product-information_en.pdf (Accessed September, 25, 2022).

52. European Medicines Agency. *Plegridy - summary of product characteristics*. (2022). Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/plegridy-epar-product-information_en.pdf (Accessed September 25, 2022).

53. European Medicines Agency. *Betaferon - summary of product characteristics*. (2022). Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/ betaferon-epar-product-information_en.pdf (Accessed September 25, 2022).

54. European Medicines Agency. *Extavia summary of product characteristics*. (2022). Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/extavia-epar-product-information_it.pdf (Accessed September 25, 2022).

55. European Medicines Agency. *Avonex - summary of product characteristics*. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/avonex-epar-product-information_it.pdf (Accessed September 25, 2022).

56. Highlights of Prescribing Information: Copaxone. Available at: https://www. copaxone.com/globalassets/copaxone/prescribing-information.pdf (Accessed September 25, 2022).

57. Amato MP, Portaccio E, Ghezzi A, Hakiki B, Zipoli V, Martinelli V, et al. Pregnancy and fetal outcomes after interferon- β exposure in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*. (2010) 75:1794–802. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181fd62bb

58. Patti F, Cavallaro T, Fermo S, Nicoletti A, Cimino V, Vecchio R, et al. Is in utero early-exposure to interferon beta a risk factor for pregnancy outcomes in multiple sclerosis? *J Neurol.* (2008) 255:1250–3. doi: 10.1007/s00415-008-0909-4

59. Thiel S, Langer-Gould A, Rockhoff M, Haghikia A, Queisser-Wahrendorf A, Gold R, et al. Interferon-beta exposure during first trimester is safe in women with multiple sclerosis-a prospective cohort study from the German multiple sclerosis and pregnancy registry. *Mult Scler.* (2016) 22:801–9. doi: 10.1177/1352458516634872

60. Hellwig K, Duarte Caron F, Wicklein EM, Bhatti A, Adamo A. Pregnancy outcomes from the global pharmacovigilance database on interferon beta-1b exposure. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord.* (2020) 13:1756286420910310. doi: 10.1177/1756286420910310

61. Burkill S, Vattulainen P, Geissbuehler Y, Sabido Espin M, Popescu C, Suzart-Woischnik K, et al. The association between exposure to interferon-beta during pregnancy and birth measurements in offspring of women with multiple sclerosis. *PLoS One.* (2019) 14:e0227120. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0227120

62. Giannini M, Portaccio E, Ghezzi A, Hakiki B, Pastò L, Razzolini L, et al. Pregnancy and fetal outcomes after Glatiramer acetate exposure in patients with multiple sclerosis: a prospective observational multicentric study. *BMC Neurol.* (2012) 12:124. doi: 10.1186/1471-2377-12-124

63. Herbstritt S, Langer-Gould A, Rockhoff M, Haghikia A, Queisser-Wahrendorf A, Gold R, et al. Glatiramer acetate during early pregnancy: a prospective cohort study. *Mult Scler.* (2016) 22:810–6. doi: 10.1177/1352458515623366

64. Fragoso YD, Finkelsztejn A, Kaimen-Maciel DR, Grzesiuk AK, Gallina AS, Lopes J, et al. Long-term use of glatiramer acetate by 11 pregnant women with multiple sclerosis: a retrospective, multicentre case series. *CNS Drugs*. (2010) 24:969–76. doi: 10.2165/11538960-000000000-00000

65. Sabidó Espin M, Suzart-Woischnik K, Grimes N, Prach LM, Zhao L, Hakkarainen KM. Inform - interferon Beta exposure in the 2nd and 3rd trimester of pregnancy: a register-based drug utilisation study in Finland and Sweden. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2022) 59:103572. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2022.103572

66. Almouzain L, Stevenson F, Chard D, Rahman NA, Hamilton F. Switching treatments in clinically stable relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis patients planning for pregnancy. *Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin.* (2021) 7:1571. doi: 10.1177/20552173211001571

67. Villaverde-González R, Candeliere-Merlicco A, Alonso-Frías MA, Aparicio Castro E, Carrillo Alcaraz A, Mallada Frechín J, et al. Discontinuation of disease-modifying treatments in multiple sclerosis to plan a pregnancy: a retrospective registry study. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2020) 46:102518. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2020.102518

68. Portaccio E, Moiola L, Martinelli V, Annovazzi P, Ghezzi A, Zaffaroni M, et al. Pregnancy decision-making in women with multiple sclerosis treated with natalizumab. *Neurology.* (2018) 90:e832–9. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000005068

69. Hellwig K, Tokic M, Thiel S, Esters N, Spicher C, Timmesfeld N, et al. Multiple sclerosis disease activity and disability following discontinuation of Natalizumab for pregnancy. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2022) 5:e2144750. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.44750

70. Bianco A, Lucchini M, Totaro R, Fantozzi R, de Luca G, di Lemme S, et al. Disease reactivation after Fingolimod discontinuation in pregnant multiple sclerosis patients. *Neurotherapeutics*. (2021) 18:2598–607. doi: 10.1007/s13311-021-01106-6

71. Novi G, Ghezzi A, Pizzorno M, Lapucci C, Bandini F, Annovazzi P, et al. Dramatic rebounds of MS during pregnancy following fingolimod withdrawal. *Neurol Neuroinflamm.* (2017) 4:e377. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000377

72. Lamaita R, Melo C, Laranjeira C, Barquero P, Gomes J, Silva-Filho A. Multiple sclerosis in pregnancy and its role in female fertility: a systematic review. *JBRA Assist Reprod.* (2021) 25:493–9. doi: 10.5935/1518-0557.20210022

73. Krysko KM, Dobson R, Alroughani R, Amato MP, Bove R, Ciplea AI, et al. Family planning considerations in people with multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2023) 22:350–66. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(22)00426-4

74. Landi D, Bovis F, Grimaldi A, Annovazzi PO, Bertolotto A, Bianchi A, et al. Exposure to natalizumab throughout pregnancy: effectiveness and safety in an Italian

cohort of women with multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2022) 2022:329657. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2022-329657

75. Roos I, Leray E, Frascoli F, Casey R, Brown JWL, Horakova D, et al. Delay from treatment start to full effect of immunotherapies for multiple sclerosis. *Brain.* (2020) 143:2742–56. doi: 10.1093/brain/awaa231

76. Houtchens MK, Edwards NC, Schneider G, Stern K, Phillips AL. Pregnancy rates and outcomes in women with and without MS in the United States. *Neurology*. (2018) 91:e1559–69. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000006384

77. European Medicines Agency. *Aubagio - summary of product characteristics*. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/aubagio-epar-product-information_en.pdf (Accessed September 25, 2022).

78. European Medicines Agency. Mavenclad - summary of product characteristics [internet], https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/mavenclad-epar-product-information_en.pdf (Accessed September 25, 2022).

79. Baker D, Pryce G, Herrod SS, Schmierer K. Potential mechanisms of action related to the efficacy and safety of cladribine. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2019) 30:176–86. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2019.02.018

80. Hellwig K, Beste C, Brune N, Haghikia A, Müller T, Schimrigk S, et al. Increased MS relapse rate during assisted reproduction technique. *J Neurol.* (2008) 255:592–3. doi: 10.1007/s00415-008-0607-2

81. Hellwig K, Schimrigk S, Beste C, Müller T, Gold R. Increase in relapse rate during assisted reproduction technique in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Eur Neurol.* (2009) 61:65–8. doi: 10.1159/000177937

82. Laplaud DA, Leray E, Barrière P, Wiertlewski S, Moreau T. Increase in multiple sclerosis relapse rate following in vitro fertilization. *Neurology*. (2006) 66:1280–1. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000208521.10685.a6

83. Laplaud DA, Lefrère F, Leray E, Barrière P, Wiertlewski S. Augmentation du risque de poussée de sclérose en plaques après stimulation ovarienne pour fécondation in vitro [Increased risk of relapse in multiple sclerosis patients after ovarian stimulation for in vitro fertilization]. *Gynecol Obstet Fertil.* (2007) 35:1047–50. doi: 10.1016/j. gyobfe.2007.07.033

84. Michel L, Foucher Y, Vukusic S, Confavreux C, de Sèze J, Brassat D, et al. Club francophone de la Sclérose En plaques (CFSEP). Increased risk of multiple sclerosis relapse after in vitro fertilisation. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2012) 83:796–802. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2012-302235

85. Correale J, Farez MF, Ysrraelit MC. Increase in multiple sclerosis activity after assisted reproduction technology. Ann Neurol. (2012) 72:682–94. doi: 10.1002/ana.23745

86. Ladwig A, Dunkl V, Richter N, Schroeter M. Two cases of multiple sclerosis manifesting after in vitro fertilization procedures. *J Neurol.* (2016) 263:603–5. doi: 10.1007/s00415-016-8041-3

87. Torkildsen Ø, Holmøy T, Myhr KM. Severe multiple sclerosis reactivation after gonadotropin treatment. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2018) 22:38–40. doi: 10.1016/j. msard.2018.02.031

88. Bove R, Rankin K, Lin C, Zhao C, Correale J, Hellwig K, et al. Effect of assisted reproductive technology on multiple sclerosis relapses: case series and meta-analysis. *Mult Scler.* (2020) 26:1410–9. doi: 10.1177/1352458519865118

89. Shimizu Y, Ikeguchi R, Kitagawa K. Pregnancy outcome, changes in lymphocyte subsets in peripheral blood, and plasma osteopontin in Japanese patients with multiple sclerosis after assisted reproductive technology (P4.369). *Neurology*. (2018) 90:369.

90. Mainguy M, Tillaut H, Degremont A, le Page E, Mainguy C, Duros S, et al. Assessing the risk of relapse requiring corticosteroids after in vitro fertilization in women with multiple sclerosis. *Neurology.* (2022) 99:e1916–25. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000201027

91. Graham EL, Bakkensen JB, Anderson A, Lancki N, Davidson A, Perez Giraldo G, et al. Inflammatory activity after diverse fertility treatments: a multicenter analysis in the modern multiple sclerosis treatment era. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2023) 10:e200106. doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000000200106

92. Stanhiser J, Steiner AZ. Psychosocial aspects of fertility and assisted reproductive technology. Obstet Gynecol Clin N Am. (2018) 45:563–74. doi: 10.1016/j.ogc.2018.04.006

93. Gameiro S, Boivin J, Dancet E, de Klerk C, Emery M, Lewis-Jones C, et al. ESHRE guideline: routine psychosocial care in infertility and medically assisted reproduction-a guide for fertility staff. *Hum Reprod.* (2015) 30:2476–85. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev177

94. Verhaak CM, Lintsen AM, Evers AW, Braat DD. Who is at risk of emotional problems and how do you know? Screening of women going for IVF treatment. *Hum Reprod.* (2010) 25:1234–40. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deq054

95. Van Der Walt A, Nguyen AL, Jokubaitis V. Family planning, antenatal and post partum care in multiple sclerosis: a review and update. *Med J Aust.* (2019) 211:230–6. doi: 10.5694/mja2.50113

96. Massarotti C, Inglese M, Anserini P. Fertility in multiple sclerosis patients: still many unanswered questions. *Reprod Biomed Online*. (2020) 41:567. doi: 10.1016/j. rbmo.2020.06.003

97. Esteves SC, Roque M, Bedoschi GM, Conforti A, Humaidan P, Alviggi C. Defining low prognosis patients undergoing assisted reproductive technology: POSEIDON criteria-the why. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. (2018) 9:461. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2018.00461 98. Conforti A, Esteves SC, Cimadomo D, Vaiarelli A, di Rella F, Ubaldi FM, et al. Management of Women with an unexpected low ovarian response to gonadotropin. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne).* (2019) 10:387. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00387

99. Esteves SC, Conforti A, Sunkara SK, Carbone L, Picarelli S, Vaiarelli A, et al. Improving reporting of clinical studies using the POSEIDON criteria: POSORT guidelines. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. (2021) 12:587051. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.587051

100. Esteves SC, Yarali H, Ubaldi FM, Carvalho JF, Bento FC, Vaiarelli A, et al. Validation of ART calculator for predicting the number of metaphase II oocytes required for obtaining at least one Euploid blastocyst for transfer in couples undergoing in vitro fertilization/intracytoplasmic sperm injection. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne).* (2020) 10:917. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00917

101. Esteves SC, Carvalho JF, Martinhago CD, Melo AA, Bento FC, Humaidan P, et al. POSEIDON (patient-oriented strategies encompassing IndividualizeD oocyte number) group. Estimation of age-dependent decrease in blastocyst euploidy by next generation sequencing: development of a novel prediction model. *Panminerva Med.* (2019) 61:3–10. doi: 10.23736/S0031-0808.18.03507-3

102. Casella C, Carbone L, Conforti A, Marrone V, Cioffi G, Buonfantino C, et al. Preimplantation genetic testing: comparative analysis of jurisprudential regulations. *Ital J Gynaecol Obstet*. (2020) 32:237–47. doi: 10.36129/jog.32.04.03

103. Vaiarelli A, Cimadomo D, Argento C, Ubaldi N, Trabucco E, Drakopoulos P, et al. Double stimulation in the same ovarian cycle (DuoStim) is an intriguing strategy to improve oocyte yield and the number of competent embryos in a short timeframe. *Minerva Ginecol.* (2019) 71:372–6. doi: 10.23736/S0026-4784.19.04390-9

104. Vaiarelli A, Cimadomo D, Gennarelli G, Guido M, Alviggi C, Conforti A, et al. Second stimulation in the same ovarian cycle: an option to fully-personalize the treatment in poor prognosis patients undergoing PGT-A. J Assist Reprod Genet. (2022) 39:663–73. doi: 10.1007/s10815-022-02409-z

105. Esteves SC, Roque M, Sunkara SK, Conforti A, Ubaldi FM, Humaidan P, et al. Oocyte quantity, as well as oocyte quality, plays a significant role for the cumulative live birth rate of a POSEIDON criteria patient. *Hum Reprod.* (2019) 34:2555–7. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dez181

106. Vaiarelli A, Cimadomo D, Petriglia C, Conforti A, Alviggi C, Ubaldi N, et al. DuoStim - a reproducible strategy to obtain more oocytes and competent embryos in a short time-frame aimed at fertility preservation and IVF purposes. A systematic review. *Ups J Med Sci.* (2020) 125:121–30. doi: 10.1080/03009734.2020.1734694

107. Landi D, Ragonese P, Prosperini L, Nociti V, Haggiag S, Cortese A, et al. Abortion induces reactivation of inflammation in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2018) 89:1272–8. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2018-318468

108. European Medicines Agency. *Tysabri - summary of product characteristics*. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/tysabriepar-product-information_en.pdf (Accessed September, 25, 2022).

109. Landi D, Marfia GA. Exposure to natalizumab during pregnancy and lactation is safe - yes. *Mult Scler.* (2020) 26:887–9. doi: 10.1177/1352458520915814

110. Triplett JD, Vijayan S, Rajanayagam S, Tuch P, Kermode AG. Pregnancy outcomes amongst multiple sclerosis females with third trimester natalizumab use. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2020) 40:101961. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2020.101961

111. Peng A, Qiu X, Zhang L, Zhu X, He S, Lai W, et al. Natalizumab exposure during pregnancy in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. *J Neurol Sci.* (2019) 396:202–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2018.11.026

112. Harada M, Osuga Y. Fertility preservation for female cancer patients. *Int J Clin Oncol.* (2019) 24:28–33. doi: 10.1007/s10147-018-1252-0

113. Cariati F, Carbone L, Iorio GG, Conforti A, Capasso A, Bagnulo F, et al. Cryopreservation of ovarian tissue: the biggest challenge of oncofertility. Minerva. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2022) 75:371–8. doi: 10.23736/S2724-606X.22.05066-7. Epub ahead of print

114. Spears N, Lopes F, Stefansdottir A, Rossi V, de Felici M, Anderson RA, et al. Ovarian damage from chemotherapy and current approaches to its protection. *Hum Reprod Update*. (2019) 25:673–93. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmz027

115. Cocco E, Sardu C, Gallo P, Capra R, Amato MP, Trojano M, et al. Frequency and risk factors of mitoxantrone-induced amenorrhea in multiple sclerosis: the FEMIMS study. *Mult Scler.* (2008) 14:1225–33. doi: 10.1177/1352458508094882

116. Massarotti C, Sbragia E, Boffa G, Vercelli C, Zimatore GB, Cottone S, et al. Menstrual cycle resumption and female fertility after autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2021) 27:2103–7. doi: 10.1177/13524585211000616

117. Zafeiri L, Åkerfeldt T, Tolf A, Carlson K, Skalkidou A, Burman J. Anti-Müllerian hormone and pregnancy after autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for multiple sclerosis. *PLoS One.* (2023) 18:e0284288. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0284288

118. Colmorn LB, Kristensen SG, Larsen EC, Macklon KT. Cryopreservation of ovarian tissue as fertility preservation in young women with multiple sclerosis before stem cell transplantation. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2023) 74:104716. doi: 10.1016/j. msard.2023.104716

119. Gulekli B, Kovali Sezer M, Gungor SS, Timur HT, Okyay RE, Idiman E. Safe and successful use of oocyte in-vitro maturation in two infertile women with multiple sclerosis. *Reprod Biomed Online*. (2020) 41:154–6. doi: 10.1016/j. rbmo.2020.02.009

120. Dobson R, Dassan P, Roberts M, Giovannoni G, Nelson-Piercy C, Brex PA. UK consensus on pregnancy in multiple sclerosis: 'Association of British Neurologists' guidelines. *Pract Neurol.* (2019) 19:106–14. doi: 10.1136/practneurol-2018-002060

121. Liguori NF, Alonso R, Pinheiro AA, Balbuena ME, Barboza A, Bestoso S, et al. Consensus recommendations for family planning and pregnancy in multiple sclerosis in Argentina. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2020) 43:102147. doi: 10.1016/j. msard.2020.102147

122. Batista S, Da Silva AM, Sá MJ, Sousa L, De Sá J, Pedrosa R, et al. Recommendations about multiple sclerosis management during pregnancy, partum and post-partum: consensus position of the portuguese multiple sclerosis study group. *Acta Medica Port.* (2020) 33:611–21. doi: 10.20344/amp.12777

123. Oreja-Guevara C, Rabanal A, Rodríguez CH, Benito YA, Bilbao MM, Gónzalez-Suarez I, et al. Assisted reproductive techniques in multiple sclerosis: recommendations from an expert panel. *Neurol Ther.* (2023) 12:427–39. doi: 10.1007/s40120-023-00439-y

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Alessandra Lugaresi, University of Bologna, Italy

REVIEWED BY Nils Muhlert, The University of Manchester, United Kingdom Giacomo Boffa, University of Genoa, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Fuqing Zhou Mayfy02301@ncu.edu.cn Yuxin Li Vuxin Li

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 03 May 2023 ACCEPTED 30 August 2023 PUBLISHED 10 October 2023

CITATION

Wang Y, Duan Y, Wu Y, Zhuo Z, Zhang N, Han X, Zeng C, Chen X, Huang M, Zhu Y, Li H, Cao G, Sun J, Li Y, Zhou F and Li Y (2023) Male and female are not the same: a multicenter study of static and dynamic functional connectivity in relapse-remitting multiple sclerosis in China. *Front. Immunol.* 14:1216310. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1216310

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Wang, Duan, Wu, Zhuo, Zhang, Han, Zeng, Chen, Huang, Zhu, Li, Cao, Sun, Li, Zhou and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Male and female are not the same: a multicenter study of static and dynamic functional connectivity in relapse-remitting multiple sclerosis in China

Yao Wang^{1,2}, Yunyun Duan³, Yuling Wu^{1,2}, Zhizheng Zhuo³, Ningnannan Zhang⁴, Xuemei Han⁵, Chun Zeng⁶, Xiaoya Chen⁶, Muhua Huang^{1,2}, Yanyan Zhu^{1,2}, Haiqing Li⁷, Guanmei Cao³, Jie Sun⁴, Yongmei Li⁶, Fuqing Zhou^{1,2*†} and Yuxin Li^{7*†}

¹Department of Radiology, The First Affiliated Hospital, Nanchang University, Nanchang, Jiangxi, China, ²Clinical Research Center For Medical Imaging In Jiangxi Province, Nanchang, Jiangxi, China, ³Department of Radiology, Beijing Tiantan Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China, ⁴Department of Radiology and Tianjin Key Laboratory of Functional Imaging, Tianjin Medical University General Hospital, Tianjin, China, ⁵Department of Neurology, China-Japan Union Hospital of Jilin University, Changchun, Jilin, China, ⁶Department of Radiology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China, ⁷Department of Radiology, Huashan Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai, China

Background: Sex-related effects have been observed in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis (RRMS), but their impact on functional networks remains unclear.

Objective: To investigate the sex-related differences in connectivity strength and time variability within large-scale networks in RRMS.

Methods: This is a multi-center retrospective study. A total of 208 RRMS patients (135 females; 37.55 ± 11.47 years old) and 228 healthy controls (123 females; 36.94 ± 12.17 years old) were included. All participants underwent clinical and MRI assessments. Independent component analysis was used to extract resting-state networks (RSNs). We assessed the connectivity strength using spatial maps (SMs) and static functional network connectivity (sFNC), evaluated temporal properties and dynamic functional network connectivity (dFNC) patterns of RSNs using dFNC, and investigated their associations with structural damage or clinical variables.

Results: For static connectivity, only male RRMS patients displayed decreased SMs in the attention network and reduced sFNC between the sensorimotor network and visual or frontoparietal networks compared with healthy controls [P<0.05, false discovery rate (FDR) corrected]. For dynamic connectivity, three recurring states were identified for all participants: State 1 (sparse connected state; 42%), State 2 (middle-high connected state; 36%), and State 3 (high connected state; 16%). dFNC analyses suggested that altered temporal properties and dFNC patterns only occurred in females: female patients showed a higher fractional time (P<0.001) and more dwell time in State 1 (P<0.001) with higher transitions (P=0.004) compared with healthy females.

Receiver operating characteristic curves revealed that the fraction time and mean dwell time of State 1 could significantly distinguish female patients from controls (area under the curve: 0.838-0.896). In addition, female patients with RRMS also mainly showed decreased dFNC in all states, particularly within cognitive networks such as the default mode, frontoparietal, and visual networks compared with healthy females (P < 0.05, FDR corrected).

Conclusion: Our results observed alterations in connectivity strength only in male patients and time variability in female patients, suggesting that sex-related effects may play an important role in the functional impairment and reorganization of RRMS.

KEYWORDS

relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis, magnetic resonance imaging, sex, independent component analysis, static functional network connectivity, dynamic functional network connectivity

Introduction

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an immune-mediated demyelinating disease of the central nervous system (CNS) and is a leading non-traumatic cause of disability in young adults (1). Previous studies have reported that female MS patients have a higher incidence of recurrences (2–4), but male patients with MS seem to have more severe physical disability and to progress faster (5, 6). There is also strong evidence indicating that sex plays a crucial role in the recurrence and progression of MS. However, the underlying mechanisms of these sex-related effects within the CNS are complex and have not been fully studied in MS. Structural MRI studies found that male patients with MS seems to have a higher lesion load (7, 8), more severe microstructural damage, such as atrophy of gray matter and/or deep gray matter (9, 10), and demyelination of white matter (11), although these remain understudied.

In addition to structural damage, sex-related functional reorganization also appears to exist in relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS). Recently, static disconnectivity and network efficiency decreases of the default mode network were found in male RRMS patients and related to impaired visuospatial memory (12). However, only increased static functional connectivity was found in male RRMS patients from another study, but this sex-related difference of functional connectivity was no longer significant after regressing gray matter volume (13). These conflicting findings may result from sex-related differences in structural damage and functional reorganization of the CNS in RRMS patients with different sex.

Furthermore, recent research has shown that brain networks are not truly "static" but instead change over time during MRI scans (14). Dynamic functional network connectivity (dFNC) enables quantification of the connectivity strength and its temporal properties of dynamic changes on very short time scales (15). A growing number of studies have found that dFNC can identify recurring dynamic connectivity states in different subtypes and disease stages of MS and decreased dynamic functional connectivity was strong association with cognitive impairment (16, 17), fatigue (18), and disability (19). However, it remains unclear whether sex affects the dynamic connectivity of functional networks in RRMS patients.

As such, our study hypothesized that the connectivity strength and time variability of functional networks in RRMS patients are also affected by sex and related to brain structural damage or physical disability. To test this hypothesis, we retrospectively analyzed 208 patients with RRMS (135 females/73 males) and 228 healthy controls (123 females/105 males) from six centers in China, evaluating the spatial distribution strength, static functional connectivity strength, and dFNC pattern and its temporal properties of the resting-state networks (RSNs) in RRMS. Our study may reveal the pathophysiological mechanism of neurological damage in large-scale functional networks in RRMS patients by different sex.

Materials and methods

Standard protocol approvals and patient consents

All subjects signed written informed consent forms, and this study was approved by the local ethics review board at each center.

Subjects

This retrospective multicenter study recruited 593 subjects (including 263 MS and 331 healthy controls) from six centers in China (from 2009 to 2019). All subjects needed to be right-handed, 18 to 65 years old, undergo MRI scans, and have complete clinical information. All MS patients were diagnosed by the 2017 Revised

10.3389/fimmu.2023.1216310

McDonald Criteria as being in the RRMS category. The Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) was used to evaluate the patients' overall disability. Ultimately, 135 female patients with RRMS (RRMS females) and 73 male patients with RRMS (RRMS males), matched for age, disease duration (DD), and EDSS scores, and 123 healthy females and 105 healthy males were recruited as controls.

MRI acquisition

All participants underwent 3.0 T MRI scans; the required scan sequences included high-resolution 3D T1-weight, T2-weight, fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR), and resting-state functional MRI (rs-fMRI). The specific scan parameters of each center are described in our previous study (20).

Structure measurement

White matter volume (WMV) and gray matter volume (GMV) were segmented and calculated automatically using the tissue probability maps method in the computational anatomy toolbox (CAT12). In addition, the ratio of brain parenchymal tissue (GMV plus WMV) to total intracranial cavity volume was defined as the brain parenchymal fraction (BPF).

As described in our previous study (20), lesion volume (LV) was manually delineated and checked by 5- and 11-year experienced radiologists based on the T2-weighted or FLAIR images, and lesion masks were created. The lesion masks were transformed into the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) space and the lesion volume calculated in the SPM12 platform.

Resting-state fMRI data preprocessing

fMRI data were preprocessed using the Resting-State fMRI Data Analysis Toolkit plus (REST plus v1.25) package based on SPM12 (Statistical Parametric Mapping) and MATLAB v8.40 (The Mathworks, Inc., U.S.). Since the scanning duration to acquire rsfMRI data may be different in each center, fMRI data preprocessing was performed separately for each center (20). The processing pipeline included: 1) discarding the first 10 image volumes; 2) head movement realignment, the mean framewise displacement (FD) of each subject was evaluated to reflect mean head movement; 3) spatial normalization into the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) space and resampling with $3 \times 3 \times 3$ mm³; and 4) spatial smoothing (full width at half maximum (FWHM)=6 mm).

Independent component analysis (ICA)

We used ICA to identify RSNs rather than using seed-based approaches because ICA is data-driven and does not require prior assumptions (e.g., selecting the seed regions). In this study, we implemented spatial ICA to extract temporally coherent and spatially independent sources within the fMRI time course using the Group ICA Of fMRI Toolbox (GIFT v3.0b). The pipeline included: 1) dimensionality reduction with principal component analysis; 2) evaluating components using the Infomax algorithm and ICASSO algorithm (100 iterations); and 3) back reconstruction using the GICA3 algorithm. According to the works of Allen et al. (21) and Yeo et al. (22), 20 independent components (ICs) and seven RSNs were then obtained for further analysis: the default mode network (DMN), the sensorimotor network (SMN), the visual network (VIS), the frontoparietal network (FPN), the dorsal attention network (DAN), the ventral attention network (VAN), and the basal ganglia network (BG). The composite maps and peak coordinates of the ICs and RSNs are shown in Figure 1 and Table S1.

Static functional network analysis

Multivariate analysis of covariance (MANCOVAN) was applied to assess the significant associations between the spatial map and static connectivity strength of the RSNs and group status (RRMS females, RRMS males, healthy females, and healthy males). We used univariate tests and regressed the age, mean FD, and multicenter variables as covariates to evaluate the effects of disease and sex.

Intra-network spatial maps

To assess the intra-network connectivity strength, SMs were thresholded based on the distribution of voxelwise T statistics (i.e., mean \pm 4SD) to evaluate the consistent and highly activated voxels within each network. This procedure requires an individual t-test for each voxel within a spatial map with a false discovery rate (FDR) correction at *P*<0.05.

Inter-network static functional network connectivity

For inter-network sFNC, we selected the default options to perform postprocessing on subject-specific time courses, including detrending using 3dDespike and filtering using a fifth-order Butterworth low-pass filter with a high-frequency cutoff of 0.15 Hz. Pearson's correlations were computed for each pair of components and sFNC matrices were obtained for all subjects.

Dynamic functional network analysis

The dFNC was carried out in the Temporal dFNC toolbox in GIFT. A sliding window approach was used with a window width of 22 repetition times (TRs) (44s), a step of 1 TR (2s), and a Gaussian convolution of 3 TRs (6s). Furthermore, using L1 regularized inverse covariance matrix (repeated 10 times) was used to disperse the dFNC matrix, and Fisher's Z-transformation was applied. Then, K-means clustering with Manhattan distance (150 iterations and five repetitions) was performed to distinguish



FIGURE 1

Composite maps of 20 independent components and seven RSNs. The number and color of each component correspond to the color bars. DMN, default mode network; SMN, sensorimotor network; VIS, visual network; FPN, frontoparietal network; DAN: dorsal attention network; VAN, ventral attention network; BG, basal ganglia network.

recurring dFNC patterns within different windows for each subject. According to the elbow criterion, the optimal number of clusters was three or four (k= 3 or 4). The dFNC temporal properties included: 1) fraction time (the total time percentage of one subject staying in a state); 2) mean dwell time (the time each subject spent in a specific state); and 3) transition number (the total number of transitions from one state to another).

Control for head movement

The following approaches were to reduce the potential effects of head motion on sFNC and dFNC: 1) subjects with translation > 3 mm or rotation > 3° were excluded; 2) ICA was used to identify and remove motion-related components from the fMRI data (23); 3) rsfMRI time courses were detrended using 3dDespike and filtered using a fifth-order Butterworth low-pass filter with a highfrequency cutoff of 0.15 Hz; 4) the mean FD was regressed in the ANOVA tests of sFNC and dFNC between groups; and 5) six motion-realignment parameters were regressed on the sFNC and dFNC matrix for each subject.

Statistical analysis

Figure 2 shows the flow chart of the Methods. The demographic data, lesion volume, and other clinical variables were analyzed in SPSS 23.0. We applied Kolmogorov–Smirnov tests to evaluate the

normality of the clinical data and ANOVA or Mann-Whitney U tests for differences between groups. One-way ANOVA and post hoc tests (P<0.05) with FDR correction were performed to evaluate significant associations between the SM, sFNC, and dFNC of the RSNs and group status: 1) healthy female vs. healthy male; 2) RRMS female vs. healthy female; 3) RRMS male vs. healthy male; and 4) RRMS female vs. RRMS male. Moreover, we used the Mann-Whitney U test (P<0.01) to compare the temporal features of the dFNC between groups. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves analysis assessed the performance of static and dynamic indicators in distinguishing RRMS from healthy controls. Spearman or partial correlation analysis was applied to explore the relationships between altered functional or structural measures and clinical variables. The ANOVA and correlation analysis were applied with age, mean FD, and multi-center variables as covariates or control variables. Moreover, to investigate the effect of gray matter volume on functional networks, we also supplemented the ANOVA analysis with gray matter volume as a confounding factor between groups.

Reproducibility

The choice of window width for a sliding window method is a matter of debate. Previous studies have suggested that a window width between 30 s and 60 s could extract physiological signals (24, 25) and was not affected by noise. Thus, we also added the results of a window width of 30 TRs and the number of clusters of three or four (k=3 or 4).



score, Extended Disability Status Scale score

Data availability

Correspondence and requests for the data can be addressed to our corresponding author, Fuqing Zhou.

Results

Table 1 shows all demographic data and group statistics. Lower GMV, WMV, and BPF were shown in RRMS patients compared with controls ($P \le 0.002$). Male RRMS patients showed higher GMV and WMV than female patients (P<0.001), but there was no statistically significant difference in BPF between female and male RRMS patients (P=0.423). Among the patients with RRMS, male patients had a higher lesion load (P=0.041) than female patients, even though the recruited RRMS patients were matched between sexes for age, disease course, and clinical disability. There was no significant difference in age or mean FD between the RRMS groups and healthy controls (P: 0.101-0.730).

Static functional network analysis

Intra-network SMs and inter-network sFNC

In healthy controls, healthy males showed lower SMs within the DMN (bilateral precuneus) and lower sFNC within the SMN and SMN-VIS compared with healthy females (P<0.05, FDR corrected) (Figures 3A1, A2). However, this sex difference disappeared between female and male patients with RRMS. Compared with healthy controls, only RRMS males exhibited decreased SMs within DAN, increased sFNC within PFN, and reduced sFNC of SMN-PFN, SMN-VIS, and SMN-VAN (P<0.05, FDR corrected) (Figures 3B1, B2). There was no significance in RRMS females vs. healthy females and RRMS females vs. RRMS males.

Dynamic functional network analysis dFNC clustering states

First, three recurrent dFNC states were identified after cluster analysis: State 1 (sparse connected state; 49%), State 2 (middle connected state; 36%), and State 3 (high connected state; 15%) (Figure 4A). State 1 was characterized by sparse connectivity both

TABLE 1 Demographic data and clinical characteristics.

	RRMS (n=208)		Healthy controls	<i>P</i> value				
	Female (n=135)	Male (n=73)	Female (n=123)	Male (n=105)	P1	P2	P3	P4
Age (years) ^a	37.55 (11.47)	35.42 (10.98)	36.94 (12.17)	38.17 (10.87)	0.405	0.682	0.101	0.192
DD (months) ^b	17 (5-48)	24 (5-72)	-	-	-	-	-	0.492
Mean FD (mm) ^a	0.068 (0.107)	0.078 (0.117)	0.069 (0.105)	0.075 (0.119)	0.225	0.730	0.475	0.113
EDSS scores ^b	2 (1-3.5)	2.5 (1.5-3.5)	-	-	-	-	-	0.309
LV (ml) ^b	5.94 (1.43-16.70)	8.16 (3.36-19.70)	-	-	-	-	-	0.041
GMV (ml) ^a	604.20 (58.58)	656.31 (61.14)	653.84 (57.84)	687.42 (64.19)	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.002	< 0.001
WMV (ml) ^a	453.51 (56.39)	512.96 (72.18)	498.03 (51.67)	549.67 (51.93)	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
BPF ^a	0.76 (0.05)	0.75 (0.04)	0.80 (0.03)	0.79 (0.03)	0.019	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.423

^aindicates data are presented as the mean (standard deviation); ^bindicates data are presented as the median (interquartile range).

P1: Healthy females vs. healthy males.

P2: RRMS females vs. healthy females.

P3: RRMS males vs. healthy males.

P4: RRMS females vs. RRMS males.

RRMS, relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; FD, framewise displacement; DD, disease duration; EDSS, Extended Disability Status Scale; LV, lesion volume; GMV, gray matter volume; WMV, white matter volume; BPF, brain parenchyma fraction.

within and between networks, whereas State 3 showed a tightly connected matrix. State 2 was a transitional state between State 1 and State 3, which featured decreased dFNC between the SMN and DMN or FPN and increased dFNC within the DMN, FPN, SMN, and VIS. Figure 4B shows the percentage of specific states for each group: healthy females showed higher percentage in State 2 (99%),

whereas healthy males and RRMS patients showed higher percentage in State 1 (98%, 99%,99%, respectively).

dFNC temporal properties

Next, the temporal properties of dFNC revealed significant differences in fraction time, mean dwell time, and transitions



FIGURE 3

Significant results of the voxel-level comparison of RSN maps and sFNC between groups. Spatial maps of significant voxels (A1) and sFNC (A2) of RSNs in healthy groups, *P*<0.05, FDR corrected. Spatial maps of significant voxels (B1) and sFNC (B2) of RSNs between RRMS males and healthy males, *P*<0.05, FDR corrected. Significant cluster volume>10. RRMS, relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; DMN, default mode network; SMN, sensorimotor network; VIS, visual network; FPN, frontoparietal network; DAN, dorsal attention network; VAN, ventral attention network.



FIGURE 4

Results of clustering analysis and between-groups dynamic temporal properties. (A) Three dFNC states for all subjects with the total number of occurrences and percentage of total occurrences. (B) The specific connectivity state for each group. The percentage is calculated as the ratio of the number of subjects who entered one state to the total number of subjects in each group. (C) Significant differences in the temporal properties in healthy controls and RRMS groups: healthy females showed a higher fraction time and more dwell time in State 2 (P<0.001) with lower transitions (P=0.012) compared with healthy males, while female RRMS patients exhibited a higher fraction time and more dwell time in State 1 (P<0.001) and higher transitions (P=0.004) relative to healthy females. Fraction time: the total time percentage of one subject staying in a state. Mean dwell time: the time each subject spent in a specific state. Transition number: the total number of subject transitions from one state to another. *** indicates P<0.001, ** means P<0.01, * means P<0.05. RRMS, relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; DMN, default mode network; SMN, sensorimotor network; VIS, visual network; FPN, frontoparietal network; DAN, dorsal attention network; VAN, ventral attention network; BG, basal ganglia network.

among the three states among the groups (Figure 4C). Compared with healthy males, healthy females showed a higher fraction time (healthy female vs. healthy male: 85% vs. 11%; P<0.001) and more dwell time in State 2 (healthy female vs. healthy male: 45.33s vs. 4.42s; P<0.001) with lower transitions (healthy female vs. healthy male: three times vs. five times; P=0.035). However, the tendency changed once RRMS was established; female RRMS patients exhibited a higher fraction time (RRMS female vs. healthy female: 71% vs. 0%; P<0.001) and more dwell time in State 1 (RRMS female vs. healthy female: 30.25s vs. 0.00s; P<0.001) and higher transitions (RRMS female vs. healthy female: four times vs. three times; P=0.004), relative to healthy females. No statistical difference was seen in RRMS males vs. healthy males and RRMS females vs. RRMS males. Furthermore, ROC curve analysis found that the fraction time and mean dwell time of State 1 could significantly distinguish female patients from controls [areas under the curve (AUC): 0.838, 0.896, respectively] (Data Sheet 1, Figure S1).

Between-group dFNC differences

Lastly, we also evaluated the dFNC differences between the healthy controls and RRMS groups. Similar to the results of the dFNC temporal properties, the dFNC pattern alterations were seen only in female groups: compared with healthy males, healthy females exhibited higher dFNC within DMN, FPN, and VIS in all states (P<0.05, FDR corrected) (Figure 5A). On the contrary, this trend disappeared among RRMS patients. Moreover, compared with healthy females, female patients mainly showed lower dFNC in all states, particularly within the DMN, FPN, and VIS (P<0.05, FDR corrected) (Figure 5B). There was no dynamic significance in RRMS males vs. healthy males and RRMS females vs. RRMS males.

We next analyzed the between-group differences in functional network with gray matter volume as a covariate, and we found that gray matter volume had no significant effect on the results of SMs, sFNC and dFNC between RRMS groups and healthy controls. For more detailed results (including the description), see Data Sheet 2, Figures S2-S4.



network; FPN, frontoparietal network; DAN, dorsal attention network; VAN, ventral attention network; BG, basal ganglia network

Correlation analysis

In RRMS females, the lower fraction time (r = 0.224, P = 0.011) and mean dwell time (r = 0.305, P < 0.001) of State 1 related to lower GMV, and the higher numbers of transitions related to lower GMV (r=-0.314, P<0.001) and lower WMV (r=-0.225, P=0.011). For RRMS males, decreased sFNC of SMN-FPN was related to lower GMV (r=-0.311, P=0.012) and BPF (r=-0.284, P=0.022). The correlations with significant p values (P<0.05) are shown in Figure 6, Tables S2, S3.

Reproducibility

In these replication analyses, when the window width was 30 TRs or 22 TRs, and the clustering state was 3 or 4, we found that RRMS affected dFNC patterns and its temporal properties only in female patients with RRMS, indicating the dFNC results were very stable, reliable, and repeatable. The details are as follows:

The differences of temporal properties between groups suggested that RRMS females preferred State 1 (sparse connected state) and spent more time in State 1 compared with healthy females (P<0.001) (Figures S5–S7).

The dFNC differences between groups suggested that RRMS females showed decreased dFNC within DMN, FPN, and VIS in all states compared with healthy females (P<0.05, FDR corrected) (Figures S8–S10).

Discussion

Our study investigated the between-group differences in the strength and time-varying connectivity of brain networks between RRMS and healthy subjects by sex and the associations with structural damage and disability. sFNC alterations were only observed in male patients with increased sFNC within the FPN and decreased sFNC across the SMN-FPN and SMN-VIS networks, whereas dFNC abnormalities were observed only in female RRMS patients, manifested as a higher fraction time and more dwell time in State 1 (sparse connected state) with lower transitions compared with healthy females. A higher fraction time and more dwell time of State 1 could significantly distinguish female patients from controls. Altered sFNC and altered temporal properties were related to structural damage in RRMS patients.

Significant sFNC alterations in male patients with RRMS

Given the disease damage to the brain, it is easy to understand that RRMS patients have lower gray matter and white matter volumes compared with healthy controls, and atrophy of gray and white matter has been reported in MS (26). However, RRMS males still had a higher lesion burden compared with female patients, even though the recruited RRMS patients were matched for age, disease duration, and clinical disability between sexes. This is consistent with previous studies that male patients seem to have a higher level of brain structural damage (9, 13). Further analysis of sFNC revealed increased and reduced sFNC in only male patients with RRMS compared with controls, mainly decreased sFNC across the SMN-FPN and SMN-VIS networks; these results remained after regressing gray matter volume. Our findings could be understood by the "network collapse", a widely accepted model for explaining sFNC changes in MS proposing that sFNC change is a dynamic process and network efficiency tends to deteriorate with subsequent declines in sFNC, due to progressive brain structural damage and the reduced compensatory capacity of functional networks in MS



(27). Furthermore, these functional networks have been widely reported in MS, and functional reorganization of the SMN occurs in all stages of relapse, remission, and recovery in RRMS, and are closely related to clinical disability (28, 29). Furthermore, functional changes in the FPN and VIS are involved in cognitive dysfunctions in RRMS patients, including attention (30), working memory (31), and visual information processing (32).

We analyzed the correlation analysis between structural measures and connectivity changes and found that there was no correlation in statistics between lesion load and altered connectivity in both female and male patient cohorts. These results may indicate that the sFNC reorganization in MS patients may be caused by multiple factors, such as damage of gray matter and white matter (33, 34). Indeed, our study found that the decreased sFNC of FPN-SMN was associated with lower BPF and GMV in RRMS males. Our findings support the hypothesis that male RRMS patients may have a higher degree of static connectivity impairment based on functional network evidence, and these functional reorganizations may be associated with structural damage. Recently, a systematic review found no clear trend towards one FC direction change in MS, which may be associated with the large heterogeneity within and between different study cohorts (e.g., different fMRI indicators,

MS phenotypes, disease status, duration, and age) (35). Hence, our results still need to be interpreted cautiously.

Altered dFNC temporal properties in female patients with RRMS

Three recurring states were identified for dFNC. State 1, a sparse connected state, is characterized by overall lower connectivity within and between networks; it possibly reflects the baseline state of minimal activity between brain neurons at rest. State 2 and State 3 are more tightly connected states within or between the DMN, FPN, SMN, and VIS, which may suggest the active states of cognitive and motor networks aroused by the brain. Results of the dFNC temporal properties showed that female RRMS patients exhibited a higher fraction time and more dwell time with lower transitions in State 1 rather than State 2 usually exhibited among healthy females, suggesting that RRMS could cause the transition from the active state of cognitive networks (State 2) to the baseline state (State 1) with sparse connectivity in female patients. These results are supported by a recent longitudinal study, which found decreased dFNC even in clinically isolated syndromes, and the reduced dynamics were more significant over time. Importantly, the functional connectivity within a tightly connected state at baseline could predict cognitive performance after 5 years in MS (36).

Moreover, further ROC analysis indicted that the fraction time and mean dwell time of State 1 could discriminate female patients with RRMS from healthy females. The sparse connected state (State 1) is the most frequent dFNC state for RRMS patients, which is consistent with the findings of Hidalgo et al., which also observed that the decreased dFNC of State 1 was associated with poor motor and cognitive performance in MS patients (37). Our results indicated that the temporal properties of State 1 may be potential neuroimaging markers in female patients. Interestingly, the lower fraction and dwell time of State 1 related to lower GMV, and the higher numbers of transitions related to gray and white matter atrophy. These findings may suggest that female patients still trend toward dynamic functional compensation in response to structural damage in the early stages of disease, even if such functional compensation is unsuccessful.

Significant dFNC decreases in female patients with RRMS

Dynamic reorganization was only seen in female RRMS patients: reduced connectivity mainly within the DMN, FPN, and VIS in all states. These findings are consistent with a recent study into dynamic eigenvector centrality, which revealed that cognitively impaired MS patients had decreased dynamics in the DMN, FPN, and VIS compared with healthy controls (38). Our results further indicated that female patients not only show the transition of cognitive-related networks (from State 2 to State 1), but also decreased dFNC within the cognitive networks. As such, we speculate that altered dFNC temporal properties and decreased dFNC within the cognition networks may be maladaptive approaches to maintaining functioning in female patients.

However, the mechanism of how RRMS affects functional networks by sex is still unclear. It may be associated with the complex interactions of sex hormone levels, regulation of the immune system, and certain MS susceptibility genes (39-41). Studies have suggested that sex hormones may have beneficial effects on reducing inflammation and neurodegeneration in MS, which were confirmed in mouse models of MS/demyelination (42, 43). Although a previous study has reported gray matter loss associated with ovarian aging in MS (44), there is still a lack of research on how sex hormones affect functional network connectivity in MS patients. Moreover, recent studies have shown that sex is an important regulator of functional network reorganization in both healthy people and patients with Alzheimer's disease (45). Exploring sex-related differences in functional connectivity could provide important information to characterize the brain and cognitive changes of RRMS patients.

Our study is not without limitations. It is still preliminary work and may be affected by different disease durations, disabilities, and disease states. Thus, further research should be carried out based on these points to verify our results. Although our results revealed that female RRMS patients showed reduced dFNC on cognition-related networks, the lack of cognitive-related assessments limited our interpretation of cognitive-related networks (e.g., DMN) due to the retrospective design.

In conclusion, our study found that RRMS affected static connectivity in males and dynamic connectivity in females, suggesting that sex-related effects may be important factors for functional damage and reorganization of the CNS in RRMS patients. Exploring these sex-related differences might increase the possibility of sex-specific approaches to treating RRMS in the future.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of The First Affiliated Hospital of Nanchang University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

YW, FZ, YXL, and YD contributed to drafting/revising the manuscript. YLW contributed to data analysis. ZZ, NZ, XH, and CZ performed the statistical analysis. XC, MH, YZ, HL, and GC contributed to MRI data acquisition and analysis. JS and YML contributed to interpretation of the data. All authors approved and take public responsibility for the version to be published.

Funding

The study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant Number: 81771808).

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the other local centers for the support in data collection.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2023.1216310/ full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1

Receiver operating characteristic curve of dFNC temporal properties. AUC, areas under the curve.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 2

Significant results of voxel-level comparison of RSN maps and sFNC between groups with gray matter volume as a covariate. Spatial maps of significant voxels **(A1)** and sFNC **(A2)** of RSNs in healthy groups, *P*<0.05, FDR corrected. Spatial maps of significant voxels **(B1)** and sFNC **(B2)** of RSNs between RRMS males and healthy males, *P*<0.05, FDR corrected. Significant cluster volume>10. RRMS, relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; DMN, default mode network; SMN, sensorimotor network; VIS, visual network; FPN, frontoparietal network; DAN, dorsal attention network; VAN, ventral attention network.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 3

Results of clustering analysis and between-groups dynamic temporal properties with gray matter volume as a covariate. (A) Three dFNC states for all subjects with the total number of occurrences and percentage of total occurrences. (B) The specific connectivity state for each group. The percentage is calculated as the ratio of the number of subjects who entered one state to the total number of subjects in each group. (C) Significant differences in the temporal properties in healthy controls and RRMS groups: healthy females showed a higher fraction time (P<0.001) and more dwell time in State 2 (P<0.001) with lower transitions (P<0.001) compared with healthy males, while female RRMS patients exhibited a higher fraction time (P<0.001) and more dwell time in State 1 (P<0.001) and higher transitions (P=0.005) relative to healthy females. Fraction time: the total time percentage of one subject staying in a state. Mean dwell time: the time each subject spent in a specific state. Transition number: the total number of subject transitions from one state to another. *** indicates P<0.001, ** means P<0.01, * means P<0.05. RRMS, relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; DMN, default mode network; SMN, sensorimotor network; VIS, visual network; FPN, frontoparietal network; DAN, dorsal attention network; VAN, ventral attention network; BG, basal ganglia network.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 4

Significant differences in dFNC between groups with gray matter volume as a covariate. (A) Healthy females showed significantly higher dFNC within DMN, PFN, and VIS compared with healthy males (P<0.05, FDR corrected). (B) RRMS females showed significantly lower dFNC within DMN, PFN, and VIS compared with healthy females (P<0.05, FDR corrected). RRMS, relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; DMN, default mode network; SMN, sensorimotor network; VIS, visual network; FPN, frontoparietal network; DAN, dorsal attention network; VAN, ventral attention network; BG, basal ganglia network.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 5

Results of clustering analysis and between-groups dynamic temporal properties when the window width was 22 TRs, the step was 1 TR, and the number of clusters was four. (A) Four dFNC states for all subjects with the total number of occurrences and percentage of total occurrences. (B) The specific connectivity state for each group. The percentage is calculated as the

ratio of the number of subjects who entered one state to the total number of subjects in each group. **(C)** Significant differences in the temporal properties in healthy controls and RRMS groups: healthy females showed a higher fraction time (P<0.001) and more dwell time in State 2 (P<0.001) with lower transitions (P<0.05) compared with healthy males, while female RRMS patients exhibited a higher fraction time (P<0.001) and more dwell time in State 1 (P<0.001) and higher transitions (P=0.005) relative to healthy females. Fraction time: the total time percentage of one subject staying in a state. Mean dwell time in the time each subject spent in a specific state. Transition number: the total number of subject transitions from one state to another. *** indicates P<0.001, ** means P<0.01, * indicates P<0.05. RRMS, relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; DMN, default mode network; SMN, sensorimotor network; VIS, visual network; FPN, frontoparietal network; DAN: dorsal attention network; VAN, ventral attention network; BG, basal ganglia network.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 6

Results of clustering analysis and between-groups dynamic temporal properties when the window width was 30 TRs, the step was 1 TR, and the number of clusters was three. (A) Three dFNC states for all subjects with the total number of occurrences and percentage of total occurrences. (B) The specific connectivity state for each group. The percentage is calculated as the ratio of the number of subjects who entered one state to the total number of subjects in each group. (C) Significant differences in the temporal properties in healthy controls and RRMS groups: healthy females showed a higher fraction time (P<0.001) and more dwell time in State 2 (P<0.001) compared with healthy males, while female RRMS patients exhibited a higher fraction time (P<0.001) and more dwell time in State 1 (P<0.001) and higher transitions (P=0.01) relative to healthy females. Fraction time: the total time percentage of one subject staying in a state. Mean dwell time: the time each subject spent in a specific state. Transition number: the total number of subject transitions from one state to another. *** indicates P<0.001, ** means P<0.01. RRMS, relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; DMN, default mode network; SMN, sensorimotor network; VIS, visual network; FPN, frontoparietal network; DAN: dorsal attention network; VAN, ventral attention network: BG, basal ganglia network.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 7

Results of clustering analysis and between-groups dynamic temporal properties when the window width was 30 TRs, the step was 1 TR, and the number of clusters was four. (A) Four dFNC states for all subjects with the total number of occurrences and percentage of total occurrences. (B) The specific connectivity state for each group. The percentage is calculated as the ratio of the number of subjects who entered one state to the total number of subjects in each group. (C) Significant differences in the temporal properties in healthy controls and RRMS groups: healthy females showed a higher fraction time (P<0.001) and more dwell time in State 2 (P<0.001) compared with healthy males, while female RRMS patients exhibited a higher fraction time (P<0.001) and more dwell time in State 1 (P<0.001) and higher transitions (P=0.002) relative to healthy females. Fraction time: the total time percentage of one subject staying in a state. Mean dwell time: the time each subject spent in a specific state. Transition number: the total number of subject transitions from one state to another. *** indicates P<0.001, ** means P<0.01, * indicates P<0.05. RRMS, relapsingremitting multiple sclerosis; DMN, default mode network; SMN, sensorimotor network: VIS, visual network: FPN, frontoparietal network: DAN: dorsal attention network; VAN, ventral attention network; BG, basal ganglia network.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 8

Significant differences in dFNC between groups when the window width was 22 TRs, the step was 1 TR, and the number of clusters was four. (A) Healthy females showed significantly higher dFNC within DMN, PFN, and VIS compared with healthy males (*P*<0.05, FDR corrected). (B) RRMS females showed significantly lower dFNC within DMN, PFN, and VIS compared with healthy females (*P*<0.05, FDR corrected). RRMS, relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; DMN, default mode network; SMN, sensorimotor network; VIS, visual network; FPN, frontoparietal network; DAN: dorsal attention network; VAN, ventral attention network; BG, basal ganglia network.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 9

Significant differences in dFNC between groups when the window width was 30 TRs, the step was 1 TR, and the number of clusters was three. (A) Healthy females showed significantly higher dFNC within DMN, PFN, and VIS compared with healthy males (*P*<0.05, FDR corrected). (B) RRMS females showed significantly lower dFNC within DMN, PFN, and VIS compared with healthy females (*P*<0.05, FDR corrected). RRMS, relapsing-remitting multiple

sclerosis; DMN, default mode network; SMN, sensorimotor network; VIS, visual network; FPN, frontoparietal network; DAN: dorsal attention network; VAN, ventral attention network; BG, basal ganglia network.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 10

Significant differences in dFNC between groups when the window width was 30 TRs, the step was 1 TR, and the number of clusters was four. (A) Healthy

References

1. Kobelt G, Thompson A, Berg J, Gannedahl M, Eriksson J, Group MS, et al. New insights into the burden and costs of multiple sclerosis in Europe. *Mult Scler*. (2017) 23 (8):1123–36. doi: 10.1177/1352458517694432

2. Alonso A, Hernan MA. Temporal trends in the incidence of multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. *Neurology* (2008) 71(2):129–35. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000316802.35974.34

3. Kalincik T, Vivek V, Jokubaitis V, Lechner-Scott J, Trojano M, Izquierdo G, et al. Sex as a determinant of relapse incidence and progressive course of multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2013) 136(Pt 12):3609–17. doi: 10.1093/brain/awt281

4. Tremlett H, Zhao Y, Joseph J, Devonshire V, Neurologists UC. Relapses in multiple sclerosis are age- and time-dependent. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2008) 79(12):1368–74. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2008.145805

5. Leray E, Yaouanq J, Le Page E, Coustans M, Laplaud D, Oger J, et al. Evidence for a two-stage disability progression in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2010) 133(Pt 7):1900–13. doi: 10.1093/brain/awq076

6. Ribbons KA, McElduff P, Boz C, Trojano M, Izquierdo G, Duquette P, et al. Male sex is independently associated with faster disability accumulation in relapse-onset MS but not in primary progressive MS. *PloS One* (2015) 10(6):e0122686. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0122686

7. Rizzo JF 3rd, Lessell S. Risk of developing multiple sclerosis after uncomplicated optic neuritis: a long-term prospective study. *Neurology* (1988) 38(2):185–90. doi: 10.1212/WNL.38.2.185

8. Li DK, Held U, Petkau J, Daumer M, Barkhof F, Fazekas F, et al. MRI T2 lesion burden in multiple sclerosis: a plateauing relationship with clinical disability. *Neurology* (2006) 66(9):1384–9. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000210506.00078.5c

9. Pozzilli C, Tomassini V, Marinelli F, Paolillo A, Gasperini C, Bastianello S. 'Gender gap' in multiple sclerosis: magnetic resonance imaging evidence. *Eur J Neurol* (2003) 10(1):95–7. doi: 10.1046/j.1468-1331.2003.00519.x

10. Dolezal O, Gabelic T, Horakova D, Bergsland N, Dwyer MG, Seidl Z, et al. Development of gray matter atrophy in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis is not gender dependent: results of a 5-year follow-up study. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg* (2013) 115 Suppl 1:S42–8. doi: 10.1016/j.clineuro.2013.09.020

11. Klistorner A, Wang C, Yiannikas C, Parratt J, Dwyer M, Barton J, et al. Evidence of progressive tissue loss in the core of chronic MS lesions: A longitudinal DTI study. *NeuroImage Clin* (2018) 17:1028–35. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2017.12.010

12. Schoonheim MM, Hulst HE, Landi D, Ciccarelli O, Roosendaal SD, Sanz-Arigita EJ, et al. Gender-related differences in functional connectivity in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2012) 18(2):164–73. doi: 10.1177/1352458511422245

 Sanchis-Segura C, Cruz-Gomez AJ, Belenguer A, Fittipaldi Marquez MS, Avila C, Forn C. Increased regional gray matter atrophy and enhanced functional connectivity in male multiple sclerosis patients. *Neurosci Lett* (2016) 630:154–7. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2016.07.028

14. Filippi M, Spinelli EG, Cividini C, Agosta F. Resting state dynamic functional connectivity in neurodegenerative conditions: A review of magnetic resonance imaging findings. *Front Neurosci* (2019) 13:657. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2019.00657

15. Hutchison RM, Womelsdorf T, Allen EA, Bandettini PA, Calhoun VD, Corbetta M, et al. Dynamic functional connectivity: promise, issues, and interpretations. *Neuroimage* (2013) 80:360–78. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.05.079

16. d'Ambrosio A, Valsasina P, Gallo A, De Stefano N, Pareto D, Barkhof F, et al. Reduced dynamics of functional connectivity and cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2020) 26(4):476–88. doi: 10.1177/1352458519837707

17. van Geest Q, Hulst HE, Meijer KA, Hoyng L, Geurts JJG, Douw L. The importance of hippocampal dynamic connectivity in explaining memory function in multiple sclerosis. *Brain Behav* (2018) 8(5):e00954. doi: 10.1002/brb3.954

18. Tijhuis FB, Broeders TAA, Santos FAN, Schoonheim MM, Killestein J, Leurs CE, et al. Dynamic functional connectivity as a neural correlate of fatigue in multiple sclerosis. *NeuroImage Clin* (2021) 29:102556. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2020.102556

19. Schoonheim MM, Douw L, Broeders TA, Eijlers AJ, Meijer KA, Geurts JJ. The cerebellum and its network: Disrupted static and dynamic functional connectivity patterns and cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2021) 27 (13):2031–9. doi: 10.1177/1352458521999274

20. Zheng F, Li Y, Zhuo Z, Duan Y, Cao G, Tian D, et al. Structural and functional hippocampal alterations in Multiple sclerosis and neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. *Mult Scler.* (2021) 28(5):707–17. doi: 10.1177/13524585211032800

females showed significantly higher dFNC within DMN, PFN, and VIS compared with healthy males (*P*<0.05, FDR corrected). (**B**) RRMS females showed significantly lower dFNC within DMN, PFN, and VIS compared with healthy females (*P*<0.05, FDR corrected). RRMS, relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; DMN, default mode network; SMN, sensorimotor network; VIS, visual network; FPN, frontoparietal network; DAN, dorsal attention network; VAN, ventral attention network; BG, basal ganglia network.

21. Allen EA, Erhardt EB, Damaraju E, Gruner W, Segall JM, Silva RF, et al. A baseline for the multivariate comparison of resting-state networks. *Front Syst Neurosci* (2011) 5:2. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2011.00002

22. Yeo BT, Krienen FM, Sepulcre J, Sabuncu MR, Lashkari D, Hollinshead M, et al. The organization of the human cerebral cortex estimated by intrinsic functional connectivity. *J Neurophysiol* (2011) 106(3):1125–65. doi: 10.1152/jn.00338.2011

23. Uddin I.Q. Mixed signals: on separating brain signal from noise. *Trends Cognit Sci* (2017) 21(6):405–6. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2017.04.002

24. Liegeois R, Ziegler E, Phillips C, Geurts P, Gomez F, Bahri MA, et al. Cerebral functional connectivity periodically (de)synchronizes with anatomical constraints. *Brain Struct Funct* (2016) 221(6):2985–97. doi: 10.1007/s00429-015-1083-y

25. Preti MG, Bolton TA, Van De Ville D. The dynamic functional connectome: State-of-the-art and perspectives. *Neuroimage* (2017) 160:41–54. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.12.061

26. Sanfilipo MP, Benedict RH, Weinstock-Guttman B, Bakshi R. Gray and white matter brain atrophy and neuropsychological impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (2006) 66(5):685–92. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000201238.93586.d9

27. Schoonheim MM, Meijer KA, Geurts JJ. Network collapse and cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Front Neurol* (2015) 6:82. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2015.00082

28. Strik M, Chard DT, Dekker I, Meijer KA, Eijlers AJ, Pardini M, et al. Increased functional sensorimotor network efficiency relates to disability in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2021) 27(9):1364–73. doi: 10.1177/1352458520966292

29. Zhuang Y, Zhou F, Gong H. Intrinsic functional plasticity of the sensorimotor network in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: evidence from a centrality analysis. *PloS One* (2015) 10(6):e0130524. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0130524

30. Vereb D, Toth E, Bozsik B, Kiraly A, Szabo N, Kincses B, et al. Altered brain network function during attention-modulated visual processing in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2021) 27(9):1341–9. doi: 10.1177/1352458520958360

31. Aguirre N, Cruz-Gomez AJ, Esbri SF, Miro-Padilla A, Bueicheku E, Broseta-Torres R, et al. Enhanced frontoparietal connectivity in multiple sclerosis patients and healthy controls in response to an intensive computerized training focused on working memory. *Mult Scler Relat Disord* (2021) 52:102976. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2021.102976

32. Gabilondo I, Rilo O, Ojeda N, Pena J, Gomez-Gastiasoro A, Mendibe Bilbao M, et al. The influence of posterior visual pathway damage on visual information processing speed in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2017) 23(9):1276–88. doi: 10.1177/1352458516676642

33. Baltruschat SA, Ventura-Campos N, Cruz-Gomez AJ, Belenguer A, Forn C. Gray matter atrophy is associated with functional connectivity reorganization during the Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test (PASAT) execution in Multiple Sclerosis (MS). *J Neuroradiol* (2015) 42(3):141–9. doi: 10.1016/j.neurad.2015.02.006

34. Tommasin S, Iakovleva V, Rocca MA, Gianni C, Tedeschi G, De Stefano N, et al. Relation of sensorimotor and cognitive cerebellum functional connectivity with brain structural damage in patients with multiple sclerosis and no disability. *Eur J Neurol* (2022) 29(7):2036–46. doi: 10.1111/ene.15329

35. Jandric D, Doshi A, Scott R, Paling D, Rog D, Chataway J, et al. A systematic review of resting-state functional MRI connectivity changes and cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Brain Connect.* (2022) 12(2):112–33. doi: 10.1089/brain.2021.0104

36. Koubiyr I, Broeders TA, Deloire M, Brochet B, Tourdias T, Geurts JJ, et al. Altered functional brain states predict cognitive decline 5 years after a clinically isolated syndrome. *Mult Scler*. (2022) 28(12):1973–82. doi: 10.1177/13524585221101470

37. Hidalgo de la Cruz M, Valsasina P, Sangalli F, Esposito F, Rocca MA, Filippi M. Dynamic functional connectivity in the main clinical phenotypes of multiple sclerosis. *Brain Connect.* (2021) 11(8):678–90. doi: 10.1089/brain.2020.0920

38. Eijlers AJC, Wink AM, Meijer KA, Douw L, Geurts JJG, Schoonheim MM. Reduced network dynamics on functional MRI signals cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Radiology* (2019) 292(2):449–57. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2019182623

39. Acs P, Kipp M, Norkute A, Johann S, Clarner T, Braun A, et al. 17beta-estradiol and progesterone prevent cuprizone provoked demyelination of corpus callosum in male mice. *Glia* (2009) 57(8):807–14. doi: 10.1002/glia.20806

40. Airas L. Hormonal and gender-related immune changes in multiple sclerosis. Acta Neurol Scand (2015) 132(199):62–70. doi: 10.1111/ane.12433

41. Keane JT, Afrasiabi A, Schibeci SD, Fewings N, Parnell GP, Swaminathan S, et al. Gender and the sex hormone estradiol affect multiple sclerosis risk gene expression in epstein-barr virus-infected B cells. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:732694. doi: 10.3389/fmmu.2021.732694

42. Aryanpour R, Pasbakhsh P, Zibara K, Namjoo Z, Beigi Boroujeni F, Shahbeigi S, et al. Progesterone therapy induces an M1 to M2 switch in microglia phenotype and suppresses NLRP3 inflammasome in a cuprizone-induced demyelination mouse model. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2017) 51:131–9. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2017.08.007

43. Garay L, Gonzalez Deniselle MC, Lima A, Roig P, De Nicola AF. Effects of progesterone in the spinal cord of a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* (2007) 107(3-5):228–37. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2007.03.040

44. Graves JS, Henry RG, Cree BAC, Lambert-Messerlian G, Greenblatt RM, Waubant E, et al. Ovarian aging is associated with gray matter volume and disability in women with MS. *Neurology* (2018) 90(3):e254-e60. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000004843

45. Goldstone A, Mayhew SD, Przezdzik I, Wilson RS, Hale JR, Bagshaw AP. Gender specific re-organization of resting-state networks in older age. *Front Aging Neurosci* (2016) 8:285. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2016.00285

Frontiers in Neurology

Explores neurological illness to improve patient care

The third most-cited clinical neurology journal explores the diagnosis, causes, treatment, and public health aspects of neurological illnesses. Its care.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00



